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THE WORLD BANK IN FISCAL YEAR 2000
The World Bank today operates ouit of nearly ioo offices worldwide. Increased presence in dient couintries is helping
tlhe Banik better Liunderstand, work imiore closely withl, and provide faster service to clients. Three-fourths of outstanding
loans are managed by country directors located outside the Bank's Washington, D.C. headquarters. Nearly 2,550 staff
reside in the Country offices, representing an increase of 66 percent over five years ago.
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Poverty reains a global problem

of buge proportions. Nearly half of the

world's 6 billion people live on less than

$2 a day. Poor people lack opportunity.

They lack political power and voice. And
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The World Bank in FISCAL 2000 HIGHLIGHTS

> Steady improvements in theFiscal 2000 quality of ongoing projects mean
that billions of dollars are having a
much greater beneficial impact on

Selected D ata development. The share of proj-
ects at risk of not achieving their

(millions of U.S. dollars) development objectives fell to an

estimated 15 percent of the total in
fiscal 2000, or roughly half the rate
of fiscal 1996.
- New lending commitments dec-
lined to $15.3 billion, as peak de-

Fiscal zooo Fiscal 5999 mands from last year's IBRD "crisis"

Lending countries subsided in line with the

New Commitments strong global economic recovery.

I 10,919 22,182 > Seven countries qualified for

IDAa 4,358 6,813 debt relief under the enhanced Ini-
Totl 1,272899 tiative for Heavily Indebted Poor

Total 1 I5,276 28,995 0 Countries, six of them in Africa.

IBRD Loans Outstanding 120,104 117,228 Relief from all creditors to these

IDA Credits Outstanding 86,643 83,666 seven countries, under the

Disbursements enhanced framework, is expected
IBRDa 13,332 18,215 to amount to $8.4 billion over time.

IDAa 0 5,177 6,023 - The Bank and the International
Total8,50977 64,0238 Monetary Fund began to help coun-

Total 1; : 0 I8,509 24,238 \ 0 tries prepare Poverty Reduction

Strategies, which are becoming the
IBRD Finances basis for debt relief and concession-

Net Income 1,991 1,S18 al lending by the Bank, the Fund,

Borrowings Outstandingb 110,379 115,739 and other development partners.

Subscribed Capital 188,606 188,220 !- The Bank announced up to $1
billion support to help IDA borrow-

E I4.quity Capital-to-loans ratio 2I.2% 20.7% : ers combat HIV/AIDs, and to address

priority social problems with
Cofinancing and Trust Funds cross-border or global dimen-

Cofinancing 9,341 11,350 sions-with a special focus on

Cofinancing/World Bank Lending tatio 61.1% 39n1% Africa, and active partnership in

Trust Fund Contributionsc 1,769 1,568 the Global Alliance for Vaccines
and Immunization.

Trust Fund Disbursementsc 1,659 1,333

a. Excludes IDA HiF-c grants but includes Intenm Trust Fund.
b. Before swaps, net of premium/discount.
c Includes all World Bank Group Trust Funds.



The World Bank Group
T he World Bank is a development institution whose mission is to fight

poverty and improve living standards for people in the developing world.

It provides loans, policy advice, technical assistance, and knoWledge-shar-

ing services. IBRD and IDA-together the "'World Bank" or "the Bank"-

are owned by member countries that carry ultimate decisionmaking

power. The \NVorld Bank Group today consists of five closely associated institutions:

THE INTERNATIONAL BANK FOR

RECONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT F

Established 194$ a

i8i Mfembers

Cumulative lendilg: $349 4 billion

Fiscal 2ooo lending: $1O.9 billionl fer 97 new operations ili 41 colltrils

IBDprovides loans and development assistance to middle-

income countries and creditworthy poorer countries. \Voting

power is linked to members' capital subscriptions, which in turn -

are based on each country's relative economic strength. IBRD is 5 -

not a profit-maximizing organization but has earned a net
aRestored roads in Peru's remote areas give poor,

income every year since 1948.
isolated villagers access to market centers and
economic and social opportunities.

IDA Z
_ : w THE INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT ASSOCIATION

Established 1960

_6i MUembers

Cumiulative lending: si0. llion

_ Fiscal 2ooo lendinog S4.4 billionfor fl6 new opertitons in $2 coliitries

US 4 ^ InDA is the Bank's concessional lending arm and provides key stipport for the

A ;: : jBank's poverty reduction mission. IDA assistance is focused on the poorest

5_ >, '- ~ J ,..4 - t' ,> cotntries, to which it provides interest-free loans (termed "credits")

and other services. In fiscal aooo, Si countries were IDA-eligible.

Rural communities participate actively in efforts
to improve food security and nutrition

standards in Benin.



THE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCE CORPORATION t

Established 1956

174 Members

C'oinintted portfolio S2l 7 billion i

fiscal 2000 conimitments: S2 4 btllion for 75 coititrnes

sFc promotes growth in the developing world by financing private sec-

tor investments and providing technical assistance and advice to govern-

ments and businesses. In partnership with private investors, IFC provides

both loan and equity finance for business ventures in developing countries. - -

A village-level cellular phone network, enabled through

GrameenPhone, empowers rural women entrepreneurs
in Bangladesh.

Noncommercial guarantees help privatize
commercial vehicle services in Lesotho,

raising their quality and efficiency.

THE MULTILATERAL INVESTMENT

GUARANTEE AGENCY

Establisked i988

ig2 Meimbers

Cuniulatix'e Guarantees issued: 57.1 bullion

Fiscal 2000 Guarantees issued: $1.6 billion

- MIGA helps encourage foreign investment in developing countries by providingU ~ a _ guarantees to foreign investors against loss caused by noncommercial risks. MIGA

also provides technical assistance to help countries disseminate information on

investment opportunities.

I,C S I D'
l tS

THE INTERNATIONAL CENTRE FOR L

SETTLEMENT OF INVESTMENT DISPUTES '

Established 1966

131 MVenber-s

Total eases registered: 75

Fiscal 2000 eases registered: 12

ICSID helps to encourage foreign investment by providing inter-

national facilities for conciliation and arbitration of invest-

ment disputes. ICSID also has research and publishing

activities in the areas of arbitration law and foreign invest-

ment law. A port terminal concession in Argentina is being
arbitrated in ICSID.



MESSAGE FROM THE
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTORSA new millennium is beginning. For people in poverty are an asset, not a liability It is

the World Bank, it is a time to ask imperative that we give them opportunities, that we

ourselves, how can we improve empower them, and that we ensure their security.

our effectiveness in the fight Drawing on these lessons, our work is guided

against poverty? It is also a time by the following principles:

to act: with urgency and with responsibility. > Country ownership: A country's progress

Urgency, because roughly two billion more peo- depends fundamentally on its directing the policy

ple will be joining us on this planet in the next 25 agenda. Actions taken without broad buy-in have

years, and we must be ready for them. Responsi- too often turned out to be unsustainable. Success

bility, because the 2.8 billion poor who currently requires that consensus-building by all stakehold-

live on less than two dollars a day are our fellow ers be part of the action agenda.

human beings, and not just a statistic. >! Long-term integrated approach: To achieve sus-

Achieving a world free tainable growth, crucial for poverty reduction, pover-

of poverty is an enormous ty reduction strategies must be multidimensional.

and complex undertaking. These strategies must address macroeconomic as

And solutions are far from well as social, environmental, and institutional needs.

simple. The challenges are Progress must occur on all fronts, ranging from gov-

4 multidimensional; they call ernance, anticorruption, and judicial and financial

for people, groups, and systems to health, education, and transport policies.

institutions to come togeth- > Partnership: Collaborative relationships, shared

er to play a wide range of objectives, and a mutually agreed-upon division of

'i roles in a collegial, collective labor are crucial. We need to go beyond aid coordi-

1!4wmagi effort. It is only with strong nation: we need to align strategies, be selective,

coalitions-local, national, draw on mutual expertise, and reduce wasteful

regional, and global-that competition and duplication among donors.

we will succeed in fighting > Results focus: It is crucial to have develop-

poverty; that much is clear. ment outcomes as our guides, and these must flow

In January What does it take to reduce poverty? directly from the long-term vision. Countries
2000, James D. Our strategy, at the country level, is rooted in must set poverty reduction targets, lay out public

WolIfensoh n.
addressed the a wealth of lessons from development experience. policy actions to achieve them, and work with

Security Council Some of the key lessons are: that development assis- civil society to monitor progress.
on the impact of tance leads to progress in sound policy and institu- We put forward this vision last year to the
HIV/AIDS on peace tional environments; that economic growth is crucial global community under a pilot approach we call

Africa, marking but must be accompanied by government action tar- the Comprehensive Development Framework
the first time that geted to meet poor people's needs and to address (CDF). I am heartened that it is increasingly a

the Council dis- the social costs of reform; that reforms cannot be shared vision. More countries and more partners

cussed a health imposed from the outside but must be "home- are testing the CDF approach and participating in
issue as a threat

to peace and grown"; that communities must have a voice and this work-in-progress. Our work with these coun-
security. play a role in their own development; and that open tries in fiscal 2000 has advanced: their interest cre-

econormes grow faster than dosed economies. Our ates the learning ground, their experience will

recent work on poverty-economic analysis as well define the way forward. Continuing this theme is

as consultations with poor people-reveals that our joint endeavor with the IMF to help those

4 THE WORLD BANK ANNUAL REPORT 2000



countries eligible for debt relief, under the Heavily groups, multilateral and bilateral donors, and
Indebted Poor Countries (HIPc) Initiative, to pro- development organizations. If we are to achieve
duce Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers (PRsPs). the United Nations-based international develop-

Our strategy to fight poverty also requires ment targets, we all need to work together (see
action at the global level. There is much that can be Box 1.i). Halving poverty levels by 2015 is possible,
done to promote disease reduction globally through but only if we concert our efforts in a new way.
greater use of cost-effective vaccines; to raise aware- It is my firm conviction that the Bank has a
ness of the impact of HIV/AIDS on development; to crucial role to play in this challenge. As a coopera-
address transnational challenges such as the preven- tive, we enjoy the backing of nearly every nation
tion of financial crises; to provide concerted debt of the world in pursuing our mission. As a devel-
relief to poor countries; and to preserve the world's opment institution with a half-century of experi-
natural resources. Each of these efforts could have a ence across countries and sectors, we have a vast

profound impact on poverty. In addition, empower- array of lessons that we continue to build on
ing people with knowledge and technology could every day. As a global institution with offices
have far-reaching benefits. The Bank has taken throughout the world, we have an unparalleled

important steps to advance the concept of the reach, growing in leaps and bounds in this age of
"Knowledge Bank," induding efforts to develop the communication, which is helping us get closer to

framework for a Global Development Gateway, the people we serve, and to share knowledge that
being conceived as an Internet-based vehicle facii- is key to empowerment and progress. As a strong
tating the provision and exchange of information. financial institution and leader in capital markets,

At both country and global levels, our we mobilize funding on good terms and tailor it
emphasis is on demand-driven services and aid to meet long-term development needs typically
effectiveness. The past year's decline in lending rel- unmet by private creditors. And as a multinational
ative to the previous year's record volume attests employer, we are blessed with a rich pool of skills
to this evolution. Emerging market countries have and talent, a group of people with an unequaled
needed substantially less financial support due to professionalism and devotion to fighting against
the strong recovery of global financial markets poverty. I am enormously indebted to them.
and a resumption of access to private capital. The World Bank's track record shows clearly
Other countries are indeed in need but lack the that we are making a difference, and that we are
circumstances (national peace as well as sound learning and adapting to client needs. Our task is
policies and institutions) that would permit an to build on all that we have achieved. We, as a glob-
effective use of financial aid. Lower lending also al community, can go down the business-as-usual
reflects smaller-sized operations, through which path and see the numbers of poor grow steadily,
the "New Bank" has responded to country needs decade after decade; or we can innovate and follow
to adopt pilot approaches and build institutional the path with more unknowns but infinitely more
capacity as prerequisites to successful develop- promise. For the Bank the choice is clear: we have
ment efforts. The Bank has, moreover, increased embarked on a path of change, and we are commit-
its reliance on nonlending services in the policy ted to listening, learning, and acting in partnership
dialogue, recognizing their key role in building until more and more people partake in the many
support for development efforts. opportunities that the new era of growth, technol-

I cannot stress enough the importance of ogy, and global development has to offer.
partnerships. The task ahead is too formidable for
any single institution or set of institutions to (
tackle. Every one of us has a role to play: private
sector, public sector, civil society, nongovernmen-

tal organizations (NGos), academia, religious JAMES D. WVOLFENSOHN

MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 5



LETTER OF
TRANSMITTAL

his Annual Report, which covers Executive Directors Alternates

World Bank the period from July i, i999 to Khalid M. Al-Saad Mohamed Kamel Amr
Executive I June 30, 2000, has been prepared Yahya Alyahya Abdulrahman Almofadhi
Directors, I

May 18, 2000 by the Executive Directors of Ruth Bachmayer Luc Hubloue
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Satoru Miyamura, together with the accompanying administrative Wan Abdullah
llkka Niemi, budgets and audited financial statements, to the Neil Hyden Lewis D. Holden

Jean-Claude Milleron, Board of Governors. Matthias Mever Jerzy Hylewski
Stephen Pickford Annual Reports for the International Finance Jean-Claude Milleron Emmanuel Moulin
Blottom row from

left to right: Corporation (IFC), the Multilateral Investment Ilkka Niemi Anna M. Brandt
Yahya Alyahya, Guarantee Agency (inGA), and the International Terrie O'Leary Alan David Slusher

Patricio Rubianes* Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes Franco Passacantando Helena Cordeiro
Inaamul Haque,

Zhu Xian, (ICSID) are published separately. Stephen Pickford Myles Wickstead
Ivan Rivera* Jan Piercy (vacant)

B.r. Singh, Murilo Portugal Patricio Rubianes
Ruth Bachmayer, Helmut Schaffer Eckhardt Biskup
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WHERE THE WORLD BANK
GOT ITS MONEY IN FISCAL 2000...

INTERNATIONAL BANK FOR of them former IDA borrowers-such as Argenti- REGIONAL

I RECONSTRUCTION AND na, BoBtswana, Brazil, Hungary, Republic of Korea, DISTRIBUTION

I DEVELOPMENT the Russian Federation, andTurkey. LENDING, FISCAL 2000
l > IDAS finances are managed in a prudent and Total $15.3 billion

> In fiscal 2000, IBRD raised $15.8 billion in interna- conservative manner. Its financial strength is Europe Midd e East L.tie Amenca
& Central & North & the

tional debt capital markets. Borrowings and share- based on a strong and continued support from a Ce Afr.oa C.,ibb-

holder equity fund IBRD'S loans and investments. its donors as well as the increasing level of

> The years funding volume was below that of repayments from maturing "credits" (the term

fiscal 1999, after peaking in fiscal 1998 due to applied to IDA loans).

above-average demand for financing.

> IBRD continued to borrow at favorable costs. . .AND W HERE
IBRDs financial strength is based on the support it IT W ENT
receives from its shareholders and on its array of
financial policies and practices.

IBRD issued debt in 13 currencies and in a wide The NVorld Bank is the world's largest single Soth4Aoa Eat0Asia&Pacific Afnca

range of maturities and structures in fiscal 2000. source of development assistance to reduce pover-

Diversification helps lower borrowers' funding ty globally. A strong financial institution, it is able

costs and expand the Bank's investor base. to leverage its shareholder capital several-fold to
>- Already a leader in emerging capital markets, make available long-term development resources SECTORAL

IBRD launched its first Mexican peso and Chilean for IBRD lending on terms that the market would DISTRIBUTION
OF IBRD AND IDA

peso bond issues in fiscal zooo. not have provided. Resources for IDA lending to LENDING, FISCAL 2000

> A $3 billion electronic bond offering in January poor countries-mostly without access to capital Total $15.3 bilion

zooo marked another first, continuing iBRnD's tradi- markets-are leveraged from shareholders' contri- Pub ic Sector Ub-

M-sgemeo Decelopm-t Po icy
tion of innovation, financial strength, and flexibili- butions. Bank lending also plays an important cat- Manaemen agrcte &

tv to meet investor needs. alytic role, helping mobilize additional resources s5 Etr 9vronent

from cofinanciers or client governments to sup-
INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT port common development objectives. I'
ASSOCIATION New lending of $15.3 billion in fiscal zooo

was below the record levels in fiscal 1998-99, as
> Fiscal 2000 marked the first of three years under IBRD borrowers emerged from financial crisis.

IDA-12," the 12t Replenishment of IDA agreed upon Lending declined in every region except Africa.

by donors in November 1998. IDA-l2 permits new Latin America and the Caribbean was the largest
IDA lending of approximately s2o.5 billion in fiscal borrowing region ($4 billion). Poverty reduction

D, cae ecorH.-Ira-
2000-02, which is in line with recent levels. continues to drive lending, with 22 percent of Deceloceent Otco,b D2evepmect

> The iz' Replenishment included sII.6 billion of lending directed to human development. Improve- Noter Sector classification is on a loan

new donor funds and a $0.9 billion contribution ments in project quality through greater selectivi- component basis. See Table t, f p 33
a nudstcansportation, telecommatni-

from IBRD Net Income. The remainder, s8.o billion, t ty, enhanced consultation, and strengthened catioos, and water suppiy and sanitato,e
b. leclodes maltisectorc electric power

came from IDA'S own funds, primarily from repay- preparation and supervision has meant that bil- and energy, oil and gas, and mining.

ments of past credits and investment income. lions of dollars for borrowers' projects are used

> Nearly 40 countries are IDA donors. Donor more effectively. Nine out of jo new projects were
nations include not only industrial countries but rated satisfactory on preparation in calendar 1999,

also developing and transition countries-some compared with 7 out of 10 in calendar 1996.

WHERE THE WORLD BANK GOT ITS MONEY IN FISCAL 2000 7



IBRD FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS
(see Section VI for more infornation)

MANAGING

Net Return on Assets RET U R N S T O Borrowings and Investments,

(percent) asANTI of June 30, 2000
(percent) M A I N TAlI N (billions of U.S. dollars)

ST RE N G T HI_ Cash and hq jid Investments

105 1 34 ._ Borransigs outstarndmg after swaps

34 > As a cooperative 118.6 114.0

1.02 1.05 institution, IBRD does 100.6

o0 not seek to maximize 981
97 3

profit but to earn ade-

quate return on assets to

ensure its financial 2461 24.3
16.0 16 3

FY96 FY97 F FY99 FY00 strength and sustain itsFY96 FY97 FY98 FY99 FYOO ~~~~~~~~~FY96 FY97 FY99 FY99 FY00
development activities

on an ongoing basis.

> IBRD targets a net return on assets (RoA) of ACHIEVING EFFICIENT

about I percent per annum. In fiscal 2000, a INTERMEDIATION

reduction in the loan loss provision due to > IBRD's high credit rating (AAA) allows the Bank

improved credit quality of loans boosted ROA by to borrow for long maturities at favorable terms.

o,16 percent. The Bank borrows globally in multiple markets

and currencies.
MANAGING RISK > Outstanding debt after swaps reached 76 percent

as of June 30, 2n to, > Consistent with its of average total earning assets, as of June 30.

(percent) development mandate, IBRD borrowed $25.8 billion at medium- to

iBRD s main risk is the long-term maturities in fiscal 2000. Innovation in

219 221 207 21 credit risk of its loan capital markets continued: IBRD pioneered a first-

portfolio. This risk is ever electronic bond offering and became the first

closely managed. foreign issuer in the Mexican and Chilean peso

> IBRD keeps its exposure bond markets, creating a new asset class for for-

to market risk quite limit- eign investors.

ed. Market risk arises due >' As of June 30, zooo the liquid asset portfolio

F to movements in market was $24.3 billion, comprised of extremely liquid
FY96 FY97 FY98 FY99 FY00

variables such as interest investments.

rates and exchange rates.

> The Bank's equity capital-to-loans ratio is a

summary measure of its risk-bearing capacity.

This ratio declined over fiscal 0998-99 due to a

surge in Bank lending. However, the Bank remains

strongly capitalized.

8 THE WORLD BANK ANNUAL REPORT 2000



I B RD O P E RAT I O NA L and Disbursements,

HIGHLIGHTS Fiscali996-oo
(billions of U.S. dollars)

c-- Comm tme-ts

_O Disbursements

22,5 ~~~~21.1 22.2

145 I 14. E9. 12

I L E N DIf N G: VO L U M E D O W N, largest borrowers (s6 billion combined)> together 14 1 3

QUALITY UT T see a/so Overvieva) borrowed tmder $70 million in fiscal 2000.
QU AL I TY UP (see also Ovevew)

.. .LENDING BY SECTOR: DooFY96 FY97 FY98 FY99 FF
> The quality of IBRD operations continued to

improve: ongoing projects had substantiallv fewer INSTITUTIONS AND IBRD Lending by Region,
IINFRASTRUCTURE; PFOPLE Fiscal zoooproblems than a few years ago. E Fisal

Total $10.9 billion
> As emerging markets recovered from the finan- > IBRD support in fiscal 2000 focused on strength- LatnA-- Africa E-tAs

cial crisis, IBRD lending in fiscal 2000 fell below ening the financial sector (si.6 billion), improving & Caobbean <1% & Pa,cfiC
36%~~~~3

the record levels of the last two years, back to his- public sector management ($1.5 billion), and meet-

torical pre-crisis trends in lending levels. ing infrastructure needs (si.8 billion including

> The level and type of Bank lending support has transport, telecommunications, and water sup- I

been continuously evolving in response to changing ply)-key elements for successful private sector

demands from countrv clients. Global economic development and poverty reduction.

recovery contributed strongly to trends in Bank lend- > Human development was also a priority in IBRD

ing over the past year, as successful economic reforms assistance in fiscal 20oo: lending for education, health
Moddle East & E-rpa &

in manv emerging markets restored their access to and nutrition, and social protection amounted to NlethAMa Cas t, A,o ,e & oth Asia
,7 A1, 2 5 /D 91. 5

international capital markets. Lower volume also Sl.7 billion, with notable support for strengthening

reflects a gradual downtrend in the size of operations health systems and health care institutions. IBRD Lending by Sector,
Fiscal 2000

in line with the ongoing shift away from large infra- > Also noteworthy was the support for rural devel- Total $10.9 billion

structure projects toward smaller operations support- opment and environmental needs ($1.5 billion, half of A 5ric:t-a &
alat.ct-t-a' Es-i-o -at

ing institution-budding and human development. which for China), while multisector lending (so.5 bil- 16% 14U.

> Increasingly, nonlending activities precede or lion) reflected mainly assistance for disaster recovery, s5t%t 9 . Poley

accompany lending to promote effective use of incltiding prevention and risk mitigation efforts. i I

resources; advisory and analytical services in fiscal 2000 A
IBRD INVESTMENT AND

belped countries build consensus and ovwnership. ADJUSTMENT LEN DIG
A D JusTMENT L ENDING :tS sf f \ X

LENDING BY REGION: > Investment lending accounted for the bulk of

LAST YEAR'S CRISIS IBRD s new commitments in fiscal 2000 (59 percent of

B O R R O W I N G S R E C E D E the total). The share of adjustment lending fell from Sect.r D-vepment Otherb Ce_4.p-t

> Loans to Brazil, Colombia, and Mexico- 63 percent in fiscal 1999 to 41 percent in fiscal 2000. Noe 12o 16n
No/a: Sector clasfaabooso o a aloam-

three of the IBRD
tS top five borrowers in fiscal > IBRD support for structural and sectoral adjust- component basis. See Table t. I page 33.

aInudstranspoo0at/on, tel ecommnoe-
zooo-accounted for a large part of new commit- ment (promoting policy and institutional reforms catIncde water supply aed samtmt,en

b. /nc/udes mutreaIcator, e/ectric power
ments in the Latin America and Caribbean region. conducive to private sector-led growth and pover- and energy, ol and gas, and mn/mng.

> Turkey was the largest IBRD borrower in fiscal ty reduction) focused on financial sector and pub-

2000 (ss.8 billion), as the Bank supported key lic sector management reforms and governance Adjustment Lending

structural and social reforms and responded to a (including assistance for decentralization in Mexi- Fiscal i996-oo

severe earthquake; China was the second largest co, fiscal transparency in Thailand, and subnation- Share of total$0.9 bilion (percent

(S1.7 billion), reflecting the Bank's support for al reforms in India's Uttar Pradesh state). Adlust.,t

infrastructure and rural development needs. > Latin American countries accounted for much 72

> In the wake of East Asia's marked economic of the year's adjustment lending, but other reform- 63

recovery, the region borrowed 52.5 billion in fiscal ing nations (such as Thailand and Turkey) also * I41
2ooo, compared with s8.8 billion in both fiscal 1999 recieved substantial support. * 20 s 2 i

and fiscal 1998. Argentina and Indonesia, last year's | I
FY96 FY97 FY98 FY99 FYOO
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IDA Replenishment IDA FINANCIAL AND
(billions of dollars)

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
IBRP net Income contribution
N-e funding

150

110 116

7 5 so

41, IDA FINANCING level as in fiscal 1999 but constituting a higher
II 0 9 ;;,'5 2 ' . , * o 9 O ,& ' share of total IDA lending and approaching the 50

IDA-tO IDA-1 I IDA 12rjlFY9A4 9°6 Y9799 FY00-02 E> Effective March 23, 2000, IDA-12 replenishment percent target set by IDA donors.

provides resources for new financing commit- >- India was the largest IDA borrower in fiscal
IDA Lending Commitments ments during fiscal 2000-02. 2000 with new commitments of s867 million, fol-

and Disbursements,
Fiscal i996-oo IDA-12 replenishment of $20.5 billion included lowed by support for structural and social reforms
(billions of dollars) s$1.6 billion of new donor funds. in Tanzania ($330 million), Vietnam ($286 million),

100 C- D,sw-rseme-tn > IBRD Net Income contributed $o.9 billion to as well as Mozambique, Senegal, and Zambia.

8 0 7 5 IDA-12.

6.0 9!- IDA'S own resources represent s8.o billion. This LENDING BY SECTOR: HUMAN

4.0 5 .6 b source of funds has become increasingly impor- DEVELOPMENT, REFORM,

2 0 tant as a share of replenishments, rising from 20 INFRASTRUCTURE

oo percent in IDA-1o tO 39 percent in IDA-12. > Support for human development-including
FY96 FY97 FY98 FY99 FY00

education, health and nutrition, and social protec-

IDA Lending by Region, LENDING: LOWER VOLUME, tion-was the most important focus of IDA lend-
IDAFLendingsbyc RegionFo c u O N EFFECTIVE USE ing in fiscal zooo (si.6 billion, a third of which for

Total $4.4 billion O F RESOURCES India).
E.rope Mdle SE-t Lati,,ID
E Cestral & Eat Ater & A decline in IDA lending commitments in fiscal Human development operations repeated suc-

A,sa Africa C-rbbear 
7'/, 4%xo 4% 2000 reflected the confluence of country-specific cessful experience (especially in social funds and

factors-especially policy and institutional per- education), focused on basic health and education,

formance and conflict situations in Africa and and involved innovative approaches (such as dis-

Asia-and IDA'S focus on selectivity and aid effec- tance learning in Benin and community develop-

tiveness. ment in Lesotho).

> As with IBRD operations, innovative new lend- > Support for economic reform, economic

' "" Eh 0 ' "' ;1 ing instruments that promote learning and inno- recovery (multisector), and private sector develop-
So-th Anf Ar-c

27'!, instAnn 47% vation with reduced risk and greater aid ment was focused largely on Africa ($0.7 billion).
& Pncfic

11&Pi effectiveness also imply smaller operations. The IDA support for infrastructure needs was also

IDA Lending by Sector, size of new IDA operations averaged under $35 mil- significant (so.6 billion), recognizing these coun-

Fiscal zooo lion in fiscal zooo, compared with sss million for tries' limited access to private capital-which
Total $4.4 billion fiscal iggo-99. plays an increasing role in financing infrastruc-

&A-&ricture As with IBRD operations, operational quality ture-and supporting sector reforms (Madagascar
13% 12%1T-

PISector °Ur Economic continued to improve, while analytical and adviso- transport, Nicaragua telecom) as well as rural
M.n..nment Developtme-t Po[icy

8% 3% lo"0 ry services-and new support for preparing development (Bhutan, Vietnam).

Poverty Reduction Strategies-enhanced > Assistance for agricultural and environmental

prospects for successful use of IDA resources. needs was also significant ($o.s billion), with the

.'PL BY : FoCUS largest number of operations in Eastern Europe.
. .-. -;:LENDING BY REGION: FOCUS

ON AFRICA AND ON REFORMERS

'r-cat t >s- New IDA commitments to the Africa region in

8ote Hutae fiscal zooo stood at $2.0 billion, about the same
Otherb Dnevopment

9% 38%

Note: Sectorclasscficaton is on a loan-
component basis See Table 1. 1, page 33.
a. Includes transportation. telecommuni-
cahons, and water supply and sanitation.
b. Includes multtsector, electric power
and energy, oil and gas. and mining.
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RESPONDING TO A
CHANGING WORLD

n july 1944, 44 countries came together to today, the World Bank.

E form the International Bank for Recon- Most countries of the LENDING FOR HUMAN
* ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~DEVELOPMENT','

struction and Development. Their imme- world are now members of Share of Total Lending (in percent)

diate goal was to help war-torn economies the Bank and support its 21 8

rebuild after WVorld War II. Since then, efforts to achieve a world

much has changed in the world-and in what is, free of poverty.

Mi..
A S T E O L D. . W R D A K S I S A C F Y 8 0 F Y 0 0

As far too many have not benefited ... the Bank has anchored its mission in LENDING FOR ENERGY,

enough from economic progress, poverty reduction, with expanded sup- TELECOMMUNICATIONS
and the numbers of poor have port from a concessional lending arm, Share of Total Lending (in percent)

steadily grown... the International Development Associ-

ation (IDA), and a greater focus on peo-

ple's well-being, health, and education

As state-controlled, closed ... Bank assistance has supported 8 4

economies have generally failed, market-friendly policies and institu-
and market-based, open economies tion-building that are key to private

have mostly succeeded.., investment, export-led growth, and FY80 FY00

poverty reduction LENDING FOR PUBLIC

SECTOR MANAGEMENT'

As donor budgets have tightened, . . Bank assistance has been refocused Share of Total Lending (in percent)

and private capital flows have toward countries, sectors, and poorer 12 2

surged in importance... target populations that tend to benefit

less from private flows 04

FY80 FY00

As structural reforms have proven a ... the Bank has emphasized the need to a. FY00 data based on a classification-by-component

necessary but insufficient condition make growth inclusive: the focus is on basis. See Table 1. 1, page 33.
b. Includes education; health, nutrition and populabon;

for poverty alleviation... social protection, good governance, and andr in F00, social protection. (The social protection

the role of an effective state in address- category did not exist in fiscal 1980).

ing needs unmet by the private sector

As development has proven ... the Bank has expanded its loan product menu and increas-

complex and not solely a function ingly complemented its lending with nonlending services to

of financial resources... empower people with knowledge and capacity and to help

build national consensus

As democratic principles have ... the Bank has, in its work, increasingly emphasized consulta-

taken root and societies have tion and participation to strengthen the people's voice and to

become more open... promote country ownership of development efforts

As financial and natural crises ... the Bank has responded on many fronts: providing finance,

have dealt blows to the world's mobilizing and coordinating donor interventions, ensuring

poorest people... attention to poor people's needs, and supporting efforts to

assess future risks and prepare for them

RESPONDING TO A CHANGING WORLD 11



GOAL: HALVE THE PROPORTION OF PEOPLE
LIVING IN EXTREME POVERTY BY 2015

l - The Poverty Challenge:
Where We Are Today

1___manydev in many developing countries, the poor struggle at the margin of the formal

* economy. They lack political influence, education, health care, adequate shelter,_I ~ | personal safety, regular income, and enough to eat.

Worldwide, the number and proportion of people living in extreme poverty

declined slightly through the mid-iggos. Most of the decline was in East Asia,

Across the globe one person notably in China. But progress slowed temporarily in some Asian countries in the late

in five lives oni less than $ 1 1990s, and ground to a halt or reversed in others. In the rest of the world, while the
proportion of people in poverty declined, population growth meant that the number

a / day-and one in seven of poor people increased. And in the Europe and Central Asia region, undergoing

suffers chronic hunger economic and social transition, the proportion of poor more than tripled.

PROGRESS IN SOME REGIONS, DELAYS AND SETBACKS IN OTHERS
Proportion of people living on less than $1 a day (percent)

i) GCo 2015 0-- Poges to 1998 0--() Rte of progres -eede to -h gool

Sub-Saharan Africa East Asia and Pacific Middle East and North Africa
s0 48 sO 50

46

40 40 40

30 30 28 30

20 20 20

10 10 10

2 2 

1990 1 998 201 5 1990 1998 2015 1990 1998 201 

South Asia Europe and Central Asia Latin America and the Caribbean
50 50 50

44

40 40 40

30 30 30

20 20 20 17 6

1 I ~~~~~~~~~~~~~0 1 08

1 0

1990 1998 201 5 1990 1998 201 1990 1998 2015

This material is based upon A Better World for All Progress towards the I nternational Development Goals published jointly by the IMF, OECD, UN and World Bank (June 2000)

For more information visit www.pans2l.org/bettervorld



THAILAND ALTERS ITS DEVELOPMENT PATH

Between i988 and 1996, Thailand's economy grew by 7% a yeari and the share of the population in

poverty droppedfromn 22% to 11%. But the countiy'sfinancial crisis pushed that share back up to

/3% in 1998. In response, Tkailand is redirecting its developmnent strategy to reduice inequality, whick

remained high despite all the growth.

The country/s development plan, now more people-centered, has increased resources to the poorer

north and northeast. The objective: to reduce poverty to less than 10% by 2001. A new social inivest-

mentffund helps create jobs and supports social servicesfor poor people. As part of the new strategy, gov-

ernance reforms are geared to increasing accountability and giving authority to local district councils,

which now elect their own officials and commnandgreater resources.

1.2 BILLION LIVE IN MALNUTRITION: ANOTHER REACHING THE GOAL:
EXTREME POVERTY DIMENSION OF POVERTY AMBITIOUS, NOT IMPOSSIBLE

People living on less than $1 a day (millions), 199g Proportion of children underage five World population and number in
who are underweight (percent) extreme poverty (billions)

- Africa People I -ing is extreme poverty
522 5 Asia World popilatias

| t (; ~~~~~~~~~~~~Lass n marca

55~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~.
5.3

291~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~2
278

- 78 27 16 .0 9: 
24

Scrth Sub- EastAsia Middle Eupa Latir 1990 2000 1990 1998 2015
Aa a Saharar a Pacific East & & Ce,tral America &

Afn-a Nath Asia Catibbean
Afnca

The numbers of poor are greatest in Today there are 150 million underweight Poverty rates can be cut in half bv

South Asia, but the proportion of children in the developing world. But 2015 if countries follow policies that

poor people is highest in Sub-Saharan the proportion of malnourished chil- reduce social and gender inequalities

Africa. Most poor people live in rural dren is falling everywhere except Africa. and create income-earning opportuni-

areas, but urban poverty is growing Being underweight increases the risk of ties for poor people. But actions by

faster. Women are more likely than death and inhibits mental and physical industrial countries are crucial; devel-

men to lack rights to land and other development. Malnourished women are opment assistance must continue to

assets, They also have difficulty getting more likely to have underweight babies. support poverty reduction efforts.

access to credit. And they lack ade- Despite progress, special efforts will be Debt relief and open markets for

quate employment and economic secu- needed to meet the WVorld Food Sum- developing country exports can play

rity in old age. mit goal of halving the number of an important role. Meeting this goal

undernourished people by 2015. is only a first step, because even if it is

reached, almost goo million people

will still be left in extreme poverty.

That is why the effort to eliminate

poverty needs to be intensified.
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The Poverty Challenge:
What the World Bank
Is Doing

GOVERNANCE ntensyiling focus on poverty. Over the past year, we have conducted wide-
MATTERS ranging participatory poverty analyses and elaborated a framework for poverty

Goodgovernance and strong institutions are reduction in the World Development Report 2000/2001 (see facing page). We are

central themes of Itrld Bank supportfor supporting important efforts to reduce inequality, particularly in poor people's

poverty reduction. Why? Because they: access to assets. And we are measuring progress by poverty-related outcomes

> directly improve the quality and accessi- rather than amounts loaned.

bility of services to poor people (e.g., educa- Helping countries adopt a strategic framework for poverty reduction. In fiscal

tion, health, water, justice); zooo, we linked debt relief and concessional assistance more closely to poverty reduc-

> Contribute to economic growth and help tion (see "Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers;' facing page). Working with the IMF, we

ensu rc that budget allocationi and policymaking are combining the Fund's expertise in helping countries follow sound macroeconomic

takeplace in an emnironment that is open, trans- policies with the Bank's experience in social and structural policies and programs.

parent, noncorrupt, and not biased against Fighting poverty at the global level. We are helping provide global public goods

poorpeople; like knowledge, health, agricultural research, and environmental best practice that can go

> give citizens-including poor people- far in helping poor people; we are working with partners to prevent financial crises and

greater voice, which increases the accountability mitigate their impact.... and at the local level: We are working with communities and

of government to its citizens and thus improves helping empower poor people to become agents of change. Pilot community-based

public peformance. development programs will help us learn how to better work with communities. We are

also helping people to use natural resources in a manner that does not undermine their

long-term welfare.

Sharpening the poverty focus of Country Assistance Strategies (CASs). CASS

and related lending and nonlending services are aimed at supporting policies, strength-

ening institutions, and financing programs that help people better feed and educate

their children, find jobs, increase incomes, and manage resources, as illustrated below.

COUNTRY ASSISTANCE LENDING SERVICES NONLENDING SERVICES

Assistance to India isfocused on state-level Mali's Grassroots Initiatives Project is improv- A tiew mnonitoring system on poverty in

reform and development,for example in ing living standards in the poorest rural areas. Indonesia measures the extent of poor people s

Uttar Pradesh, the most populous and one of Building communiities'capacityfor decision- vulnerability to local and national shocks; sug-

the poorest states. Other support will help making on resource use is empoweinng then to gests improvements to safety nets to reduce such

eradicate polio hy the 2ooi target date, reduce take charge of their owvn developmetit. vulnerability; and introduces indicators to

infant arid maternal mortality, and raise monitor desired outcomes.

etirollntient arid literacy.



WORLD DEVELOPMENT REPORT 2000/2001: ATTACKING POVERTY

The World Development Report (t`i) 20ooo/2oo0 builds on past > Facilitating empowerment by

thinking and strategy but also substantially broadens and deep- making state institutions more

ens what is judged to be necessary to meet the poverty chal- responsive to poor people and

lenge. The experience of the last decade has shown the need removing social barriers that

for countries to develop strategies that go beyond labor-inten- exclude women, ethnic and

sive growth and human development, as advocated in the V;'IDR racial groups, and the socially , . :-- 

1990: mstitutional context, structural inequality, social barriers disadvantaged;

faced by disadvantaged groups, and exposure to economic > Enhancing security by pre-

crises and natural disasters all affect a country's ability to venting and managing econo-

reduce poverty effectively. mvwide shocks and providing &
The MWDR 2000 is developed around a notion of poverty as mechanisms to reduce the

defined by poor people themselves through multi-country par sources of vulnerability that poor people face.

ticipatory studies. They speak not only of their lack of opportu- Actions are also required at the international level. Such

nities for economnic advancement but also of their powerlessness, actions would promote financial stability; ensure that technologi-

voicelessness, vulnerability, and fear. cal, scientific, and medical progress benefit poor countries;

The WDR 2000 proposes, at the country level, a general increase debt relief and make development assistance less intru-

framework for action in three equally important areas. Coun- sive; open developed country markets to developing country

tries should set their own priorities and sets of actions across exports; and give voice to poor people in international forums.

these three pillars: Progress on these fronts will ensure that countries' efforts to

D' Promoting economic opportunities for poor people through equi- attack poverry are effective, locally owned, and sustainable.

table growth, better access to markets, and expanded assets;

POVERTY REDUCTION STRATEGY PAPERS BASED IN PRINCIPLESUNDERLYING

THE COMPREHENSIVE DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK CDFANDPRSPs

PRSPs, in effect, apply the principles of the

In a major new program launched in December 1999, Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers Comprehensive Development Framework

(PRSPS), produced by countries, are becoming the basis for debt relief and for concession- (cDF), a development approach introduced by

al lending by the Bank and the International Monetary Fund. the Bank in fiscal 1999, which is beginning to

This new program is the result of growing international concern about the slow be adopted by several countries. The PRSP

progress in reducing poverty. Following intense consultations among national govern- process will build on the valuable experience of
ments, the Bank, the Fund, U.N. agencies, regional development banks, NGOS, and religious countries piloting the CDF approach. It empha-

groups, it was agreed at the joint Bank-Fund Annual Meetings in September 1999 that the sizes thefollowing principles:

Heavily Indebted Poor Countries (HIPC) Initiative would provide enhanced and faster debt > Countries own the development strategy.

relief, and that poverty reduction strategies would guide the use of freed-up resources. > Strategies are comprehensive, reflecting the

In terms of content, PRSPS emphasize: multidimensional nature of poverty and the need

> Understanding the nature and locus of poverty and the links to integrate institutional, structural, and sectoral

between growth and poverty reduction interventions into a consistent macroeconomic

> Identifying public actions that have the highest poverty impact framework.

> Selecting and tracking outcome indicators > Strategies adopt a long-term perspective.

In terms of process, PRSPS emphasize: > Strategies are developed and implemented

> Country leadership in articulating a development vision in partnership, with the PRSP becoming the

> Participatory processes to ensure broad-based support, good governance, basisfor donor support.

transparency, and accountability > Strategies aim to achieve results

> Close collaboration between the Bank and the Fund and across on theground.

all development partners
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SECTION I

Overview

I n fiscal zooo, the World Bank took important steps, together with its clients, to pave
the way for solid progress in the fight against poverty. Every step involved partners, some

old, some new, many at the country level, some at the global level.

GLOBAL CONTEXT: RECOVERING ECONOMIES,

PERSISTENT CHALLENGES

Economic and financial conditions recovered sharply in 1999 from the trials of the prior two
years. At an estimated 3.3 percent, world economic growth exceeded expectations, led by a strong

United States economy and policy reforms in emerging snarket countries. Global trade recovered

strongly, and commodity prices firmed. These elements will permit more "self-financing" of

development by countries. The present challenge is to sustain and strengthen this economic

turnaround. Global Development Finance 2000 suggests that those countries that rely more heavily

on trade, are more diversified, attract more foreign direct investment, and have become more

competitive are the most likely to sustain growth.

In all regions, progress is evident but obstacles remain. Africa's advances cannot keep

pace with poverty, as conflict persists and HIV/AIDS continues its ravage of the continent's

working-age people as well as of its children. Recovery in crisis-hit East Asia was better than

expected, and the crisis' social impact less than feared, but an overhang of domestic bad debt

clouds the picture. South Asia continued to lead the developing world in growth but poverty

remains entrenched, and conflict situations are diverting public resources. Eastern Europe is

facing challenges of poverty and inequality that were unknown a decade ago. Inequality also

mars Latin American and Caribbean nations' economic and social landscape; in addition,

these countries fell victim to natural disasters during the year. The numbers of poor are also

rising in the Middle East and North Africa region, where, despite economic advances, high

unemployment persists.

The international goal of halving the proportion of the world's population living in

absolute poverty by 2015 is attainable but difficult, according to World Development Indicators 2000

(WDI 2000; see Box s.s; see also "The Poverty Challenge" at the beginning of this report). The

report finds that the goal can be reached if economic growth resumes (and indeed accelerates)



BOX 1.1 THE INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT GOALS

The goals for inter- Reduce the proportion As growth increased globally in Peoplebrving on Less Than $1 a Day
emrcant)

national develop- of people living in the mid-1990s, poverty rates 30

ment aim at a world extreme poverty by fell-rapidly in Asia, but little or

free of poverty. Set half between 1990 not at all in Africa. Income

in quantitative and 2015 inequality is a barrier to t O ..

terms, the goals progress in Latin America. o 990 2015

come from the -_ Progress 1990-98 -0 Average path to goal

agreements and Net Primary Enrollment Rate (pren

resolutions of the Enroll all children in Although enrollment rates contin- t0-

world conferences primary school by 2015 ue to rise, they have not risen fast

organized by the enough. Per current trends, more 75

United Nations in than 100 million school-age chil-

the 1990s and dren will not be in school in 2015. 5so ss 207-

reconfirmed at the _ Progress 1990-9 - Average path to goal

Social Sum m it in Ratio of Gifrs to Boys in Primary
Geneva in June Make progress towards Getting more girls through and Secondary School (percent)
2000. The goals gender equality and em- school is an essential first step 100 

will not be easy power women by elimi- to empowering women. The

to achieve, but nating gender disparities gender gap has narrowed, but ..
progress in some in primary and secondary girls' enrollment remains signifi- so sso 2005

countries and education by 2005 cantly behind that of boys. _ Progress 1990-98 Average path to goal

regions shows what
Mortaity Rate for Chidren Under

can be done. The Reduce infant and For every one country that cut Age Five per 1,000 Uve Births

message is that if child mortality rates by infant and under-5 child mortali-

some countries can two-thirds between ty rates fast enough to reach the

make great strides 1990 and 2015 goal, 10 lagged behind-and so

in reducing poverty another one moved backwards,

in its many forms, often because of Hlv/AfI9. ° s90 2010

others can as well. -4 Progress 1990-9 -- 0 Average path to goat

But it will take hard

work. Success will Reduce maternal Skilled care during pregnancy Births Attended by Skilled Health Pernnel

require, above all, mortality ratios by and delivery can do much to avoid 100

stronger voices for three-quarters between many of the half-million mater-
poor people, eco- 1990 and 2015 nal deaths each year. The propor- 50

nomic stability and tion of births attended by skilled

growth that favors personnel rose slowly in the 1990s. 1999 2015

them, basic social - Progress 19383-98 Average path to goa

services for all, Provide access for all Contraceptive use is one indica- Contraceptive Prevalence Rate (percent

open markets for who need reproductive tor of access to reproductive 80

trade and technolo- health services by 2015 health services. With increasing 70

gy, and good use of access to such services, the rate 60

the resources for of contraceptive use is rising in e

development. all regions. 501993 1999

- Progress 993-98

.h,s matenal is based Implement national Despite their commitments at the Countries with Environmental Strategies
This maftenal Is based (Pe-fit)

upon A Better World for strategies for sustain- Rio Earth Summit in 1992, fewer
All: Progress Towoards the 50 P"oges 1984-97
Intemational Development able development by than half the world's countries
Goals pubishedjointly by 2005 so as to reverse have adopted environmental 25
the IMF, OECD, UN, and
World Bank (June 2000) the loss of environmen- strategies, and even fewer are *----

vis,tsvs.pans2l org/ tal resources by 2015 implementing them. o_ _ ______ ||_____________
better,world. 1984 7 98 89 90 91 92 93 94 95 97
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and if inequality does not increase. Progress has specific factors, largely in
been uneven: While the povertv rate has fallen in Asia (Bangladesh, Pakistan, FIGURE 1.1

some large countries, especially in China, other and Vietnam) and in Africa TRENDS, FISCAL 1I970-0

parts of the world have seen an increase in the (Cote d'Ivoire, Eritrea, (billions of dollars)

proportion of people living in extreme poverty. Ethiopia, and Zimbabwe),

Social indicators have generally improved over where several countries eo DAo--It-ts

three decades but progress in many areas has been faced conflict situations.
25

too slow to allow achievement of the internation- The vear's results attest

al goals. And inequalities across income level and to an increasing emphasis, 20

gender are often evident. In India, for example, in Bank assistance, on 1A )
the majority of 15- to ig-year-olds from the bot- demand-driven services and

tom 40 percent of households has not completed aid effectiveness. In fiscal 10 6

even one year of schooling, whereas the same age i998-99, the Bank had 5

group from the richest 2o percent of households responded rapidly to IBRD

has completed io years of school. Similar pat- borrowers' changing needs, * 70 '72 74 76 '78 S0 '82 '4 86 '88 '90 '92 '96 '98 00

terns exist in many developing countries. in the face of difficult mar- -

The Bank's contribution to poverty reduc- ket conditions, while the recovery of financial

tion in fiscal 2000 is the subject of this overview. markets explains the significant decline in lending

This section presents fiscal 2ooo operational in fiscal 2000. But the results also reflect two

results and then outlines the wide-ranging steps underlying trends characterizing the 19os: a lev-

taken this past vear that mark the changes in the eling of overall demand compared with the

Bank's work and set the strategic directions for steady growth in the two

the next several years. (For fiscal 2000 financial previous decades, and with-

results, see Section VI.) in that band, greater volatil- MAKING A DIFFERENCE...
TO INDIAKS HEALTH.

itv (see Figure i.8 both

WORLD BANK ASSISTANCE: the result of increased Bank-supported rforms in six
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS reliance by IBRD borrowers Lanksrupported rfm in six

states are transforming the quality
Fiscal 2000 was a year of lower lending volumes, on private capital markets.

sustained improvement in the quality of lending, Meanwhile, in line with of 
and expanded nonlending support. IDA'S increasing focus on aid beginning to have a major impact

Total lending in fiscal 2000 amounted to $15.3 effectiveness, new IDA com- on health outcomes.
billion for the International Bank for Reconstruc- mitments declined in fiscal

tion and Development (IBRD) and the Internation- 2000 in response to a deterioration in country

al Development Association (DA) combined, policy performance (including governance), and

significantly below the record levels of the last two other conditions that dimmed prospects for

years (see Table i.s, on page 33). Having reached effective use of financial aid. For both IBRD and

peak levels in the wake of the 1997-98 financial IDA countries, lower lending also reflects a trend

crises that hit three continents, demand for IBRD toward smaller operations, as countries have

funds subsided in fiscal 2000 as global financial sought more support for the social sectors, public

markets recovered and emerging market sector management, and institution building-

economies regained access to private capital flows. rather than large-scale physical infrastructure

Lending to IBRD "crisis" borrowers-Argentina, investment, where the private sector is assuming a

Brazil, Indonesia, Republic of Korea., the Russian growing role. New lending instruments that pro-

Federation, and Thailand-which accounted for vide phased support and that promote learning

$13 billion in fiscal s999, was down to si.8 billion and innovation-both aimed at reducing risk and

in fiscal 2000. IDA lending also declined, although building institutions to increase aid effective-

by less, which reflects the confluence of country- ness-also imply smaller operations. Average
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loan size in fiscal zooo was coordination among partners, and build domes-
MAKING A DIFFERENCE... s69 million, compared with tic capacity to manage development programs.

$93 million for fiscal 1990. Bank assistance increasingly recognizes that the

lDA%s S-.2 billion in debt relief to Finally, the year's lending quality of lending is enhanced when it is accom-

Tanzania enables more public results also reflect a panied or preceded by nonlending services that
spendingfor poor peopl and will strengthened emphasis on provide advice and knowledge. But nonlending
belp the country pursue econotnic quality, in recognition of services also have development impact when

the greater complexity of used without lending to inform the policy dia-
growth-led poverty reduction. operations as well as logue and to underpin the development of

heightened concern for Country Assistance Strategies (CASs). A signifi-

fiduciary frameworks-corruption-free procure- cant example of this relationship was the Bank's

ment, for example-and social and environmen- support in fiscal 2ooo to countries in the prepa-

tal safeguards. ration of Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers,

In fiscal 2000, the Bank increased its which set out country priorities and policies

emphasis on nonlending services to enhance aid providing the context for debt relief or iDA lend-

effectiveness. A wide range of advisory, analyti- ing through the CAS process.

cal, training, and knowledge-related services Major themes of assistance in fiscal 2ooo

sought to nurture improved policies, strengthen were anchored in the central objective of poverty

BOX 1.2 IDA-12 SUPPORT FOR POVERTY REDUCTION IN
FISCAL 2000: SOME ILLUSTRATIONS

Education. The Nicaragua Second Basic Education Project aims beyond projects to help countries improve public sector perform-

at a more equitable basic education system that involves the corn- ance and reduce corruption in public spending. Such efforts are

munity in schoolgovernance. It will increase coverage at the pre- underway in nine African countries and six Eastern European

school and primary levels fund a pilot scholarship programfor countries, as well as in Indonesia, Cambodia, and lndia.

poor students provide trainingfor teachers as well as school man- Privatization-related issues. About $94 million out of

agement, and set up a national evaluation and monitoring system. $120 million in project costsfor the Mozambique Railways

Health. he Madagascar Second Health Sector Support and Ports Restructuring Project will support retrenchment of

Project will support primary healthcare services, disease pre- over z2,ooo employees. This support will cover provision of

vention, reproductive health, nutrition, and reduced incidence severance payments and fforts to help workersfindjobs or

of major communicable diseases. This program will benefit become self-employed.

the rural poor especially women and children, and will tar- Post-conflict. A Transitional Support Strategy for Burundi,

get groups at risk (for example, in HiV/AIDS prevention). covering a period of about i8 to 24 months, contains actions to

Gender. A government-led strategy is being prepared in halt the worsening poverty and to stabilize the economy as the

Vietnam, itformed by two studies on gender-based violence and peace process evolves. Support will include a participatory

on changing gender relations in the country. The studies were approach to rehabilitating village-level infrastructure, generation

recently completed by LDtA in partnership with Vietnamese social of labor-intensive employment, and an emergency recovery credit

research organizations. to help restore a mininium level of social services.

Social protection. In India, the Andhra Pradesh District Environment. Nonlending activities provide important

Poverty Initiatives Project is providing educational support for supportfor environmental protection. In particular, analytical

female child laborers and school dropouts, while the Second Social studies on rural energy in India will benefit rural and poor

Fundfor Development Project in Yemen is helpingpoorpeoplegain urban communities; collaborative activities across African

access to niicrofnance and undertake income-generating activities. countries are helping strengthen regulatory capacity and water

Governance. Bank assistance, often through adjustment resource management; and grants to Armenia and Georgia are

operations and technical assistance, is increasingly moving improving environmental legislation and regulatory capacity.
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reduction, with the role of the IDA-the Bank usage, protect forests, build
FIGURE 1.2

Group's concessional lending arm-highlighted institutional and regulatory SATISFACTORY OUTCOMES

in Box 1.2 (an illustrative set of IDA-12 projects frameworks, shift environ- (percent of dollars lent)

in fiscal 2000) and Box 1.3 (a retrospective of mental management to the
Al op-raon

IDA-II covering fiscal 1997-99): community level, and pro- Adjustment.operaions 93

> Key focal points of Bank assistance in fiscal mote disaster forecasting 80

2000 were economic management and private and preparedness.

and financial sector development, fundamental Development effec-

drivers of economic growth and poverty reduc- tiveness has improved,

tion. Aimed at attracting private investment, according to the latest data

assistance was broad in scope and included on the quality of opera-

institutional and governance reviews; financial tional projects. Out of the
sector assessments and other efforts to strength- projects that closed in fiscal

en banks and capital markets; and support for 1998-99, the Bank's inde-

stronger, more efficient public institutions, pendent Operations Evalu-
including anticorrupt judicial systems and regu- ation Department (OED)

latory frameworks. A sizable share of invest- has found that over 8o per-

ment lending was focused on the poorest cent of dollars lent (or 72 FY90-93 FY'94-97 FY9099 l

countries as well as on sectors that significantly percent of projects)
affect poor people (for example, water supply achieved a satisfactory or better outcome, which

and sanitation) but where private investment is reflects a steady improvement from the early

scarce. Nonlending assistance has been impor- 1990S (see Figure i.z). Moreover, only 6 percent
tant; substantial advisory services and some of these dollars are unlikely

technical assistance were provided jointly with to produce sustainable
the International Finance Corporation (IFC) fol- results. Progress over prior P FIGURE O.3 T

IPROJECTS AT RISK OF NOT 
lowing some merging of functions in fiscal zooo years is notable in light of ACHIEVING DEVELOPMENT
to maximize synergy across the Bank Group. the increased complexity of OBJECTIVES
> Attention to human development remained today's projects and the (percent of projects)

a priority. Assistance included: multisectoral inherent risks of the devel- 34

strategies to fight such killers as HIV/AIDs and opment business. Other 28

malaria that disproportionately affect poor peo- indicators measuring the 20

ple; sustained efforts to strengthen basic health performance of projects I.
services; nontraditional approaches to delivering still under implementation

education services to poor people (involving the show even greater improve- FY92-94 FY95s-97 FY98-00

private sector or directly through scholarships); ment. The share of projects

and continued emphasis on social protection that are at risk of not achieving their develop-

through social funds and social expenditure ment objectives has fallen steadily (see Figure

reforms. A strategy paper on reproductive 1.3); it is estimated to have declined further, to 15
health complemented lending operations; anoth- percent of the total in fiscal 2000. The quality of
er on social protection is under preparation. projects entering the portfolio has also improved
>- Environmental management was another markedly: nine out of lo new projects in calen-
important focus of Bank assistance. Analytical dar 1999 were rated satisfactory, compared with

studies proposed innovative ways of improving seven in so in calendar 1996. Improvement in the
industry environmental performance and are quality of ongoing projects means that billions

examining environment-health links; lending of dollars are being more effectively used, with
operations sought to address water supply and greater development impact.
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BOX 1.3 SUPPORTING POVERTY REDUCTION THROUGH IDA-1I
Period covered: July t, 1997 through June 30, 1999 Amount of funding: StIR 14.5 billion, USS19.2 billion equivalent

Global context. The economic the regions with the lowest social indicators, accountedfor

IDA-1I LENDING expansion of the i990s and IDA- almost three-quarters of total investment lending, with
BY REGION supported reforms broughtfaster substantial social sector lending also to Egypt. Poverty

Total lending $19.2 billion
(381 operations in 75 countries) growth to many IDA-eligible coun- reduction and long-term rebuilding were at the center of

tries. Some of the poorest began to support to countriesfollowing disasters such as Hurricane

Mlddle East Arnenca qualfyfor debt relief But the Mitch in Central America infiscal 1999; conflict in Sub-
& No,th & the 

Af.ca Caribbean absolute numbers of poor people Saharan Africa; and countries suffering the effects of the
4% 6%

Ce l.^k A3ffi- remained high. And though spared Kosovo crisis. IDA was able to increase lending in good

11% @ <the worst of the period'sfinancial policy environmentsfor both Africa (below) and some of

. ~ .t '~5'..-. crises, a number of o DA countries India's states, as well as Bolivia, Honduras, Nicaragua,

W~~~~~~ ~~~~~ ~~saw their growth slow and the pres- and the Republic of Yemen.

sures on vulnerable groups rise. Africa. Lending increased signrficantly in several

Meanwhile, armed conflict, natural countries with good or improving performance: Madagas-

disasters, and the HIV/AIDs epidem- car, Senegal, Uganda, and Zambia. IDA responded swiftly

-," ...... ic strained the economic and social to the return to stability in Rwanda, and also supported

XK'> * - -QX 3' fabric of many very poor coun- Mozambique in its recovery effort. But poor performance

tries-all at a time when and armed conflict resulted in minimal or no lending to

-.. thIA- E Ist As,. & P-k concessional resources were on such potentially large borrowers as Angola and Nigeria, as
Scuth As a East As,a & Pac.fic

30% 13% the decline. well as Ethiopia sincefiscal 1999. The number of opera-

New commitments under tions was higher under IDA-I i relative to IDA-Io, given

IDA-I1 LENDING IDA-1t were at a level similar to the many smaller operationsfocused on capacity building
BY SECTOR that of IDA-zo, with lower adjust- and itistitutional development. The volume of lending was

Total lending $19.2 billion ment lending offset by higher invest- lower by it percent.
(381 operations in 75 countries)

inent lending. The number of Asia. New lending to China, India, and Indonesia

operations increased by 12 percent, (in thefinancial crisis'immediate aftermath) continued to

with substantially more operations emphasize human development andpoverty alleviation.

in Europe and Central Asia (ECA.). Almost haf of all investment lending in South Asia went

Moldova and Indonesia became to the social sectors. Commitments to Bangladesh doubled,

IDA-eligible, while China, the Arab partly due tofloods infiscal 1999. The overall lending

Republic of Egypt, and Equatorial volume in Asia was 5.1 percent below the comparable level

t Guinea graduated at the end of fis- for IDA-Io, which reflects a 5o percent reduction in loans

cal 1999. to China as part of IDA phase-out, as well as India's

IDA- It assistancefocused on improving creditworthiness.

social sectors, reconstructionfollow- Europe and Central Asia. New lending to Europe

ing disasters or cotflict, goodgover- and Central Asia nearly doubled as poverty in the region

nance, and support to countries in transition. Lendingfor rose. Bosnia and Herzegovina received extraordinary sup-

social and human development accountedfor nearly 40 port as did other countries coming out of civil conflict:

percent of new investment lending, reflecting IDA 's strong Albania, Armenia, Georgia, FYR Macedonia, and Tajik-

focus 0on the social underpinnings of growth and poverty istan. Reconstruction and transition management were the

reduction, and reduced inequality. Soutb Asia and Africa, key objectivesfor this region.
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WO R L D B A N K Ass I STA N CE: efforts that could significantly improve the

A B u s I N E S S I N C H A N G E prospects for poverty reduction. These efforts rec-
ognize the huge scope of the poverty problem.

Progress to date Thev go beyond traditional solutions and aim at
mobilizing people and institutions everywhere.

The improvements in operational quality noted Forging partnerships, foster-

above stem largely from the Strategic Compact ing consensus, building MAKING A DIFFERENCE...

between the Bank and its shareholders to transform awareness, and sharing TO RWANDAN WOMEN.

itself into a client-focused organization. In fiscal knowledge, at country as

2000, the Compact's final year, progress was further well as global levels, are key An adjustment operation is supporting
consolidated. While the impact of the Compact is themes underlying these the enactment of legislation that
measurable in many areas (see Box 1.4), equally efforts. The central chal- would end discrimination against
notable is its effect in moving the Bank toward a lenge is to increase develop- women in inheritance and
culture of listening, learning, partnership, flexibili- ment impact. ownership and the adoption of a
ty, and innovation, in order to adapt its services to In fiscal 2000, the Bank plan to give them more opportunity
better meet member countries' needs. A noteworthy began to work closely with

innovation in fiscal zooo was the policy-based guar- countries interested in pilot-

antee offered to Argentina, which allowed the coun- ing the Comprehensive Development Frame-

try to put forward a si.5 billion note issued at a time work (CDF) approach introduced last year. This

of investor coolness to emerging market debt. approach recognizes the multidimensional nature

Innovation in meeting investors' needs, which trans- of the challenges in poverty reduction and the

lates into benefits for the borrowers, has also been need for extensive partnership. Country pilots

an important objective (see Box 1.5). have made progress, but the pace and depth have

been uneven due to country circumstances (see
Building blocks of a new vision Box s.6). Realizing the promise of the CDF will be

With a more strongly client-focused culture in challenging, not only for countries but also for

fiscal zooo, the Bank embarked on new long-term their external partners, and it will require funda-

$ ~~~~~~Investments in rural
electrification, water

00\0000 \020000 supply, and diverse
small-scale facilities
under the Rural
Poverty Alleviation

I Program have not
only improved the
quality of life but
also created eco-
nomic oppottunity
throughout North-
east Brazil. In the
state of Sergipe
alone, 22,000
homes, 1,200 small
businesses, and 400
rural schools and
daycare centers have
been electrified.
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mental changes in culture
BOX 1.4 THE STRATEGIC COMPACT: INSTITUTIONAL and working practices.

RENEWAL IN FISCAL 1998-00 Effective and cost-efficient

In 1997, the Bank embarked on the Strategic Compact, a three-year program of institutional renewal. The Compact partnership with govern-

aimed,fundamentally, to enhance the Bank's ffectiveness as a development institution. While an evaluation of the ments, other development

program isforthcoming, the Compact has had a marked impact on severalfronts. Sustaining progress will be an agencies, and civil society

ongoing challenge. will be crucial for the Bank;

also important is progress

on harmonization of donor

policies, procedures, and
Increased > Nearly half of the Bank's country directors, who are responsible for practices.

client focus three-fourths of its loan portfolio, are now located in client coun-
tries (nearly all were in Washington, D.C. initially) As an outcome of the

> About 43 percent of all staff assigned to regional units are located joint World Bank-Inter-
at country offices (compared with 33 percent in fiscal 1997) national Monetary Fund

> Increased emphasis on country ownership of development efforts Annual Meetings in Sep-

> Stronger, more open working relationships with country partners tember 1999, which fol-

lowed extensive worldwide
Broader > Increased focus on governance, financial sector, social dimensions consultations, debt relief

development of development, rural development
agenda and > Special support for debt relief, post-conflict needs, and capacity build- under the Heavily Indebted

partnerships ing (especially in Africa), reflecting targeted efforts to reduce poverty Poor Countries (HIPC) Ini-

> Greater role in addressing global needs (for example, HIV/AIDs, envi- tiative, launched by the
ronmental issues) Bank and the Fund in 1996,

2- More effective partnerships in pursuing all of the above was enhanced to be made

Enhanced quality - Improved results at project closing (more satisfactory and sustain- deeper. broader, and faster.
of operations able outcomes, greater development impact) These enhancements double

(see also Section 1i11) a Improved health of ongoing projects (improved quality at project start, the assistance provided by
such as greater readiness for implementation; and better supervision) the original framework,

accelerate delivery of relief,
New lending ' New loan types (recognizing the need for longer-term approaches, and strengthen the link

and nonlending learning and innovation, special response in times of crisis) between debt relief and
products - New financial products (helping borrowers better manage their

(see also Section VI) debt and financial risk) poverty reduction. Fiscal
a New analytical and advisory products (for example, Institutional zooo was a year of active

and Governance Reviews and Financial Sector Assessments) implementation of the

enhanced HiPc Initiative
Increased a- Reform of human resources policy framework; debt relief com-

internal a World class (internal) knowledge management system mitments were agreed for
capacity a- Strengthened training capabilities

a Comprehensive management reporting system seven countries (Bolivia,
a- Stronger quality assurance program Burkina Faso, Mauritania,
a Strengthened core services for projects (procurement, financial Mozambique, Senegal, Tan-

management, social development) zania, and Uganda), which

will amount to $8.4 billion
Increased a- Stronger, expanded World Bank Institute in nominal terms over time

knowledge >- Large array of web sites for clients
sharing >- Global distance learning network from all creditors. Including

relief already committed to

Bolivia, Burkina Faso, C6te

d'Ivoire, Guyana, Mali,

Mozambique, and Uganda
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under the original HIPC framework, total relief Wlorld Development Report 2000/2001 (which updates

from all creditors under the Initiative amounts to the landmark 1990 issue on poverty) is aimed at

about s14 billion. Of this total, IDA relief is pro- strengthening the analytical basis for poverty

jected to provide approximately $4 billion. When reduction strategies.

completed, debt relief from all participating cred- Poverty-focused country assistance increas-

itors under the HIPC Initiative could amount to ingly centers on those poli-

more than $50 billion over time, with the Bank cies and institutional MAKING A DIFFERENCE...

projected (as of June 30, 2ooo) to contribute near- reforms that support private TO FLOOD-RAVAGED

ly $II billion of this total. When combined with sector-led growth, empower- MOZAMBIQUE.

traditional debt relief mechanisms, the Initiative ment of poor communities, Ear& Bank response-with
will reduce, bv more than one-half, the outstand- and security against shocks , a

ing debt of 32 eligible countries. Onlv the poorest for the most vulnerable. partners-to assess damage fund
I reconstrucstion, accelerate debt reliel;

countries with unsustainable levels of debt are eli- Reflecting these trends, CASS, n

gible for debt relief; delivery of complete debt the governing instrument and lead afundraising initiative
relief provided under the enhanced framework for Bank support to a coun- enabled food victims to rebuild
follows the development of country-owned, par- try, are evolving. For fiscal their communities.
ticipatory poverty reduction strategies. 2000, 100 percent of full

At the joint Bank-Fund Annual Meetings in CASS and CAS Progress

September 1999, ministers also endorsed a frame- Reports for IDA-eligible countries were disclosed

work to strengthen the link between Bank and to the public or are in the process of being dis-

Fund programs in low-income countries-includ- closed. For IBRD-only countries, 64 percent of full

ing debt relief and poverty reduction. Under this CASs and CAS Progress Reports were disclosed or

framework, countries receiving debt relief or con- are in the process of being disclosed. All full CASS

cessional lending from the Bank and the Fund (for both IDA- and IsRD-eligible countries) were

would produce Poverty Reduction Strategy prepared with civil society

Papers (PRsPs) before they receive such resources. consultation in the coun-

This new framework is designed to strengthen tries, continuing the trend BOX 1.5 INNOVATION IN
THE CAPITAL MARKETS:

country ownership of policies and programs to of the last few years of THE E-BOND

reduce poverty; ensure broad stakeholder partici- increasing stakeholder par-

pation in formulating strategies; improve coordi- ticipation in the CAS process. InJanuary 2000, the Bank launched thefirst-

nation among development partners; and focus According to a fiscal 2000 ever integrated electronic bond offering in capital

the combined resources of the international com- review, CASS' coverage of markets. The $3 billionfive-year notes were

munity to achieve results. By the end of i999, the governance issues and the marketed electronically, distributed via the inter-

Bank and the Fund had agreed on an operational social and political under- net, and traded electronically in the secondary

approach to jointly support country efforts to pinnings of reform has market. This transaction set a new standard in

prepare PRSPS. To elicit broad partner support for improved; and IDA CASs are the use of technology in bond markets. For the

PRSPS, they are reaching out to government offi- even more focused on pover- first time, retail customers and smaller institu-

cials, bilateral donors, the U.N., multilateral agen- ty reduction and human tional investors had access through the click of a

cies, nongovernmental organizations (NGos), and development. Complement- mouse to a largeglobal bond in primary offering

other stakeholders. Two PRSPS were presented in ing CASS are sector strategy and were able to buiy it at the sarme price as large

fiscal zooo by Burkina Faso and Uganda, along papers, which help to iden- institutional accounts. As of June30, 2000, the

with eight "interim" PRSPS, road-maps to forth- tify areas of relatively weak E-bond had outperformed comnparable securities

coming PRSPs that help avoid delays in debt relief country performance. The since its launch.

and concessional lending (Albania, Bolivia, Mau- Board reviewed six sector Capital market innovation helps mobilize

ritania, Mozambique, Sao Tome and Principe, strategy and related papers lower-costfundsfor the Bank's borrowing

Senegal, Tanzania, and Uganda). A large body of in fiscal 2ooo: Fuelfor Thought: member countries.

new poverty-focused research undertaken for the An Environmental Strategyfor the
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Energy Sector; A Strategic View of Urban and Local Govern-
BOX 1.6 THE COMPREHENSIVE DEVELOPMENT mentIssuesImplicationsfortheBankaPoplation

FRAMEWORK: PROGRESS IN FISCAL 2000 mo
(in a follow-up to the 1997 Health, Nutrition, and

The Comprehensive Development Framework (cDF) is an approach to Population Strategy Paper); the World Bank Group Private

development that has won growing support worldwide. cDF principles are Sector Develpment (PSD) Strategy; a PSD Subsector Strategy

being implemented in 12 pilots and also by some nonpilot countries at on Small and Medium Enterprises; and Corporate Cover-

their initiative. While it is too early for results, given the inherently long- nance: A Frameworkfor Implmentation.
term nature of the CDF approach and its call for societal transformation, the Support from the International Develop-
pilot efforts are moving forward. Indeed, countries using the cDF (such as
Bolivia, Ghana, and Uganda) have made significant progress in preparing ment Association continues to emphasize basic

Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers, which are based on CoF principles and soctal services; social sector lending is expected to

aim to translate a country's poverty reduction strategy into an action plan. be sustained at about 40 percent of total IDA

More generally, however, progress in implementing the cDF has been investment lending in fiscal 2000-02. Governance,

uneven, given different starting points and varying country circumstances. client participation, and partnerships are also pri-

- All pilots have formulated, or are formulating, a long-tern, integrat- orities. An IDA donors meeting in June zooo
ed vision, with explicit efforts to balance social, structural, and institu- endorsed an aggressive approach to attack

tional dimensions with macroeconomic objectives. HIv/AIDS and other comrnunicable diseases that

- Pilots have used national consultative processes to promote country
ownership among a wide range of domestic stakeholders, and many account for 8O percent of the mortality gap

country governments are taking the lead on aid coordination. between rich and poor countries. Donors also
- Strengthened partnerships are emerging in many pilots, as donors emphasized the development challenges in Africa

better align their strategies to the country's long-term vision and pre- as a central mission for IDA in the new century.

pare joint analytical work as a basis for strategic selectivity and Additional challenges for IDA-i2 relate to girls'

improved division of labor. education, rural growth, recovery from natural

- Some pilots are working to specify development results and put in disasters child labor issues, and post-conflict
place systems to monitor progress in poverty reduction. , ,

Challenges. The particular challenges of CDF include: capacity con- needs in countries whose (often) low performance
straints within government; the quality of governance; difficulties in har- ratings may not justify the level of resource allo-

monizing donor policies and procedures; and ensuring that national cation needed for speedy recovery. Also a priority

consultative processes do not undermine existing democratic institu- are new approaches to governance, such as part-

tions. For the Bank, ensuring strategic selectivity in country assistance nerships to spur knowledge sharing and dialogue;
will be crucial.

citizen surveys on corruption and service delivery;

and national anticorruption strategies. Interaction

Nearly all pilots are Several pilots are Over time, the criti- with partners is crucial, especially following such

focusing on gover- emphasizing the cal test of CDF will new initiatives as the Memorandum of Under-

nance issues, and importance of knowl- be how far poverty
many are imple- edge sharing and is reduced. Poverty standing with the African Development Bank and
menting projects to transparency through reduction requires growing interaction with u.N. agencies. Other
improve justice sys- country-based CDF specfflc goals and principles underpinning IDA support are country

tems. Romania, for web sites. The multi- indicators linked participation and ownership; emphasis on poverty

example, is embark- partner-run Vietnam to country-owned
ing on a major pub- Development Center strategies. Bolivia diagnosis as a first step to poverty reduction; and
lic administration provides access to has adopted a a strengthened allocation process that links policy
reform effort; they the latest develop- results-based bud- performance and the adaptation of effective
hosted a regional ment knowledge and get to integrate the
anticorruption information available monitoring of such poverty reduction strategies to the size and nature
conference in worldwide and offers indicators into its of IDA assistance to borrowers.
March 2000. targeted distance budget cycle. In fiscal 2000, the Bank addressed global

learning courses. challenges that have a profound impact on pover-

ty. Responding to requests from clients and part-

CoF Pilots, Blia; Cdte d'lvoher; Pominicaf Rep Erlt *iop& han; ners, the Bank has joined many regional and
Kyw Repuiblic Morocceo;-Jania;b - iin-dGa:b

Ky. b orco n n iea ; W andglobal partners to help address issues that cross

national borders. Support has, for the most part,
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taken the form of research and knowledge man- Avoiding financial crisis is no longer just a

agement, advocacy and advisory services, capacity national goal but one of international concern,

building, global standards setting, donor coordi- and it has become a top priority in the Bank's

nation, and resource mobilization. antipoverty strategy. In fiscal 2000, the Bank and

Among such global challenges, HIV/AIDS is of the Fund worked together to strengthen financial

grave concern. HIV/AIDS is wiping out decades of systems and identify vul-

progress in improving the quality of life of the nerabilities; they completed MAKING A DIFFERENCE...
TO PAKISTANI GIRLS.

poorest people, and it is worsening the prospects assessments for so develop-

for economic development and poverty alleviation. ing countries on a pilot With Bank-supportedfunding, village
Out of more than 33 million people infected, go basis, with another 24 slat- education committees in Baluchistan
percent are in the developing world, and two- ed for fiscal 2ooi. In addi- have established nearly 2,o school
thirds are in Sub-Saharan Africa (see Figure 1.4). tion, the Bank and the . . .e v

In fiscal 2000, the Bank committed to substantial- Fund continued to help cri- and substantally raisedgirls
ly expanding the financial resources it makes avail- sis countries stem increases enrollment rates in rural areas.
able to programs, specifically to combat HIV/AIDS in poverty, and they sup- l

and other communicable diseases. To that end, it ported noncrisis countries in diagnostic work

will initially make si billion in IDA resources avail- (toward developing a long-term debt market in

able and is prepared to move well beyond that India, for example) and

level in the future as national and regional pro- capacity building in such FIGURE I.4
GROWTH OF

grams are developed. In parallel, the Bank will aim areas as financial supervi- HIV/AIDS EPIDEMIC

to mobilize large financial sums from partners. sion and securities regula- (millions of people)

Collaborative efforts include launching the Part- tion. Both institutions also D Global

nership against HIV/AIDS in Africa, and continuing collaborated with other 34.3 Sah-n
Alrioa

to work with and support UNAIDS and other part- international bodies to

ners. In addition, the Bank is an active partner in a strengthen international

number of partnerships, including the Global standards for accounting,

Alliance for Vaccines and Immunization (GAVI). corporate governance, and
188

GAVI is a public-private partnership that aims to insolvency regimes. 48

ensure that all children have access to existing pri- New global initiatives . 132121

oritv vaccines and to stimulate the rapid develop- with partners are focusing

ment of critical new vaccines against diseases such on climate change and nat- 54

as HIV/AIDS and malaria. ural disasters. In January > ] 't E'

Regarding education, after so years of inter- 2000, the Bank launched People Cum-laive New HIV H V/ADS AIDS

I 9Wih H V'ADS ofecti- de-thn -phoes
national commitment to Education for All (EFA), the Prototype Carbon HIV/AIDS d.eaths i 1999 ding loge 140,

enrollment grew globally, but more than 513 mil- Fund, the world's first end 1999 ed 1999 1999 9-g99)

lion children still have no access to primary educa- attempt to create a market Source: WHO/UNAIDS, posted on AIDS: Africa in
Peril" at hlttp://cnn.com/SPECIALS/2000/aids

tion, and 88o million adults are illiterate, most of in emissions reductions

them girls and women. In April zooo, the Bank that would promote trans-

and UNDP, UNESCO, UNFPA, and UNICEF convened fer of climate-friendly technology to developing

the World Education Forum in Dakar, Senegal, to countries. A month later, the Bank launched

review the progress and renew the commitment to another effort, with international agencies,

EFA. With i81 governments participating, develop- donor governments, regional development banks,

ing countries agreed to prepare a national EFA plan and private organizations, to help developing

in the wider context of poverty reduction and countries better cope with natural disasters,

development strategies. The Bank and other part- which hurt poor people the most. The ProNVen-

ners stand ready to support them in implementing tion Consortium will help countries better antic-

the plan. iipate natural catastrophes as well as assess and
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reduce associated risks (for example, adopting side the Bank come together through technology,

improved building codes). The consortium com- which provides access to knowledge for large

plements the Bank's Disaster Management Facili- numbers of clients, partners, and users around the
ty, which is charged with strengthening attention world. Over 0oo such communities cover virtually

to prevention and mitigation practices in Bank all areas of Bank activity and serve as engines of

operations. Meanwhile, support for the world's informal learning, across clients and partners as

forests continued under the World Bank/wwF well as Bank staff These communities of practice

Forest Alliance, which is active in over Z2 coun- also build country capacity by helping to form

tries in partnerships with other NGOS and gov- and strengthen local communities. In February

ernments. Recognizing the urgent need for 2000, the American Productivity and Quality

progress on environmental issues, the Bank has Center ranked the World Bank as one of five
launched a comprehensive effort to develop an "best-practice partners" (out of some 8o organi-

environmental strategy via a wide consultative zations worldwide) in the implementation of

process involving client countries and a range of knowledge management.

partners. The strategy will build on lessons > The World Bank Institute (WBI). The World

learned and explore the links between the public, Bank Institute (WBi) now reaches 30,000 partici-

private, and institutional sectors (water, forestry, pants annually, in nearly 150 countries, through

urban transport, rural) and the environment. nearly 500 training activities. In fiscal 2000, WBI

Capacity building through knowledge shar- scaled up its programs through distance learning,

ing is key to achieving poverty reduction. Knowl- global knowledge networks, and extended part-
edge sharing increases the potential reach of the nerships, and by harnessing the newest learning

Bank's expertise and the potential for people in technologies. A new initiative, Global Develop-

the poorest countries to help themselves. The ment Learning Network (GDLN), gives clients
Bank is advancing this agenda through efforts on access to learning opportunities drawing on

several fronts. information and knowledge existing in the Bank
>- Communities of practice. A central vehicle and partner organizations. Using the Internet,

for sharing the Bank's expertise is through com- videoconferences, and peer exchange, 13 GDLN cen-
munities of practice: Practitioners inside and out- ters are operational, and over 50 countries have

expressed interest. Demand
In February 2000, the I o sitne ndvlpn
Bank hosted an Inno- for assistance m developmg
vation Competition at knowledge strategies is also

the Development Ad expanding, as countries seek
Marketplace-a :> F 4 - F to use global and domestic

forum envisioned to L
befbothu a serviesioned tof - * - knowledge more effectively in

events and an elec- ,.- support of economic and
tronic space for the social development. Vietnam

development commu-oc.dieyetopfind newmu- and d, =X.and China are among the
nity to find new and r e ; 
creative solutions to - t |s countries that have requested
reduce poverty. In a - such assistance, following a
competition open to '., report jointly produced by

NGOs, businesses, . the World Bank and the
academia and many Afv

others, the Market- "_ -- -;;, , .1 .Organisation for Economic
place awarded about .- Co-operation and Develop-
$5 million in start-up ment (OECD) on the Republic

funds to proposals %I/ ( _ Kent ( rEn) ton th R
carrying the greatest V q .W of Korea's Transition to a

prospects for success. - Knowledge-Based Economy.
S . . sWBIS'S outreach, which con-
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tributes to the success of lending programs, is > Harnessing technolo-

further leveraged through programs for "gate- gies. Internally and external- MAKING A DIFFERENCE.
keepers" such as journalists, mayors, parliamen- ly, the role of technology in

tarians, civil society, and the private sector, Bank assistance is growing. Innovative solutions to complex land
especially in such policy areas as governance and State-of-the-art global con- degradation problems in hilly or
anticorruption. nectivity has brought staff i area."are

I infertie 'marginal areas" are helping
> Development research. In fiscal 2000, the closer to clients; internal " hel
Bank developed a new strategy for knowledge gen- information systems have - especially the indigenous -small
eration through research. The strategy reflects grown more efficient; and farmers in Mexico raise agricultural
consultations with numerous partners, including, electronic knowledge sharing productivity and incomes.
in one survey, policymakers in 36 countries who and collaboration, within the

indicated that they used Bank analytical reports Bank and with partners, are thriving. Over x,ooo

more than those of any ocher institution, national projects in the portfolio, many in Africa and Latin

or international. This development research strate- America, have information technology components,

gy aims to: improve understanding of the dynam- ranging from investments in communications infra-

ics of poverty and the factors underlying structure to technical assistance to set up manage-

successful antipoverty strategies; increase the ment systems in various sectors. Other support is

effectiveness of development assistance; identif'

newly emerging trends and problems with a view BOX 1.7 PARTNERSHIP WITH CIVIL SOCIETY

to helping countries plan appropriate responses; Partnership with civil society is of growing importance. The Bank is enhancing toolsfor

and help countries expand their research capacity. civil society participation, providing resources to build capacity among nongovernmental

Four principles underpin the Bank's research strat- organizations (svcos),, and working with governments to promote civil society involve-

egy: increased client orientation; enhanced build- mnent in countries'developmtent agendas.

ing of research capacity; expanded dissemination; Policy dialogue. Duringfiscal 2000, in-country processes to prepare Poverty

and a stronger poverty focus. Such a focus aims to Reduction Strategy Papers (PRsps) providedfor civil society engagerment in policy dia-

support evaluation of public policy and prepara- logiie and monitoring of outcomes. Consultations witk NG,Os, religious groups, and umni-

tion of PRSPs, with particular attention to the role versities got under way, atid a special PRStP link was created in the Bamik's >io/Civil

of institutions and means by which countries can Society web site. Civil society participation in Country Assistance Strategy (c1is(.for-
benefit from globalization. The 2000/200i issue mnulationi also increased, and csS public disclosure improved. Policy dialogue has varied

of the Bank's flagship publication, the lWorld Devel- in content, dependimig on regions' needs: the cDF (Africa); gender strategies (South Asia);

opment Report (WDR), is devoted to poverty (see poverty reduction, post-comiflict issues, governance, and the environment TEurope and

"The Poverty Challenge" at the beginning of this Cen tral Asia); employmnent, income generation, safety nets, and the social impacts of

report). The WDR 1999/2000 on globalization and reform (Latin America and the Caribbean); and anticorruption measures, NGO legisla-

urbanization underscored the importance of tion, andgender equity (Middle -East and NAorth Africa).

strong institutions at the global, national, and Operational collaboration. The Bank collaborated actively with vccos infiscal

local levels, while the WDR 2001/2002 will examine 2000 in the context of niatural disasters, social emergencies, and long-terin developmnetit.

a range of institutional market-related arrange- In East Timor, the Bank-xNrrT,rT (United ANations Transitional Administration in

ments, to develop concrete proposals on competi- East Tim or) donor meetings of Decemmiber 1999 amidJune 2ooo included civil society

tion strategies and corporate governance. To build organizations involved in Bank-supported reconistruction programs. Other notable collab-

capacity and promote informed debate, the Glob- oratiomi suipported HIi/AlO5S treatmemnt and preventioni in Africa, rehabilitation programs

al Development Network supports a growing followinig cyclones in India, amd post-conflict reconstruction in the Balkan,s.

worldwide network of research and policy insti- Global partnerships. To promote global dialogue with national amid international

tutes, while the Development Forum, a moderated NGOs, the Batik organized a series of briefingsfor NGcos at both the joint Bank-Fumid

Internet discussion that has reached over io,ooo Annual Meetings in September 1999 and the Spring 2ooo Meetings of the Development

subscribers in 175 countries, fosters dialogue Comntnittee. They covered such topics as reP'c, civil society engagenment in CDF, and the

between the Bank and its partners. Bank's Ilispection Panel.
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of the Poor, a series of studies that build on participa-

BOX I.8 STRATEGIC APPROACH TO tory research with about 6o,ooo poor men and

DONOR RELATIONS AND MAJOR COFINANCING
ACTIVITIES IN FISCAL 2000 women from over 6o countries around the world.

The findings, which were used to inform the WDR

DuringfisCal 2000, donor relations activities were reorganized around major policy areas, 2000/2001, are striking and similar across countries.

including poverty reduction strategies, global publicgoods, and the Global Development Many poor people find themselves worse off, with

Gateway. In addition, bilateral, multilateral private, and export agencies carne together to fewer economic opportumities and greater insecuri-

cofinance activities supporting comnmon development objectives. (see Table 1. IA in the Annex ty than in the past. Their experience with public

Tablesfor a list of consultations and seminars with donors and other institutions>) institutions is largely negative, and corruption and

The Strategic Partnership witb Africa (sP'Aformerly Special Program of poor quality services are seen to be all too com-

Assistance for Africa) represents the major coordinating instrumentfor aid to Africa. mon. Yet, many believe that governments have an

Theffth three-year phase (SPA-5, 2000-02) was launched in December 1999. SPA important role to play in their lives.

donors and supporting institutions pledged about $4.o billion in highly concessional The Bank's work increasingly recognizes that

quick-disbursing cofinancing and coordinated assistance to supportgrowth strategies progress in poverty reduction requires broad coali-

and programs aimed at reducing poverty in low-income, debt-burdened countries. tions: individuals, groups, and institutions work-

Donors stressed the need to strengthen the povertyfocus of SPA-supported programs ing together with a common purpose. The pages

through the PpSP approach, and to improve aid effectiveness by tracking donor support of this Annual Report attest to the vital roles of

for sectoral programs. client governments, the private sector, other donor

The Japan Social Development Fund was newly established by thegovernment of and development agencies, and local and global

Japan in June 2000 as a tool to address the social consequences of the 7997-99 eco- civil society (see Box 1.7). Extensive collaboration

nomic andfinancial crisis. This newfacilityv amounting to approximately $93 million, on the CDF pilots and on PRSPS over the past year

will provide grant assistance for itnovative social programs to help improve living condi- is testimony to the centrality, within Bank assis-

tions ofpoor and vulnerablegroups affected by the crisis, in particular through commu- tance, of country partnership. Knowledge initia-

nity-driven development processes including capacity building at the grassroots level tives offer another example of partnership: WBI

The Bank-Netberlands Partnership Program is an umbrella agreement between works with over 200 partner training institutes

the Dutch Authorities and the Bank to c,hannelfundsforglobal and regional initiatives. and loo bilateral, international, charitable, and pri-

In fiscal 2ooo, the program helped address a wide range of development issues, including vate sector organizations to design and implement

poverty, gender goodgovernance, and social sectors. The program has 87 projects, knowledge-sharing programs worldwide. The

atnounting to $71 million. In addition, nearly s3o million was approved by the Dutch diversity of the Bank's partnerships in fiscal zooo

authorities in late fisCal 2000. is evident from the following examples:

>' The Bank and the European Union (EU)

provided by InfoDev, a public-private program coordinated a comprehensive regional approach

helping countries build information and communi- for economic and social development in South

cation technology capability. One application of East Europe.

technology that could advance knowledge sharing - IDA and UNICEF embarked on a new partner-

by leaps and bounds is the Global Development ship to help the Republic of Yemen, where human

Gateway, currently in concept stage. The Gateway development indicators are among the poorest in

is being conceived as an Internet-based vehicle to the world, to improve children's health and nutri-

enable a wide array of stakeholders to access ideas tional status and to raise the education status of

and good practice, information about development primary school-aged girls.

activities and trends, funding, and commercial >- The Bank and an outside panel co-hosted

opportunities. The initiative would thrive on part- over 4,000 civil society leaders in Buenos Aires to

nership; the Bank's role has been a catalytic one. help develop the Bank's Country Assistance Strat-

egy for Argentina.

Partnerships: listening learning and collaborating > The Bank and the Commonwealth Secretariat

The Bank's heightened commitment to listening joined with the IMF, World Trade Organization

and learning is perhaps best embodied in the Voices (wTo), EU, U.N. agencies, and regional development
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banks to address development issues of impor- approaches to lending,

tance to small states, as presented in the final moreover, will facilitate COFINANCING TRENDS

report of the Bank-Secretariat Task Force, Small donor coordination in coun- (mi/lions of dollars)

States: :feeting Cballenges in the Global Economy. trv-owned programs.
I _ Tota ending

> More than 50 participants, including zoo Cofinancing refers to CoFnancng

local government officials from 77 cities, came funding committed by 29 2v

together for the XVorld Competitive Cities Con- external official bilateral

gress hosted by the Bank, to discuss the challenges partners, multilateral part-

of explosive city growth. If current trends contin- ners, export credit agencies, 19

ue, a third of the world's urban people could be or private sources in the 1a

living in poverty by 2025. context of specific Bank-

A governance partnership was launched in funded projects (see Figures

Indonesia between the government, civil societv, 1.5 and i.6. Cofinancing data

private sector, bilateral donors, the Asian Devel- in this section are as pre- lf•

opment Bank, UNDP, and the NVorld Bank. sented to the Board at the FY97 FY98 FY99 FYOva

> Eminent thinkers, business people, social time of approval; figures 40% 34oCa 40% 61as r

activists, academics, politicians, writers, and econ- could be higher than report- Co atcfinangra F d

omists from Latin America came together with ed). Official bilateral and Cofinancing figures are as presented to the Board at
the time of approval Current figures could be higher

senior staff from the Bank, IMF, and Inter-Ameri- multilateral partners contin- than reported.
a. The ratio of cofinancing to total Bank iending was

can Development Bank (IADB) to exchange views ued to be the largest sources substantially higher in fiscal 2000 in companson with
previous years mainly hecauss of a single large opera-

on the region's growth, inequality, and poverty, in of cofinancing in fiscal tion excluding this operat on, the rahio wosid he 38

the first-ever distance meeting of the region's zooo, providing 59 percent percent

external advisors. (see Box i.8). Major part-
FIGURE 1.6

> Members of the InternationalTask Force on ners included the Inter- COFINANCING BY REGION,

Commodity Risk Management in Developing American Development FISCAL 2000

Countries international institutions, producer Bank ($2,576 million); pri- Total $9.3 billion

and consumer organizations, major commodity vate sponsors (s2,2co6 mil- Ea-t ia E-per &
& SacS Ge~Cntia As 

exchanges, and commodity trading firms) worked lion); Andean Development & r fi/ 
with stakeholders to help countries better manage Corporation (9soo million); I

their vulnerability to commodity price fluctua- Montreal Protocol Invest-

tions through new, market-based approaches. ment Fund ($230 million);

> Universities, U.N. agencies, and private founda- Global Environment Facility

tions worked with the WBI on a new course offer- ($197 million); and EU insti-

ing in population and reproductive health, to be tutions (sr65 million).

"wholesaled" through a network of universities The Bank's trust funds

and training institutes in Africa. program is also an impor-

tant form of collaboration
Partnership: Mobilizing resources and coordination with & Alic

41' 7

Cofinancing and trust funds constitute powerful numerous partners (see Mode East SEuu
& Nuth Atna As a

and flexible mechanisms to advance and implement Figure 1.7). Official bilater- 2% 2%

the strategic agenda shared by the Bank, clients, al donor agencies still

and development partners. These mechanisms help finance most trust fund partnerships with the

at the country level to implement programs, and at Bank; at the same time, the Bank is increasingly

the global level to agree on policies and mobilize reaching out to new partners-private sector,

financing in support of challenges ranging from foundations, and NGos-as a way of leveraging

prevention of infectious diseases to sound corpo- its own financial and staff resources (see Box 1.9).

rate governance. New program and sector-wide The strategic agenda for trust funds has grown,
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and now includes new glob- from globalization; narrowing the "digital divide"
FIGURE 1.7 al and post-conflict collabo- to make technology work for poor people; ensur-

TRUST FUND
CONTRIBUTIONS AND rations that respond to ing them opportunity rather than charity; meeting

DISBURSEMENTS, urgent needs. While Japan, the international goals for education and especial-
FISCAL 1996-00a the Netherlands, and Cana- ly girls' education; and breaking the disturbing

(hundreds of millions of dollars)

da provided the largest share trend of rising inequality across and within
_E.1-1a do.n., .ntnb.t,.n. 

BanklGr -upontnbutiono of external contributions nations. Africa will require particular attention
Total dsborse.ents during fiscal 2ooo, the Bank within IDA'S program to address post-conflict

Group's own contributions issues and arrest the spread of HIV/AIDS.

totaled $414 million, mainly The activities described in this overview,

for HlPc and post-conflict and generally in the Annual Report, reflect the

operations. Support for evolving strategy of the Bank to help countries

global and regional trust fight poverty. The core of Bank assistance will

funds increased through continue to be implemented at the country

additional contributions for level, with increasing emphasis on the principles

existing funds as well as the of country ownership, long-term and compre-

creation of new trust funds hensive development, wide partnerships, and a

FY96 FY97 FY98 FY99 FYOO such as the Prototype Car- focus on outcomes. Private sector-led economic
a. The financial information presented for the trust bon Fund (about $140 mil- growth-necessary for increased opportunities
fund portfolio reflects reporting on an accrual basis for
contributions to the Heavily Indebted Poor Counties lion mobilized). for poor people-will remain a central theme
(HIPC) Trust Fund, and reporting on a cash basis for
contributions to all other trust funds. Disbursements of Bank assistance. This economic growth must
for all trest funds (including the Heavily-Indebted Poor got
Countries Trust Fund) are reported on a cash basis. L OO KING AHEAD be complemented by greater empowerment of

The Bank has come far in poor people through community-driven devel-

transforming itself to be more responsive to the opment efforts, to increase their voice in deci-

needs of people in the developing world; but the sionmaking and to reduce inequality. The

task ahead is daunting. The fight against poverty poorest countries, with weak access to other

entails a host of formidable challenges, including: capital, will receive IDA, and in some cases HIPC,

combating HIV/AIDS; finding ways to ensure that assistance, which will focus especially on human

debt relief reduces poverty; ensuring that the capital and on attracting private investment. In

poorest countries have the opportunity to benefit middle-income countries, home to over 2 bil-

BOX 1.9 TRUST FUNDS HIGHLIGHTS IN FISCAL 2000

>- Supportfor post-conflict operations. Duringfiscal hon and eradication of the guinea worm, respectively.

2000, the Bank approved new contributionsfor Kosow ($25 > Japan's Policy and Human Resources Development

million), the West Bank and Gaza (s6o million), and -East Program remains the mainstay of externalfundingfor bor-

Timor (s lo million); these Bank contributions are being lever- rowers'project preparation costs, other technical assistance, and

aged to mobilize trustfund contributionsfrom external donors. training. Contributions duringfiscal 2000 totaled almost

In the case of Sierra Lone, the Bank has played a key role in sgo million. Over 175 new technical assistancegrants were

mobilizing and coordinating donor supportfor the Bank-admin- approved during the year

istered multidonor trustfund supporting thegovernment's disar- > The Consultant Trust Funds Program benefits the Bank

tnament, demobilization, and reintegration program. byfinancing consultants who assist in developing and appraising

> Supportfrom privatefoundations was stgnAfiant in projects, supervising them, and preparing analytical studies. The

fiscal 2000. For example, contributionsfrom the Bill and donors benfit by having procurement tied to their countries, and

Melinda Gates Foundation of $3.5 million and $28.5 mil- the consultants benefotfrom gaining hands-on experience with the

lion were pledged to support Bank efforts toward immuniza- Bank's work. Contributions totaled s6o million infiscal 2000.
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TABLE 1.1 WORLD BANK LENDING BY SECTOR, FISCAL 1992-00
(millions of dollars)

CLASSIFIED ON A LOAN-BY-LOAN BASIS CLASSIFIED ON A LOAN
COMPONINT BASIS

t

Sector FY92-97 FY98 FY99 FYOO FYOO

Annual Avera,ge

Agriculture 2,920.2 2,691.9 2,507.8 1,125.2 1,150.0

Economic policy 2,355.7 1,536.1 9,890.1 1,286.8 1,301.0

Education 1,738.7 3,129.3 1,344.3 684.0 762.3

Electric power and other energy 2,549.1 2,067.0 440.0 994.2 990.6

Environment 747.5 738.6 539.3 514.1 918.8

Finance 1,637.4 5,893.5 2,322.3 1,828.0 1,774.0

Mining 220.0 1376.5 315.0 54.5 20.0

Multisector 125.2 5.0 641.4 726.5 513.7

Oil and gas 550.9 140.0 17.5 167.0 166.6

Population, health, and nutrition 1,235.2 1,990.9 1,106.8 987.0 1,044.3

Private sector development 751.2 431.0 1,337.4 221.3 207.3

Public sector management 575.8 1,669.7 963.3 2,262.1 1,868.0

Social protection 788.1 2,240.0 2,678.6 1,101.0 1,SI7.9

Teleconuunications 261.0 70.5 110.8 109.3 109.4

Transportation 3,068.4 3,287.5 3,021.8 1,690.0 1,612.3

Urban development 1,122.1 773.5 706.5 621.6 699.5

Water supply and sanitation 896.6 552.9 1,052.7 903.6 620.5

Total 21,543.0 28,593.9' 28,995.6' 15,276.2 15,276.2

Of which IBRD 15,368.3 21,086.3 22,182.3 10,918.6

IDA 6,174.7 7,507.7c 6,813.3c 4,357.6

Note: Numbers may not add to totals because of rounding.

a. To better capture the evolving nature of Bank operations, the Bank's sector classification system is reviewed and changed as appropnate. In fiscal 2000, two new sector categoies
were created (Economic Policy and Private Sector Development) and one sector category was dropped (Industry). Economic Policy comprises operations that support macroeconomic
policy, trade, and other economic and institutional reforms, It includes structural adjustment operations previously assigned to Multisector and some operations previously assigned to
Finance. Private Sector Development comprises operations dealing with the business environment, private infrastructure, small scale enterprise, and privatization issues. As such, it
includes some operations previously assigned to Industry and to Public Sector Management. Other operations previously included under Industry have been assigned to Public Sector
Management. In addition, a few individual operations approved in FY98-99 were reassigned, including an FY99 project from Agriculture to Water Supply and Sanitation.

b. This column shows lending by sector, based on a classification by major loan component. The example of a $100 million mining loan, with components aimed at addressing environ.
mental, financial, and social protection needs, serves as an illustration. In the case of loan-by-loan classification, the full amount of the loan appears in the Mining sector: in the compo-
nent classification, the full amount is spht among the four sectors--Mining, Environment. Finance, and Social Protection. As a result, total lending of $1 .5 billion for Social Protection in
the component classification is the sum of all social protection components within loans approved in fiscal 2000.

c. Excludes IDA HIPC grants of $75 million to Uganda in FY98 and $154 milfion to Mozambique in FY99.

emphasis will be on promoting private sector ing, learning, and partnerships. It will also mean an

development, supporting key public investments intense effort to sustain the momentum and spirit of

or social programs that would otherwise be the Strategic Compact, to continuously innovate and

unfunded by private or public sources, and meet- improve responsiveness to clients, with an emphasis

ing crisis needs. Wherever poverty challenges on results, especially poverty-related outcomes.

require action at the global level, the Bank will Finally, the development challenge will have to be

capitalize on its advantage as a global institution tackled by the countries themselves, responding to

to play the role of advocate, advisor, catalyst, the call of President Mkapa of Tanzania at a meet-

coordinator, or financier as needed. ing in Stockholm to assess progress on the CDF:

The vision embodied in the Comprehensive "Our people must be encouraged and facilitated to

Development Framework (CDF) offers the chance for be owners of their development; not just beneficiar-

solid progress in this first decade of the 2t" century. ies, but doers of development."
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SECTION II

The Board of
Executive Directors

T She Executive Directors are responsible for the conduct of the Bank's gen-

eral operations; they perform their duties under powers delegated by the

Board of Governors. As provided in the Articles of Agreement, 5 of the

24 Executive Directors are appointed by the member countries having

the largest number of shares; the rest are elected by the other member

countries, which form constituencies in an election process conducted every two years.

Executive Directors consider and decide on IBRD loan and IDA credit proposals

made by the President, and they decide on policies that guide the general operations of

the Bank. They are also responsible for presenting to the Board of Governors at the

Annual Meetings an audit of accounts, an administrative budget, and an Annual

Report (this report) on the Bank's operations and policies, as well as any other matters

deemed necessary in their judgment.

During fiscal zooo, Executive Directors regularly met at Bank headquarters twice a

week with frequent additional meetings, both formal and informal, Directors also serve

on one or more of five standing committees: Audit, Development Effectiveness, Budget,

Personnel, and Executive Directors' Administrative Matters. The committees help the

Board discharge its oversight responsibilities through in-depth examinations of policies

and practices.

In addition, groups of Executive Directors and Alternate Executive Directors period-

ically visit borrowing countries to observe, first-hand, Bank assistance in progress. They

meet with project managers, beneficiaries, government officials, nongovernmental orga-

nizations, the business community, as well as other development partners, financial

institutions, and resident Bank staff In fiscal zooo, Directors visited Indonesia, Kenya,

Madagascar, Mauritius, Rwanda, and the Solomon Islands. Executive Directors' over-

sight responsibility covers all Bank policies and activities, including approval of all len-

ding operations and the annual budget. In shaping Bank policy, the Board takes into

account the evolving perspectives of member countries on the role of the Bank Group

as well as the Bank's operational experience. Directors also play an active role in prepar-

ing the agenda and issues papers for the semi-annual meetings of the joint Bank-Fund



Development Committee. In fiscal 2000, the Devel- provide deeper, faster, and broader debt relief for

opment Committee addressed the fight against countries committed to pursuing sound policies.

Ms-V/AIDS, the links between trade, development, In so doing, they expressed concern about the re-

and poverty reduction, the report of the Joint Com- maining financing gap and stressed the critical

monwealth/World Bank Task Force on Small importance of full participation by multilateral

States, and a number of the issues discussed below. and bilateral creditors. Directors approved decision

(For more detail, see Appendix t6 in The World Bank points for seven countries and a completion point

Annual Report 2000: Financial Statements and Appendixes for one country under the enhanced framework.'

to the Annual Report.) Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers (PRSPs).

Also in September i999, the Development and
STRATEGIC ISSUES Interim Committees supported stronger links be-

Major areas of Board emphasis during fiscal 2000, tween debt relief and poverty reduction in low-

discussed in the body of the Annual Report, are income countries, based on poverty reduction

highlighted below: strategies prepared by countries with support from

Strategic Compact and the Strategic Direc- the Bank, the Fund, and other partners. Directors

tions Paper. Executive Directors continued to broadly endorsed the principles and core elements

monitor, with substantial input from the Commi- of PRSPS, welcoming the emphasis on pro-poor

ttees, the fiscal i998-oo Strategic Compact be- growth, country ownership, transparency, and

tween the Bank and its shareholders, which has been stakeholder participation. They also reviewed two

aimed at making the Bank more responsive, and PRSPs and progress on the preparation of interim

improving the quality of services, to clients. Direc- PRSPS for eight countries.

tors welcomed the progress achieved under the Country and sector strategies. Guided by the

Compact, including reform of the budget process. Committee on Development Effectiveness (CODE),

For the future, Directors generally supported the the Board continued to stress the need to evaluate

Strategic Directions Paper, which emphasized results at the country (rather than project) level.

assistance for poverty reduction at the country Directors urged that Country Assistance Strate-

level, complemented by efforts at the global level; gies (CASS) focus on poverty reduction, partner-

they were also pleased that resource requirements ship, and selectivity in allocating resources; they

adhered to the Compact agreement. Directors en- also called for more emphasis on country owner-

dorsed Management's commitment to continue ship, results, self-evaluation, and progress on

working on the quality of nonlending services and cross-cutting themes such as gender and private

on matrix management and staffing issues. sector development. They also reviewed, with sub-

Comprehensive Development Framework stantial input from CODE, six sector strategy and

(CDF). The Board focused on the implementation related papers that set priorities in key subject areas.

challenges of the CDF. In reviewing the progress in CODE and its subcommittee also provided input on

pilot countries, the Directors focused on harmo- draft public sector, financial sector, social protec-

nization of procedures, sector-wide approaches, tion, and gender strategy papers, and supported

strategic selectivity in the Bank's program, and links structural changes proposed for iFc and Bank units

between the CDF and Poverty Reduction Strategy working on private sector development.

Papers. While supportive of the approach to CDF Dcision point: The point at which the intemathonal community

laid out in the Strategic Directions Paper, they agrees, for countries with unsustainable debt levels and a solid record

encouraged a full evaluation of CDF pilots before on economic reform andpoverty-reduction programs, on the amount of
relief needed to reduce outstanding debt to a sustainable level. Multilat-

considering mainstreaming the CDF to Bank clients. eral creditors, including IoA, begin providing significant intenm ass's-

Heavily Indebted Poor Countries (HiPc) tance' beginning immediately at the decision point.

Initiative. In September 1999, the Executive Board Completion point: The point at which all creditors provide, uncondition-

and the Development and Interim Committees ally the remainder of their share ofdebt reliefagreed to at the decision
poinL The completion Point is tied to implementation of key reformts and

endorsed enhancements to the HIPC Initiative to policies outlined in a country's Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper
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FINANCIAL CAPACITY Compact envelope, thus reducing the claims on
income. In June zooo, the Executive Directors

In September I999, Executive Directors discussed approved a total administrative budget of S$,442.2

a report titled Optionsfor Enhancing the mBRD'S Finan- million for fiscal zoos, the first post-Compact

cial Capacity, in response to a request from the budget.

Development Committee. The request was the
result of a report from the Bank's President (in HUMAN RESOURCES REFORM
part, based on the findings of an external panel) Executive Directors continued to monitor, with
that the Bank might be reaching the limits of its guidance from the Personnel Committee, the com-

risk-bearing capacity. At last September's Annual prehensive reform of human resource policies and

Meetings, the Development Committee agreed systems approved as part of the Strategic Com-

with the report's finding that the Bank's finances pact. Realigned employment and compensation
remain sound but that its financial capacity may policies now ensure that all Bank staff are selected

limit its ability to respond to unanticipated future and evaluated against common criteria and have

needs, especially if global financial markets were access to a comparable set of benefits. Directors

to weaken. The Committee asked for continued were generally satisfied with progress on the Bank's

review of options and regular reports, a request learning agenda and endorsed reform of the Bank's

echoed by the Executive Directors, the Develop- internal conflict resolution system. They welcomed,
ment Committee, and ministers at the Spring in particular, the new mediation service, greater

meetings in April 2000. This issue will continue access by field staff, the strengthening of the Om-

to be carefully monitored by the Board's Audit budsman Office and Office of Professional Ethics,
Committee as well as by the full Board. and the system's increased focus on cost-effective

prevention and informal, nonadversarial channels
ADMINISTRATIVE BUDGET for dispute resolution.

Following review by the Budget Committee, Execu-
tive Directors approved a total net administrative INSPECTION PANEL

budget for fiscal 2000 of S1,445.1 million. In August The Board created an independent Inspection
1999, the Board separately approved an allocation Panel in September 1993 to more closely address

of $125.9 million for the Development Grant Faci- the concerns of the populations affected by the
lity. The fiscal zooo administrative budget main- Bank's operations. This panel ensures that the lat-
tained the discipline of the Strategic Compact ter adhere to the institution's operational policies

Framework with two exceptions: an additional $16.9 and procedures regarding the design, preparation,
million was approved for the Bank's institutional and implementation of a project. In fiscal 2000,

anticorruption ($6.9 million) and Y2K ($10.0 mil- the Panel processed five requests for inspection,

lion) programs. The fiscal zooo budget was lower including one on the China NVestern Poverty Re-
by sio6.1 million in nominal dollars and by 592.4 duction Project, on which the Panel issued a re-

million in fiscal 1997 dollars than the original port to the Board in April zooo.
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SECTION III

Although projects have become more complex and risky...

Complexity and Riskinesa
(percent of projects)

Coepeity 76

4 49 49 | | | l l

FY92 FY93 FY94 FY95 FY96 FY97 FY98 FY99

the Bank has improved or maintained development outcomes at a satisfactory or better level...

Satisfactory Outcomes: Total Lendinga Satisfactory Outcomes: Investment and
(percent of dollars lent) Adjustment Lendminga

(percent of dollars lent

51 Mi~~~~~~~t-net 93
81 Investment80' 

1 1 I 74 75 74 C
FY90-93 FY94-97 FY98-99 FY90-93 FY94-97 FY98-99

improved the sustainability of projects as well as their institutional development impact...

Sustainabilitya Institutional Development Impacta
(percent of dollars lent) (percent of dollars lent)

FY94-95 FY94-95

_ FY98-99 67 m FY98-99

56

45 45 47

31 ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~35
~~rAY ~ ~ ~ ~ 4i4~~~iY5l~~h'BirYR ~~~20

1s S s~~~~~~~~~1
Likely U-nenam U.I,kely Substatial Modest Negig bie

and raised the quality of projects entering the portfolio and under implementation.

Satisfactory Quality at Entryb Satisfactory Quality of Supervisionb
(percent of projects) 89 (percent of projects)

82

_6a 63a

CY96 CY99 FY97 FY99

a. Data refer to independent evaluation assessments by the Operatons Evaluation Department (OED) of projects that have completed their loan ds-
bursement phase and have exited the Bank's active lending portfoblio. Results for fiscal 1999 exits are preiminaiy, based on all currently available inde-
pendent assessments, covering roughly 50 percent.

b. Data refer to the evatuation assessments by the Quality Assurance Group (QAG) of a sample of recently approved and ongoing projects each year.



-Evaluation of Operations-
Taking on the Challenge

or several reasons, effective performance evaluation-understanding what

works and what does not-has taken on a new urgency. Development

risks are on the rise. Local involvement in development programs is

increasing. And governments are more accountable to citizens for devel-
opment effectiveness.

The World Bank strives for development effectiveness by continuously learning

from experience and focusing on quality and results (see Box 3.I). Evaluation is crucial

to these efforts: it strengthens accountability, improves the quality of operations, and

informs strategy, policy, and resource allocation. Since 1997, the Bank's evaluation

strategy has emphasized: participatory evaluation, to actively involve all relevant stake-

holders; knowledge management, to identif$ best practices in development and to

inform Bank and country policies; and "real time" feedback, to help management

assess the performance of projects under implementation.

BOX 3.1 EVALUATION AT THE WORLD BANK

Among multilateral development banks, the 11,brld Bank s eval- > lIbe Internal Auditing Department (LID) provides

itation methods are closest to best practice, according to two independent appraisals to kelp management discharge its respon-

recent independent reviews (1996 and 1999, sponisored by the sibility to establisb and maintain sound internal controls.

Evaluation Cooperation Group). Evaluation at the Batik > The World Bank Institute's (wBI) evaluatiomi uiiit

Group is carried out by five iiiiits: evaluates WBi`s trainitig activities and supports capacity

> The Operations Evaluation Department (OLD) -in development in evaluation through training prograrms at kead-

placefor moore than 30 years, provides an independemmt assess- quarters amid in thefield, the latter through distance learning

mnent of Bank operations at the project, themnatic, and counti-v imiethods (such as interactive video conferences) as well as

levels. oLD reports on the (im)adequacy of thefeedback systemti, face-to-face learning.

assesses Bank responses to evaluation findings, aiid encourages Completion reports are prepared for all projects, and their

evaluation capacity development in memnber countries. peowrmnance ratitgs are independently validated by OED.

> The Operations Evaluation Group (oxG) does the Field perforinance autdits are carried out-for 25 percenit of all

samefor the IFC, joining with OLD when appropriate. operations one to seven years after project completion. To pro-

> The Quality Assurance Group (QAG)-establisbed vide afull picture of likely developitment impact, OFD comple-

in 1996, aimims to improve the quality of ongoing projects (and muents its outcome ratings (the niost probable esthnate of

tberefore, outcomes) byfocusing oii project appraisal and results) witk ratings of long-terni sustainability (resiliency to

supervision, portfolio managetnent, and economic and sector risk,), aiid institutional development (contribution to capacity

analytical work. "Real-tinie" indicators help managers track building). OkD judges the outcoimie of a project to be satisfac-

quality iti key risk areas. tor'y f its iiiajor objectives are likely to be met, and fl the rate

of return is above to percent in real terns.



BOX 3.2 HIGHER IMPACT ADJUSTMENT LENDING: HELPING AFRICA REFORM

WVith only 6o percent of adjustment operations achieving sat- An initial evaluation in 1999 shows that IHAL has been

isfactory outcomes, the Bank introduced Higher Impact effective. With the number of conditions cut in hayf (compared

Adjustment Lending (HL4L) in the Africa region in 1995. with 198o-93) on average, HL{L produced improved develop-

HLAL was designed to improve results byfocusing adjustment ment outcomes:

support on countries most likely to use assistance ffectively > HIAL countries pe~formed better than comparable countries

and by enhancing the design of such operations. The improved (IDA countries) infiscal adjustment, exchange and interest rate

design was to help match transfers to needs and to the pace of policy, and structural reforms.

reforms, withfewer but more concrete conditions than in the > Better results were also achieved in economicgrowth,

past. This new design was to smooth resourcejlows andgive inflation, the current account,foreign exchange reserves, and

governments increasedfreedom in the timing of reforms and debt sustainability.

greater ownership of programs. > There were more poverty-focused operations in the HLL group

(although social expenditures decreased slightly as a share of GzP).

IMPROVED DEVELOPMENT tural obstacles to poverty reduction entails sub-

RES U LTS AMID GREATER stantial risks, although it brings high development

COMPLEXITY rewards. In fiscal 1999, 72 percent of all Bank

projects were thus classified by OED as substantial-

The Bank supports activi- ly or highly complex, doubling the 199z ratio.

BOX 3.3 FAILURE? OR ties that are increasingly Despite the growing challenges, development

PRELUDE TO SUCCESS? focused on such challenging outcomes held steady or improved in the last two

Even projects that appear tofail may con- areas as policy reform; hu- fiscal years, according to independent evaluations

tribute to development. For example, the com- man, social, and institutional by OED. Over 8o percent of dollars lent (and 72

pletion reportfor a $25 million urban development, including percent of projects) achieved satisfactory outcomes,

developmentproject in Colombia ratedproject governance; and environ- with adjustment operations faring especially well.

outcome as unsatisfactory. Community centers mental protection. As the Rates of return on Bank-supported projects aver-

had been built in slum areas to channel and latest Annual Review of Devel- aged 22 percent. Project sustainability improved, as

coordinate the delivery of services to poor opment Effectiveness (i999 did institutional development impact.

households. But the sophisticated coordination ARDE) shows, even projects The share of Bank lending achieving satisfac-

mcchanisms proved unworkable in Colombia's in such traditional sectors tory outcomes would be even higher (84 percent

highly centralized government structure. When as transport have become of dollars lent and 78 percent of projects), if

projectfunds ran out, no one was available to more demanding. Achieving Africa were excluded. Africa faces great obstacles

run orfund the centers, development impact often to development, induding a devastating HIV/AIDS

A decade later, an OED evaluationfound requires inclusion of many epidemic, civil conflict, and a limited-albeit

that the project had produced a substantial components and agencies, improving-skills base. However, project out-

impact. The community buildings were a wide geographic dispersion comes in Africa are showing some improvement.

focusfor community activities. Once project of activities, and tackling In fiscal 1998-99, 69 percent of dollars lent and 6i

funds were spent, services started to be coor- tough institutional and pol- percent of projects yielded satisfactory or better

dinated naturally because of their proximity icy issues. Moreover, imple- results, compared with 68 percent of dollars lent

within the buildings. Colombia's policy of mentation often takes place and 55 percent of projects in fiscal 1994-97. Sim-

decentralizinggovernment services (encour- in environments where ilar results are evident for adjustment lending in

aged by the Bank)facilitated and validated human resources, infra- Africa (see Box 3.2).

these developments. structure, and implementa- Bankwide, even projects rated unsatisfactory

tion capacity are inadequate. have been shown to have had useful development

Removing social and struc- consequences that could not have been predicted
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when the project closed (see Box 3.3). In the devel- been substantially reduced l

opment business, perfect outcome scores would be since the earlv 19905 (see RISK OF N, t ~ ~~~~~~~~~~ PROJECTS AT RISK OF NOT
unlikely, and even undesirable. Given the riskiness Figure 3.1). Improvements ACHIEVING DEVELOPMENT

of the operating environment, they could indicate just in the last year mean OBJECTIVES

that the Bank is not tackling relevant challenges in that over $5 billion in lend- (percent of total projects)

its operations. ing is now likely to produce 34

better results. 28

QUALITY REFORMS In addition, because 20

Along with the improvement in project outcomes, quality management takes 
the higher quality of ongoing operations reveals time to affect the bottom ____

increasing development effectiveness. Quality has line-investment projects Fs92-94 FY95-97 FY94800

improved significantly since the creation of the take an average of seven

QAG in 1996 and the introduction of "real time" years to implement, and adjustment operations,

monitoring tools; these instruments of accounta- two to three years-the full impact on results is

bility have provided incentives for greater manage- yet to come. The mainstreaming of these efforts

rial emphasis on quality, and they have catalyzed points to sustained improvements in project per-

systemic change by improving the understanding formance and better outcomes for clients.

of the key determinants of quality. The fiscal

i998-oo Strategic Compact between the Bank and THE COMPREHENSIVE
its shareholders strongly reinforced the focus on D EVE LOP MEN T FRAMEWORK

quality (see Section i, Overview). At the same A broadened agenda led by the results-based Com-

time, engagement with client-country governments prehensive Development Framework (CDF) would

to improve results has increased. have important implications for evaluation, as

Portfolio management indicators have been noted in OED'S 1999 ARDE. The CDF approach recog-

improving. Overall quality at entry (attesting to a nizes that client empowerment and joint learning

project's design and readiness for implementation) are crucial, and that standard policy prescriptions

improved for the third consecutive year in calen- are obsolete. It recognizes that country ownership

dar 1999; in line with the Strategic Compact tar- of reform results not from externally imposed con-

get, 9 out of so operations were rated satisfactory ditionaliry but from consensus-building efforts.

or better. The quality of project supervision has Participatory approaches improve outcomes (see

also risen. These improvements have translated Box 3.4); projects prepared by outsiders, without

into jumps in the health of the overall lending involving all stakeholders and beneficiaries, tend to

portfolio. The number of active projects in danger fail. Thus the CDF approach calls for extensive stake-

of not achieving their development objectives has holder involvement and stronger partnerships at all

BOX 3.4 PARTICIPATORY EVALUATION IN UGANDA

In January 1999, 70 participants in sevenfocusgroups, repre- Participants observed that the Bank is consulting

senting Uganda sgovernment, civic leaders, nongovernmental more with stakeholders (especiallv in project design and

organizations, the private sector, and donors, engaged in a partici- appraisal), is more open to criticism, and is reaching out

patory evaluation of the Banks assistance to Uganda since 1986. to a wider range of constituents. But the Bank still needs

"lWhen this project in research and training started,"said one to listen better, to respect local ideas and expertise, and

participant, "all through it, there were participatoiy discussions to engage in even wider consultations with stakeholders

with the Bank. W4hben we did the research on privatization, we all (including NGOs), especially at the sector, project, and

discussed it and tried to reach a consensus. Thinking has district levels.

changed-thats why we have this positive response."
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levels; flexible Bank instruments and interventions; Successful capacity building in evaluation

and appropriate performance indicators as well as requires an in-depth assessment of country eval-

monitoring and evaluation to assess progress on uation capacities and needs, strong awareness

new objectives, methodologies, and operational and demand from governments and civil society,

modalities. The CDF approach emphasizes an unwa- and good partnership with other development

vering focus on results and the development of agencies. In Ghana, for example. a brainstorming

evaluation capacity in borrowing countries. workshop organized by OED with senior officials,

The Bank actively supports governments in NGOS, and parliamentarians led to a detailed

building evaluation capacities; that is, developing diagnosis and action plan for evaluation activi-

their monitoring and evaluation functions as part of ties. As part of the plan, the World Bank Insti-

sound governance. Evaluation helps governments tute has begun to develop trainers in Ghana and

better understand the entire range of their activi- has conducted seminars for senior policymakers

ties and identify how best to achieve development on monitoring and evaluation. The Bank also

effectiveness: what works, what does not, and why. supports evaluation capacity building in Benin,

It is also a means to foster a service-oriented, Honduras, the Kyrgyz Republic, Poland, Tanza-

performance culture within governments. nia, and Uganda.

DEVELOPMENT EFFECTIVENESS:

FIGURE 3.2 PORTFOLIO OF LENDING OPERATIONS UNFINISHED AGENDA

Portfolio by Region, Portfolio by Sector, Bank management's targets for project performance
June 30,2000 June 30, 2000 are within reach The level of satisfactory outcomes

Total projects: 7,eio8 Total projects: 7,608
Tota.pr.jects: ..608 r.ta. projects: 1,608 is expected to meet the Strategic Compact target of

_, ,eee~i ...',l.''' 75 percent of projects, or about 85 percent of dol-

X : i, 4 : ; --1 v lars lent. But Bank performance can improve fur-
~~ ~ e~l4sm~~et ther; there is also room for borrowers to progress

in their project implementation performance, which

.,j'.bs A eep Pfier z . _has stagnated recently. The CDF approach poses im-

: aistosld portant challenges as noted above. In addition, as

Can -~~~~~~~ N __ ~~~~~~the Bank's role moves beyond projects to encom-

pass systemic policy change, capacity building, and

the creation and dissemination of development

knowledge, new operational approaches and instru-

Portfolio by Region, Portfolio by Sector, ments will be needed to enhance selectivity and
June 30, 2000 June 30, 2000 leverage the Bank's impact.

Total $117.7 billion Total $117.7 billion

A 4_4~~~A PORTFOLIO OF

"04tAa 4*s LENDING OPERATIONS

. . - A = i it: At the end of fiscal 2ooo, the Bank's active portfo-
, = -wV f t n X 9<i; ,r* hlio consisted of i,6o8 operations, which represents

,. .'.""i.".&XW:r.;":':'; :,. ',".outstanding commitments on active projects (net

'beu4e& * ~~~~#s~~Atle neigen ~~of cancellations) of sss8 billion equivalent (see

'4Paci6e tMsel4men Figure 3.2). The portfolio continues to be domi-

-k , XX.-.. ... *;--nated by investment loans, with adjustment loans

accounting for 4 percent of total projects and 13

Source: Quality Assurance Group percent of the dollar amount of outstanding
a Includes transportation, telecommunications, and water supply and sanitation. commitments. The regional and sectoral distribu-
b Includes multisector. electric power and energy, oil and gas, and mining.

R tions are about the same as last year. as is the
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BOX 3.5 ONCE BARELY AFLOAT, CARIBBEAN PORTFOLIO
BECOMES TOP PERFORMER

The quality of the Caribbean pertfolio today ranks amonig the strengthened. Borrowers and implementing agencies were mobi-

Bank's best-a complete turnaroundfromn 1997, when it lized. Project supervision budgets were increased. Several proj-

received the lowest pc/formsa ec rating. At the timne, 2) of the ects were restructured and closinig dates extended after much

pr/folio's 48 projects were classifed as problem projects. The scrutiny. Meanwhile, projects that could not be restructured

por/folio sufferedfroml inadequate project supervision and weak were closed,freeing up scarce administrative resources to be

local implemene?tationi capacity. Project designsfailed tofully used more effectivelyfor strategy and project development.

factor in local conditions. And because of its small size, the The sw/ft and sustained mnanagerial attention, along with

Caribbean portfolio received inadequate attention. Quality per- good Bank-Borrower collaboration amid a willingness to make

formance indicatorsflagged the urgent needfor actioni, tough decisions, was key to bringinig the Caribbean por/folio out

1Improving the por/folio becamne the top priority of a new of rough waters and makinlg it one of the Bank's top pcrform-

Caribbean Country Mfanagement Unit that was keen to ers thisyear.

address these issues in December 1997. Task teams were

size of the overall portfolio. However, average project The improvements BOX 3.6 THE MAURITANIA

size is lowver ($73 million) compared with the portfo- noted above are the result PORTFOLIO-AN AFRICAN
SUCCESS STORY

lio at the end of fiscal 1999 (s8o million), which of increased and systemat-

echoes the trend noted in new commitments. ic attention to portfolio Perforniance indicatorsfor the Bank'S porfolie

Highlights of portfolio performance in fiscal management (see Boxes 3.5 in Mfauritania, comprising 13 credits aniount-

2000 are noted below: and 3.6). To ensure sus- ing to $234 million at the end offiscal 2000,

> Continued improvement in overall portfolio tained progress, Country have been consistently strong. As of June 30,

performance: At the end of fiscal 2000, commit- Assistance Strategies are zooo, no dollar eoiinitments were at risk /f
ments and projects at risk of not achieving their attaching a high priority to not achieving their development objectives), com-

development objectives were at half their levels of improving portfolio quali- pared with i6 percentfor the Bank overall. A

1996, when the Portfolio Improvement Program ty. Such a priority means: deliberate, multipromiged strategy is driving sus-

was introduced. addressing links between tained success. Elements include:

> Noteworthy progress in Africa, and in the project implementation > Resolving, in a timelyfashion, overall and

private sector-infrastructure sector: The Africa and other aspects of the project-spec/fe problem issues, in part through

region's portfolio, historically one of the Bank's Bank's policy dialogue (for ftvquenmtly held, action-oriented Country Port-

riskiest, is now on a par with the Bank average, example, procurement dif- folio terformance Reviews
X 1 r 1 X X X r r a >~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ Butilding local impDlementation capacitySubstantial reductions in risk were also achieved, ficulties tied to corrup- A B

.ankwide, in projects that address needs in electric rio/fl; reflecting2lessons > Developing links between macroeconomic
Bankwide, in projects that address needs in electric tion); reflecting lessons and sector policy dialogue and Bank lending

power and energy, private sector development, water learned in the assistance

supply and sanitation, and urban development. strategy; tying new lending e Forgng strloa partaersthpsroztl govern-

> Stronger project outcomes: Eighty-four percent to country portfolio per- project cycle

of projects exiting the portfolio in fiscal 2000 were formance; and reflecting > increasing the respensibility amid accounts-

rated satisfactory in terms of achieving development Bankwide experience in bility of thefeld office in portfolio management

objectives at the time of closing, compared with 78 identifying appropriate

percent in fiscal iggg. These ratings bode well for instruments for assistance

sustained improvement in satisfactory project out- (for example, Learning and

comes as measured by OEDS independent evalua- Innovation Loans, or

tions, which are conducted after a project has closed. nonlending services).
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SECTION IV

AFRICA EAST ASIA AND PACIFIC SOUTH ASIA
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COUNTRIES AFRICA
ELIGIBLE FOR
WORLD BANK

BORROWING
Angola
Benin

Botswana
Burkina Faso

Burundi REGIONAL CONTEXT lenge, apart from restoring peace, is stronger and
Cameroon more widespread growth so that Africa can begin

CapeVerde reliminary economic data for Africa to make a serious dent on poverty.
Central African Republic suggest a modest recovery in r999, Most countries have been pursuing reforms

ChadsugsMotcutishvbenprunreom
Comoros following a slowdown in growth a that will equip them for global economic integra-

Congo, Democratic Republic of year earlier due to developments in tion: restoring macroeconomic balance, improv-

Congo, Republic of East and South Asia and to increased ing resource allocation, and creating conditions
C6re d'lvoire

Equatorial Guinea conflict and adverse weather conditions in the more promising for efficient investment. Since

Eritrea region. Performance within the region showed 1995, the median African economy has grown at
Ethiopi'aI

Gabon divergent trends but there was continued evidence about 4 percent per year, the best sustained per-
Gambia, The in 1999 that economies responded to social stabili- formance since independence. Markets have been

Ghana
Guinea ty and sound policies. Nearly half the countries in opened, currencies realigned, tariffs reduced, and

Guinea-Bissau the region posted positive per capita growth rates; price controls abolished. The export sector has

Kenya however, on average, growth continues to fall been revitalized and is currently growing at
Lesotho
Liberia short of what is needed for the absolute number around 8 percent. Ongoing efforts at regional

Madagascar of poor to decline. The outlook for 2000 is for a integration are providing a boost to intra-African

Mali further acceleration of growth, with more export trade and to export expansion. Subregional insti-
Mauritania expansion, recovery in agriculture, and a reduction tutions such as the Southern Africa Development

Mauritius in conflict. Community (SADc) and the Economic and Mon-
Mozambique

Namibia The continent has made significant advances etary Union of West Africa (UEMOA), along with
Niger over the last decade. Democratic governance has bilateral cooperation initiatives such as the

Nigeria been strengthened, and the progress towards Maputo Corridor, are facilitating cross-border

SaoTome and Principe more open systems of governance seems irre- trade and investment initiatives. New financial
Senegal versible. Most African economies are growing institutions and regional stock exchanges have

Seychelles
Sierra Leone again. Africans are assuming leadership of the also been taking root.

Somalia development agenda. Government ownership of Still, only a few countries-Botswana,

South Africa reforms, accompanied by an increasing capacity Mauritius, Mozambique, and Uganda, for exam-
Sudan

Swazdand for implementation, is among the more enduring ple-have sustained growth rates that could sig-

Tanzania development of the 199os. Leaders across the nificantly reduce poverty within a decade.
Togo

Uganda continent have realized that the primary chal- Growth in the region must be accelerated to
Zambia over 7 percent if Africa is to halve severe pover-

Zimbabwe
ty by zoi5, and it must be broad-based and equi-

tably distributed. A major challenge across

much of the continent is the establish-

ment of peace, a precondition for

growth. The unfinished agenda

includes greater efforts at social

inclusion and peace, as well as

- ,, ~ continued improvements in gov-

ernance, which is broadly
defined to include keeping a

healthy peace, empowering local
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people through community-driven programs, presence is helping reinvigorate the quality and rate

enabling Africans by building capacity in the of implementation of operations and strengthening

region, bridging the digital divide, and strength- collaboration with partners. Collaboration is also

ening and enforcing the rule of law. Also crucial evident in the Bank's work in fiscal 2000 on a
will be investments in infrastructure (except for groundbreaking report, Can Africa Claim the 21i Cen-

South Africa, the continent has fewer roads than tusy?, prepared jointly with

all of Poland) and protecting the environment, the African Development AFRICA

especially Africa's forests. Bank, the United Nations FAST FACTS

There is an urgent need for determined Economic Commission for > Total population o 6 billion

action to fight HIV/AIDS in Africa. The spread of Africa, the African Econom- > Population growth: 2A4%

the disease has continued unabated in most ic Research Consortium, and > Life expectancy at birth: 50 years

countries, threatening development in the region the Global Coalition for > iJfant miortality per 1,000 births: 92

as a whole. The epidemic has indeed reversed Africa. The report highlights > Lemaleyoutk illiteraCy: 2P%

progress in East and southern Africa in the last policies that are successful as > i999 GNP per capita: $500

four decades, reducing life expectancy by as well as others in need of
. .. . . ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~Total FY00 New commitments

much as 17 years in the worst hit countrles, dou- adaptation to the region's IBRD $97.6 million

bling child and adult mortality rates, and deplet- pressing circumstances. It IDA $2,061.4 million

ing the already scarce supply of skilled managers. also proposes ways in xvhich

Over 23 million people in Africa live with international donors could Total FYOO Disbursements

H1V/AIDs; 3.8 million of them were infected in support Africa's development IBRD $88.0 million

'999 alone. Almost 14 million Africans have died efforts more effectively. IDA $1,848.4 million

of the disease since the start of the epidemic. The Bank's assistance
Outstanding portfolio as of June 30, 2000

to Africa aims to spur eco- $13.4 billion
BANK AsSISTANCE nomic growth to higher

Working more closelv with clients and partners is a rates that would guarantee Note: Population and GNP data are for 1999, other
indicators are for 1998, from the World Development

growing hallmark of Bank assistance to Africa. To significant and sustained Indicators database.

enhance client focus, the Bank is increasing its pres- poverty reduction, improve

ence in the field, with many staff who work on governance, and help reverse the HIV/AIDS crisis.

Africa now based in country offices. Such field Support for the region recognizes the diverse

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~. .. .. Infras-tr.u-t-;re
4 ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~development is

critical to improv-

ing living stan-
dards in Africa,
creating access
to services,
reducing transac-
tion costs and

4 W : ~~~~~expanding pri-
- - ~~~~~~vate sector activi-

ty, and attracting

investors to the
region.
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nature of Africa's challenges. One group of coun- ty reduction is also an important objective of the

tries, which includes Botswana, Cape Verde, Ghana, Chad-Cameroon Petroleum Development and

and Uganda, has undertaken serious economic, Pipeline Project (see Box 4.1).

political, and institutional reforms. The Bank sup- In a recent survey, dients credited the Bank
ports these countries in their pursuit of "second with helping to bring about economic growth,

generation" economic reforms. A second and larger strengthen sound macroeconomic and trade poli-

group comprises countries that have launched cies, and establish needed physical infrastructure.

reform programs but need to deepen their reform The challenge for Africa and the Bank will be to

agendas. Facing such a challenge, for example, are consolidate and deepen policy gains to achieve

Cameroon, Guinea, and Madagascar. The third higher growth and better governance. Dealing

group is extremely volatile, with countries such as with the HiV/AIDS crisis, putting special emphasis

Angola, the Democratic Republic of Congo, and on human development, and delivering resources

Sierra Leone marked by varying degrees of violent directly to poor people will be among the top
conflict. In these countries, peace will require priorities for the region. An important challenge

greater inclusion of excluded groups and the for Africa will also be to find the capacity to

empowering of comtnunities. Ongoing programs develop, introduce, and sustain reforms. In fiscal
and new Bank-supported projects, such as the Sier- 2000, the Bank continued to support the Partner-

ra Leone Conmnunity Reintegration and Rehabili- ship for Capacity Building in Africa (PACT), a col-

tation Project, have sought to support the process laborative framework between African countries,
of consolidating peace and reducing poverty. Pover- the Bank, and other donors, which was approved

BOX 4.1 THE CHAD-CAMEROON PETROLEUM
DEVELOPMENT AND PIPELINE PROJECT

The IVorld Bank Board approved support for a project to develop oilfields in southern Chad and to build a 1,070 km

pipeline to off-shore oil loadingfacilities on Cameroon s Atlantic coast. The project will cost an estimated $3.7 billion; its

private sponsors, a consortium of oil companties including ExxonMobil (USA), Petronas (Malaysia), and Chevron (UsA),

are providing the bulk of thefunding. Bank Group support includes s93 million on IBRD terms ($53.4 million to

Cameroon and $39.5 million to Chad) and sioo million from the International Finance Corporation (IFC).

Bank Group role. Financing was only one element of Bank Group supportfor this project. National and international

civil society groups had expressed strong concerns related to the use of oil revenue, the environment, human resettlement, the

project' impact oni indigenous peoples, and public consultations. These groups also tioted that the region's natural resource

"booms" had, in the past, a negative impact on poverty reduction efforts. In response, the Bank, working closely with the gov-

ernments and private sponsors, redoubled its efforts to ensure a project design that would respond to these concerns. The result

was the development in Chad of a sound revenue management program targeting signficantfunds to education, health,

rural development, infrastructure, and environmental management, with to percent of revenue held in trustforfuturegener-

ations, Application of the Bank's environmental and social safeguard policies also resulted in the re-routing of the pipeline

to ensure protection of biodiversity, human settlements, indigenous peoples, and cultural heritage. The pipeline will be buried,

and two large national parks have been newly created. Project-related public consultation started in 1993 and evolved

considerably throughout project preparation. The mFcs role has also been important in mobilizing long-termfinatice and in

supplying technical skillsforfinancing.

Poverty reductionfocus. The project could transform the economy of Chad, one of the world's poorest countries. Nearly

6 million Chadians live on less then si a day, infant mortality is high, amid access to basic social services is extremely limit-

ed. Thegovernmnent'sprogramfor use of the new revenues, estimated at nearly $2 billion for Chad over 25 years, targets key

sectors of its poverty alleviation strategy. Other expected benefits are infrastructure improvements in Cameroon and Chad,

employment getieration, local procurement, capacity building, and increased private investment in both countries.
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Creating a base

for competitive
industrialization in
Africa is not easy
but there are
enough examples
to show that the
region can diversi-
fy and be compet-
itive across a
broad range of
products-includ-
ing textiles.

by the Board in fiscal 1999 and which recognizes countries, while nor in the pilot program, have

the crucial role of capacity building in Africa's also adopted the approach informally, and they

development, have begun to apply COF principles.

Table 4.1 shows the value and sectoral distri- A key focus of the Bank's strategy for poverty

butions of total Bank lending to the Africa region reduction in Afiica is debt relief Through the Heav-

in the fiscal egis-oro period. Table 4.IA (see Annex) ily Indebted Poor Countries (Irie) Initiative, the

compares comnuitments, disbursements, and net Bank has been working dosely with African coun-

transfers to the region for fiscal 1995-00; and Table tries and other donors to deal with the region's offi-

4.2A (see Annex) shows operations approved in fis- cial debt, which at the end of i999 stood at

cal 2000 by country. Figure 4.1 shows IBRD and iDA approximately $170 billion. Thirty-two 0f the 4i

lending by sector, countries from around the developing world that are

currendty classified as HIPCeS are from Africa. Fiscal
Supporting stragieofor growth and poverty reduction 2000 has been an important year for the Initiative

The piloting of the Comprehensive Development (see Overview), and a year of active implementation.

Framework (CoD) approach, introduced in fiscal During fiscal 2deb, six countries from the region

1999, reflects countries' recognition of the need (Burkina Faso, Mauritania, Mozambique, Senegal,

for a sharper focus on poverty and for strong Tanzania, and Uganda) qualified for debt relief

partnerships. The COF approach calls upon gov- under the enhanced Initiative, which is estimated to

ernments to take an integrated and long-term total some s7.i bilion in nominal terms over time,

view of their countries' development, engage their from all creditors. Including relief already comn it-

civil societies in defining priorities and goals, and ted to Burkina Faso, Cte d'Ivoire, Mali, Mozam-

coordinate donor assistance. Partners' coordinat- bique, and Uganda under the original HIPC

ed support around a comffion, country-driven framework, total debt relief committed as of end

strategy is crucial. The CoF iS enabling pilot June 2000 is estimated to be nearly si2, billion. iDA I

countries such as Ghana and Uganda, for exam- share of this relief would amnount to s3.6 billion over

ple, to think more strategically about the rime. To qualify for debt relief under the Initiative,

sequencing of policies, programs, and projects, countries have to present a Poverty Reduction Strat-

Iand the pacing 0 f reforms. Some other African egy Paper (PRSP'), which is an operational instrument
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intended to translate a coun- all Bank-funded projects in the region, not just
FIIGU A RE 4IDA LNIN BY try'Cs poverty reduction strate- the stand-alone HIV/AIDS projects, have HIV/AIDS

SECTOR, FISCAL 2000 gy into a focused plan of -fighting components.
Total $2.2 billion action. A number of addi-

Agn-Ilture & tional African countries are Helping empower communities
Itatutr Environment

16% 9% due to receive debt relief Community Action Programs (CAPs) are the
Pubi%c Sector Urban Economic Poicy
Managoment Development 17%/o under the enhanced Initiative Africa Region's version of Community Driven

in early fiscal 2ooi. Development (CDD), a new emphasis in Bank

.1 ~j2 ni X Intensifying response to the assistance across all regions, which empowers
@ = <N?< I~~~~~~~~~~~ntensfying response to the oca comnte.y a'al

'. @. HIV/AIDS challenge tlocal communities by making resources available

Africa's future depends on Recognizing that conventional assistance pro-

its success in meeting the grams have failed to reach the poorest Africans

HIV/AIDS challenge. The Bank when delivered through weak, centralized mecha-

Finance & f has developed a vigorous msms, CAPS allocate and channel resources to

Pr`vate Sr"t"r | H.umen response to the epidemic in poor populations; in addition, CAPS improve the
Development OtheAb Development

11%'o 10% 24% Africa. After committing institutional and governance environment to

Note Sector classiefcation is on a loan-component about $233 million in AIDS empower communities to design and implement
basis. See Table 1. 1, page 33.
a. Includes transportation, telecommunications. and assistance between fiscal 1986 their own development initiatives. A credit sup-
water supply and saniation
b. Other includes electnrc power and energy oil and and fiscal 1999, it is now porting the first CAP, benefiting rural infrastruc-

gas, and mpining aggressively pursuing a strat- ture in Senegal, was approved by the Board in

egy to help countries deal January 2000. Project funds will be used to

with the crisis. A special unit, AcTAfrica, has been improve local governance and financial manage-

created in the office of the Vice President of the ment; to pilot initiatives that will improve

Africa Region to deal exclusively with this chal- mobility for some 1.3 million people living in

lenge, working closely with UNAIDS (see Box 4.2). rural areas; and to help communities fight the

One of the unit's important tasks is to ensure that spread of HIV/AIDS.

BOX 4.2 ACTAfrica-RESPONDING TO THE HIV/AIDS CRISIS IN AFRICA

H V/AlDS is undermining macroeconomicgrowth, human Campaign Teamfor Africa (AcTAfrica). The team will

capital development, and good governance in Africa. To serve as thefocal point and clearinghouse on HIV/AIDS and

helpfight the epideinic the Bank has adopted a strategy of will provide a variety of services, including:

intens/fied action. Launched in September 1999, the > Equipping and supporting Bank country teams to

strategy seeks to: mobilize African leaders and civil society, and the private

2> Use advocacy to increase demandfor HIV/AlDS- sector to intensffy action against HIIV/AIDS

related actioni > Retrofitting projects with HIV/AIDS components where

2> Strengthen the Bank's capacity to respond to new possible, and assisting in the development of new dedicated

demandfor action HIV/AIDS projects

-> Expand resources availablefrom the international > Supporting Bank country teams in addressing

community HIV/AIDS in their country assistance strategies

)> Expand available knowledge and develop new > Strengthening and expanding the Bank's partnership

prevention tools. with [WAmDS, as well as with other key agencies,

To stimulate and support implementation of the strate- nonigovernmental organizations (NGOs), and interested

gy, the Batik has established a multisectoral HIV/AIDS bilateral donors.
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TABLE 4.1 WORLD BANK LENDING TO BORROWERS IN AFRICA, BY SECTOR, FISCAL 1992-00
(millions of U.S. dollars)

CLASSIFIED ON A LOAN-BY-LOAN BASIS CLASSIFIED ON A LOAN
COMPONENT BASIS

Sector FY92-9 7 FY98 FY9 9 FY00 FYOO

Arota/ Alverage

Agriculture 322.1 176.9 188.1 173.5 181.4

Economic policy 527.1 330.1 676.6 426.3 360.1

Education 235.7 372.3 194.1 159.7 203.7

Electric power and other energy 181.4 380.3 0.0 42.9 60.3

Environment 47.1 71.8 15.0 16.4 22.6

Finance 213.1 5.0 29.4 60.4 60.4

Mining 10.7 5.0 15.0 0.0 0.0

Multisector 38.9 0.0 0.0 65.0 43.2

Oil and gas 31.4 0.0 I7.5 116.6 116.7

Popudation, healtl, and nutrition 133.3 227.0 172.1 110.0 154.0

Private sector development 204.5 44.4 78.1 200.6 186.6

Public sector management 96.4 180.5 121.2 283.4 194.9

Social protection 118.9 114.7 129.6 139.4 143.4

Telecommtnications 14.9 (.0 I0.8 10.2 10.2

Transportation 294.4 770,1 236.6 256.2 256.2

Urban development 132.3 85.0 110.9 10.8 91.7

\Water supply and sanitation 124.6 110.7 75.0 87.7 73.7

Total 2,726.7 2,873.8a 2,070.0a 2,159.1 2,159.1

Of which IBRD 175.0 57.4 5.0 97.6

IDA 2,551.7 2,816.4a 2,065.0a 2,061.4

Note: See Table ft 1 page 33. Numbers may not add to totals because of rounding.
a. Excludes IDA Hlpc grants of $75 mdlion to Uganda in FY98 and $154 million to Mozambique in FY99.
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COUNTRIES EAST ASIA AND PACIFIC
ELIGIBLE FOR
WORLD BANK
BORROWING*

Cambodia
China

Fiji

KIcibati RE G 10 N A L C O N TEXT post-crisis environment, particularly among
Korea, Republic of low-income and urban households, is increased

Lao People's Democratic Republic east Asia's recovery from the economic insecurity as a result of job losses and
Malaysia 1997-98 financial crisis strength- lower real wages. The prospect of increased unem-

Marshall Islands
Micronesia, Federated States of ened during fiscal 2000 and is gain- ployment also looms in the transition economies

Mongolia ing momentum, though unevenly (Cambodia, China, Laos, Mongolia, and Vietnam)
Mvanmar 

IyPalau across countries (see Figure 4.2). as governments move to reform inefficient state

Papua New Guinea External developments supported this recovery, enterprises and downsize large public sectors.
Philippines as demand for the region's exports increased and

Samoa
Solomon Islands the region's terms of trade improved. While the BANK ASSISTANCE

Thailand social impact of the crisis was less than had orig- The Bank's assistance strategy in East Asia has

Tonga inally been feared, poverty became more acute been completely transformed in the aftermath of

Vietnam throughout the region, affecting school atten- the crisis. According to East Asia: Recovery and

This section also reports on dance and preventive health care expenditures. Beyond, a World Bank publication released in May
East Timor Nonetheless, the creation of new jobs has 2000, the region's long-term prospects hinge on

offered hope to workers and their families, and unleashing new productivity-induced growth.

while incomes of low-income groups have not These prospects are in turn dependent on the

yet been restored, renewed economic growth has effectiveness of regulatory policies and of busi-

at least halted the decline of incomes. With a ness, government, and social institutions. While

few more years of growth, poverty levels would continuing to emphasize prudent macroeconomic

return to those prevailing before the crisis. management, the Bank is drawing on its analytical

Though sharper than expected, the recovery work in the region and focusing its support on

remains fragile due to the overhang of bad debts financial and corporate restructuring and gover-

(see Figure 4.3), which drain corporate earnings nance; public sector performance and governance;

and fiscal resources. Consolidating recovery will and social protection.

require: restructuring of banks and corporations Increased contact with clients and stronger

to restore their financial viability; sound manage- partnerships continue to characterize Bank assis-

ment of the burgeoning public sector debt; and tance in East Asia. Operations have been increas-

efforts to reduce lingering inefficiencies exposed ingly decentralized, with nearly 50 percent of staff

by the crisis. A disturbing characteristic of the and all but one country director now in the field.

Regional hubs have been established (in Singapore

to enhance strategic regional links, in Hong Kong,

China to focus on private sector development,

and in Sydney to support activities in the

Pacific Islands, Papua New Guinea, and

East Timor). A local presence has also

been established in East Timor to

assist in implementing the recon-

struction effort. Assistance to

EastTimor is underpinned by a

comprehensive sector framework

agreed upon with other donors,
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the U.N., and the East Timorese leadership, which East Asia and Pacific region

already has yielded considerable results. By June in the fiscal 1992-00 period. EAST ASIA AND PACIFIC
2000, the Bank and the Asian Development Bank Table 4.3A (see Annex) com-

(ADB) had together rolled out comprehensive pro- pares commitments, dis- > Totalpopulation: 1.8 biHlion

grains in all sectors of the economy, witlh special bursements, and net > Thpulationgrowth: 1.1%

emphasis on employment generation activities. transfers to the region for > L/fe expectancy at birth: 69years

Throughout the region, Bank operations are fos- fiscal 1995-00; and Table > Infant mortaliy per 1,ooo births: 35

tering partnerships with other multilateral and 4-4 A (see Annex) shows > Femarnlyoutb illiteracy:55%

bilateral institutions, including the ADB, Associa- operations approved in fiscal > 1999 GAP per capita: $1,0f90

tion of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN), 2000, by country. Figure 4.4

Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEc), and ShOWS IBRD and IDA lending IBRD $2,495.3 million

the Asia-Europe Meetings group. by sector.
IDA $483.8 million

Vietnam is among the countries piloting the

CDF approach. This initiative reflects the govern- Accekrating financial and Total FYOO Disbursements

ment's concern that fragmented donor programs corporate restructuring IBRD $2,940.3 million

were having less impact than they would as part of Financial and corporate sec- IDA $706.1 million

a coordinated framework. In fiscal 2000, the gov- tor reforms continued to
Outstanding portfolio as of June 30, 2000

ernment promoted awareness of the new approach; advance in fiscal 2000, if at $31.7 billion

strengthened partnerships among donors, govern- an uneven and generally

ment, and civil society; and began to tackle the slow pace. Three patterns Note. Population and GNP data are for 1.999, other
indicators are for 1998, from the World Development

harmonizing of procedures across donors. have emerged. First, the five Indicators database.

Achievements in the first year included l'ietnam: crisis countries (Republic of

Attacking Poverty, a joint report of a government- Korea, Thailand, Indonesia, FIGURE 4.2 PERFORMANCE

donor-NGo working group. The coordinated Malaysia, and the Philip- HAS BEEN UNEVEN ACROSS

approach has generated a shared perspective on the pines) are at advanced stages THE REGION

nature of poverty and its causes, and an agreed- of identifying and transfer- Quarterly Growth Rates in
East Asia's "crisis" countries

upon agenda for future work. A joint donor-gov- ring bad loans to asset man- -percent)

ernment working group on governance has also agement companies; their , -o Philippi-eo

been established. In fiscal 2000, assistance strate- progress well exceeds that of 10----- Repub.io of Korea

gies were also prepared for the Pacific Island states noncrisis countries (particu- 5.0

(see Box 4. 3). larly China and Mongolia). oo c

New lending operations in EAP numbered 29 Second, progress in debt so 

in fiscal 2000 and total lending was $3 billion, restructuring and resolution 100x

down from fiscal ip99 levels as anticipated. of bad loans has been fitful, 15.0

Demand for funds was substantially lower as the with the Republic of Korea Q0 02 Q2,III Ql Q2Q9a Q4 ffQ2999 

crisis receded and the region's economic perform- leading and Indonesia lag- Growth Rates for Transition

ance improved. Lending was complemented by ging in a process that may and Small Economies

economic and sector studies, short policy notes, span the better part of a ?2.00
10.05

and advisory consultations that, in some cases, decade. Third, financial sec- 8 Ch-=

resulted in agreement on reform measures even tors are being opened to 6o00m

when not tied to lending. A number of technical foreign owners and com- 2.0 So lo.agdin &

assistance projects supported corporate and bank- petitors in varying degrees, cooo / s ,

ing sector reforms, funded primarily through the with dramatic changes in 2 00

Asia-Europe Meetings (ASEM) Trust Fund and the Thailand and Korea. Bank a0 s ls

Policy and Human Resources Development assistance in fiscal zooo-in Note Smal Island States inctode Fiji, kirbati, Pa9ou
Neotee: Soalomo IslandStes anclde Vaisais KiiatiPapfor

(PHRD) Trust Fund. Table 4.2 shows the value and close collaboration within New Guinea, Solomon o slands, and Vanuatu. Data for

sectoral distributions of total Bank lending to the the Bank Group and with
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FIGURE 4.3 other international agen- Strengthening public sector performance andgovernance
INTEREST PAYMENTS AS A cies-aimed to facilitate the
SHARE OF TAX REVENUES restructuring of banks and With rising public debt squeezing noninterest

BEFORE AND AFTER CRISIS corporations, and to public spending, civil society in many East Asian

(percent) strengthen regulatory frame- countries is increasingly demanding more effi-

1996 works and institutions, cient, effective, and accountable government;
30 M.,k 199929 30 § 19990including the judicial sys- improved social and infrastructure services; and

tem, insolvency system the safeguarding of the environment. In response,

reform, financial supervi- the Bank has supported sector projects and poli-

16 16 | sion, and competition poli- cy reforms emphasizing public sector transparen-
i | as cy. In Thailand, to complete cy and accountability (see Box 4. 4) as well as

financial and corporate sec- greater stakeholder participation in project design

* *67 tor reforms, the Bank has and implementation. Wide-ranging efforts in
supported economic and Indonesia include anticorruption and civil service

financial adjustment reforms. The Indonesia Forests Program, for

hd-o- of Korea Maaysa PhI.pp-es Th.I-nd China through two loans since the example (developed this year through an intensive

crisis. with a third under Bank-sponsored consultation process with

discussion this fiscal year. Policy dialogue with the donors, government, and civil society), represents

Republic of Korea yielded agreement on extend- a government commitment to introduce major
ing and deepening corporate and financial sector reforms in the sector, address urgent issues
reforms. Though the funds under the Corporate including illegal logging, and set a framework for

and Financial Sector Restructuring Loan were not coordinated forest development. Bank operations

accessed, the Republic of Korea nonetheless are also adopting demand-oriented and private

implemented the bulk of reforms associated with sector approaches to service delivery (particularly
the operation. in infrastructure activities) with an emphasis on

BOX 4.3 ASSISTANCE STRATEGY FOR THE PACIFIC ISLAND STATES

The challenges facing the Pac!fic Island countries (Federated the Bank's strategy aims to support regional initiatives in

States of Micronesia, Fiji, Kiribati, Palau, Papua New those limited areas where prospects are strong, such as

Guinea, Marshall Islands, Samoa, the Solomon Islands, trade, banking, transport, telecommunications, management |

Tonga, and Vanuatu) are: to overcome the constraints they of marine resources, and bulk purchasing of supplies

share as small states, including economic and environmental and products.
vulnerability; to deal with changing global trade regimes; to The CDF and the shared work with the Commonwealth

improve institutional and human capacity; and to identfy Secretariat on small island states provide the basisfor a

practical options in response to the ongoing process of glob- long-term strategy for assistance to the Pacific Island coun-

alization. A major challenge unique to these coutitries is tries, This assistance plan was outlined in the Pacific
how to provide sustainable and meaningful economic and Regional Strategy (May 2000) and the Papua New
social opportunities and servicesfor growing populations Guinea Country Assistance Strategy (December

within a context of fast-paced social, cultural, and eco- 1999). The Bank's strategy supports country-led reform

nomic change. programs (in coordination with other regional and bilateral

Regional cooperation, by pooling resources across coun- development partners) as a key elementfor success. The

tries, would minimize the vulnerabilities of these small strategyfocuses on the importance of sustainable utilization

countries, Regional cooperation opportunities, however, are of natural resources in meeting development aspirations,

limited in the Pacjfic region, due to its immense size and and it emphasizes the critical role of Pacific institutions,

the variety of cultures and political systems. Nonetheless, traditions, and custortis in reducing poverty.
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cost recovery of recurrent expenses. New projects strengthen related policy-

in China with these features will help reduce air making functions. Greater FIGURE 4.4
EAST ASIA AND PACIFIC:

pollution, address water pollution and sewerage involvement exposed severe IBRD AND IDA LENDING BY

problems, and support water supply, waste water limitations in the ability of SECTOR, FISCAL 2000
treatment, and industrial pollution control. private and public systems Total53.0bilOon

In fiscal 2000, the Bank also supported to cope with a shock as Urban

decentralization of public sector decisionmaking severe as the recent crisis. Afrantrjctjr&, n A9Le&

and accountability. These significant challenges The need for policies and 25YEnr t

must be met: to ensure neutral impact on fiscal institutions that could help
resources, adequate capacity at the local govern- households manage social

ment level, and reduced corruption at local levels. risks also became evident.

In the Philippines, the Mindanao Rural Develop- Bank assistance in fiscal

ment Project (a project to improve rural incomes zooo sought to help build a

and food security) assigns a larger role to local comprehensive and effective

governments while also closely involving rural social policy framework mam

poor communities in project design and imple- and to ensure that poor M-Pl

mentation. The project emphasizes capacity- people participate in the FSet amntd P Det e H-a.n

building at local levels, which represents a new benefits of future growth. 1% 7 %

approach to rural development in the Philippines. Also recognizing the fiscal basis See Taboe 1a 1i page 33

constraints on governments a. Includea transportation, telecomnmunicatioans, andconstraints on governments water supply and sanitation.

Etnhancing social protection as well as demands from b Includes nultisector, electric power and energy od
and gas, and mining.

During the crisis, the Bank supported efforts to commtnities, social sector

bolster safety net programs and to gather data to programs have increasingly emphasized commu-

The Indonesia
Village Infra-
structure Project

9 ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~has empowered
communities to

A ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~assume respon-
sibility for project
planning and
implementation.
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The Mindanao
Rural Develop-

ment Projecttben--
efits Phillipines'

coastal communi-
ties, and includes
a Global Environ-

mental Facility
component for _ -

biodiversity con-
servation that will-

contribute to coSw. - ,
increasing fish - -

stocks. Ks t!

S~~~~~~~~~~~- V~IS

N-

BOX 4.4 THAILAND PUBLIC SECTOR REFORM LOAN

Strengthening public sectors has been an importantfocus of and that the pace of implementation is often uneven, the reform

Bank assistanee in the East Asia region. Public sector reforms program bas been designed around concrete objectives withflex-

can raise productivity (of workers and public investmnent) in ible benchmarks that can be adjusted to accommodate the pace of

the economy, improve competitiveness, enbance citizen satisfac- impismentation.

tion with public services, and ukimately help sustain economric The reforms are already yielding tangible results, wbich

growth, In Thailand, the Bank is supporting an important rejlects the strong support among various stakebolders in Tbai-

effort of the government to imnprove public sector governance in land, as well as the rcforms'grounding in the principies of the

central agencies and line ministries, through a $4D0 million new constitution. Agencies and ministries bave been restruc-

loan approved tbis fisealyear. The comprehensive Public Sector tured to promote e¢ficiency; proce5ses in pilot departments bave

Management Reform Plan, issued in May i999, aims at been re-engineered to emphasize results-based management; new

improved performance-based resource management, better serv- financial management approaches have been developed; and

ice delivery, andgreater accountability and transparency. Rec- important legislation (including the Official Information Act)

ognizing that institutional reforms require time to implement, has been passed.
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TABLE 4.2 WORLD BANK LENDING TO BORROWERS IN EAST ASIA
AND PACIFIC, BY SECTOR, FISCAL 1992-00

(millions of U.S. dollars)

CLASSIFIED ON A LOAN-BY-LOAN BASIS CLASSIFIED ON A LOAN
COMPONENT BASIS

Sector FY92- 9 7 FY98 FY99 FYoO FYOO

Annual Average

Agriculture 961.6 1,058.7 711.8 353.8 412.8

Economic policy 97.8 50.0 3,612.0 30.0 40.0

Education 499.8 103.5 557.2 5.0 7.0

Electric power and other energy 1,292.0 846.7 100.0 470.0 470.0

Environment 275.9 215.4 304.0 382.7 590.3

Finance 105.7 5,385.0 826.0 32.0 32.0

Mining 5.8 0.0 0.0 10.0 10.0

Multisector 10.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Oil and gas 139.3 0.0 0.0 7.0 7.0

Population, health, and nutrition 181.2 146.5 104.7 119.4 82.7

Private sector development 22.5 0.0 198.5 0.0 0.0

Public sector management 74.6 230.0 505.0 490.0 470.0

Social protection 52.9 310.0 990.0 100.0 105.0

Telecommunications 180.7 34.5 100.0 0.0 0.0

Transportation 1,148.0 1,110.0 1,041.5 629.2 577.3

Urban development 320.1 45.1 264.7 0.0 0.0

Water supply and sanitation 136.8 87.8 449.8 350.0 175.0

Total 5,505.1 9,623.2 9,765.2 2,979.1 2,979.1

Of which IBRD 4,389.1 8,847.0 8,754.8 2,495.3

IDA 1,116.0 776.2 1,010.4 483.8

Note: See Table 1. 1, page 33. Numbers may not add to totals because of rounding.

nity empowerment and demand-driven continuous development, and the strengthening

approaches to promote operational efficiency, and stabilizing of society through community

transparency, and effectiveness. networks. Under the comprehensive City Devel-

Support for social protection has entailed opment Strategies approach, the Bank supports

the strengthening of local communities and the formation of civil society umbrella associa-

NGOs, as well as assistance for health, education, tions charged with producing a strategic vision

infrastructure, environment, water supply and for their cities. The Bank and Bandung, Indone-

sanitation, urban and rural development, and sia (one of i2 initially targeted cities), have

other local capacity-building activities. A Social agreed to work together on a Cities Without

Investment Fund in Thailand, aimed at assisting Slums Initiative to upgrade and improve living

the needy, has in the words of some Thai com- standards in poor neighborhoods of Bandung.

munity leaders become "a social movement," Bank operations are also increasing their use of

promoting lasting goals of community self- innovative technological approaches to social

reliance and cooperation, mutual learning and service delivery.
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SOUTH ASIA
COUNTRIES

ELIGIBLE FOR
WORLD BANK

BORROWING
Afghanistan
Bangladesh

Bhutan
India REGIONAL CONTEXT in October 1999 created further uncertainties.

Nepal Elsewhere in the region, a sharp escalation in the
Pakistan outh Asia was the fastest growing scale of the Sri Lankan civil conflict caused an

Sri Lanka developing region in I999 for the sec- interruption in renewed mediation efforts; politi-

ond consecutive year. GDP growth aver- cal strikes continue in Bangladesh, costing the

L ) aged 5.4 percent, up slightly from the economy an estimated s6o million for each day
previous year. Growth in India, at 6 lost; and political instability continues in Nepal.

percent in I999, continued to lead the region's per- Combined with economic and policy con-

formance, spurred by an expanding commitment straints, these upheavals limit the region's ability

to a broad range of reforms at the national level to attract the foreign investment critical to

and in some key states, as well as rising business growth and poverty reduction. Gross capital

confidence. Bangladesh grew at a healthy 5.2 per- market flows to South Asia are just I percent of

cent rn i999, up from 5.1 percent the previous year. the total to developing countries. The instabili-

This growth was better than expected; a bumper ties have also contributed to large public sector

rice crop and sound macroeconomic management deficits, inadequate infrastructure services, and

helped to offset the effects of the x998 floods, poor quality of public spending.

weak external markets, falling commodity prices, South Asia's poverty continues to present a

and surging petroleum bills. Growth slowed in profound challenge to the Bank's mission. The

Pakistan, to 3.1 percent; the weak performance region is home to 40 percent of the world's

reflected political uncertainties and serious balance poor, with some half a billion people living on

of payments difficulties as well as weak external less than a dollar a day. Key indicators signal the

markets (the latter also affected Sri Lanka). scope of the challenge: South Asia has the

South Asia's strong growth is all the more world's highest adult illiteracy rate (59 percent of

remarkable-and indicative of its potential women are unable to read or write), a third of

dynamism-in the face of regional and national the world's maternal deaths, and malnutrition

political instability. Tensions between Pakistan that affects more than half the region's children

and India over Kashmir continue to take a toll on under 5 years of age. Lack of access to health

lives, command large defense expenditures, and care, major public health threats such as HIV/AIDS

keep G7 sanctions in place following nuclear and malnutrition (see Figure 4.5), low primary

weapons tests in 1998; a military coup in Pakistan school enrollment rates, environmental degrada-

tion, inadequate infrastructure, and social exclu-

sion are among the many obstacles to future

growth and poverty reduction.

BANK ASSISTANCE

The Bank articulates its strategy to

help South Asia reduce poverty

around three key dimensions.

First, it recognizes the need for

sound economic policies to pro-

mote growth. Second, it recog-

nizes that equitable distribution
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1 of the benefits of growth requires institutional I line), has also embraced much needed reforms.

development (supporting good governance) and In Pakistan, the Bank and the Fund continued

policies conducive to supporting poverty allevia- to engage in high-level policy dialogue with the

tion and human development, especially among new government on macroeconomic and struc-

vulnerable groups such as women. Third, in tural issues, with an emphasis on the need to

applying CDF principles, it calls for a holistic build support for policy
approach to address multidimensional poverty, change at national and SOUTH ASIA

reaching across sectoral boundaries and engag- provincial levels. In FAST FACTS

ing governments, other country partners, and Bangladesh, a consultation r > Total population: 1.3 billion

donors in a coordinated effort to ensure maxi- process to inform the > Populationgrowth: 1.9%

mum impact on poverty reduction. Bank's Country Assistance > Lffe expectanicy at birth: 62 years

This strategic approach has implications not Strategy (CAs) engaged all > Infant mortality per t,ooo births: 75

only for the role of the Bank in each South levels of society, including > Female youth illiteracy: 42%

Asian country but also for how it works with rural communities, the > 1999 GVP per capita: $440

these countries. While projects and programs urban poor, NGOS, acade-
, , ~~~~~Total FY00 New commitments

continue to be important, capacity building and mia, business communities,
I ~~~~~~~~~~~~~IBRD $934.3 million

knowledge-driven activities tailored to a coun- trade unions, ministers, IDA$1,178.1 million

try's needs are increasingly emphasized (see Box and parliamentarians. Fol-

4.5). In fiscal 2000, the Bank consolidated recent lowing another consulta- Total FYOO Disbursements

years' efforts to transform the way Bank staff tion process supported by IBRD $846.8 million

work with client countries and to devolve deci- the Bank and development IDA $1,604.6 million

sionmaking to country offices. The strategic partners, the government
, Outstanding portfolio as of June 30, 2000

vision that the "country should be in the driver's presented its poverty $17.8 billion

seat" found expression at several levels: from the reduction strategy at the

Bank's interaction with countries and states to its April 2000 Development Note: Population and GNP data are for r999, other
indicators are for 1998, from the World Development

efforts at the community level to enable people Forum in Paris. Indicators database.

to take control of their own development. Emphasis on country-

Table 4.3 shows the value and sectoral dis- led development characterizes Bank assistance to

tributions of total Bank lending to the South Nepal. The Bank's fiscal iggg-oL CAS emphasizes

Asia region in the fiscal 1992-00 period. Table government-led donor coordination to improve

4.5A (see Annex) compares commitments, dis- aid effectiveness. A Public Expenditure Review

bursements, and net transfers to the region for in fiscal 2000 helped the government to trim its

fiscal 5995-oo, and Table 4.6A (see Annex) donor assistance requests and to use limited

shows operations approved in fiscal 2000, by public resources to maximum effect; a parallel

country. Figure 4.6 shows IBRD and IDA commit- study looked at decentralization and improved

ments by sector. monitoring of public expenditures. In the same

spirit, a $5 million Rural Infrastructure Project is
Building country ownership piloting a local government-led approach to the

Strengthening client ownership of policies and planning and improvement of rural roads,

programs and involving poor people in develop- entrusting district-level committees with the

ment efforts became focal points of Bank assis- design, supervision, and implementation of civil

tance in fiscal zooo. A key priority in India was works. Another new project is setting up a road

building strong partnerships with reforming rehabilitation and maintenance fund to be man-

states (see Box 4.6). Following the lead of aged by government and private sector represen-

Andhra Pradesh, Uttar Pradesh, India's largest tatives; the fund, similar to one being

state and one of its poorest (with 40 percent of established in Pakistan, aims at increased private

its i6o million people living below the poverty sector involvement in infrastructure.
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Strengthening governance and tory structures and adjudication processes and
FIGURE 4.5 institution building enhancing government capacity to reform and

PEOPLE LIVING WITH improve the quality and efficiency of the judici-
HIV/AIDS IN INDIA Governance and institution ary. A Financial Sector Update in Pakistan exam-

(millions of people) building-to strengthen cit- med the government's banking sector reform

izens' voice, improve gov- program and emphasized the need to extend

ernment accountability, and reforms to the legal and regulatory environment.

3 0 reduce corruption-are key The Bank also helped the government examine
themes of Bank assistance the costs of corruption through a series of work-

2.0 to South Asia. The new shops that drew representation from a wide sec-

government in Pakistan has tion of government, NGOs, and the private sector.
1.0 put good governance at the Also in Pakistan, a Provincial Finances study and

heart of its reform agenda. a Public Expenditure Review of Punjab Province

1990 1998 A major step is a compre- sought to strengthen provincial governments'

hensive plan for decentral- capacity for planning and funding essential social
Source: 1990 WHOIGPA: 1999 NACO ization, which would and economic services.
The World Bank has helped India start up and intensify devolve political, financial,
its response to HIV/AIDS through the IDA-assisted
First National AIDS Control Project ($84 millIon, and administrative responsi- Empowering poor people
1992-1999) and the Seconid National HI V/AIDS Con-
trol Project ($191 million, I999-2005). bilities to local representa- Critical to a sound poverty reduction strategy are

tives. In Bangladesh, several institutions, public and private, that not only

new initiatives, such as the Country Financial improve access to services, markets, and economic

Accountability Assessment, a Procurement opportunities but also empower poor people to

Review, an Anti-Corruption Report, and an participate in the development process. India's

Institutional and Governance Review, have identi- District Poverty Initiatives Projects in Andhra

fied numerous social and political obstacles to Pradesh and Rajasthan are examples of such insti-

reform and have stimulated a dialogue on meas- tution-building support by the Bank in fiscal

ures that can strengthen the rule of law, reduce 2000. Designed to finance small-scale subprojects

corruption, and improve service delivery. at community and village levels, these initiatives

The Bank is helping strengthen the region's seek to mobilize and empower groups of poor

institutions through a combination of lending people by helping them to voice their demands as

and nonlending services. In Sri Lanka, a Legal well as plan and implement their own poverty-

Reform Project is addressing legal constraints to reducing schemes. District and subdistrict agen-

private sector development by simplifying regula- cies, both state and nongovernmental, are

BOX 4.5 SUPPORTING BHUTAN'S UNIQUE VISION FOR DEVELOPMENT

Nestled in the remote eastern Himalayas, the tiny Kingdom of Bhutan has made great progress in improving the living standards

of its people since first embarking on modernization in the early i96os. Over 70 percent of primary school-age children are now

in school, compared with only35 percent in the early 19705. Bhutan has a unique vision for social transformation: policies aim to

preserve the country's strong cultural and environmental heritage.

Infiscal 2000, the Bank developed a CAS that supports Bhutan's vision and development priorfties. At the country's request,

the strategy emphasizes the transfer of knowledge and ideas, rather thanfinance. In one such initiative, the Bank is helping Bhutan

improve its training of government officials by offering greater access to World Bank Institute courses and internshipsfor promising

Bhutanese civil servants. Close collaboration on analytical and advisory services will lead to shared learning valuable to both

Bhutan and the Bank. The emphasis on such nonlending services is illustrative of an increasing recognition-on the part of coun-

tries and the Bank alike-that knowledge is key to development and to the ffective use of development resources.

6o THE WORLD BANK ANNUAL REPORT 2000



encouraged to listen to citizens and ensure that lar focus on women) by pro-
the social and economic infrastructure within viding microcredit, capacitv- FIGURE 4.6

, SOUTH ASIA: IBRD AND IDA
their purview reaches the poorest. building support, and LENDING BY SECTOR,

In Bangladesh, local communities are helping community infrastructure. FISCAL 2000

NGOS to implement a new nutrition project. It is The fund has already Total$2.1 bilion

the first of a series of projects supporting a io- approved sio million to five Acnculturef

year National Nutrition Program, which aims to partner organizations, 29% 3%E

eradicate malnutrition countrywide by 2010. An reflecting a mix of rural and Deveopment 2%

earlier Integrated Nutrition Program saw the inci- urban NGOS in the country.

dence of severe malnutrition in children under 24 In Sri Lanka, an irrigation

months decline from 13 percent to z percent; the project to revive agricultural

new endeavor is designed to build on those gains. production is aimed at

Bank support is also helping to empower peo- rebuilding communities torn

ple in Pakistan and strife-ridden northeast Sri apart by ethnic conflict. For

Lanka. Approved at the end of fiscal i999, the Pak- this project, NGOS Wil train 9

istan Poverty Alleviation Fund Project aims to help villagers to play a decisive I
poor indiiduals and communities (with a particu- role in planning and imple- Pub ic ectvr veteSctor Human

menting development activi- M1nagment Deveopment Ot1e3b Dove

BOX 4.6 SUPPORTING INDIA'S ties; project management will Note: Sector classification is on a loan-component

REFORMING STATES be entrusted to regional and basis. See Table 1. 1, page 33.a. lnsludes transportation. telecommunications, avd

district levels in coordination water supply and sanitation.
b. Includes multisector, electric power and energy, oil

India's large deficits at the central and state levels have with other existing rehabili- and gas, and mining.

obstructed poverty reduction by putting macroeconomic stabil- tation programs. The Bank is I

ity at risk, divertingfinancingfrom the private sector, hinder- working with UNNHCR and the Red Cross in

ingfinancial sector reforms, and limiting state spending on these efforts.

health, education, and infrastructure. Reforms in several

states are beginning to address these imbalances, and in recent i Knowledge is

years, the Bank Group has re-oriented its strategy to focus -~power: Village

assistance mnainly on those states. Infiscal 7998, the Bank Bangladesh
supported innovative efforts in Andhra Pradesh to restructure learn about

public expenditures throughfiscal reforms, social spending arsenic con-

targets, and public enterprise divestiture. Public spending on / tamination, as

primnary education and health is already climbing. the Bank works
closely with

Infiscal 2000, Uttar Pradesh becamie the second state - partners to

to receive state-level Bank assistance; the Bank is providing support the
a multisectoral package that supports its economic reform national effort

program and helps the state put itsfinances on a sustainable toness and help

path. Operations supportingjfiscal, public sector, anid power people cope
sector refortn have provided urgently needed funds, especially with the coun-

try's massivefor the improvement of social servicesfor poor people. The -; environmental

package supports rforms relating to the civil serviee, taxa- . health crisis.

tion, and privatization; it also includes assistancefor pri-

mnary education and health systems development.

Andhra Pradesh and Uttar Pradesh together accountfor

over afourth of India's poor Similar support to other

reforming states is under preparation.
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TABLE 4.3 WORLD BANK LENDING TO BORROWERS IN SOUTH ASIA, BY SECTOR, FISCAL 1992-00
(millions of U.S. dollars)

CLASSIFIED ON A LOAN-BY-LOAN BASIS CLASSIFIED ON A LOAN
COMPONENT BASIS

Sector FY92-97 FY98 FY99 FYOO FYOO

Annual Average

Agriculture 405.1 876.1 390.6 60.0 61.0

Economic policy 138.4 0.0 350.0 45.0 45.0

Education 271.4 718.2 98.2 200.0 200.0

Electric power and other energy 507.4 295.0 210.0 280.0 280.0

Environment 94.9 0.0 138.6 0.0 7.8

Finance 220.0 250.0 119.0 65.1 65.1

Mining 12.5 532.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Multisector 16.7 0.0 200.0 I00.5 0.0

Oil and gas 50.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Population, health, and nutrition 357.8 626.4 325.0 344.6 344.6

Private sector development 73.8 0.0 32.0 0.0 0.0

Public sector management 79.8 0.0 0.0 251.3 251.3

Social protection 86.6 543.2 0.0 111.0 231.5

Telecommunications 15.0 0.0 0.0 62.0 62.0

Transportation. 269.8 23.5 561.3 582.1 556.3

Urban development 51.1 0.0 105.0 10.8 7.8

Water supply and sanitation 139.0 0.0 32.4 0.0 0.0

Total 2,789.1 3,864.4 2,562.1 2,112.4 2,112.4

Of which IBRD 1,056.7 1,318.0 750.0 934.3

IDA 1,732.5 2,546.4 1,812.1 1,178.1

Note: See Table I 1, page 33. Numbers may not add to totals because of roundng.

More than 100 ' . -
South Asia

Regional staff-
have participated ...

in the Village '4la

Immersion Pro-
gram that puts

them in the shoes
of clients, namely 4

the poor people of 
South Asia.
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EUROPE AND CENTRAL ASIA COUNTRIES

ELIGIBLE FOR

WORLD BANK
BORROWING*
Albania

Armenia

Azerbaijan

REGCION AL CONTEXT rapid recovery, helped by a sharp devaluation and Belarus
higher oil pri'ces. Hoee,with capital flight at Bosnia and Herzegovina

However, ~~~~~~~~~Bulgaria
en years after the breakup of the peak rates of about 1o percent of GDlP in 1999, sus- Croatia

Soviet System, xvhat is perhaps rained recovery will require the new government to Czecb Republic
Estonia

most striking about the Europe give high priority to strengthening the climate for GeorgiaTits;iversi~; A decade ago, all will likewise depend on the policies of the new Kyrgyc Republi

and Central Asia (ECA) region is private sector development. Recovery in Ukraine Hungary

countries in the region seemed to face similar administration. Sustaining momentum in policy Latvia

challenges of transition from a planned central- reform will also be key to continued growvth i n' Lirliuania
Macedonia,

ized system to a market economy. Today,Cnta CetaAsandheauss;wiebtrtrm foriuerYugoslav Republic of

Europe is far advanced in its transition and is of trade and an expanding Ruissian economy helped [Moldlova

making progress toward meeting the challenges of economic performance in i999, progress in reform Rulania

European Union membership. Countries in South was erratic due to elections in many countries. Russian Federation

East Europe remain troubled by post-conflict Slosak Republic
BANKAsSISTANCE ~~~~~~~~~~~Slovenia

uncertainties but face a potential turning point BANKiASISTANC

offered by the Stability Pact, which aims at their Adapting to rapidly changing circumstances at the Turkey'
integration into European structures (see Box country and subregional levels was a key feature of Tuirkuienistan

Ukraine

4.7). And for the Commonwealth of Independent Bank assistance in fiscal zooo. The Bank respond- Ulzbekistan

States (cis) countries, transition has been more ed quickly to an earthquake in Turkey (see Box 'This section also reports on

difficult, although some countries have made more 4.81), floods in Taji'kistan, and post-conflict recon- Kosovo,

progress than others. struction in the Balkans. The Kosovo crisis set off

Economic performnance in i999 varied across a major reorientation of Bank assistance. Several

the region. Aggregate growth in Central and South operations were approved in fiscal 2rooo to support

East Europe was slightl,v down-not, however, as a Albania in the rehabilitation of wvater supply,

result of deteriorating economi c policies. Rather, emergency road repair, and eduication. Grant

slower growth was due to a less favorable external financing also provided for key infrastructure,

environment, reflecting in part the Russian Federa- rehabilitation of agriculture and social services,

tnods 1998 financial crisis and the hardening of and budget support in Kosovo. These efforts were

terms in international capital markers as well as part of the Bank's wider involvement in the long-

efforts to cool the economies in the face of uinsus-

tainable macroeconomic trends and to confront the

costs of postponed reforms, The new govern-

ments in Croatia, Estonia, Latvia, Lithiuania,

Romania, and the Slovak Republic are

confronting their remaining reform

agendas, wvhileTurkey's new admin-

istration has embarked on aggres-

sive reforms. In cis countries,

aggregate growth in 1999

reached a new high of about 2,5

percent. The outcome largely

reflects the Russian Federation's

S E C TIO N I V E URO0P E A ND CE N TR AL A SI A 63



term development of South East Europe in the Table 4.4 shows the value and sectoral distri-

context of the Stability Pact. butions of total Bank lending to the Europe and

Bank support for reforms was guided by Central Asia Region in the fiscal 1992-00 period.

countries' pace of implementation. In Turkey, the Table 4.7A (see Annex) compares commitments,
Bank responded to a notable acceleration of disbursements, and net transfers to the region for

reforms with a large adjust- fiscal 1995-oo, and Table 4.8A (see Annex) shows
EUROPE AND CENTRAL ASIA ment operation. In the Russ- operations approved in fiscal zooo, by country.

FAST FACTS ian Federation and Ukraine, Figure 4.7 shows IBRD and IDA lending by sector.

> Totalpopulation: o.j billion on the other hand, where
> Population growth: 0. % political developments Preventing and alleviating poverty

> Lfe expectancy at birth: 69 years slowed the reform effort, the Poverty and inequality are today recognized as
> Infant mortality per i,ooo births: 22 Bank cut back its lending major issues for the ECA region; this was not the

> Femaleyouth illiteracy: 2% activities while maintaining case at the beginning of the transition process. An
> 1999 GATP per capita: $2,150 policy dialogue and provid- ongoing ECA Poverty Study as well as Voices of the

ing analytical support. Such Poor document the regior's heightened incidence of

IBRD $2,733F 1 Nw illion nonlending services will help poverty, inequity, and declining quality of life. In

iDA$309.1 million strengthen the basis for response, the Bank has sharpened the poverty
strong Bank response to focus of its assistance and increased the emphasis

Total FYOO Disbursements renewed reform efforts by on lending for public goods and basic social servic-
IBRD $3,188.1 million new administrations. es. Interim Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers are

IDA $469.8 million As the "transition" in preparation for all IDA countries in the region,

theme that has characterized and the one for Albania was submitted to the
Outstanding portfolio as of June 30, 2000

$20.2 billion the Bank's work in the ECA Board last June. In Armenia, a socal ivestment
region becomes a less useful fund is financing demand-driven community proj-

Note: Population and GNP data are for 1999, other organizing principle, four ects to improve basic social and economic infra-
indicators are for 1998, from the World Development
Indicators database. priorities are emerging: structure, short-term employment opportunities,

poverty prevention and community outreach, and local capacity building.

reduction; building of public and private institu- In the Russian Federation, an operation aimed at

tional capacity; effective decentralization and com- developing a sustainable coal industry disbursed

munity development; and improved environmental $200 million in fiscal 2000 to mitigate the impact

management. In the CDF pilot countries-the Kyr- on workers (and their families and communities)

gyz Republic and Romania-the process has also who were laid off following the dosing of ineffi-

broadened stakeholder participation in the discus- cient mines. Rural poor people will benefit from

sion of country priorities. the Tajikistan Primary Health Care Project, which

The World Bank seeks to improve primary health
worked closely - ' services and develop a more equi-

with the govern- l _:5 i | X | lil | . | ' 4 table approach to their funding. In
ment and key 

donors to help , ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-Cenitral Asia and the Caucasus,

Turkey recover Bank assistance has aimed at
from the devastat- ff 1 i r -increasing agricultural productivity

ing August 1999 ] ing August 1999 ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~to raise the incomes of the poorer
earthquake that

claimed the lives segments of the population.
of 17,000 people Examples include research and
and left 200,000 extension operations in Armenia,

homeless. i i in Armenia,
5f Z _g< > .< - _ . * -'" and land registration and on-farm

irrigation operations in the Kyrgyz

Republic (see Box 4.9).
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Promoting institutional development, governance, The Local Initiatives BOX 4.7 WORKING WITH

and anticorruption Project in Bosnia and THE EC TO PROMOTE
Herzegovina offers a good STABLE DEVELOPMENT IN

A key challenge for countries in transition is example of local-level insti- SOUTH EAST EUROPE

building state institutions capable of governing a tution building. The project InJune 1999, soon after the Kosovo crisis, the

modern market economy. The Bank continues to gives low-income microen- international commuinity and Soutb East

assist in developing new and better strategies for trepreneurs access to credit European countries sitgned a Stability Pact, to

identifying and addressing problems of gover- by helping selected NGOS promote regional integration and econiomuic

nance, and by integrating these strategies into its serve as microfinance insti- development. The Plactgave the European

nonlending and lending assistance. tutions through provision Comnmsuission (E?) and the WVorld Bank the

Five countries-Bosnia and Herzegovina, of appropriate knowledge, mandate to coordiniate a comprehenisive regional

Poland, Romania, the Russian Federation, and the technology, and perform- development approach and econiounic assistance

Slovak Republic-requested and received assis- ance incentives. More than to the region.

tance in fiscal zooo for diagnosing problems of 35,000 small loans have been In an early effort to carry out the Pact's

corruption and developing strategies for reform. A disbursed, nearly half to mandatez the Bank collaborated closely with

new type of governance diagnostic was piloted in women and a fifth to partners to prepare a regional strategy paper.

Armenia, which examines the institutional origins returning refugees or dis- The Road to Stability and Prosperi-

of weak public sector performance. Governance placed persons. Seven out ty in Southl East Europe proposesfour

and anticorruption workshops were conducted in a of eight institutions have areas of action: to move rapidly toward

number of countries, including Bosnia and Herze- become operationally self- trade integration with the i.t? and create a

govina, the Kyrgyz Republic, Poland, Romania, the sufficient and developed the stable, transparent, and nondiscriminatorv

Slovak Republic, and Turkey. Two innovative governance, human environment for private sector development;

adjustment loans, to Albania and Latvia, support- resource, and financial tofoster social inclusion and efforts to pro-

ed reforms aimed at strengthening governance and capacity to be sustainable mote peace; to imiprove institutional capacity

reducing corruption. over the long term. andgovernance, with a focus on corruption;

In fiscal 2ooo, nonlending services helped and to invest in itfrastructure, with atten-

countries analyze the effect of powerful private Protecting the environment tioTi to enviroiitnenital concernis.

interests in preventing policies aimed at creating a In fiscal 2000, the Bank sup- As part of their dotior coordination role, the

level playing field. Such interests harm the busi- ported the region's environ- Bank and the P cco-chaired afinding confer-

ness environment by obstructing competition, mental needs by helping entce in Mlarch 2ooo, Donors pledged $z 4 hil-

entry, and investment, and by increasing inequality countries to shape country lion eqtuivalent for a series of "quick-start"

and poverty. A new report, Anticorruption in Transi- and regional environmental regional activities. The cotiference marks a cru-

tion, offers remedies for this and other forms of strategies; build stronger cial step in translating the Stability Pacts prini-

corruption and will be disseminated at the Joint environmental institutions; ciples into tangible progress, and it signals strong

Bank-Fund Annual Meetings in September zooo. and finance priority invest- prospectsfor contintled productive partnership.

ments to improve environ-
Promoting decentralization and community development mental management. The participants of the Stability Pact are: all EU Mem-

In the region's formerly centrally planned sys- Preparation of National er States, Albania, Bosnia and Hezegona, Bulgaria,In of National ~ICroatia, Hun gary Romania, Bass/an Federation,

tems, government authority and capacity at the Environmental Action Plans Slovenia. FYR Macedonia, Turkey, the United States,

provincial and municipal levels were poorly was launched, with Bank the European Commission, Chairman in Office of the
deeoedo onxsen.Titastinhsupr , iOrganization for Secunty and Cooperation in Europe.

developed or nonexistent, The transition has support, in Bosnia and and the Council of Europe.

given rise to an important need for building the Herzegovina, Croatia, and

institutional capacity of these subnational Turkmenistan, virtually completing the roster of

authorities. A special challenge for EU accession national environment strategies in ECA countries.

countries will be to ensure that regional and In Poland and other Eu accession countries, the

local authorities are able to put substantial EU Bank helped environmental authorities assess the

grant funds to good use. cost of complying with EU environmental legisla-
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tion. Assistance to Tajik-
FIGURE 4.7 istan is focused on capac- BOX 4.8 RESPONDING TO TURKEY'S

EUROPE AND CENTRAL ASIA: EARTHQUAKE: SPEED,
IBRD AND IDA LENDING BY ity building for planning PARTNERSHIP, PREVENTION

SECTOR, FISCAL 2000 and implementing sus-
Total $3.0 billion tainable mitigation and In August 1999, theMAarmara Region of 11estern Turkey

Urban Agocotore & preparedness activities for was hit with a devastating earthquake that caused over
Development Env-onment

17% 9% Lake Sarez. l7,ooo deaths and physical destruction estimated at some-

12%rastructurea I Econor Ic Pc21 % Among lending activ- where between i.5 percent and 3.3 percent of GNP.

| ities, the Bulgaria Privatiza- The World Bank responded immediately, beginning with a

tion Support Adjustment cotnprehensive assessment of the disasters irnpact and needs

Operation is noteworthy for recovery. Five weeks later, the Board approved realloca-

for its innovative approach tions of up to $267 millionfrom eight ongoing loans, making

to industrial pollution. To funds availablefor urgenit needs in health, education, infra-

attract private investment structure reconstrtction, and other services. Two new loans

by removing environment- were approved in November 1999, bringing the Bank's total

Sector PrIvate Secro an related investor risks, a financial supportfor recovety to over si billion. The govern-
Mgmt Deveopmnt Otherb Develop-ent b a

2%t 10% 13% 16% legal framework is bemg ment and the Bank worked with kg donors in preparing the

Note: Sector c(ass,ication is on a loan-component established along with projects, which support disaster recovery and disaster pre-
basic. See Table 1. 1, page 33.
a. Includes transportation, telecommumncations, and mechanisms for dealing paredness. Two new institutions are being established: the
cater supply and sanitation.
b. Includeo mulioector, electric pon er and energy. oi with past environmental -Emergency Management Agency of Turke, to help the nation
and gas, and mining. liabilities in the privatiza- respond quickly to human and organizational needs after a

tion of polluting indus- natural disaster, and the Turkish Catastrophic Insurance

tries. The approach indudes provisions to dean up Pool, a new compulsory insurance programfor homeowners

past pollution and to ensure future compliance with that will both provide an incentivefor sound construction

environmental standards. The Poland Rural Environ- practices and transfer catastrophic risk offshore through rein-

mental Protection Project demonstrates another surance markets (see Box .7). The IFc has also provided a

effective mechanism for channeling investment for credit line to help small- and rnedium-sized firms (sAtEs) in

environmental protection, this one in rural areas. The Turkey s earthquake regions.

project will help reduce nitrate run-off from approx-

imately o,ooo farms, while helping Poland meet EU

accession requirements.

Supported by the
Post-Conflict Fund

in cooperation
with UNHCR, the

Shkolla E Paqe-
School of Peace-

is the first of its
kind in Kukes,

Albania, combin-
ing education,
nutrition, and

physical educa-
tion activities for

some 800 Kosovar
refugee children.
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TABLE 4.4 WORLD BANK LENDING TO BORROWERS IN EUROPE AND CENTRAL ASIA,
BY SECTOR, FISCAL 1992-00

(millions of U.S. dollars)

CLASS1FIE'D ON A LOAN-BY-LOAN BASIS CLASSIFIED ON A LOAN
COMPONENT BASIS

Sector FY92-97 FY98 FY99 FYOO FYOO

Annual Average

Agriculture 393.1 124.0 242.9 160.6 130.6

Economic policY 1,018.2 1,115.0 1,790.2 764.6 635.0

Education 40.4 592.4 41.1 22.6 22.6

Electric power and other energy 301.0 545.0 46.0 196.5 177.4

Environment 40.5 93.5 27.4 62.4 151.8

Finance 232.5 82.0 362.0 359.0 309.0

Mining 140.1 800.0 300.0 44.5 10.0

Multisector 21.0 0.0 50.0 252.5 222.5

Oil and gas 278.9 10.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Population, health, and nutrition 172.9 27.0 94.5 168.4 168.4

Private sector development 232.8 138.3 816.6 0.0 0.0

Public Sector management 96.4 459.4 203.6 87.9 47.5

Social protection 237.1 383.1 229.1 35.0 295.0

Telecommunications 30.5 30.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Transportation 399.5 356.0 638.0 207.5 207.5

Urban development 194.1 314.4 59.1 507.0 507.0

Water supply and sanitation 86.8 154.4 385.5 173.6 157.8

Total 3,915.7 5,224.5 5,286.0 3,042.1 3,042.I

Of which IBRD 3,606.7 4,462.3 4,350.3 2,733.1

IDA 309.0 762.0 935.7 309.1

Note: See Table 1 , page 33. Numbers may not add to totals because of rounding.

BOX 4.9 PROMOTING LAND MARKET INSTITUTIONS AND
SUSTAINABLE IRRIGATION IN THE KYRGYZ REPUBLIC

In the Kyrgyz Republic, agriculture accountsfor nearly half of GDP and employment particularly il rural areas where two-

thirds of the population reside and where poverty is concentrated, Agricultural growth is a high priority in the national economic

strategy. To pronmote eficient use of land resources, ii,i has been working with the government to build infrastructure and intstitu-

tional capacity. Two new credits were approved iifiscal 2ooo:

2> The Land and Real Estate Registration Project takes-forward the land privatization rJorlms that have boosted agricultural

production since l996 by putting in place arrangements to protect property rights and facilitate market activity in land. The project

addresses rural needs but will also foster development of urban real estate markets.

> The On-Farm Irrigation Project helps build sustainable irrigation systems by establishing UIhater User Associations $Yv'usA

and rehabilitating distribktion systems serving private farmers. To promote sustainability, the project supports adequate rnainte-

I tance, institultiotial strengthening of Wu4is, and a sound legal framework.

JDA's role. iDA s experience in land reforini-related issues in cis and other countriesgves it a unique advantage in providing

such support to the Kyrgy: Republic. Complernentary ID.I supportfor rural development, privatization, banking reform, andfiscal

reform shouldffurther advance prospectsfor agricultural growth.
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COUNTRIES LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN
ELIGIBLE FOR
WORLD BANK

BORROWING
Antigua and Barbuda

Argentina

Belize

Brazil REGIONAL CONTEXT stopped speculative capital outflows and enabled
Chile rapid economic recovery. Mexico's tight fiscal pol-

Colombia he economic slowdown in Latin icy and a flexible foreign exchange regime (helped
Costa Rica America and the Caribbean (LAC) by a booming u.s. economy) reassured external

Dominican Republic that began in i998 continued creditors and spurred growth of about 3.5 percent.
Ecuador throughout most of 1999, Peru's growth also approached 4 percent, as

El Salvador although by zooo recovery was exchange rate movements helped the economy

Guatemala underway in most LAc countries. Regional growth adjust to shocks and recover from El Nifno prob-

Guyana was flat in 1999, down from about 2 percent in lems. Other large countries fared poorly, however.
Haiti

Honduras 1998. The contributing factors were external Argentina was affected by declining commodity
Jamaica shocks to terms of trade and reduced access to prices, by trade shocks triggered by Brazil's cur-
Mexico

Nicaragua capital markets; natural disasters-an earthquake rency crisis, and by reduced access to (more cost-
Panama in Colombia and devastating floods in the Repub- ly) private financing. In Colombia, Ecuador, and

Paraguay lica Bolivariana de Venezuela-compounded the Republica Bolivariana de Venezuela, internal
Peru

St. Kitts and Nevis problems for those countries. The regional current political difficulties and financial system weak-
St. Lucia account deficit declined, due mainly to reduced nesses intensified the slump, prompting authori-

SS. Vincent and the Grenadines imports. While fiscal balances deteriorated, they ties to raise interest rates to avoid currency runs in

Trinidad and Tobago are expected to improve. Also promising was for- the face of external shocks.
Uruguay eign direct investment (FDI), which surged to a Regional growth is expected to average 3-4

Venezuela,
Republica Bolivariana de record s89 billion in 1999 and bodes well for the percent in zooo, likely led by Chile, Mexico, and

future, especially in Brazil and Mexico. Overall, Peru. Argentina could achieve similar growth with

prospects have brightened, due to the receding improved access to international capital markets

impact of shocks to terms of trade and renewed on more favorable terms. Even with growth, how-

access to international capital markets. ever, deep inequalities of wealth persist in most

The magnitude of slowdown and the pace of LAC countries, with 35 percent of the region's peo-

recovery have varied among countries. Three small ple, or about 177 million, living in poverty. This

nations, Costa Rica, the Dominican Republic, and high level of poverty is partly due to the macro-

Trinidad and Tobago, led in economic growth. economic shocks, which resulted in increased

Certain large nations also performed well. Brazil's unemployment and cuts in social programs aimed

swift policy response to the currency crisis at poor people.

BANK ASSISTANCE

In fiscal 2000, the Bank responded to the

region's external financial shocks and natu-

ral disasters by helping people cope
with worsened poverty as well as the

sudden loss of jobs and, in some

cases, homes. Assistance to help

countries manage environmental
resources in sustainable ways con-
tinued, along with other efforts

(developed in consultation with
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local communities) to improve the quality of life nominal terms, under the enhanced Heavily

in cities and rural areas. With emerging market Indebted Poor Countries (HIPC) Initiative.

economies recovering faster than expected from Guyana, Honduras, and Nicaragua are expected to

the 1997-98 crisis, the region has had less need for qualify for debt relief under the enhanced HIPC

the large capital transfers associated with last framework within calendar year 2000.

year's adjustment lending. At the same time, the Table 4.5 shows the

Bank has continued efforts to improve countries' value and sectoral distribu- LATIN AMERICA

access to private capital. In a first-time use of the tions of total Bank lending AND THE CARIBBEAN

new instrument, the Bank issued a $250 million to the Latin America and

policy-based IBRD guarantee in support of a sover- Caribbean region in the fiscal > Total population: 5 billion

eign bond issue by Argentina that raised si.5 bil- 1992-00 period. Table 4.9A > Population growth: 1.6%

lion on the u.s. dollar bond market in October (see Annex) compares com- Life expectancy at birth: 70 years

1999 (see page 98). mitments, disbursements, 2 Infant mortality per 1,000 births: 3

Bank assistance to the LAc region in 2000 and net transfers to the > Femaleyouth illiteracy: 6%

focused on three broad areas. A first priority was Region for fiscal 1995-00, > 1999 GAI'I per capita: $3,840

the reform of financial and governance systems, and Table 4.IoA (see Annex)

building on the macroeconomic stability achieved shows operations approved IBot $3,898.1 miltion

in most countries, to attract and sustain investor in fiscal 2000, by country. IOA $165.3 million

confidence. Second, and also critical, were invest- Figure 4.8 shows IBRD and

ments in health and education to improve the IDA lending by sector. Total FY00 Disbursements

quality of life and to provide future generations IBRD $5,756.9 million

with the skills needed to compete in the global Supporting institutional reform IDA $316.3 million

economy. The third focus of Bank support was In fiscal 2ooo, Bank activi- Outstanding portfolio as of June 30, 2000

the response to economic and natural crises. Non- ties in LAC focused heavily $27.3 billion

lending services complemented the Bank's finan- on institutional reform,

cial assistance. A study exploring the links including of public admin- Note: Population and GNP data are for 1999, other
indicators are for 1998, from the World Development

between poverty and crime, for example, aimed to istration, taxation, social Indicators database.

help policymakers address this crucial challenge security, and judicial and

for the region (see Box 4.10). financial systems. Major loans were approved to

Two LAC countries, Bolivia and the Domini- help countries rebuild and strengthen fragile

can Republic, chose to be among the first to pilot financial systems affected or threatened by eco-

the Comprehensive Development Framework nomic, financial, and currency crises. In Colom-

(CDF) approach that emphasizes partnership with bia, Ecuador, Mexico, Peru, and Uruguay the

civil society and a balance in policymaking across Bank approved loans amounting to almost $1.4 bil-

macroeconomic, financial, social, structural, and lion in support of financial sector reforms. These

environmental elements of development (see Box reforms address the need for stronger bank super-

4.11). Bolivia now has in place a five-year National vision, deposit insurance requirements, and regu-

Action Plan, developed through a National Dia- lations promoting greater transparency and

logue that brought together representatives of improved risk assessments, which will all help to

government, civil society, and the private sector, increase confidence in banking systems. Other

Debt relief continues to be an important part reforms are helping clean up countries' banking

of Bank support for poverty reduction in the industries and making them more competitive.

region. Bolivia's National Dialogue met in May Support for institutional reform also

2000 to develop a Poverty Reduction Strategy that addressed needs in governance, which is especial-

would provide the framework within which ly relevant as LAC countries continue their shift

Bolivia would qualify for delivery of its complete from the 198os' centralized systems of authori-

debt relief package amounting to $2.i billion in tarian rule to decentralized forms of government
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A $225-million -
emergency World r .__.

Bank loan to- UAtColo1m°bina i°s !^^lq r uw
helping rebuild W

homes and public
facilities follow-

ing the severe
earthquake of
January 1999,

benefiting more

than 560,000V
people in the

country's coffee-
growing regi'on.

that give states and municipalities greater re- manage debt, ensure greater transparency on fed-

spnsbility for public service delivery. Research eral transfers to lower levels, and improve inter-

on decentralization consti- governmental coordination. In Brazil, a $505

FIGURE 4.8 tuted one form of such million special sector adjustment loan is helping
LATIN AMERICA AND THE
CARIBBEAN: IBRD AND IDA support in fiscal 2000. In state and federal governments carry out adminis-

LENDING BY SECTOR, Beyond the Center-Decentral- trative reform, control personnel costs, and

FISCAL 2000 izing the State, the Bank increase efficiency. The Bank is also helping--

Total $4. 1 bilflon underscores the need for decentralized environmental management in

Ag.-I.,e &transers f accuntablitv Brazil through support for the country's Second

U~~~~_f E --.-tF

P 4b%ih give E tates an local governments rbe Nanal Environmental Program and through a
Management fec Poblcy by transferss 7ear l a overn nt

2 1% cI Sic accompaniedzatitransti- of loanmthat helps tthe C 'ari state zil,ern
| F IGURE 4.8 } authority and of human upgrade water conservation and implement tea-

-|and financial resources. The sonable prices for water use.

report discusses challenges Local governance is being supported by the

facing local and national WVorld Bank Institute (WI). e sBi has conducted

governments regarding the distance-learning courses on municipal finance by

.1 rOta/ s | undivision of powers, the video-conference for over 3,000 local administra-

sharing of fiscal responsi- tots across the region, with seminars and confer-

Finnc & Puitar HUm an bility, and the delivery of ences on subnational capital markets, municipal
Secto Decelpmno Othei

5
Dncalpmnt

33i 6cc 24% quality services, management, and planning and information svs-

Note: Sector claossfcation 1i 008 loan-component The Bank also provid- tems. With numerous partners, WBI is also help-
basjo. See Table 1. 1, page 33 iie cin oiprv i

Includes transportation, telecomun,catrons, end ed financial support for ing developnation plans improve r
water supply and sanitation, f i n quabl areas, wh are n hm t
b Includes multisector, electric power and energy, o decentralization fiscal | Urban Institute are W has ted
and gas. and mining. 2000. A s6o6 million percent of the region's people, are receiving such

adjustment loan to Mexico support under the Clean Air Initiative for Latin

will help subnational governments borrow and American Cities, now in its second year.
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Investing in people porting efforts such as the Ecuador Indigenous
and Afro-Ecuadorean People's Development Pro-

Investments in health, education, water, and sani- ject, which mobilizes community experience,

tation services are critical dimensions of the knowledge, and cooperation to develop subpro-

Bank's work in LAC. These include social invest- jects in agriculture, handicrafts, and natural

ment funds and other mechanisms to finance resources management. Similar projects are under-

more than 5,000 local community initiatives a year, way in Peru and Colombia.

all of which constitute about one-fifth of the
Bank's portfolio in the region. Community-driven Responding to crisis

development projects funded this way not only Response to financial and natural crises, with an

target poor people but also provide rapid respons- emphasis on poverty reduction, has been a crucial
es to emergencies, while building leadership and aspect of recent Bank assistance to the region. In

problem-solving capacity at the local level. Brazil, in late 1998, the Bank responded to exter-

Support for education in fiscal 2000 included nal shocks by committing up to $4.5 billion

a credit to Nicaragua to expand coverage for through Jtne 30, Z001 to support the country's

school reconstruction and to improve the quality recovery. In addition to the administrative reform

of preschool and primary education. In addition, loan mentioned above, the Bank also approved a

the Bank is continuing its assistance to Central second social securitv adjustment loan in fiscal

American countries devastated by Hurricane zooo, to help make sustainable Brazil's public pen-

Mitch in November i998. Other efforts are help- sion system for private sector workers.
ing bring worldwide best practices to decision- In Colombia, the challenges were twofold. To

makers in government, the private sector, and civil ease the social impact of recession and help bol-
society. Bolivia and the Dominican Republic are ster the economy, in fiscal zooo, the Bank

among io pilot countries participating in the

Global Distance Learning Network, a multidonor BOX 4.10 NONLENDING SERVICES:
fiscal zo2o initiative led by the Bank and the gov- EXPLORING THE LINKS BETWEEN

I , POVERTY AND VIOLENT CRIME
ernment of Spain, which uses interactive video-
conferencing, the Internet, and electronic Latin America's homicide rates are among the world's highest,

classrooms to deliver high quality training to spe- a reality borne out by the Bank's recent study, Voices of

cialized groups. the Poor, whichfound personial security the most frequently

Bank support for the region's health was also cited challenge_facing Latin America's poor people. Infiscal

substantial in fiscal 2000. A 552 million loan to 2000, the Bank launched an ambitious research etfort to

Argentina aims to strengthen public health sur- explore the causes of crimne and violence itn the region. The

veillance, while a s2o million loan to Ecuador findings showed that violent crimne was linked to income

helped support basic health and nutrition pro- inequality, low CDP growth, low and ineffective police pres-

grams during that country's economic crisis. ence, and drug-related, illicit activities,

Operations focusing on poor people included an Case studies itn Brazil, Colomizbia, El Salvador Mexico,

s8o million loan to expand health service coverage and Peri confirm that econiomnic conditionts are signyloant

to Peru's rural poor, especially mothers and young determinanits of who becomiies a crinie victim in the regionr

children, and a similar-sized loan will help extend High-iiiconie employed, educated mcii are niore likely to

water and sewerage services to poor commtinities becomQ1e the victims of crini,for example; butpolice presence,

in Colombia. youthgangs, illicit drug trade, and availability of weapons

There is growing awareness in the region that are also important riskfactors. Lack of reliable data impedes

the social exclusion of indigenous people and effective allocation of public resouroes to reduce crimne in most

African Latin Americans undermines their devel- LAC coun1tries, The studies' data and conclusionis will help

opment prospects and prevents countries from address this need and assist policymakers in crimne reduction.

capitalizing on their potential. The Bank is sup-
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BOX 4.11 CONSENSUS BUILDING IN THE DOMINICAN REPUBLIC

National consensus helped build continuity into the political parties, the government, private sector, and civil

Dominican Republic's emerging development strategy as a society. The Document includes provisionsfor efforts in

new government took office in 2000, The consensus grew poverty reduction, modernization of the state, relations with

out of consultations managed by the Pontfficia Universidad Haiti, environmental policy, and r,form of agriculture.

Cat6lica Madre y Maestra andfinanced by the World Bank This process produced valuable guidance to the Bankfor

as a step toward a national development strategy using the preparation of its assistance strategyfor the Dominican

CDF approach. Launched in late 1998, the consultation Republic. A participatory approach was key to development

process concluded itsfirst round in December 1999 with a of the strategy, which envisagesfocused supportfor social

Document of Accord, which identffies the conclusions offive protection, health and education, the environment, and

discussion "roundtables," attended by leaders of major power services.

The Bank sup- t. announced its intention to contribute $1.4 billion
ports a long-term of a s6.9 billion multilateral three-year program

integrated
approach to (including a sioo-million Community Works and

development in 4 , Employment Project) to finance temporary pub-
the Dominican . - lic works jobs for i17,000 low-income people.
Republic, sup-
;.eporting nees .- . When an earthquake in January 0999 killed over
porting needs --
ranging from i,ooo people and left 150,000 homeless, the Bank

health and educa- i responded quickly, in part through a $225 mil-
tion to reforms in . 1 > lion loan financing reconstruction and repair of

telecommunica- . 0.
tions, water and - damaged homes and public infrastructure.tions, water and S r. 

sanitation servic- Bank assistance in fiscal 2000 also extended
es, power servic- to precautionary disaster mitigation. With IDA

es, andtal support, Honduras will strengthen its capacity

institutions. i to prepare for and respond to natural disasters,
in order to prevent and reduce loss of life andj property in the future.
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TABLE 4.5 WORLD BANK LENDING TO BORROWERS IN LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN,
BY SECTOR, FISCAL I992-00

(millions of U.S. dollars)

CLASSIFIED ON A LOAN-By-LOAN BASIS CLASSIFIED ON A LOAN
COMPONENT BASIS

Sector FY92-97 FY98 FY99 FYOO FYoo

Annual Average

Agriculture 531.0 342.0 520.4 224.2 211.20

Economic PolicY 378.4 41.0 3,091.3 20.9 220.90

Education 588.5 1,199.9 398.6 77.5 95.50

Electric power and other energy 179.1 0.0 30.0 4.8 2.80

Environment 25 1,7 323.0 54.3 52.6 73.80

Finance 771.9 91.S 826.9 1,311.5 1,307.50

Mining 50.8 39.5 0.0 0.0 0.00

Mtdtisector 38.2 5.0 391.4 225.0 185.00

Oil and gas 18.7 130.0 0.0 43.4 43.00

Population, health, and nutrition 334.1 824.0 309.4 157.6 175.60

Private sector development 197.1 248.4 76.2 4.8 4.80

Public sector management 220.5 728.3 81.0 1,114.2 869.30

Social protection 250.4 784.0 1,279.9 640.6 693.60

Telecommunicahtons 0.0 6.0 0.0 28.2 28.20

Transportation 898.0 970.1 544.5 0.0 0.00

Urban development 258.7 117.0 102.8 10.8 10.80

Water supply and sanitation 306.0 190.0 30.0 147.3 141.50

Total 5,272.9 6,039.7 7,736.7 4,063.4 4,063.50

Of which IBRD 4,957.1 5,679.5 7,133.3 3,898.1

IDA 315.8 360.2 603.6 165.3

Note: See Table 1. 1, page 33. Numbers may not add to totals because of munding.
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I MIDDLE EAST AND NORTH AFRICA
COUNTRIES

ELIGIBLE FOR
WORLD BANK
BORROWING*

Algeria
Djibouti

Egypt, Arab Republic of
Iran, Islamic Republic of REGIONAL CONTEXT Despite these improvements, important

Jordaq REGIONALCONTEXTchallenges remain. Faster GDP growth is requiredJordan
Lebanon uring the 199oS, tighter demand to reduce unemployment and provide jobs for
Morocco management, trade liberaliza- over one million voung people entering the

Slrian Arab Republic m y e
Tunisia 3 tion, and improved regulatory region's labor markets annually. The public sector

Yemen, Republic of reform measures helped remains large, even in countries such as Jordan,
This secton also reports on economic

West lBar? and Gaza ,- ' Improve economic performance Morocco, and Tunisia that have undertaken stg-
in most economies of the Middle East and North nificant reforms to reduce the scope and improve

Africa (MNA) region. Average annual GNP growth the efficiency of public administration. Integra-

during the 199os was slightly more than 3 percent, tion with the global economy lags well behind

compared with 2.1 percent growth in the 198os. other developing economies in East Asia and

In the second half of I999, the region's fiscal Latin America. Furthermore, the fragility of the

and current account balances improved, owing natural environment threatens to constrain eco-

mainly to higher oil prices. Regional GDP growth nomic growth, and absolute poverty is on the

was 2.2 percent for the year, with considerable dif- rise in some countries, as is the number of eco-

ferences across countries. For major oil exporters, nomically vulnerable groups.

the swift reversal in terms of trade was equivalent

to an increase of over 5 percent of GDP, but fiscal BANK ASSISTANCE

prudence and lower oil export volume held The Bank's assistance strategy for MNA countries

growth to 1.5 percent. More populated oil recognizes that sustainable growth depends on

exporters (Algeria, the Islamic Republic of Iran) improved incentives to individuals for economical-

fared slightly better with 2.7 percent growth, ly productive behavior: increasingly, interventions

although drought in Iran hurt agricultural focus on removing constraints to productive

incomes and raised inflationary pressures. The behavior at the level of both household and firm.

more diversified economies (Jordan, Morocco, the Bank assistance is focused on three areas. A first

Syrian Republic) also suffered from drought but priority is rapid, broad-based, and sustainable eco-

managed growth of nearly 3 percent. Growth was nomic growth to reduce unemployment, while

significantly higher in the Arab Republic of Egypt mitigating rural-urban disparities and improving

and Tunisia (5-6 percent) following the recovery natural resources management. Related initiatives

of traditional markets and a rise in tourism. aim to deepen integration with the global econo-

my and develop tourism, while preserving cultural

heritage. A second area of support is public sector

reform, to help improve budget management,

efficiency of public service provision, trans-

parency of financial market operations,

and the climate for private sector

investment, particularly in infra-

structure. Reducing the social

costs of transition is a third focus

of assistance: support for social

protection strategies and commu-

nity-based development aims to
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benefit those who are poor and economically vul- region. In Lebanon, for example, an education

nerable. Learning and development partnerships project is helping reorganize the education min-

remain crucial for integrating wider segments of istry, btiild accurate and timely data, and develop

society into the development process. and disseminate a national education strategy. Tar-

Table 4.6 shows the value and sectoral distri- geted outcomes include higher

butions of total Bank lending to the Middle East enrollments in primary and

and North Africa region in the fiscal 1992-00 secondary education, a nar- MIDDLE EAST
AND NORTH AFRICAperiod. Table 4.IIA (see Annex) compares commit- rower gap between public FAST FACTS

ments, disbursements, and net transfers to the and private school outcomes,

region for fiscal 1995-on, andTable 4.12A (see and enhanced access to pub- > Totalpopulation: 03 billion

Annex) shows operations approved in fiscal 2000, lic education for poor, > Populationgrowth: .9%
by country. Figure 4.9 shows iBR1 and IDA lending underserved communities. > Life expectancy at birth: 68 years

by sector. Strengthening urban > Infant mortality per 1,000 births: 45

services will also help > Fentaleyoutt illiteracy: 25%
Promoting rapid, broad-based, and sustainable growth growth. More than half the I 999 CNE Per Capit: s2,o6o

Today, the predominantly middle-income MNA region's population is urban,
. .. ., . . ~~~~~~~~~~~~~Total FY00 New commitments

economies are characterized bv unemplovment with rising pressures on

rates exceeding 15 percent. The unemployed are urban schools, hospitals, IDA $159.8 million
primarily young, educated, and urban. Addressing public utilities, commtiica-

joblessness will require governments to intensify tions, and transport services. Total FY00 Disbursements

economic reform, accelerate human capital accu- The Bank is helping IBRD $512.2 million
mulation, and mitigate persistent rural-urban dis- upgrade urban infrastruc- IDA $231.5 million

parities in access to jobs, and goods and services. ture through support for
Outstanding portfolio as of June 30, 2000

Broad-based and sustainable growth is an sewerage (Algeria, the $7.4 billion

important theme in overall country strategies, includ- Islamic Republic of Iran,
ing the CAS for Tunisia; the CDFS for Morocco and Lebanon, WNest Bank and Note: Population and GNP data are for 1999, other

indicators are for 1998, from the World Development

the West Bank and Gaza; and the Comprehensive Gaza, and the Republic of Indicators database.

Development Review/Interim Poverty Reduction Yemen), urban transport l
Strategy Paper (being prepared) for the Republic of (Lebanon and Tunisia), and municipal infrastruc-

Yemen. The Tunisia CAS, for example, incorporates ture (Lebanon, Morocco, -West Bank and Gaza,
support for economic reforms to enhance competi- and the Republic of Yemen). The Bank's regional

tiveness, create employment opportunities, and urban water and sanitation strategy aims to
strengthen local institutions while continuing Bank improve public utility performance, increase pri-

support for human resource development, natural vate sector participation, and meet the needs of

resource management, and rural management. the poorest segments of urban populations.
A key driver of growth, potentially, is human Of paramount importance to the MNA

capital, one of the region's greatest assets. The region's sustainable development is preservation of
Bank has long supported education reforms, focus- its natural resource base. Agriculture and the rural

ing particularly on the need to improve the quality economy also continue to be a significant source

of educational services. In one example of the of jobs and income. Water and agriculture proj-
Bank's nonlending assistance, an ongoing region- ects are underway in Egypt, Jordan, Morocco,

wide labor market study highlights the need to Tunisia, and the Republic of Yemen, with growing

restructure incentives within education systems in emphasis on water management. In Tunisia, for

favor of private sector employment, while improv- example, a water sector investment loan supports

ing cognitive and quantitative skills development. policy and institutional reforms to better manage

The study aims to improve the effectiveness of water demand and price the resource. This loan is

financial assistance for education projects in the also supporting the creation of a socioeconomic
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The Fes Medina A
Rehabilitation Pro- 
ject in Morocco is
helping improve . . .
the quality of life

in this center of
culturethrough

capacity building
and enhancement
of tourism-related

income and
employment.

A

unit for water management in the agriculture min- through increased efficiency, innovation, and fiexi-

istry and the preparation of a communications bility in respondling to changes in market demand.

strategy for water conservation. In Egypt, the Bank is helping improve export

A prerequisite for broad-based growth is a competitiveness as well as the general business

competitive private sector able to attract invest- environmnent.

ment and create jobs. To encourage foreign direct The Bank's regional cultural heritage strategy

investment and deepen capital markets, the Bank highlights the rich potential for MNA culture to

is supporting privatization in several mNA coun- reinforce development goals by promoting

tries (see Box 4.12). Other support aims to deepen tourism and traditional craft industries and

integration with the global economy. And several upgrading urban infrastructure while preserving

countries are beginning to address obstadles to heritage sites of worldwide and regional signifi-

exports created by nonrariff barriers, including cance. Such efforts were ongoing in fiscal 2000o in

administrative burdens on exporters. A Private Jordan, Morocco, and West Bank and Gaza; new

Sector Assessment update in Tunisia outlines projects are being developed in Lebanon, Tunisia,

mnethods to make Tunisian firms more competitive and the Republic of Yemnen.
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Supporting public sector reform lic of Yemen, supports the network of jurisdic-
tions, the training of magistrates, and a general

Although fiscal deficits have generally been framework for performance assessment of the

reduced, most countries still need to streamline judiciary. Nonlending services in this area

and modernize fiscal management. Assistance include a regionwide study outlining the links

to Algeria, for a budget modernization program between institutional budg-

using new information systems to track expen- et procedures and the size, FIGURE 4.9
MIDDLE EAST AND NORTH

ditures, is under preparation. Efforts in the allocation, and use of fiscal AFRICA: IBRD AND IDA

Republic of Yemen are wide-ranging, covering resources. LENDING BY SECTOR,

not only civil service reform and upgrading of FISCAL 2000

technical skills but also improvement and com- Strengthening social protection Total $0.9 billion

puterization of personnel and financial man- Broad-based and sustain- Public Sector Urban
Mana.gemet Develpmet

agement systems. The Bank is also providing, able development must nangemn 
. . . .Finance nfractone

0
Agricoutre &

under the Technical Cooperation Program, also ensure the participa- &P,ivate 10% Environment

reimbursable advisory services to member coun- tion of key economic Manogemenr

tries of the Gulf Cooperation Council actors in society. While Other -b

(Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, measured poverty rates

and United Arab Emirates). Issues include effi- in MNA countries are

ciency of public sector budgetary management lower than in other parts

and planning, and cost recovery (through user of the developing world,

fees) and quality of health and education serv- the numbers of poor ,

ices. Related activities include workshops, train- people are on the rise in U

ing and preparation of policy notes on small- some countries and many Hmon Development Ecp omyc
43% 0%

and medium-sized enterprise (SME) activity, more live only marginally

export financing, industrial restructuring, and above the poverty line. Note; Sectorclassification ison a /oan-corsponent
ban/a. See Table 1, 1. page 33.

infrastructure upgrading in railways, ports, and The Bank is actively sup- a. Inc/udes transportation, telecommunicaions, and
water supply and savitation.

waterways. porting governments in b Includes mouitisector, electric power and energy, oil
and gas, and mnining.

Good governance and well functioning insti- their efforts to help vul- -

rutions, recognized as critical to strong fiscal nerable and disadvantaged groups access the

performance and growth, represent new direc- benefits of growth and become more active

tions in Bank assistance to the region. The in the development process.

Bank's judicial and legal reform project in Social funds and social development agen-

Morocco, West Bank and Gaza, and the Repub- cies supporting community-selected activities

BOX 4.12 PRIVATIZATION INITIATIVES IN THE MNA REGION

Many countries in the region are committed to enhancing private area of the West Bank have yielded almost imtnediate benefts.

sector-led growth through privatization measures and perform- In Amman, results include better water quality and mainte-

ance-based management contracts: nance, sewer cleaning, and responsiveness to customer com-

> Jordan's privatization program is one of the most succesyful plaints. In the Gaza Strip, an independent audit rated the

in the region, with 33 of its targeted 40 companies privatized, management contract as excellent in improving water quantity

includingJordan Cement Factories andJordan Telecommunica- and quality.

tions Company; the result is an increase of s6oo million in 2> In Morocco, Bank support has targeted development of a

foregn investment sound institutional and legalframeworkfor the telecommunica-

>- Petformance-based management contracts in water and tions sector tofacilitate private sector development and expand

sanitation projects in Amman, the Gaza Strip, and the southern cost-efficient service to poor people, particularly in rural areas.
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Economic man-
agement, institu-

tion strengthening,-
enhanced access
to education and

health services,
and empowerment
of local communi-
ties through social

funds are crucial
for poverty reduc-
tion in the Repub-

lic of Yemen.

have proven to be powerful tools for develop- charges (including cross-subsidies for poor peo-
ment in Algeria, Egypt, Jordan, West Bank and ple) ensure good operation and maintenance.
Gaza, and the Republic of Yemen. In the Repub- The fund is meeting needs for primary schools,
lic of Yemen, the IDA-supported Social Fund for health clinics, and water supply and sanitation;
Development supports 785 subprojects covering in addition the fund has extended microfinance

a wide range of activities, selected and cofi- to nearly 4o,ooo borrowers (with repayment rates

nanced by local communities. Community con- of 97 percent) and created thousands of perma-

tributions guarantee local ownership, and user nent new jobs.

BOX 4.13 MNA GENDER INITIATIVES

The Bank's agenda in the siLsscA region is expanding to include dialogue on gender issues and to build a gender dimnension into lend-

ing operations. Infiscal 2000, the Bank also committed to a program of regionwide training on gender awarenessfor client coun-

tries as well as Bank staff The program s top priority is improving the status of women in rural areas, with afocus on education,

health, employment, and legal status. .UNA's Consultative Council on Gender now in its secondyear, mobilizes members of civil

society, professional occupationis, and NMOs; promotes dialogue on gender conicerns within client countries; andguides the Bank in

developing gender perspectives in its regional operations. Following are some examples of Bank support to .iATl countries that

addressgender concerns:

> A pilot program in .Miroeccofeaturing workshops and consensus-building efforts brought together, infiscal 2000, governmenit

officials and representativesfrom women s organizations and civil society; this collaboration resulted in a National Plan of Action

on Gender

2' Nlearly half of the small-scale subprojects implemented in the T'Vest Bank and Gaza's vGO project cater to women's practical

needs (kindergartens, educational servicesfor woren, prenatal care, and ceildeare), and a number have been directlv implemented

and managed by women.

> I the Republic of Yemen, the Child Development Project supports community schoolsforgirls and offers incentivepackages to

schools that enroll the highest proportion of girls.
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TABLE 4.6 WORLD BANK LENDING TO BORROWERS IN THE MIDDLE EAST AND NORTH AFRICA,
BY SECTOR, FISCAL 1992-00

(milDlons of U.S. dollars)

CLASSIFIED ON A LOAN-BY-LOAN BASIS CLASSIOIED ON A LOAN

Sector FY92-97 FY98 FY99 FYOO FY00

Annual Average

Agriculture 307.4 114.2 454.0 153.0 153.0

Economic policy 195.8 0.0 370.0 0.0 0.0

Education 103.0 143.0 55.0 219.2 233.5

Electric power and other energy 88.3 0.0 54.0 0.0 0.0

Environment 37.4 35.0 0.0 0.0 72.5

Finance 94.2 80.0 159.0 0.0 0.0

Mining 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Multisector 0,0 0.0 0.0 83.S 62.8

Oil and gas 32.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Population, health, and nutrition 56.0 140.0 101.0 87.0 119.0

Private sector development 20.6 0.0 136.0 15.9 15.9

Public sector management 8.2 71.5 52.5 35.3 35.3

Social protection 42.2 105.0 50.0 75.0 49.4

Telecommunications 20.0 0.0 0.0 9.0 9.0

Transportation 58.9 57.8 0.0 15.0 15.0

Urban development 165.8 212.0 64.0 82.2 82.2

WVater supply and sanitation 103.4 10.0 80.0 145.0 72.5

Total 1,333.6 968.5 1,S75.5 920.1 920.1

Of which IBRD 1,183.8 722.0 1,189.0 760.2

IDA 149.8 246.5 386.5 159.8

Note; See Table 1. 1, page 33 Numbers may not add to totals because of rounding.

Promotieug learniing and developtnent partnerships generation. The Bank also continues to support

Bank strategy in the region is also emphasizing regional research networks such as the Economic

gender dimensions in lending and nonlending Research Forum for the Arab Countries, Islamic

activities (see Box 4.13), broadening the dialogue Republic of Iran, and Turkey.

with civil society, and employing a more participa- Regionwide knowledge management activities

tory approach to the design of project and sector continued in fiscal 2ooo to advance the Bank's goal

work. Learning partnerships, too, are growing in of becoming a "Knowledge Bank." This year, the

importance. The Third Mediterranean Develop- Bank launched a new external web site for the

ment Forum held in Cairo in March 2000 brought region, and it expanded the live database that pro-

together participants from governments, think vides constantly updated country, thematic, and

tanks, academia, and the business community to sectoral information. New activities include the

discuss topics such as globalization, development creation of a Document Library as well as Coun-

finance, partnerships with civil society, knowledge try and Project Activity Rooms to integrate and

institutions, social protection, and employment disseminate information at local levels.
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SECTION V

Thematic Perspectives

POVERTY IN THE VOICES OF THE POOR

n an effort to understand poverty from the perspective of poor people themselves, the World Bank

undertook a 6o-country participatory study, known as Voices of the Poor. The study was conducted as

background for the itDk 20oo/2002 and consists of two parts: a review of recent participatory

studies in 50 countries involving 40,000 poor women and men; and a comparative study in 1999

involving zo,ooo people in 23 countries.' What emerges is that poverty entails multiple and inter-

locking disadvantages that frequently leave poor people powerless to better their lives.

Poor people emphasize material deprivation but also speak of social, physical and psychological

dimensions and lack of freedom of choice and action. Their livelihoods are often precarious, seasonal and

inadequate; many see economic conditions worsening. Their villages and slums are often isolated, lacking

in basic services and transport. Hunger and illness are common, and access to medical care, difficult.

Especially in urban areas, crime and violence pose daily threats; police protection is scarce. Within the

household, domestic violence against women remains widespread even though more poor women are earn-

ing incomes than ever before. Descriptions of poverty also often encompass mental distress and anxiety

about the future. "Poverty is lack of freedom, enslaved by crushing daily burdens, by depression and fear

of what the future will bring," says a participant from the Caucuses.

Poor people highlight powerlessness, pointing to officials, traders and civic actors who are neither

responsive nor accountable to them. They share numerous examples of criminality, abuse and corruption in

encounters with public institutions, saying they have little recourse to justice. "Government has let us down,

too many promises-never fulfilling them)' says a 30-year-old unemployed mother from the Caribbean. In

poor communities worldwide, local groups and actors are key supports; however, poor people recognize

limits to how much "one hungry man can help another hungry man."

I The study is being pubhished in a three-part series: Voices of the Poor: Can Anyone Hear Us? (2000) by Deepa Narayan; with Rai Patel, Kai Schaffi,;

Anne Rademacher, and Sarah Koch-Schulte; Voices of the Poor: Crying Out for Change (2000) by Deepa Narayan, Robert Chambers, Meera K. Shah

and Patti Petesch; Voi ces of the Poor: From Many Lands (forthcoming) edited by Deep" Narayan and Patti Petesch.
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POVERTY REDUCTION AND
ECONOMIC MANAGEMENT

overty reduction is the Bank's core and poverty reduction by supporting countries'

mission and guides all its work in efforts to undertake structural and social

developing countries. In fiscal 2000, reforms (see Table 5.s, and Table 5.IA in the

the Bank positioned itself to pursue Annex). Another classification of lending, Pover-

its mission more effectively. A ty-Targeted Interventions, represents those

country-owned approach to poverty reduction investment operations that directly target poor

strategies has been adopted, linking poverty people (see Figures 5.i and 5.2, and Table 5.2 in

reduction to debt relief and concessional lend- the Annex).

ing. To ensure the greatest effectiveness of these

strategies, the Bank has worked to mainstream THE ENHANCED HIPC
gender, promote good governance and public INITIATIVE
sector reform, and assist developing countries' Fiscal 2000 was a turning point for the Initiative

integration into the global economy. for Heavily Indebted Poor Countries (HIPC),

Much Bank lending to support improved established in 1996 to alleviate the debt burden of
economic management, policies, and institutions some of the world's poorest nations. During the

falls under the umbrella of adjustment lending. joint Bank-Fund Annual Meetings in September

Adjustment lending promotes sustained growth 1999, the international community endorsed

sweeping enhancements to the Initiative, which
PARTNERSHIPS more than doubled the assistance provided, accel-

Partnerships are integral to the Bank s work in poverty reduction and economnic manage- erated the delivery of relief, and strengthened the
ment. They are cenitral to participatory, country-driven poverty reduction strategies and link between debt relief and poverty reduction. It

they also bolster the Bank's work on gender, public sector reform, trade, and international was also a year of active implementation. Debt
financial architecture. Collaboration with the Fund increased over the pastyear: on relief was committed for Bolivia, Burkina Faso,

international standards (for accounting, corporate governance and insolvency regimes); Mauritania, Mozambique, Senegal, Tanzania, and

trade; and the In itiativefor Heavily Indebted Poor Countries (HIPC) and the Poverty Uganda. In May 2000, Uganda became the first
Reduction Strategy Papers program through the establishment of theJoint Implementation country to become eligible to receive its full debt

Committee, whose agenda included the streamlining of proceduresfor approval of debt relief under the enhanced framework.
relief and other concessional assistance. When completed, the enhanced HIPc Initia-

Other importantpartnerships include: tive will yield more than $5o billion in debt serv-

> Ihc Integrated Framework (iF)- a partnership of multilateral agencies (rvio ice relief to 32 eligible countries. When
Jibrld Batik, OIMF, UNDP, UNCTAD, and iTc) and developed countries that provides combined with traditional debt relief instru-

trade-related assistanice to help developing countries integrate itito theglobal economy. A ments, the Initiative will more than halve the

review of the IF was completed in fiscal 2000. outstanding external debt of these countries.

> A Joint Task Force of the Commonwealth Secretariat and the Bank to address the The Bank itself (specifically, the International

developmetit challengesfared by small states (populations of less thani 15 mnillion), Development Association) will provide nearly si$

whose final report vwas emidorsed at the Development Committee's Spring Mleetings in billion in debt relief over time. Under the new

April 2ooo. framework, qualifying countries will begin

>- Collaboratiomi with the Organmisationfor Econiomic Co-operationi and Developmnent receiving significant debt relief immediately at

(OECD), on developitig indicators to monitor progress toward Interntationial Development the decision point (or point of approval of a

Goals as well as corporategovernance; sustainable development, kmiowledge ecolomics, country's eligibility by the Bank and IMF Boards),

social safety niets, and anticorruption. which will provide up-front assistance to coun-

tries in financing much-needed social programs.
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Relief under the enhanced HIPC Initiative is must eventually produce a PRSP before they

also now more firmly linked to the support of receive these resources, In the meantime,

economic and social programs designed to reach countries scheduled to receive debt relief
the poorest people. Governments eligible for debt before the PRSP program was initiated can

relief will formulate a poverty reduction strategy produce an Interim PRSP as part of their

(in consultation with members of civil society debt relief application.
and representatives of poor people) that will out- Such an Interim paper FIGURE 5.1
line how resources freed from debt service and would present the main POVERTY-TARGETED

INTERVENTIONS, LENDING
other sources of external assistance will be inte- elements of a poverty BY REGION, FISCAL 2000
grated into a comprehensive plan to reduce reduction strategy along Total $3.7 billion

poverty. A key objective is to attain the Interna- with a roadmap for the IDA

tional Development Goal of reducing poverty by subsequent preparation 1C B

one-half by 2015. of the full PRSP. In fiscal 0_

E oo2 , Albania, Bolivia, 0 4

Mauritania, Mozam- 1
STRATEGIES:A NEW APPROACH ~~~~~bique, Sad Tomi6 and

Principe, Senegal, Tanza- EAP ECA AC MNA

Prompted by concern that progress in the fight nia, and Uganda pro-
against poverty has been too sloxv, the Bank and duced Interim PRSPS; FIGURE 5.2

POV7 ERTY- TARGETED
the Fund latnched in December 1ggg a major new Burkina Faso and Ugan- INTERVENTIONS, LENDING
program to achieve greater poverty reduction in da produced a full PRSP. BY SECTOR, FISCAL 2000
low-income countries. Under this program, Pover- Total $3 1 billion

ty Reduction Strategy Papers (PRsPs), which are G ENDER _ IDA
8RD

produced by the countries themselves, are becom- Economic development 1.7

ing the basis for debt relief under the HIPC Initia- policies affect men and
tive and for concessional lending by the Bank and women differently. It is also

IMF. PRSPS identify the key obstacles to poverty well documented that gen-

reduction and lay out a plan to overcome them, der inequalitv contributes to 6

including mechanisms to monitor progress. Suc- poverty and is often an on

cessful implementation will depend on the full obstacle to economic *2
involvement of the whole development communi- growth. Addressing the gen- t -X _

ty; an important aim is that these strategies der aspects of development Eio m Devementina ra Mn

become the basis for all donor support. can therefore promote equi- Secto De

As noted above, PRSPS are to be fully owned by table and sustainable devel- a Infrastructure includes trransportation. telecomm,unica-
I ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~tions, water supply and sanitation. andl urban development

countries, designed in broad consultation with civil opment. The Gender Sector ib Multisector includes $50 million in public sector

society, poor people, and their representatives. The Strategy the Bank is cur- m

country-driven nature of PRsPs represents an impor- rently developing is a step in this direction. It will

tant shift in organizational culture for the Bank and outline ways in which the Bank can better inte-

the Fund. The Bank would support governments grate gender into its work, to help create a global

through advice on areas within the Bank's expertise environment where gender barriers no longer

and, together with the Fund, would issue a joint impede economic growth and poverty reduction,
staff assessment of the PRSP and make a recommen- and where men and women have equal access to

dation to the Executive Boards of both institutions health care, food, the political system, training,

on whether the strategy provides a sound basis for education, and credit.

Bank and IMF concessional assistance. To expand knowledge sharing and partner-
All countries that receive debt relief or ships with other development organizations, gov-

concessional lending from the Bank and IMF ernments, and civil society, the Bank is making a
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number of statistical indicators on gender avail- GOVERNANCE AND PUBLIC

able to the public (see the list of web sites on SECTOR REFORM

page 171). Work is also underway to develop spe-

cific targets as well as tools for monitoring and Building effective and accountable public institu-

evaluation, and to prepare country-specific tions is a core challenge. Experience has shown

gender reviews. that tackling deep-rooted structural and institu-

Support for gender issues in Bank lending is tional weaknesses is essential for sustainable

evident in projects in diverse areas such as agricul- poverty reduction. Misguided allocation of public

ture, water and sanitation, energy, transportation, resources, excessive government intervention, and

community development, and legal reform. For corruption have deterred private investment and

example, in the Ghana Community Water and slowed growth and poverty reduction efforts in

Sanitation Project, local NGOs work with comimu- many countries. Much of the Bank's poverty work

nities to ensure that women actively participate in points to the high cost of weak government and

decisionmaking; according to a midterm review, inadequate service delivery to poor people.
women accounted for 48 percent of water and Responding to this accumulation of evi-

sanitation committee members and 35 percent of dence, the Bank has increasingly focused its assis-

executive committee members. In another exam- tance on the reform of public sector institutions.

ple, the Nicaragua Agricultural Technology and Work with partners and clients in-country and

Land Management Project increased women's international forums reveals the harmful econom-
involvement in extension services six-fold (for ic consequences of corruption, which is a funda-

men, four-fold). The improvement resulted from mental symptom of public sector malfunction. In

actions such as providing technical information on fiscal zooo, the Bank completed Institutional and
home gardens cultivated by women, incorporating Governance Reviews in Armenia, Bangladesh, and
gender-related issues in technical training, and Bolivia, and work is underway in Argentina, the

preparing an action plan on gender and monitor- Balkans, Benin, the Caribbean, Ethiopia, Jordan,

ing its implementation. Kenya, and Morocco. Additionally, the Bank is
analyzing its fiduciary responsibilities in adjust-

Gender issues are r ment lending to establish clearer guidelines to link
being integrated governance and Country Assistance Strategies
into areas such
as agriculture, (CASS).

water and sanita- Support in core areas of public sector func-
tion, energy, tioning, such as public expenditure analysis, tax

transportation, 5 administration, civil service reform, auditing, and
com eunity devel- judicial reform, has grown steadily (see Figure

reform, and 5.3). Much of the Bank's work in public service
gender-based delivery has focused on institutional concerns,

violence. Ao including promotion of private provision, decen-

tralization, and capacity building.

Over the past year, the Bank has sought to
gather lessons of experience, integrate governance

and anticorruption concerns in all activities, and
- it F F + f > 8 tdentify ways to enhance the impact of assistance.

-, ~~~~~~The evolving strategy for governance and public

sector reform involves three broad directions for

the future:
. Broadening the approach, emphasizing "bot-

tom-up empowerment, transparency, and compe-
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tition in public service delivery (where feasible) as

well as "top-down" reforms inside government

> Working more closely with clients to under-

take better, deeper, and more participatory

analytical work (including public expenditure

reviews, institutional and governance reviews,

and anticorruption and governance surveys of

households, firms, and policvmakers)i

>~Taking a longer-term approach in Bank

lending where possible, to allow time for institu-

tional reform. The Bank is now pursuing both

longer-term programmatic adjustment loans (as

with 3-year Programmatic Structural Adjustment

Loans in Thailand and Latvia) and longer-term

investment loans (as with so- to 12-year Adaptable

Program Loans in Bolivia and Tanzania). adjustment operations included support for Participation is a

reform of trade and exchange rate policies. In key element in
INTERNATIONAL TRADE comparison, the Bank's investment lending for the formulation

Trade reform plays a critical role in spurring trade-related activities accounted for around 26 of poverty reduc-

growth and, thus, in reducing poverty. The Bank percent of total Bank lending from 1994 to 1999. that empower

supports developing country trade in several ways. poor people and

First, analytical work is increasing understanding INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL lead to sustain-

of the link between trade, development, and ARCHITECTURE able development.

poverty reduction; the potential advantages of The term "international

regional trade agreements; and the importance of financial architecture" FIGURE 5.3
I . . . I ~~~~~~~~~NUMBER OF PUBLIC SECTOR Icoordination among multilateral organizations on refers to the financial and NUCOMPONENTS IN FISCALT

trade-related issues. Second, research and assis- institutional arrangements 1997-99 PROJECTS

tance are helping developing countries to formu- that are critical to help Pb FY97

late negotiating objectives for trade and to adapt countries avoid and miti- expenditun FY98

to the changing nature of trade in services, prod- gate crises, integrate into -monag5ment 

uct standards, and absorption of technology. the global economy, and Pjblic

Finally, operational support to developing coun- develop successfully. The 'elo _ _

tries continues to help them maximize the benefits Bank's role in this area has l - _ l
i } ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~Tax policy and :, 

to their economies from international trade. three dimensions: ensuring admrnistration

The Bank relies largely on adjustment but that developing country l l

also on investment operations to further coun- perspectives are brought to | f-

tries' trade agendas. While many developing bear in discussions on l l

countries have taken major steps to liberalize international norms and jd cg I .. .. .. 

their trade regimes, a significant number have, so governance; helping devel-

far, failed to reap the advantages of greater inte- oping countries integrate o the22 _ -
gration into the global economy. A major reason, into the international eco-

particularly for the poorest countries, relates to nomic and financial sys-
i . , . | D~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ecentralization -- Ltt0 ti'ti -l

an inadequate supply of the human and physical tem; and diagnosing the

capital needed for trade. Excessive trade protec- social and structural Muisecto_

tion on the part of both developed and middle- obstacles to successful fthea bnl

income countries also remains a serious problem. development, as a basis l_l

Between iggo and 1998, 68 percent of Bank for Bank assistance. 0 20 40 is is icc 120
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TABLE 5.1 WORLD BANK ADJUSTMENT COMMITMENTS, FISCAL 1998-00

FISCAL 1998 FISCAL 1999 FISCAL 2000

MILLION PERCENT S MILLION PERCENT S MILLION PERCENT

Adjustment Commitments by Region
Africa 818 7 769 5 495 10
East Asia and Pacific 5,685 50 5.712 37 552 II

Middle East and North Africa 180 2 680 4 - -

Latin America and the Caribbean 1,589 14 4,445 29 2,860 56

Europe and Central Asia 2.768 25 3,372 22 950 19

South Asia 250 2 350 2 251 5

IBRD and IDA Adjustment Commitments
IBRD 9,935 88 13,937 91 4,426 87

IDA 1,354 12 1,391 9 682 13

Total Adjustment Loans 11,289 100 I5,328 100 5.108 I00

Total World Bank Lending Commitments

IBRD 21,086 22.182 10,919
IDA 7,508 6,813 4,358
Total IBRD plus IDA 28,594 28,996 15,276
Share of Adjustment Loans 39 53 33

Note- Numbers may not add to totals because of rounding.

The key challenge is to find the best way Codes (RoScs), for which the Bank will share

for global institutions to work together and ownership and prepare modules in its tradition-

with countries to ensure that developing coun- al areas of expertise. This report summarizes

tries are not marginalized from the global econ- the extent to which countries observe certain

omy and are able, instead, to derive its full internationally recognized standards that can

benefit. The Bank has stepped up its collabora- help improve economic policymaking and

tion with other institutions, in particular, the strengthen the international financial system.

IMF. Three joint initiatives deserve highlighting. Third, the Bank and the Fund are collaborating

One of them is the Financial Sector Assess- on a series of studies on external debt manage-

ment Program (see page io2). Another is the ment aimed at developing a set of core princi-

Report on the Observance of Standards and ples for sovereign debt management.
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HUMAN DEVELOPMENT

n fiscal 2ooo, the Bank continued to help for accelerating poverty

countries accelerate their efforts toward reduction and becoming FIGURE 5.4
* LENDING FOR HUMAN

human development. The central focus of more competitive in the DEVELOPMENT,

these efforts is attaining the International globalizing world, while FISCAL 2000

Development Goals, including those for protecting poor people. The Total $3.3 billon

poverty reduction; universal primary education; Bank's IWorld Development

reduction in infant, child, and maternal mortality; Report 2000/2001 brings

and universal access to reproductive health servic- into sharper focus the cen- 5du so.

es (see Ovetview, Box i.i). Notwithstanding the tral role of human develop-

progress in some areas, enormous challenges ment in poverty reduction. PeA

remain: malnutrition, pregnancy-related deaths, The three core poverty v6%

and infectious and sexually transmitted diseases reduction strategies high- heath.

continue to ravage the lives of people in the devel- lighted in the Report- Pppuieton

oping world. Life expectancy in at least io African opportunity, empowerment,

countries is likely to decrease by I7 years due to and management of risk for

the scourge of HtV/AIDS. In a single year, 1s million the most vulnerable-are

children worldwide die before reaching age 5, in also key elements of the Note: Sector classifcation is on a loan-component

most cases from preventable causes. About 113 mil- Bank's support for human

lion primary school-age children are still out of development.

school. Human development indicators are partic- Out of 58 projects in the social sectors

ularlv low for low-income communities, and they approved in fiscal 2000, 21 were in Education,

are often worse for women and girls. In addition, 21 in Health, Nutrition, and Population, and i6

poor people are the most vulnerable to economic in Social Protection. New lending to these sec-

and other types of shocks. tors of $2.8 billion ($3.3 billion when classified

Bank support for human development aims by loan component; see Figure 5.4) follows

at helping countries build the fundamental basis record levels reached in fiscal 1998-99 as a

PARTNERSHIPS

The Bank has engaged im ke partnershtps with the u .xv and pri- Another examnple of productive parttierships in the social

vate sector agencies on strategic health, nutritionr, and population sectors was a project funded by the Asia-Erope AMeetings

issuies such as HTIA/iD_S, malaria, tuberculosis, and a new initia- Trust Fund (jointly sponsored by the Bank, Ito, and the

tivrefor vaccin1es and itnttunizatioms. Japanese governmnenlt) in fiscal 2000 to analyze the emnploy-

An imnportant partnership of the Batik and iFc with the ment effects of the East Asian crisis and critically examinie the

pnivate sector is Edlnvest, an on-linefacility that promnotes pri- policy responses of thegovernments. Delegations frvm7 Indonie-

vate participation in educationi. Thefi rst in a series of regional sia, the Republic of Korea, Malaysia, the Philippines, and Thai-

con ferences on7 private education took place in Cote d'Ivoire in land agreed on the tieed for tripartite institutionis to build on

fiscal 2000, co-sponsored by the Min istry of Education, the the social dialogue emnanating from the crisis: balance between

African Development Bank, amid the private sector; this confer- active amid passive S`more market-orienlted) labor market poli-

ence brought together mnore than 20o participants fromnl [hest cies; labor market regulationt that addresses econoiuouc efficiency

Africa, P$orth America, Europe, and Asia to learn about sue- and social protection: andgoverni7nent interventions targeted at

cessful mitodels in other counltries. vulnerable groups, such as womiien, youth, and migrants.
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result of the East Asian crisis. The lower amount programs and initiatives to reduce child labor,

reflects both a return to more normal levels and drawing on lessons learned from NGOs and nation-

a strategic shift from support for large hardware al and international organizations, and on the

projects (for example, building hospitals) to pol- results of an evaluation of research on street chil-

icy reforms and capacity building. Disbursments dren in Eastern Europe and in Latin America.

for human development projects accounted for

23 percent of total Bank disbursements in fiscal HEALTH, NUTRITION,

2000 (see Figure 5.5). AND POPULATION

The Bank is systematically addressing issues During fiscal zooo, so billion of new Bank lending

that cut across the human development subsecrors. was approved for health (including reproductive

In fiscal 2ooo, the HrV/A1DS crisis was placed square- health) and nutrition operations. Bank strategy in

ly on the global agenda as a this area is aimed at better health, nutrition, and

FIGURE 5.5 development and multisec- population outcomes for poor people: enhanced
DISBURSEMENT FOR HUMAN toral issue, and not just a performance of health systems; and sustainable

DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS health issue. Support for health care financing.

_-0 Hum, development sector disbursements HIV/AIDs prevention and mit- Support to these subsectors is focused on the
C- 0 . o' total Beek dirsbersemeets/

BiSono of doio-o Pe-ment igation includes strengthen- country level and complemented by efforts at the

6 30 ing of advocacy and policies global level. Policy advice and projects were tai-

5 25 as well as financing new and lored to country needs, which ranged from malar-
ongoing projects in Africa ia control, school health programs, maternal and

and other parts of the world, child health, and nutrition services, to systemic
3 15 including major operations reforms in the financing, management, and deliv-

2 ;= </ 10 in South Asia and Latin ery of services. Strengthening basic health services

a s America. Similarly, the Roll was a core issue and accounted for nearly three-

o _ o Back Malaria Program is quarters of lending in this area, supporting opera-
FY91 FY92 FY93 FY94 5 Y96 Y97 YY99YOO being implemented as a mul- tions such as the Argentina Public Health

tisectoral program that Surveillance and Disease Control Project and the

incorporates health, water, and sanitation as well as Lithuania Health Project. At the global level, the

transport issues. The Bank also supports a multi- Bank is working actively to mobilize partners and

sectoral approach to reducing malnutrition, with a resources where problems and solutions go

focus on community-based nutrition services. The beyond country borders (see Box 5.1).

Bangladesh National Nutrition Project, for exam-

ple, will increase nutnrtional coverage to nearly one- '

third of the population over a four-year period. In a _ 

number of African countries, new iniriatives inte-

grate nutrition services with other activities to sup-

port the optimal development of young children.

The Integrated Early Childhood Development

Project in Eritrea, for example, takes a holistic

approach that integrates health care, nutrition,

social protection, and early child development.

The Bank held a Children[s Week in April

2000 to address the interrelated issues of the

development, protection, and welfare of children. Over half of child mortality in low-income coun-
The event served tohigligitprgmatitries can be linked to malnutrition. The WorldThe event served to highlight pragmatic and cost- Bank supports a multisectoral approach that tar-

effective ways to reverse economic and social gets poor people, especially young children and

inequality through early childhood development their mothers.
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BOX S.I THE GLOBAL ALLIANCE FOR VACCINES
AND IMMUNIZATION

The Global Alliancefor Vaccines and Immunization (GAVI) vaccine manufacturers, the Rockefeller Foundation, the Bank,

was launched in January 2000 to re-invigorate the inter- and other partners. Each of the partners has identfied its

national community's commitment to bring vacrines and contribution to the Avi effort that is consistent with its

immunization to current andfuture generations of children comparative advantage.

throughout the developing world. NVew challengesfacing The Bank has taken on a greater role in immunization,

immunization programs include strengthening the basic through country dialogue, lending, and efforts to address

immunization system, making new expensive vaccines more marketfailures in research and developmentfor priority

widely available, and encouraginggreater investment in new vaccines. Other partners such as WHO will continue to take

vaccinesfor poor people. GAVI represents a promising global the lead in developing global immunization strategies and

network of all interestedgovernments, UNICEF, WHO, bilat- policies, and the pharmaceutical industry will play a leading

eral agencies, research and technical agencies, the Bill and role in efficiently developing and marketing products.

Melinda Gates Children's Vaccine Program, private sector

In fiscal 2000, the Bank prepared a strategy education opportunities for girls, who comprise

note addressing population and reproductive about two-thirds of the out-of-school population.

health challenges in the coming decade. A Safe In April 2000, partners of Education for All met

Motherhood Action Plan was also prepared, and in Dakar, Senegal for the end-of-decade review

the Bank joined WHO, UNFPA, and UNICEF in a and to set new directions
statement of commitment to reduce the unaccept- for the future. A key out- FIGURE 5.6
ably high levels of maternal mortality in poor come of the Dakar confer- WORLD BANK LENDING
countries. Maintaining quality and resource levels ence was significant scaling ON BASIC EDUCATION
for these activities will continue to be a priority, as up of Bank efforts to help Fiscal 1986-90

Bank lending shifts toward programmatic support countries accelerate the

of broad sectoral reforms. development of their educa-

tion systems with increased
EDUCATION emphasis on quality

The year 2000 marks the tenth year since the Jom- improvements. In March,

tien World Conference in iggo stimulated interna- President Wolfensohn for-
tional commitment to a new and broader vision mally launched Higher Educa- Yearly Lending Average: $0.9 bilOon

of basic education. Together with UNESCO, UNDP, tion in Developing Countries, a
UNICEF, and UNFPA, the Bank had then committed report prepared by an inde- Fiscal 9gg0-oo

itself to helping countries pursue the international pendent task force marking

targets of providing universal access to primary an important collaborative .'

education; expanding early childhood care; effort between the Bank and
improving learning achievement; reducing the the academic community.
adult illiteracy rate; and doubling lending for edu- Bank assistance is sup- -2
cation. Bank lending for education increased from porting nontraditional deliv- -v
an annual average of so.9 billion for the period ery of education services .

1986-go to si.8 billion for the period igg9-oo. As where quality and efficiency
a share of such lending, support to basic educa- improvements are possible. s 2

tion increased from 27 percent to 44 percent (see Many projects are financing

Figure 5.6). Within that share, lending for early the contracting-out of serv-
child development increased dramatically in the ices (such as textbooks and Yeady Lending Average: $1.8 billion

1990S. Another high priority has been to improve supplies) previously deliv-
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SOCIAL PROTECTION

Lending for social protection, which includes

pension reform (see Box 5.z), public works

employment assistance, social assistance, and

social funds, returned to pre-crisis levels in fiscal

2zooo. The Bank supported pension reforms in

- Brazil, Croatia, and Turkey, social funds in coun-

=< ;tries as varied as Armenia, Burundi, Honduras,

India, St. Lucia, Tanzania, the Republic of

>- . - i i Yemen, and Zambia; labor market interventions

i . J a S ( -4.1 in Bosnia and Herzegovina; and social assistance

and overall social expenditure reforms in Angola,

. , , - * # _ the Philippines, and the Slovak Republic. The

.P E ,2 ' 9t z ff-Turkey earthquake relief loan is helping to pro-

vide public works employment, as do many of

K ^ -~ U 1 the social fund projects.

In partnership with external social fund net-

The World Bank's ered by governments, which generates a savings of works, the Bank organized a second international
education projects i5-40 percent. Moreover, projects increasingly conference on social funds in June zooo, to eval-
focus on improv- finance households directly through stipends and uate the impact of these operations. The funds,

ing access to rele-
vant learning, scholarships, which expands access and efficiency which finance small-scale investments in basic

using educational as well as voice and choice for poor people. Schol- infrastructure, social services, training, and
resources more arship programs enable poor children (Indonesia) income-generating services (prioritized and

effqciently and and girls (Pakistan andTanzania) to enroll in implemented by communities themselves), were

building stronger school in a cost-effective and equitable manner. found to have a positive impact. For example, so
institutional

capacity.

BOX 5.2 WANT TO KNOW ABOUT PENSION REFORM?
VISIT WWW.WORLDBANK.ORG/PENSIONS

Tke web site address shown above offers users a pensionz reform sionfunds; these papers were submitted at the request of client

prirner, and it enables reformers around the world to share their countries and Bank staff The web site is heavily used by exter-

experiences, informnation on problens and solutions is nal clients eager to access up-to-date information in this area.

exchanged between researchers and practitioners in long- The Bank has developed a pension model, PROST, to help

reforming countries such as Argentinla, Mexico, Poland, and countries evaluate the health of their pension systems, thefiscal

Sweden and their coutnterparts in newly reforming countries, outcome as well as the poverty impact of various reform

.Material prepared by Bank stqff documents reformn experience options, and the level of benefits to be expected by participants.

in countries such as Bolivia, Hungary, and Latvia. The PROST is in heavy demand, with usage by 43 countries and

knowledge base isfurther enriched by papers of other authors training duringfiscal 2000 in Brazil, China, Estonia, the

on specfic implementation issues, such as public management of Republic of Korea, Lebanon, Lithuania, Malta, Romania, Sri

pension reserves, annuitization, and supervision of private pen- Lanka, as well asfor the European Central Bank.
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percent of the Honduran Social Fund reached and national levels, and with particular efforts

the lowest lo percent of the income distribution; to ensure adequate safety nets for poor people.

infant mortality in Bolivia decreased significantly Various kinds of risk would be identified, along

among social fund health center beneficiaries; and with the best instruments-among a wide array

enrollment in rural primary schools improved in of informal mechanisms, market mechanisms,

Peruvian districts that received social fund support. and public programs-to reduce the risk, help

Building on these successes, the Bank launched prepare for it, and deal with the unexpected.

a Community-Driven Development Initiative in fis-

cal 2000.The initiative aims to scale up Bank sup- ToWARD THE FUTURE

port for development efforts that are identified, Countries' macroeconomic and poverty reduction

planned, and implemented at the community level. strategies increasingly emphasize human develop-

In fiscal zo2o, the Bank initiated prepara- ment. In support of these strategies, the Bank

tion of a social protection strategy paper that will continue to focus on critical development

aims to draw on lessons learned in the sector challenges such as HIrv/AIDS, tuberculosis, malaria

from the recent financial crises. The paper, slat- and other major communicable diseases, malnu-

ed for fiscal 2oo1 approval, emphasizes the need trition, basic education, girls' education, and risk

for a social risk management structure in antici- management, within the context of its overall

pation of future crises, both at the individual efforts to promote comprehensive development.
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ENVIRONMENTALLY AND SOCIALLY
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

T there is little point in lifting peo- of income, improved transport links to markets,

ple out of poverty today only to and greater rural access to health and education.

have their children-or their Finally, sustainable development requires that

children's children-thrust back poor people have more say and participate as

into its grip tomorrow. Ensuring equal partners; key to such social transformation

sustainable development is a complex task that are efforts that promote participation, civic

must integrate many strands of the development engagement, cultural expression, and post-con-

process. First, it must take into account the flict reconstruction.

growing pressures on the world's natural resource
ENVIRONMENT

The z.8 billion people living on less than sz per
PARTNERSHIPS day are disproportionately affected by bad envi-

Partnerships have been central to the Bank's supportfor sustainable development. Some of ronmental conditions and natural catastrophes.
its newer collaborative efforts are highlighted below: Every year, between 5 and 6 miUlion people die in

> The World Bank-WWF Forest Alliance brings togethergovernments, the private developing countries from water-borne diseases
sector, and civil society to reduce the loss and degradation offorests worldwide. and air pollution. The livelihoods of more than I
> The Global Water Partnership supports sustainable management of water billion rural people are at risk because of deserti-
resources by improving communications within the water communitv and developing fication and dryland degradation. The loss of an

fundable projects. estimated 65 million hectares of forests in devel-

2> The Africa Land and Water Initiative develops an integrated approach to land, oping countries in the last five years is also hurt-
water, and natural resource managementfor sustainable growth in Africa. ing rural poor people, a quarter of whom depend

2> The Popular Coalition to Eradicate Hunger and Poverty helps give poor people on forests for income, food, and medicines. Poli-
increased access to productive assets and a greater voice in decisionmaking. cymakers also face hard decisions on how to allo-
) The Clean Air Initiative in Latin America promotes development of clean air cate scarce water.

action plans byfostering public and private sector involvement in the introduction of
clan technologies. Emphasizing the role of environment in poverty reduction

> The Prototype Carbon Fund, supported by the Bank, governments, and private A key principle underlying World Bank assistance

companies, is the world's first market-based mechanism to address climate change and to in fiscal 2000 was that lasting poverty reduction is
help transferfinance and technology to developing countries, only possible if the environment is able to pro-

vide the services people depend on, and if natural

base that lead to expanding deserts, degrading resource use does not undermine long-term

soils, worsening air quality, depleting water development. The Bank is supporting countries

resources, degrading forests, and endangering in their efforts to preserve the environment in the

biodiversity, both on land and under water. Sec- following ways:

ond, it must address the crucial role of poor > Natural resource management. Several proj-

people, who bear the impact of these pressures ects are helping to protect forests and watersheds,

but also determine-through their behavior- support land tenure and property rights issues,

the condition of forests, soils, fish stocks, and and create appropriate incentives for conserva-

the air we breathe. Environmental protection tion. A project in Vietnam, for example, will re-

thus entails a comprehensive vision of rural establish the coastal mangrove wetland ecosystem

development, to address poor people's needs for along the Mekong Delta and protect the system's

not only food security but also nonfarm sources aquatic resources.
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)> Institution building. The Bank is increasing Every year, more

its support for the institutional and regulatory countres
become water

frameworks that govern natural resources, which srse-ocn

will ensure long-term environmental stewardship. their people to

Brazil's Second Environmental Project, for exam- search longer,

ple, aims to make national environmental institu- harder, and at
considerably

tions more effective and to strengthen more expense to

decentralized environmental management at the harness water

state and municipal levels. supplies.

2> Support in dealing with natural disasters.

The Bank has provided extensive support in the

wake of floods, droughts, cyclones, and earth-

quakes to help countries rebuild and reduce risks

of future damage, with a focus on poor people'

needs. Examples include the introduction of an

early warning network under the Amazon Emer-

gencv Fire Prevention and Control Project and

efforts to prevent the spread of disease and to

rebuild roads after floods in three Chinese

provinces under the Yangtze Emergency Rehabili-

tation Project.

Preparation of a new environment strategy is

underwav. It focuses on the effect that the envi-

ronment has on the health, livelihoods, and vul- |i''

nerability of poor people. The environment involving grants of $0.4 million. Significant

strategy complements work on other strategies progress has also been made in helping develop-

that guide Bank work in the water, energy, ing countries phase out the use of ozone deplet-

forestry, transport, urban, and rural sectors, and it ing substances (such as chlorofluorohydrocarbons

also reflects the lessons of OED'S environment or cFcs) under the Montreal Protocol, with more

review. In addition, the Bank is developing an than 70 percent of CFC production in developing

environment sourcebook to help policymakers and transition economies now slated for phase-

mainstream environment concerns into a country's out. In an innovative approach to address climate

overall poverty reduction framework. change issues, multiple partners came together in

fiscal zooo to launch the Prototype Carbon Fund
The global dimension (see Box 5e3.)

As an implementing agency of the Global Envi-

ronment Facility (GEF) and the Multilateral Fund Strengthening compliance

of the Montreal Protocol (MFMP), the Bank helps Of increasing importance in the design and

developing countries address global environmen- implementation of Bank-supported projects is the

tal challenges and meet their international obliga- careful application of environmental and social

tions in this area. In fiscal 2ooo, the GEF Council safeguard policies and guidelines, with support

approved zo Bank-GEF full project grants, from the Bank's Quality Assurance Group (QAG).

amounting to S266 million; I7 GEF medium-sized Support to the private sector in dealing with envi-

grants (each under si million), adding up to $13.07 ronmental regulations is an emerging priority, A

million; and two activities building capacity to new Bank publication, Greening Industiy: New Roles

prepare inventories, strategies, and action plans in for Communities, Markets, and Governments, advocates

response to biodiversitv and climate conventions, combining market-based incentives and public
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BOX 5.3 THE PROTOTYPE CARBON FUND

The World Bank launched the Prototype Carbon Fund through the use of cleaner technologies. Once certffied by

(PCF) in January 2000, which is the worldrsfirst mar- independent expertsfunded by the PCF, these emissions

ket-based mechanism to address climnate change and promote reductions will be transferred to the Fund. The Fund, in

the transfer offinance and climate-friendly technology to turn, will distribute themn among the industrialized coun-

developing coun tries. tries that have invested or '"participated" in it.

Established with contributionsfrom governments and Benefits accrue to both indutstrialized and developing

private companies, the PCF is designed to operate like a countries. Industrialized nations benefit by counting the

closed-end mutual fund. It is ittended to pilot project-based emissions reductions allocated to them by the Fund toward

carbon emission reduction activities within theframework the reductions ini the greenhouse gas emissions that they are

of two of theflexibility merhanisms of the Kyoto Protocol committed to achieve under the Kyoto Protocol. For the

-the Joint Implementation and the Clean Developmnent host countries, the PCF is beneficial as it wouild not be

Mechanism. The Bank, acting as "trustee," will enter into profitablefor them, in the absence of revenuefrom the

agreemnents with "host"countries (developing countries and sales of emissions reductions to the Fund, to adopt the

economies-in-transition) for each project. The emissions renewable energ technologies suich as wind, small hydro,

reductions will be achieved by upgrading each project and biomnass energy.

information disclosure to encourage factory man- > Effective rural institutions: Strong institu-

agers to improve environmental performance while tions able to formulate and implement rural

pursuing profits. development strategy are important, along with a

long-term strategy to identify and nurture poten-
RURAL DEVELOPMENT tial leadership for rural development.

With 70 percent of the world's poor people liv- > Information on rural development: There is

ing in rural areas, support for rural development a dearth of data on the number of rural poor

is central to poverty reduction efforts. The people, the specific determinants of their poverty,

Bank's rural strategy recognizes that, while a their access to land and other resources, the level

vibrant and growing agricultural sector is vital of resources directed at rural poverty reduction,

in reducing poverty, agriculture alone is insuffi- or the level of financial and other services avail-

cient to solve the problem of rural poverty. A able to poor people. While the Bank has devel-

total of 38 projects was approved in fiscal 2000 oped a rural score card providing a composite

in support of rural development, including 25 in indicator to monitor progress, data availability

the agriculture sector, amounting to si.6 billion remains a serious constraint in many countries.

and si.i billion, respectively. On June 30, 2000,

the Bank's rural development portfolio stood at A doubling of world food production to

$22. billion. feed an extra 2 billion people by 2025-most of

With a view to moving to a more action- them in developing countries-will require new

oriented phase, the Bank conducted a review of and improved agricultural technologies. Such

its rural strategy in fiscal zooo. Experience from innovation calls for not only more resources for

successful strategies, notably those in Brazil, agricultural research but also a better balance

Ethiopia, Mexico, and Uganda, points to the between public and private sector funding. Sup-

need for: ported by 58 public and private sector members,

> Strong political commitment and leadership: including the Bank, the Consultative Group on

While a stable macroeconomic policy framework International Agricultural Research (CGIAR)

and a good rural strategy are critical, sustained works through a network of i6 international

commitment to rural development is important research centers to mobilize modern agricultural

for results, as seen in Mexico and Uganda. science on behalf of the world's poor and hun-
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Community-driv-
en development
is about people
gaining access to
resources and
increasing capaci-
tyrto improve
their lives and
in luence deci-
sions that affect
them.

Igry. CGIAR technologies support the Ban-ks rural alocation and enabling communities to assert

lending programs to alleviate hunger and poverty; more voice in decisions that affect them (see Box

improve rural productivity and raise agricultural 5.4 Finally, the Bank has also been promoting

incomes; manage natural resources sustainably increased participation of civil society in nation-

and build partnerships with national agricultural al-level policymaking to make it more responsive

research programs. and transparent.

SOCIALDEVELOPMENT Conflict and development

The Bank has made progress in promoting a more Conflict and violence remain among the vorld's

equitable and inclusive approach to development, most pressing problems. In soci eties emerging

Compliance with Bank policies on resettlement, from conflict, the Bank has shifted its emphasis

indigenous peoples, and cultural property has been from the physical dimensions of reconstruction to

improving; social analysis and participation are the social aspects of conflict prevention and reconm

being mainstreamed into projects; and projects are ciliation. The Post-Conflict Fund was established

addressing social development needs and becoming in I997 to provide catalytic financing for early

culturally sensitive. Several tools have been devel- phases of Bank work in post-conflict situations

oped to promote the inclusion and empoiwerment

of poor people, and new ground has been broken BOX 5.4 COMMUNITY-DRIVEN DEVELOPMENT

in the areas of conflict and culture. Coitiliaunity-driien approaches to develcp deent-giving local organizatiorns mere

say-can make rseso fce allocation iiore responsive to the iceeds of poor people and

Participation and Civic Engagement increase the power yo2fper cotmminities to interact with govertoneint, the private sector,

During the past year. the Bank scaled up its xvork anid civil society, in planninig anid imiplemnentinig thcir own developniient preg rains.

to promote participation and civic engagement The Batik is lanitichinig a mnajor initiative ini Africa, the Communtity Acciomi

i'n a number of ways. Facilitating public partici- Programs, to imiainistreain comninoniity-d riveni developmienit in countrye programns, with

pation in investment lending operations has similar efforts envisaged in other regions. A chapter on coitnnuptiitv-driven develop-

enabled local communities to identify priorities ment is being preparedfor the Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper sourcebook; other

and act on them. Support for decentralized insti- efforts are underway to disseminate infornation on legal and procurenient matters.

tutional arrangements is allowing local govern- Trainiing programs for officials and Batik staff are also planned.

ments to assume responsibility for resource _

S E CTIO N V TH E MATI C P E RS PE CTIVE S 95



and to promote best practice and piloting of ini- Community-based development through social

tiatives in conflict prevention. This fund allocated funds and innovative cultural heritage operations

approximately $22 minhon in grants across 25 coun- is responding to the interests of poor communi-

tries over the first two years of its operation. A ties to develop income-generating activities that

grant to Kosovo covered teachers' and health work- draw on their traditions, skills, and other cultural

ers' salaries, for example, while support in East endowments. The Bank has increasingly included

Timor funded the international community's ini- culture in its core work, both to make develop-

tial assessment mission and the start-up of the ment services (such as education) more culturally
local empowerment and governance program. responsive and effective, and to develop new tools

to reduce poverty. Over the past year, the Bank
Culture has financed culture-oriented urban, education,

Cultural identity is an essential part of empower- and social development projects in Bolivia, China,

ing communities to take charge of their own des- East Timor, Indonesia, Romania, and the Repub-
tinies. From tourism to restoration, investments in lic of Yemen. A research program is under way to

cultural heritage promote labor-intensive econom- develop the socioeconomic rationale for invest-

ic activities that generate wealth and income. ment in culture,
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PRIVATE SECTOR DEVELOPMENT
AND INFRASTRUCTURE

_ wh She experience of the 2oth century ments have had a substantial

I ' underscores the crucial role of impact on poor people FIGURE 5.7
* LONG-TERM RESOURCE
* dynamic private markets for pover- through improved physical FLOWS TO DEVELOPING

ty reduction. It is of concern that, access to goods, services, and COUNTRIES, 1990-99

A although private resource flows to markets; reduced cost of (billions of dollars)

developing countries have increased eight-fold in existing goods and services; o-c Foeign dir ic-t-
Ci-i Cr-enic...lIofficial19

the past decade (see Figure 5.7), two-thirds of these and the creation of new jobs decelopment finance

flows go to only to countries, only two of which are and better access to existing

poor. And key sectors that form the foundation for businesses.

economic growth and social well-being, such as Helping countries

transport and water, receive only a small share of develop needed legal and 5

this investment. regulatory frameworks and

Where it exists, private participation in infra- institutions, in a way that 24,1

structure has made an enormous contribution to protects the interests of 90 91 '92 '93 '94 '95 95-97 98 99

improving the efficiency of infrastructure services poor people is at the heart

and extending delivery to poor people. In the of the Bank's assistance for Note: 1999 data are preliminary. Net bong-term
reoreflows are defined ac net liability tranacations

Republic of Yemen, for example, where free entry is private sector development. or original maturity of greater than one year.

allowed in the electrical wires business, thousands The Private Sector Devel- I

of mini-power systems exist and two-thirds of the opment Strategy presented to the Board in Sep-

population has access to electricity. Such invest- tember i999 calls for accelerated intervention in

PARTNERSHIPS

I'artnerships supporting private sector development take the > Informationfor Development Program (InfoDev),

form of several global trust-funded programs that help shape a multidonor partnership chaired by the Bank, which has car-

thinking in the developmnent cosnmunity, including: ried oet an intensive Y2K Initiative (about s26 tnillion) to

> Cities Alliance, a global partntership to support city devel- help governments address Y2K risks and to develop anid

opnment strategies involving voice-Hs (Habitat, bilateral donors, itnpletnent national reinediation plans, and awarded 140

xGOs, and the business comtunity, whose Cities Witbout grants (two-thirds of which to national, Y2K-related institu-

Slums Initiative plans to improve living conditionsfor urban tions in IDA countries).

poor people by building on successful cotnmunity-based programs. )> Water and Sanitation Program, a mtultipartner

> ProVention Consortium, an international partnership effort to buildfield knowledge, strengthen sector policies,

of governments, multilateral agencies, private insurance coin- and target investments towards poor people (fiscal 2ooo

panies, universities, antd NGOs, newly launched infiscal outputs included about 20 pilot/detnonstration projects,

2000 to develop strategic, rapid responses to natural and 40 investment projects, 8o studies andfield notes, §0

technological disasters in the developing world. learning events, and 45 policy reform initiatives in 36

>- The Global Corporate Governance Forum, a countries).

Bank-omac effort to help developing countries imiprove cor- 2> Business Partnersfor Development, a program iti-

porategoverntance by bringing partners together to exchange tiated in l998 that supports pilot projects imnpleniented by

experience andgoodpractices and by supporting enforcement companies with the objective of demonstratintg how the pri-

and voluntary cornpliatnce in this area. vate sector cani help cortmnunity development.
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OPERATIONS
BOX 5.5 TELECOMMUNICATIONS

OPERATIONS: SECTOR REFORM
TO HELP POOR PEOPLE Lending

Poor people have identfied communication services as one of their priority needs. Meet- Infrastructure support continues to play a leading

ing this need, however has proven to be dfficvult: providing service to poor, isolated areas role in the Bank's fight against poverty: zS percent

is often not commercially viable; and countries can no longer support tarffs that cross- of the Bank's fiscal 2000 lending supported proj-

subsidize service to these areas, Infoscal 2000, the Bank promoted innovative solutions ects in infrastructure (here defined broadly to

that rely on market mechanisms to mteet the comniunsication needs of poor people. include the sectors shown in Figure 5.8). In the

Two fiscal 2ooo operations (si5.9 million in Nicaragua and $12.3 tnillion in the water supply/sanitation, transport, and urban

Dominican Republic) are examples of these mechaniMs5. Under both projects, the Bank development sectors, where private investment is

is helping governmenits establish telecommunications developmentfunldsfinanced by con- still scarce, Bank lending in fiscal 2ooo reached a

tributionsfrotn all telecommunications service providers. Thefunds subsidize initial total of s2.9 billion. In the energy, mining, and

iufrastructure investments to those carriers who are willing to operate in poor areas. The telecommunications sectors, where investment is

residents of rural areas beneft directly by obtaining access to telephole and imiternet serv- shifting to the private sector, Bank investment

ices, often for thefirst time, and indirectly through better provision of governmnent services lending continued to decline to about 51.3 billion

and increased commercial activity of local businesses (resultingfrom the improved in fiscal 2ooo. Bank operations in these sectors

telecomntunicationsfacilities). focused increasingly on supporting institutional

reform and catalyzing private financing rather than

the poorest countries; in sectors that directly direct funding of investment (see Figure 5.9). The

affect poor people (such as water supply and quality of the portfolio in private sector develop-

energy distribution); and with a focus on provid- ment and infrastructure improved in fiscal zooo as

ing more, better, and cheaper services to the a result of proactive management of problem proj-

poorest. These strategic thrusts guided the ects, especially in the electric power and energy and

Bank's fiscal 2000 operations in private sector oil and gas sectors.

development and infrastructure (see Box 5.5 on

telecommunications services for poor people); Guarantees

Bank-sFc organizational changes to better har- In fiscal zooo, the Bank continued to expand its

ness the private sector's potential; and the Bank's menu of guarantee products through the exten-

knowledge-sharing activities. sion of partial credit guarantees in support of

structural adjustment. A Policy-Based Guarantee
Trainers from the was issued for the first time in October i999, in

Consultative _ i S _ the amount of $250 million, to support the
Group to Assist

the Poorest (CGAP) issuance of si.5 billion in notes by the Republic of
are featu red at the Argentina. The guarantee supported Argentina's

world-renowned reform program and allowed the country to put

Microfinance forward a large issue at a time when investors gen-

of the Economics erally were not disposed to buying emerging mar-
Institute in Boul- ket debt. It also helped to broaden the market for

der, Colorado. The Argentine paper and mobilize capital market

a course ons financing; in addition, it will help Argentina's
Accounting for future access to private foreign capital (in terms of

Microfinance, and increased volumes, longer maturities, and reduced
has benefited . spreads). The unique financing structure helped to

microfinance prac-
titirofinaner from- .enhance country creditworthiness, assure continu-

around the world. ity of macroeconomic policies, and ensure that

vital social services were sustained in a difficult
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financial environment. In addition, in Haripur, sectors were regrouped into

Bangladesh, a Partial Risk Guarantee of s6i mil- a joint World Bank-IFc Pri- FIGURE 5.8
BANK OPERATIONS IN

lion served to support construction of a private vate Sector Advisory Ser- SELECTED INFRASTRUCTURE

power plant bv protecting investors against certain vice (PSAS). PSAS provides AND OTHER SECTORS,

types of nonperformance by the government. wide-ranging technical and FISCAL 2000
Total $4.2 bil/ion

policy-related advisory serv- Water Supply

Stimulating private provision of infrastructure ices to Bank Group clients adS tation
ices to Bank Group clientsin 3sy %t, ra

Bank operations to stimulate private investment in in the area of private sector 27% D-onl,Peert
17%

infrastructure numbered 306 between fiscal 1988 development, focusing on I
and fiscal 2000 (Table 5.2). In fiscal zooo, about frontier sectors and coun-

6o percent of operations in the infrastructure sec- tries where the private sector

tors included private-sector participation as a key is not yet a major force for

objective. In Cartagena, Colombia, for example, change in the economy.

the Bank is helping the city's water and sanitation Second, to better mobi-

utility pioneer a private sector participation lize the Bank Group's trans- T
ran-pormtn 

model; and a project in Albania is introducing actions and policy expertise

private sector participation in water supply reha- in sectors where investment Note: Sector classification is on a loan-component
I ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~basis. See Table 1. 1. p. 33.

bilitation through a management/lease contract. is shifting rapidly to the pri- a. EnergyyCvconsists of $99minSon in electricpower

Other projects supporting private infrastructure vare sector, the Bank and IFC

provision are helping to reduce electric energy created joint Global Prod-

waste and facilitate private and public investments uct Groups in Information FIGURE 5.9

in energy efficiency (Brazil); improve the quality and Communications Tech- WORLD BANK GROUP

of electricity supply, develop a competitive elec- nologies; Oil, Gas, and TELECOMMUNICATIONS

tricity market, and increase the grid company's Chemicals; and Mining. SECTOR

efficiency (Kazakhstan); and support the country's These groups provide a full (numberofprojects)

private sector development strategy through bank- range of assistance to _ IC

ing restructuring, infrastructure and utility regula- clients, from support for WB adtustmenO ndng

tion, and a public enterprise privatization program regulatory frameworks to _ WB nvstmnrt lnrding

(Tanzania). In addition, the Bank worked with equity investment. They also

other donors to launch a new technical assistance aim to sharpen the focus on

facility to promote private sector involvement in poverty alleviation and envi-

infrastructure (See Box 5.6). ronmenral issues by, for

ORGANIZAT10NAL CHANGES ~ ~ example, broadening the
ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGES ~~~~~~~~~~distribution of liquid 1

TO IM PROVE BANK-IFC propane gas to poor people

INT E G RATION or improving environmental fla i
Past efforts to support private sector development conditions for them in min-

point to the need for an integrated approach: ing communities.

countries need support not only to create an Finally, the nFc and the FY95 FYOO

enabling business environment and develop sound Bank have joined forces to Wihile Bank Group lending to the telecornmunications
sector has declined since 1995 in dolrtrs(fromregulatory frameworks but also to mobilize invest- improve the business envi- $4.3 bilSon to $3.6 hiion in fiscal 2000), the number

mentcapital. To that end, beginning Januaryv , ronment for smal and of projects is significantly higher IFC and MIGAI ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~account for all of this growh, playing a crucial role in

2000, the Bank integrated its staff and work pro- medium enterprises (sMfs), leveraging re/atiely small Bank Group lending com-
mitmnents against large volumnes of private investment.

grams in three key Psi sectors with those of IFC. strengthen their capacitv The dramatically different composition of Worid Bank
assistance (IBRD and IDA)-reflecting greater sup-

First, to strengthen coordination, staff work- and management skills, and port for Policy reforms, in the form of technical
assistance loans and structural adjustment lending

ing on privatization, business environment, and help them overcome finan- rather than for investment in physical infrastrc-
ture-accounts for the decline in dollar volume.

private participation in infrastructure and in social cial constraints through
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TABLE 5.2 WORLD BANK PPI OPERATIONS, FISCAL I988-000

LATIN MIDDLE

EUROPE AND AMERICA EAST AND

EAST ASIA SOUTH CENTRAL AND THE NORTH INCREASE

Instrument AFRICA AND PACIFIC ASIA ASIA CARIBBEAN AFRICA TOTAL IN FYOO

Adjustments:

Single Sector 7 0 0 4 I 3 15 I

Multi Sector 6 7 2 10 I0 2 37 8

Technical assistance 10 3 2 4 19 2 40 7

Investment lending 53 35 25 30 44 16 203 22

Guarantees I 5 3 0 I 0 10 I

Adaptable Program Lending 0 0 I 0 0 0 I 0

Total 77 50 33 48 75 23 306 39

of which: increase in Eyoo 12 3 5 8 7 4 39

As of 6/30/00

innovative work in capital markets. The SME pro- the Bank is helping the government use informa-

gram is especially important in poor countries tion technology to support health, education, and

where domestic private investment is weak. The microenterprise development in poor countries.

Bank Group's strategy to assist SMES includes sup- Support to the Arab Urban Development Insti-

port for: expanded training through local part- tute is of a broader nature, building knowledge

ners; utilization of information technologies and management capability to provide access to infor-

expanded internet access; enterprise-level support mation on urban economic and social indicators,

programs; government-private sector reform dia- urban best practices, and urban projects to allevi-

logue; and development of business associations. ate poverty. In addition, web sites, seminars, and

pilot programs are helping disseminate knowledge
KNOWLEDGE MANAGEMENT to external partners and client countries. The

Knowledge management activities in the infra- Bank's Gender and Transport web site, for exam-

structure sectors are helping client countries man- ple, has worldwide participation that is helping

age their sector investment programs and improve women's involvement in transport plan-

increasing the timeliness and impact of Bank ning and provision; the web site's ultimate objec-

assistance. In Mauritania, for example, through tive is to increase female economic participation

analytical support and sharing of best practice, and access to education and social services.
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BOX 5.6 PUBLIC-PRIVATE INFRASTRUCTURE
ADVISORY FACILITY LAUNCHED

IVorking with the rK, andJapanese goverimients, the Bank > Technical advice on establishing legal and regeilatory

la uncked a new snultidonior technical assistance facility inifiscal frameworks, strengthening institutional capacity of regulatomy

2000 to help developing countries imnprove the quality of their agetncies, privatizing network utilities, increasing rural access,

infrastructure througk private sector involvn1lemet. The Pub- anid other reforms (for example$ to prepare privatization of

lic-Private Infrastructu re Advisory Facility (PPmLF) channels Paraguay's telecomnmunications companyr);

teceuical assistance to developing countrygovernmeints, aitned at > International conferenices and country workshops bringing

tapping the full potential of private seetor involvement in infra- together key stakeholders to discuss best practice and build con-

structure, It also identifes, disseminaites; aiid proumotes best sensus on policy, legislative, and regulatory optionsfor private

practices onl private sector involvenment in iberastructure in participationi ini infrastricture;

developing countries. >! Supportfor the creation of regional regulatory

Duringfiscal 2ooo, PPIA m providedgrants of over US$l5 forummiis in South Asia, Africa, and the Caribbean to bumild

mliillioll for somie 70 activities. Exanuples include: capacity of governnient regulators through training, regional

> Preparation of Country Framework Reportsfor eleven information ceniters, conferences, workshops, and support

countries e.g. india, the Philippiies, and Uganda), which of basic regulatory research for examitple., a two-wveek

entailed coimiprehensive analysis of the supporting policy, regiila- training course delivered to over 7oo participants in

tory, and fnancialframeworkfor attracting private investmenit India by the South Asia Forunifor Infrastructucre

imi imnfrastructmire; Regulation).
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FINANCIAL SECTOR

A well-functioning financial system Activities included: support to Turkey to create a
mobilizes resources and savings new banking and regulatory and supervisory enti-

and ensures efficient allocation ty; to Tanzania to sell the country's largest state-

and use of resources. These func- owned bank to one of South Africa's largest

tions help increase productivity, commercial banks; and to Mexico for a program

which is key to growth and poverty alleviation. of bank restructuring that will strengthen the

However, the pivotal role of the financial system financial sector, spur economic growth, and help

in development is even more evident when it poverty alleviation.

breaks down. Many governments weathered the

1997-98 financial crisis through efforts to redress NONLENDING: IMPROVING

vulnerabilities in their financial systems. Low- DIAGNOSTICS AND CAPACITY

income households are further affected when BUILDING IN CRISIS AND

troubled banking systems face loan losses and NONCRISIS COUNTRIES

insolvencies, and the government response to Mitigating financial vulnerabilities is today not

them results in higher taxes, lower social expendi- just a national goal, but a matter of common

tures, or inflation. interest for the international community. The

As part of its anti-poverty strategy this year, joint Bank-IMF Financial Sector Assessment Pro-

the Bank has helped governments to prevent gram (FSAP), launched in May 1999 on a pilot

financial system vulnerabilities and to build strong basis, identifies country vulnerabilities and key

financial systems. The Bank's lending and non- priorities for financial sector development. It pro-

lending support is centered on strengthening vides national authorities with a strategic frame-

banks and nonbank financial institutions, equity work within which to undertake financial sector

and bond markets, microfinance, pensions, mort- strengthening. Twelve country assessments were

gage markets, and payment systems, and on devel- completed in fiscal 2000 (Cameroon, Canada,

oping insurance products to mitigate natural Colombia, the Republic of El Salvador, Estonia,

disasters (see Box 5.7). Kazakhstan, Hungary, India, the Islamic Republic

of Iran, Ireland, Lebanon, and South Africa). The
LENDING: HELPING BUILD pilot program is being substantially expanded,

SOUND FINANCIAL SYSTEMS with another 24 assessments slated for fiscal zoo1.

Lending for financial sector reform amounted to Diagnostic work on specific components of

si.8 billion in fiscal 2000 and concentrated on the financial system (housing finance, public

building sound foundations for financial systems. debt markets, insurance and contractual savings,

PARTNERSHIPS

Participation in internationalforunis is important to the and implementing standards forfinancial supervision in order

Bank's supportforfinancial sector development. Sponsored by to improve the legal and regulatoryframnework reqtuired for

the Financial Stability Forum, a joint effort with the LmF in strongfinancial systems. Lastly the Bank has enhanced collab-

fiscal 2000 on debt management and the development of pub- oration with other regional and niultilateral development banks

lie bond markets will help governinenits better manage risk and (MNfDBs) through the MDB IWorking Group in order to better

withstandfttture shocks. Together with interniational standard- serve client coulitries, learntfrom each other's experience, and

setting bodies, the Bank is working on revising, promoting, leverage resources.
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BOX 5.7 THE TURKISH CATASTROPHIC INSURANCE POOL (TCIP)

In coun1triesfrequenitly plagued lby large natural disasters, peo- strophic insurance in Turkts , witk sloo imillion irn Ban1k finanle-

pIe ofteni rely on governuients to bail thenii out, drainiing the ing providing the initial capital stupport. By reqtiiring a small

govertntent of resources that would otherwise be available to insuran(e preittiuni to be paid by alifanlies paying taxes, the

fitiance developtient. Following Turkeys earthq,uake in i9gg governincint will n1o longerguarantee replaceinetit housing but

('its third in eight years,, the government askedfor Bank assis- instead serve as a re-insurer of last resort. The scheme will be

tance to develop a inechauisni that would reduce its liability matiaged atid admiinistered by the private sector, to the uiaxiiiilun

asid mnitigate risk, wkile creating a vnore_finanlcially viable extent possible, and at the end of fve years, the private sector will

responise to iatuiral disasters, likely take over capital provisioni, witk the Baiik itivolved only as

Ki4th support froiii the ktarutara Emergency Faithtquake a credit ebhaticer

PReconistrucueoi Prolect, a iiatieiial itisurance plan has been devel- If successful, T(CJP would represetit a iiajor breakthrough

oped that will shift the fitiancial burden offuture reconstroctioii in redutcing the adverse financial and economnic exposure of

of housing anid iifrastructurefrcot the individualfainilies anid Turkey to catastrophic events. It would also benefit the coun-

thegovermnienit to initernatotial re-insurers, capital markets, atid try s econotiic growth as well as its ability to weather itajor

to the Turkish Catastrophic Insuranice Pool (TcfP, newly being catastrophes without resortinig to mtassive emnergency aid froai

established. T(.CIP will act as a staiid-alone provider of cata- initerniationialfinancial institutionis and donior countries.

rural and micro finance) creates opportunities IMF, the Asian Development Bank (ADB) and other

for increased nonbank intermediation, lessens regional partners. Support has focused on policies

the reliance on banks, mitigates risk in the finan- and institution-building for restructuring financial

cial sector, insulates firms from short-run pres- institutions, debt recovery, corporate restructur-

sures, and in the end, lessens the burden of crises ing, and broader financial sector strengthening,

on poor people. In Brazil, support for housing and on the need to reduce instability in domestic

finance reform aims to make homes affordable to financial markets as a way to minimize the impact

more people. In India, the Bank is helping the of crisis on poor people (see Figure y.io). Further,

government explore the potential for developing the World Bank Institute has invested in client

a long-term debt market, so as to reduce expo- training programs in con-

sure to external shocks. Assistance to the Arab junction with partners FIGURE 5.10

Republic of Egypt will increase access to rural (OECD, International Orga- POVERTY RATES AND
I ~~~~~~FINANCIAL CRISES

finance. nizati on of Securities Corn- (percent ofpopulation living below the poverty line)

Advisory services and training are other missions (Iosco),
-7 1997

important nonlending services. A special Bank International Association of 1998

unit continued in fiscal zooo to provide intensive Insurance Supervisors (IAIS), 192

crisis management support to Indonesia, the and the Toronto Centre), on m

Republic of Korea, and Thailand, and most various elements of the 167

recently, Ecuador, in close cooperation with the financial system. ' 0

Repdbio of Korea ,nd-neoi Thi and

The pecentage of the population lying below the
poverty line during the Asian crisis increased dramati-
cally, highlighting the importance ofa strong financial
system in the effort to redue poverty
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WORLD BANK FINANCES:
MAXIMIZING THE BANK'S
DEVELOPMENT IMPACT

Why is financial strength importantfor institutions
providing developmentfinance?

Because it helps ensurefor borrowers a sustainable supply of
long-term capital, which is key to development finance

FINANCIAL STRENGTH
WHAT MAKES THE WORLD BANK

ALLOWS IBRD TO UNIQUE AS A FINANCIAL

minimize its cost of funds and, therefore, INSTITUTION~

the cost to borrowers The Psorld Bank is a umique lending inistitution that differs itl

> leverage up its equity capital... mary ways from a commercialfinancial institution, First, its

shareholders are sovereign governmentsfrom nearly all the
thus providing its borrowing world's counitries. Seconid, it is a cooperative of niations driven
members access to capital by development objectives, with member borrowers having a

> in larger volumes voice in the policies of the institution. It does not maximize
on good terms profit but targets income to ensurefinancial strength atid to

> with longer maturities support development activities, Third, lending is only one
> in a more sustainable manner part of an overall assistance package of policy advice, tech-

nical assistance, and other nonilendinig services developed jointly
than the market would have with a country and its partners in support of the country's

provided, which means comprehensive development strategy. Fourth, mnember borrowers

> providing finance to support human and provide preferred creditor status to IBRD, lowering its cost of

social development needs that are long-term in funds, which in1 turn results in attractive borrowing termnsfor

nature and unappealing to private creditors mnembers. Finally, IBRD is not externally regulated but
> preserving borrowers' financial strength by pro- emulates best practicesfor risk management and regulation.

viding countercyclical support at times of crisis,

when poor people are the most adversely affected
2> using the leverage of low-cost finance to

promote key policy and institutional reforms

(for example, social safety net and anti-corruption
reforms)
> catalyzing private capital. by helping create

favorable investment climates and through the

collective efforts of the World Bank Group
> providing financial support for important

global public goods that are critical for the well-
being of poor people
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ELEMENTS OF IBRD'S
FINANCIAL STRATEGY

PRESERVINNG AAA-RATED ACHIEVING EFFICIENT CONTINUOUSLY ADAPTING
FINANCIALSTRENGTH INTERMEDIATON TO B ERNEEDS

Goal: ensure income-generating/ Goal: provide cost-effective Goal: ensure flexibility and inno-
risk-bearing capacity to support i0 fundgfor developent vation in meeting diverse and
0IBRDs deelopment objectives changing client needs

- Capital commitments - Wide access to markets, due - Several product innovations

(including callable capital) of 181 to strong issuing track record in recent years, to help clients

sovereign shareholders (60 per- manage financial risk, tailor terms

cent of which are OECD countries) - Over 50 years of innovation to their debt strategies, and meet

in capital markets, to meet exceptional crisis demands

> Preferred creditor status: investor needs and increase mar-

shareholders give high priority ket efficiency - Wide borrower choice in loan

to repayments types, to help meet operational

- Leadership in new products needs (ranging from emergency

> Conservative financial man- (global bond, electronic bond), recovery and specific investment

agement: total lending cannot structured finance, emerging loans to sectoral and structural

exceed total capital markets issuance adjustment loans)

:- High liquidity: ensures cash - Wide underwriter partner- >- Growing currency and inter-

flow to meet obligations ships, to maximize distribution est rate choice, to help clients

and liquidity of World Bank bonds manage financial risk (multicurren-

> Conservative capital struc- cy pool, LIBOR-based single cur-

ture: debt is supported by callable >- Diversified global investor rency, fixed-rate single currency,

capital and is less than 60 percent base, to broaden market access fixed spread over LIBOR)

of total capital and minimizes the cost of funds

> Flexible guarantees, to mobi-

2' Risk-minimizing lending poli- - Ample Treasury liquidity, lize private sector financing for

cies (lending only to sovereigns; to provide flexibility in market projects and, since April 1999,

no loan rescheduling; loan con- timing of borrowings support structural, social, and

centration limits; sector and geo- institutional reforms

graphic diversification; rigorous > Strong derivatives capacity,

approval criteria; emphasis on to optimize borrowing strategy > Increased choice of lending
country "ownership") and reduces cost to borrowers terms (longer maturities, more

flexible repayment)

> Active asset-liability manage-
ment, to ensure adequate funding

for each product at the most

attractive cost
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INTERNATIONAL BANK FOR RECONSTRUCTION AND

DEVELOPMENT

CONDENSED MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2000

Throughout Management's Discussion and Analysis, terms in boldface type are defined in the Glossary of Terms
on page 25 of The ViVrld Bank Annual Report 2000: Financial Statements and Appendixes to the Annual Report. The Notes to
Financial Statements referred to in this Management's Discussion and Analysis are also included in that report

The Management's Discussion and Analysis may contain forward looking statements. Such statements are

based on current expectations which are subject to risks and uncertainties. Consequently, actual results could
differ materially from those currently anticipated.
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I. FINANCIAL OVERVIEW the developing world. While the global financial crisis
led to an increase in lending activity in FY 1998 and

The International Bank for Reconstruction and FY 1999, the number of loans and the volume of
Development (IBRD) is an international organization lending commitments fell sharply in FY 2000,
established in 1945 and is owned by its member returning to pre-crisis levels. This decline was due

countries. IBRD's main goal is reducing poverty by partly to the recovery from financial crises and coun-

promoting sustainable economic development. It try specific circumstances. Many of the borrowers
pursues this goal primarily by providing loans, guar- directly affected by the financial crisis have stabilized,

antees and related technical assistance for projects and in part because of the quick and flexible response of
programs in its developing member countries. the international community. Lower commitments

IBRD's ability to intermediate funds from interna- also reflected a general trend in demand from borrow-
tional capital markets for lending to its developing ers for smaller average lending operations.
member countries is an important element in achiev- In the context of assessing changes in IBRD's
ing its development goals. IBRD's objective is not to operating environment, it is management's practice to
maximize profit, but to earn adequate net income to recommend each year the allocation of net income to

ensure its financial strength and to sustain its develop- augment reserves, waivers of loan charges to eligible
ment activities. Box 6.1 presents selected financial borrowers, and grants from net income to support
data for the last five fiscal years. developmental activities.

The financial strength of IBRD is based on the As part of this annual review, in July 1998,
support it receives from its shareholders and on its IBRD's Executive Directors took several actions to
array of financial policies and practices. Shareholder augment its financial capacity. These measures
support for IBRD is reflected in the capital backing it included increasing the contractual charges on new
has received from its members and in the record of its loans, and reducing the interest waiver for FY 1999
borrowing members in meeting their debt-service from 25 basis points to S basis points on old loans.
obligations to it. IBRD's financial policies and prac- These pricing changes effectively brought the net
tices have led it to build reserves, to diversify its fund- spread for FY 1999 to 45 basis points on old loans
ing sources, to hold a large portfolio of liquid and to 50 basis points on new loans. Also, a front-
investments, and to limit a variety of risks, induding end fee of 00 basis points, payable for each such
credit, market and liquidity risks. loan at the time it becomes effective, was introduced.

IBRD's principal assets are its loans to member In July I999, the Executive Directors allocated $955
countries. The majority of IBRD's outstanding loans million of FY 1999 income to reserves and main-
are priced on a cost pass-through basis, in which the tained the FY 1999 loan pricing strategy and interest

cost of funding the loans, plus a lending spread, is waivers for FY 2000.
passed through to the borrower. FY 2000 net income was $1,991 million, $473

To raise funds, IBRD issues debt securities in a million higher than the preceding year. An FY 2000

variety of currencies to both institutional and retail reduction in the loan loss provision contributed $412
investors. These borrowings, together with IBRD's million to this increase. Income was further bolstered
equity, are used to fund its lending and investment by the impact of interest rate resets on loans. These
activities, as well as general operations. increases to net income were partially offset by the

IBRD holds its assets and liabilities primarily in absence in FY 2000 of a one time gain of $237 mil-
U.S. dollars, euro (and its national currency units), lion, resulting from the liquidation in FY 1999 of the

and Japanese yen. IBRD mitigates its exposure to held-to-maturity portfolio.
exchange rate risks by matching the currencies of its On August I, 2000, the Executive Directors approved
assets with those of its liabilities and reserves: how- the allocation of $1,280 million of FY 2000 net
ever, the reported levels of its assets, liabilities and income to reserves, and recommended to IBRD's
income in the financial statements are affected by Board of Governors the transfer of $635 million
exchange rate movements of major currencies com- from unallocated net income to other development
pared to IBRD's reporting currency, the U.S. dollar. purposes, and that the remainder be retained as sur-
This financial statement reporting effect does not plus. For FY 2001, an increase to IS basis points in
impact IBRD's risk bearing capacity. the interest waiver was approved for old loans so that

FY 1998 and FY 1999 were marked by unprec- the net lending spread will be 35 basis points. For
edented growth in the loan portfolio as IBRD new loans, the interest waiver of 25 basis points was
responded to the financial crisis that had begun in maintained. FY 2001 waivers of commitment
East and Southeast Asia and spread to other parts of charges were also maintained at the FY 2000 level.
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Box 6.1: Selected Financial Data

2000 Z999 1998 199 9996

For the Year ThS, $1i1i,n,)

Loan Income (comprised of 8,153 7,649 6,881 7,235 7,922

Interest 8,041 7,535 6,775 7,122 7,804

Commitment Charges 112 114 106 113 118

Provision for Loan Losses 166 (246) (251) (63) (42)

Investment Income 1,589 1,684 1,233 834 720

Borrowing Expenses (7,128) (6,846) (6,144) (5,952) (6,570)

Net Noninterest Expense (789) (723) (476) (769) (843)

Net Income 1,991 1,518 1T243 1,285 1,187

Performance Ratios (%)

Net Return on Average Earning Assets' 1.34 1.05 0.96 1.02 0.89

Gross Return on:

Average Earning Assetsa 6.53 6.47 6.29 6.41 6.50

Average Outstanding Loans0 6.71 6.58 6.43 6.62 6.78

Average Cash and Investments 5.74 6.00 5.63 5.02 4.47

Cost of Average Borrowings
(after swaps) 5.92 5.92 6.01 6.06 6.31

Interest Coverage Ratio 1.28 1.22 1.20 1.22 1.18

Return on Equity 7.73 6.16 5.29 5.2I 4.61
Equity Capital-to-Loans Ratio b 21.23 20.65 21.44 22.06 21.80

Total at Year-end 'Us $ millin,)

Total Assets 227,810 230,445 204,808 161,786 151,837

Cash and Liquid Investments' 24,331 30,122 24,837 18,250 15,990

Loans Outstanding 120,104 117,228 106,576 105,805 110,246

Accumulated Provision for Loan Losses (3,400) (3,560) (3,240) (3,210) (3,340)

Borrowings Outstandingd 110,379 115,739 103,477 96,679 96,719

Total Equity 29,289 28,021 26,514 27,228 28,300

a. Inclsdes iscomefrots commitment charges.

b See Sertion 5: Funding Resources, Equityfor additional discussion.

2 Ineludes investments designated as held-to-miaturitrsforfiscal years 1996-98.

d. Outstanding borrosings, before sswaps, net of preminl/disccunt.
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FIGURE 6.1 IBRD continues to eval- Under IBRD's Articles of Agreement (the Arti-
IBRD LENDING uate alternative strategies to cles), as applied, the total amount outstanding of

COMMITMENTS enhance its risk-bearing direct loans made by IBRD, participation in loans

capacity to ensure that it can and callable guarantees may not exceed the statutory
155 | | | lF 1 i l respond to borrowers as lending limit. At June 30, 2000, outstanding loans

needed, while preserving its and callable guarantees (net of the accumulated loan
75 11 l i financial strength. loss provision) totaled $117,181 million, equal to

50 I / 1 2. DEVELOPMENT 57% of the statutory lending limit.

ACTIVITIES Lending Instruments
25 IBRD lending generally falls into one of two cat-

Adjustment IBRD offers loans, egories: investment or adjustment lending. Histori-

o related hedging products, and cally, most IBRD loans have been for investment

F 9FY95 FY96 FY97 FY98 FY99 FYOO guarantees to its borrowing projects or programs. Figure 6.1 presents IBRD
member countries to help lending by category for the last eight fiscal years, as a

meet their development needs. It also provides tech- percentage of total loans approved.
nical assistance and other services to support poverty Current operating guidelines state that adjust-
reduction in these countries. ment lending, excluding debt and debt-service reduc-

Loans tion loans, will normally not exceed 25% of total
IBRD lending. This guideline was established with

From its establishment through June 30, 2000, the understanding that it was likely to be exceeded if
IBRD had approved loans, net of cancellations, total- world economic conditions worsened. This guideline
ing $309,839 million to borrowers in 129 coun- is not a rigid limit but rather a trigger for a reevalua-
tries. The loans held by IBRD, including loans tion of such lending. As a result of several large
approved but not yet effective, at June 30, 2000, adjustment loans made by IBRD during FY 1999,
totaled $ I 64,8S8 million, of which $ I20,104 mil- 63% of IBRD's lending in that year consisted of such
lion was outstanding and $44,754 million was undis- loans (47% for FY 1998). In FY 2000, this propor-
bursed. Cumulative loan repayments at June 30, tion decreased to 41% as fewer adjustment loans were
2000, based on U.S. dollar equivalents at the time of necessary. The lower commitments for adjustment
receipt, were $141,265 million. lending reflect the general improvement in global

The amount of loans outstanding at June 30, financial circumstances compared to the two prior
2000 was $2,876 million higher than that at June 30, fiscal years. The Executive Directors are aware that, in
1999. The increase is primarily attributable to net light of recent financial circumstances in the world,
disbursements of $2,750 million. the guideline has been exceeded in recent years, and

During FY 2000, commitments of new loans to may possibly be exceeded again in subsequent years.
member countries were $I0,919 million, down from
$22,182 million in FY 1999. In FY 1998 and FY Invesnment Lending

IBRD has several lending instruments that sup-
1999, IBRD's commitments had reached unprece- port investment activities, either discrete projects or
dented levels. FY 2000 commitments have declined f I d I
from these levels, most notably in adjustment lending. programs oF nvestment. nvestment lenming commit- 
Three types of factors have contributed to this million-FY 1999; $I,I51 million-FY I998).
decrease in lending commitments:
> Cyclical Factors: Emerging market economies have Adjustment Lending

stabilized after the global financial crisis; IBRD also makes adjustment loans designed to
Long-term Factors: There is a continuing trend support the introduction of basic changes in eco-
toward smaller average project size; nomic, financial and other policies of key importance

> Country-specfir Factors: A number of country-spe- for the economic development of member countries.
cific factors such as political transitions, conflicts, Disbursements on these loans are conditioned on cer-
and country performance. tain performance objectives. Adjustment lending

J and country per ormance, ~comimitted for FY 2000 totaled $4,426 million
Compared to the preceding fiscal year, the rela-

tive regional composition of commitments in FY ($13,937 million-FY 1999; $9,935 million-FY

2000 shifted away from East Asia and slightly more 1998.)
towards Eastern Europe, Central Asia and Latin Enclave Lending
America. On rare occasions, IBRD will lend for a large,

foreign exchange generating project in a member
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country usually eligible only for loans from the Inter- old loans. Commitment charge waivers for FY 2001
national Development Association (IDA). In these remain at 50 basis points. Further details are provided
circumstances appropriate risk mitigation measures in the Notes to Financial Statements-Note C.
are incorporated (including off-shore escrow accounts Multicurrency Pool Loans
and debt-service reserves acceptable to IBRD) to The currencv composition of multicurrency
ensure that the risks to IBRD are minimized. At June pool loans is determined on the basis of a pool, which
30, 2000, IBRD had $170 million in outstanding provides a currency composition that is the same for
loans for enclave projects. In FY 2000, IBRD all loans in the pool. Pursuant to a policy established
approved enclave loans totalling $93 million. by the Executive Directors and subject to their peri-

Financial Terms of Loans odic review, at least 90% of the U.S. dollar equivalent
In recent years, IBRD has offered new loans w'ith value of the pool is in a fixed ratio of one U.S. dollar

three tvpes of financial terms: multicurrency pool to 125 Japanese yen to one euro.
l v s c The lending rate on these cost pass-through

loans, variable-spread single currency loans, and fixed- loans is variable, adjusted every six months to reflect
rate single currency loans. Beginning September I, the previous semester's avera e cost of outstanding
1999, IBRD also made available a new LIBOR-based b a
fie sread loa prdc and efetiv ecme 1 T borrowings allocated to fund these loans, weighted byfixed spread loan product and, effective D^ecember 1, the average currency composition of the pool. IBRD

1999, the offer of fixed-rate single currency loans was ts lerag spread tositionaverage ol.
terminated. This choice of financial terms is intended adds its lending spread to that average cost.
to provide borrowers with the flexibility to select Multicurrency Pool Loan Conversion Options
terms that are both compatible with their debt man- In FY 1997, in response to borrower demand for
agement strategy and suited to their debt-servicing broader currency choice, the Executive Directors
capability. Most multicurrency pool loans and var- approved the offer of currency choice for all IBRD
able spread single currencv loans mature over a period multicurrency pool loans for which the invitation to
that ranges from fifteen to twenty years and carry a negotiate was issued before September I, 1996. The
three- to five-vear grace period for principal. While purpose of this invitation was to provide borrowers
fixed-spread loans offer more flexible repayment the flexibility to amend the terms of their existing
terms, this flexibility is subject to limits aimed at multicurrency pool loans to reflect their choice of the
maintaining a similar average loan maturity across all offered currencies by converting multicurrency pool
loan products for a given borrower. loans to single currency loan terms or single currency

For most products, IBRD charges a lending rate pool terms. Those options expired on July v , 1998.
composed of its average cost of borrowings plus a Single currency pool terms are not available for new
spread. Until July 31, 1998, that spread was 50 basis commitments.
points. However, during the first quarter of fiscal year Single Currency Loans
1999, the lending spread was increased to 75 basis For new commitments, borrowers may select
points for new loans. Also, a front-end fee of 100 LIBOR-based, variable spread single currency terms.
basis points, payable for each such loan at the time it Fixed-rate single currency loan terms were available
becomes effective, was introduced. In addition, most for loans if the invitation to negotiate was issued
loans carry a commitment charge of 75 basis points before December I, 1999.
on undisbursed amounts. However, the fixed-spread Variable-Spread Sinife Currency Loans
loans carry a commitment charge of 85 basis points IBRD currentlv offers variable-spread single cur-
for the first four years and 75 basis points thereafter. rency loans in U.S. dollars, Japanese yen, euro, pounds

Waivers of a portion of interest owed by all eligi- sterling and Swiss francs, and will consider borrower
ble borrowers are determined annually and have been requests for loans in other currencies. Variable-spread

in~~~~~~~~~~~~~~rqet efrc foan eam othe theecs prevousninefisalrvarsin effect for each of the previous nine fiscal years. single currency loans carry a lending rate that is reset
Waivers of a portion of the commitment charge owed semi-annually. The lending rate consists of a base
on the undisbursed portion of loans are also deter- rate, which is LIBOR for the applicable currency plus
mined annually and have been in effect for each of the a spread. The spread consists of. (a) IBRD's weighted
last eleven fiscal years. For interest periods beginning average cost margin for funding for the preceding
during FY 2000, the interest waiver was 5 basis points semester allocated to these loans relative to LIBOR;
for old loans and 25 basis points for new loans. The and (b) IBRD's lending spread. These variable rate
commitment charge waiver for FY 2000 was 50 basis loans are designed to pass IBRD's funding spread to
points on all loans. Interest waivers for FY 2001 are LIBOR through to its borrowers. This spread is set
25 basis points for new loans and IS basis points for every six months, in January and July. At June 30,
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2000, the proportion of outstanding variable-spread lars, Japanese yen and euro. Requests for other curren-
single currency loans denominated in U.S. dollars was cies will also be considered.
96.1% (92.3% at June 30, 1999). These fixed-spread loans carry an interest rate of

Non-standard Single Currency Loans LIBOR, plus a spread that is fixed at loan signing for

In response to the global financial crises, IBRD the life of the loan. At June 30, 2000, the fixed
approved and disbursed several large loans totaling spread was 55 basis points for US. dollar and euro
$7,000 million on non-standard single currency loan denominated loans and 45 basis points for Japanese
terms during FY 1998 and FY 1999. These loans yen. The fixed spread consists of (a) IBRD's pro-
carry a six-month US. dollar LIBOR interest rate jected funding cost margin relative to US. dollar
plus a fixed spread ranging from 75 to 100 basis LIBOR, with a basis swap adjustment for non-U.S.
points and a front-end fee. None of these loans is eli- dollar loans; (b) a market risk premium of 5 basis
gible for waivers of interest or commitment charges. points; and (c) IBRD's standard lending spread. The

Subsequent to the disbursement of these loans, fixed-spread offered will be evaluated from time to
during FY 1999 IBRD introduced a new type of loan time and may be reset when market changes warrant.
tailored to be part of a broad financial support pack- Fixed-spread loans carry IBRD's standard loan
age for borrowing countries. These special structural charges for new commitments, including a 100 basis
and sector adjustment loans also carry non-standard point front-end fee on the loan amount and a 75

single currency loan terms. As of June 30, 2000, basis point commitment fee on undisbursed loan
IBRD had approved a total of $5,05I million of spe- amounts. In addition, these loans carry a commit-
cial structural or sector adjustment loans. At June 30, ment charge risk premium of 10 basis points on
2000, $4,051 million of this amount had been dis- undisbursed loan amounts for the first four years of
bursed. Their terms indude a six-month U.S. dollar the loan' life. This premium, along with the market
LIBOR interest rate plus a minimum fixed spread, risk premium in the interest spread, compensates
currently set at 400 basis points, which may vary for IBRD for funding and refinancing risk.
new loans over time depending on IBRD's overall Borrowers selecting this product may change the
risk-bearing capacity and market conditions. These currency or interest rate basis over the life of the loan
loans have a five year maturity with a three-year grace and have more flexibility in selecting loan maturities.
period on principal, and a front-end fee of one per- Effective February I, 2000, a borrower may choose to
cent of the principal amount payable on effectiveness, include the following conversion features in the loan
Special structural and adjustment loans are not eligi- contract:
ble for waivers of interest or commitment charges. > option to change the currency at market rates of

all or a part of the undisbursed or disbursed loan
Fixed-rate Single Curreney Loans

As of December I, 1999, fixed-rate single cur- amounts (for a fee);
rency loans were no longer available for new commit- all or a part of the disbursed amounts (without
ments. Fixed-rate single currency loans carrv lending l rapr ftedsusdaons(ihuments.~~~ ~ Fie-rt sigl curnylascrylnig charge) for rate fixings for up to the full maturity
rates that are set on specified semi-annual rate fixing ohe loa ran for aou up to the o,uts
dates for amounts disbursed during the preceding six ing loan amount;
months. The lending rate consists of a base rate,iglaamutmonths. Te lendingrate conssts of a ase rate > option to unfix or re-fix the interest rate at mar-
which reflects market interest rates for the applicable ketirate onfal or rt-f isburse lan amout
currency on the rate-fixing date for the equivalent ra fee);
loan maturity, plus a spread. The spread consists of: option to cap or coflar the floating interest rate
(a) IBRD's funding cost margin relative to the base on afl or a part of disbursed loan amounts (for a
rate for these loans; (b) a risk premium to compensate fee).
IBRD for market risks it incurs in funding these Transaction fees range from 12.5 to 25 basis

loans; and (c) IBRD's lending spread. points of the notional transaction amount. Repay-

Fixed-Spread Loans ment terms are more flexible than for prior products,
During the first quarter of FY 2000, IBRD subject to certain constraints on the average repay-

introduced the fixed-spread loan, designed in ment maturity and final maturity on a country basis.
response to the borrowers' desire for more flexible Within these constraints, borrowers have flexibility to
financial products. Fixed-spread loans can be tailored configure grace periods and maturity profiles in a
to meet the needs of individual projects and programs manner consistent with the purpose of the loan.
and support borrowers' debt management strategies. Repayment profiles may be level repayment of princi-
Fixed-spread loans are currently offered in U.S. dol- pal, an annuity type schedule, a bullet repayment or a
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customized schedule. Repayment profiles cannot be market cost of the instrument to the borrower, and
changed after a loan is signed. Table 6.1 presents a will charge an administrative fee which varies from
breakdown of IBRD's loan portfolio by loan product. 12.5 to 37.5 basis points of the notional principal

For more information, see the Notes to Financial involved. These instruments may be executed either
Statements-Note C. under a master derivatives agreement which substan-

Hed~ing Precdcts tially conforms to industry standards, or in individu-
ally negotiated transactions. IBRD is in the process of

Along with the approval of the introduction of making these instruments available.
the fixed-spread loan product, IBRD also approved Guarantees
the offer of new hedging products for its borrowers to
respond to their needs for access to better risk man- IBRD offers guarantees on loans from private
agement tools. These products assist borrowers in investors for projects in countries eligible to borrow
hedging their risks on individual loans made to them from IBRD. In exceptional cases, IBRD may offer
by IBRD. These hedging products include interest enclave guarantees for loans for foreign-exchange gen-
rate and currency swaps, and interest rate caps and erating projects in a member country usually eligible
collars. On a case-by-case basis, commodity-linked only for credits from IDA. IBRD guarantees are flexi-
swaps may also be considered. ble instruments that provide the credit enhancement

Each request from a borrower for execution of a required to mobilize private sector financing for indi-
hedging product must indude an explanation of its vidual projects through targeted and limited support,
suitability for risk management purposes. IBRD will thus enhancing IBRD's developmental impact by cata-
serve as a financial intermediary, passing through the lyzing private sector participation. On a pilot basis,

TABLE 6.1: IBRD'S LOAN PORTFOLIO BY LOAN PRODUCT

In mi/ions of US dol/ars

FY2000 FY l999 FY 199S

Puntcipa/ As a % of Prnfcqoaa As a ° of Pncnapl As a % of

Loan Prodiuct Balanwe Total Loanis Balanwe Tota/ Loans Balanse Total Loans

Adjustable-rate Multicurrencv Pool Loans
Outstanding $ 35,542 30 $ 37,203 32 $ 56,274 53

Undisbursed 4,567 10 6,344 12 8,765 17

Single Currency Pool Loans

Outstanding 35,422 29 40.693 35 25,658 24

Undisbursed 241 I 374 131

Variable-Spread Single Currency Loans'
Outstanding 33,078 28 25,462 22 I5.018 14

Undisbursed 29,486 66 33,862 66 29,801 58

Fixed-Rate Single Currency Loans

Outstandine 13,636 Il 11.238 9 5,683 S

Undisbursed 8,273 18 10,787 21 12,356 24

Fixed-Spread Loans
Outstanding 968 1
Undisbursed 2,187 5

Other Loans

Outstanding 1,458 I 2,631 2 3,943 4

Undisbursed - - 5 12 0

Total -
Outstanding loans S120.104 100 $117,228 100 $106,576 100
Undisbursed loans $ 44,754 100 $ 51,372 100 S 51,065 100

a Of ukich single currency loans with non-standard terms represenst 5/0,801 mi/lion outstanding ($9,035 s/illion-June 30, Z999 and $5,000 million-June

30, /9985. AtJsise 30, 2000, $/,000 tnt//ian svas undisbursed.

b Includesfixed-rate single ctrrencs ioansfor which the rate Lad tsot yet beenfixed at fiscalyear-end.

O Indicates amounts less than 0.35.%.

00 May d1fferfrom the sunt of individualfigures due to rounding.
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guarantees are being made available to support and procedures for measuring and managing such
agreed-upon policies and reforms in certain member risks are formulated, approved and communicated
countries. IBRD applies the same country creditwor- throughout IBRD. Senior managers represented on
thiness and project evaluation criteria to guarantees as the committee are responsible for maintaining sound
it applies to loans. Projects in any member country credit assessments, addressing transaction and prod-
that is eligible for IBRD lending are also eligible for uct risk issues, providing an independent review func-
IBRD guarantees. tion and monitoring the loans, investments and

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT borrowings portfolios.
Country Credit Risk

IBRD assumes various kinds of risk in the pro- Country credit risk is the primary risk faced by
cess of providing development banking services. Its IBRD and is overseen by the Chief Credit Officer
activities can give rise to four major types of financial who leads the Country Credit Risk Deparment. It has
risk: credit risk; market risk (interest rate and three components as described below. Probable
exchange rate); liquidity risk; and operating risk. The expected losses from all three components are covered
major inherent risk to IBRD is country credit risk, or by the accumulated provision for loan losses, while
loan portfolio risk. unexpected losses are covered by IBRD's income gen-

The risk management governance structure eraxing capacity and risk-bearing capital. IBRD con-
includes an Asset/Liability Management Committee tinuously reviews the creditworthiness of its
chaired by the Chief Financial Officer. This commit- borrowing member countries and adjusts its overall
tee makes decisions and recommendations to senior country programs and lending operations to reflect
management in the areas of financial policy, the ade- the results of these reviews.
quacy and allocation of risk capital, and oversight of (i) The first component is idiosyncratic risk. This is
financial reporting. The Market Risk and Currency the risk that individual countries will accumulate
Management Subcommittee reports to the Asset/ extended debt-service arrears, or move doser to
Liability Management Committee. This subcommit- accumulating extended debt-service arrears, for
tee develops and monitors the policies under which country specific reasons.
market and commercial credit risks faced by IBRD (ii) The second component is covariance risk. This is
are measured, reported and managed. The subcom- the risk that one or more borrowers will accumu-
mittee also monitors compliance with policies gov- late extended payment arrears, or move doser to
erning commercial credit exposure and currency accumulating extended payment arrears, as a
management. Specific areas of activity include estab- result of a common external shock. This shock
lishing guidelines for limiting balance sheet and mar- could be, for example, a regional political crisis or
ket risks, the use of derivative instruments, and an adverse change in the global environment (such
monitoring matches between assets and their funding. as a fall in commodity prices or a rise in global

For the day-to-day management of financial risk, interest rates).
IBRD's risk management structure extends into its (iii)The third component is portfolio concentration
business units. Risk management processes have been risk, which arises when a small group of borrow-
established to facilitate, control and monitor risk-tak- ers account for a large share of loans outstanding.
ing. These processes are built on a foundation of ini- Portfolio concentration increases the potential
tial identification and measurement of risks by each financial impact of idiosyncratic and covariance
of the business units. risk. Portfolio concentration risk is managed

The processes and procedures by which IBRD using the portfolio concentration limit described
manages its risk profile continually evolve as its activi- below.
ties change in response to market, credit, product, and In 1997, the Executive Directors approved an
other developments. The Executive Directors periodi- approach to portfolio concentration under which
cally review trends in IBRD's risk profiles and perfor- IBRD's largest loan portfolio exposure to a single
mance, as well as any significant developments in risk borrowing country is restricted to the lower of an
management policies and controls. equitable access limit or a concentration risk limit.

Credit Risk The equitable access limit is equal to 10% of IBRD's
subscribed capital, reserves and unallocated surplus.

Credit risk, the risk of loss from default by a The concentration risk limit is based on the adequacy
borrower or counterparty, is inherent in JBRD's of IBRD's risk-bearing capacity relative to its largest
development activities. Under the direction of the loan portfolio exposure to a single borrowing coun-

Asset/Liability Management Committee, policies
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try. The concentration risk limit takes into account program endorsed by IBRD; (b) undertake a stabiliza-
not only current exposure (loans outstanding, plus the tion program, if necessary, endorsed, or financially
present value of guarantees), but also projected expo- supported, by the International Monetary Fund; (c)
sure over the ensuing three- to five-year period. The agree to a financing plan to clear all arrears to IBRD
limit is determined by the Executive Directors each and other multilateral creditors in the context of a
year at the time they consider IBRD's reserves ade- medium-term structural adjustment program; and (d)
quacy and the allocation of its net income from the make debt-service payments as they fall due on IBRD
preceding fiscal year. For FY 2001 the concentration loans during the performance period. The signing,
risk limit is $13.5 billion, unchanged from FY 2000. effectiveness and disbursement of such loans will not
The equitable access limit is $20.7 billion. IBRD's take place until the member's arrears to IBRD have
largest loan portfolio exposure (including the present been fully cleared.

value of guarantees) to a single borrowing country was Accumulated Provision for Loan Losses
SI I.8 billion at June 30, 2000. IBRD's accumulated provision for loan losses

Overdue and Non-performing Loans reflects the following:
It is IBRD's policy that if a payment of principal, > Management's assessment of the overall collect-

interest or other charges on an IBRD loan or IDA ibility risk on accruing loans (which includes call-
credit becomes 30 days overdue, no new loans to that able guarantees); and
member country, or to any other borrower in that > The present value losses on nonaccruing loans.
country, will be presented to the Executive Directors Such losses are equal to the difference between the
for approval, nor will any previously approved loan be discounted present value of the debt-service pay-
signed, until payment for all amounts 30 days overdue ments on a loan at its contractual terms and the
or longer has been received. In addition, if such pay- expected cash flows on that loan.
ment becomes 60 days overdue, disbursements on all Management determines the adequacy of the
loans to or guaranteed by that member country are accumulated provision for loan losses by assessing the
suspended until all overdue amounts have been paid. amount required to cover probable expected losses in
Where the member country is not the borrower, the the accrual portfolio and losses inherent in the nonac-
time period for suspension of the approval and sign- crual portfolio as of the balance sheet date, The
ing of new loans to or guaranteed by the member amount required to cover probable expected losses in
country is 45 days and the time period for suspension the accrual portfolio is related to the mean of the dis-
of disbursements is 60 days. It is the policy of IBRD tribution of losses facing the institution over the next
to place all loans made to or guaranteed by a member three years, which has been developed to estimate the
of IBRD in nonaccrual status, if principal, interest or probable losses inherent in the accrual portfolio at the
other charges on any such loan are overdue by more balance sheet date. This is calculated using a risk-
than six months, unless IBRD determines that the adjusted capital allocation framework that takes into
overdue amount will be collected in the immediate account the concentration and covariance risk in the
future. IBRD maintains an accumulated provision for portfolio. The amount required to cover losses inher-
loan losses to recognize the risk inherent in the port- ent in the nonaccrual portfolio is based on the calcu-
folio. The methodology for determining the accumu- lation of the discounted present value of future cash
lated provision for loan losses is discussed in the flows.
following paragraphs. Additional information on Estimating probable expected losses is inherently
IBRD's loan loss provisioning policy and status of uncertain and depends on many factors. IBRD peri-
nonaccrual loans can be found in the Notes to Finan- odically reviews such factors and reassesses the ade-
cial Statements-Summary of Significant Accounting quacy of the accumulated provision for loan losses
and Related Policies, and Note C. accordingly. Actual losses may differ from expected

In 1991, the Executive Directors adopted a pol- losses due to unforeseen changes in general macroeco-
icy to assist members with protracted arrears to IBRD nomic and political conditions, unexpected correla-
to mobilize sufficient resources to clear their arrears tions within the portfolio, and other external factors.
and to support a sustainable growth-oriented adjust- Commercial Credit Risk
ment program over the medium term. Under this
policy, IBRD will develop a lending strategy and will IBRD's commercial credit risk is concentrated in
process loans, but not sign or disburse such loans, investments in debt instruments issued by sovereigns,
during a pre-clearance performance period with agencies, banks and corporate entities. The majority
respect to members that: (a) agree to and implement a of these investments are in AAA and AA rated instru-

medium-term, growth-oriented structural adjustment ments.
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In the normal course of its business, IBRD uti- party owes IBRD and, therefore, creates an exposure
lizes various derivatives and foreign exchange financial for IBRD. When the mark-to-market is negative,
instruments to meet the financial needs of its borrow- IBRD owes the counterparty and does not have
ers, to generate income through its investment activi- replacement risk.
ties and to manage its exposure to fluctuations in When IBRD has more than one transaction out-
interest and currency rates. standing with a counterparty, and there exists a

Derivative and foreign exchange transactions legally-enforceable master derivatives agreement with
involve credit risk. The effective management of the counterparty, the "net" mark-to-market exposure
credit risk is vital to the success of IBRD's funding, represents the netting of the positive and negative
investment and asset/liability management activities. exposures with the same counterparty. If this net
The monitoring and managing of these risks is a con- mark-to-market is negative, then IBRD's exposure to
tinuous process due to changing market environ- the counterparty is considered to be zero. Net mark-
ments. to-market is, in IBRD's view, the best measure of

IBRD controls the credit risk arising from deriv- credit risk when there is a legally enforceable master
atives and foreign exchange transactions through its derivatives agreement between IBRD and the counter-
credit approval process, the use of collateral agree- party which contains legally enforceable close-out
ments and risk limits, and monitoring procedures. netting provisions. For the contractual value, notional
The credit approval process involves evaluating coun- amounts and related credit risk exposure amounts by
terparty creditworthiness, assigning credit limits and instrument, see the Notes to Financial Statements-
determining the risk profile of specific transactions. Note E.
Credit limits are calculated and monitored on the Table 6.2 provides details of IBRD's estimated
basis of potential exposures taking into consideration credit exposure on its investments and swaps, net of
current market values, estimates of potential future collateral held, by counterparty rating category. The
movements in those values and collateral agreements swap credit exposure, net by counterparty, of $440
with counterparties. If there is a collateral agreement tmillion, for swap activity associated with investments
with the counterparty to reduce credit risk, then the and borrowings, is offset by collateral of $329 mil-
amount of collateral obtained is based on the credit lion, which results in a total net swap exposure of
rating of the counterparty. Collateral held indudes $ 1 1 1 million.
cash and government securities. The FY 2000 decline in credit exposure parallels

IBRD treats the credit risk exposure as the the decrease in the size of the investment portfolio.
replacement cost of the derivative or foreign exchange The credit exposure from swaps, net of collateral
product. This is also referred to as replacement risk held, declined from $230 million to $1 11 million
or the mark-to-market exposure amount. While con- during the year.
tractual principal amount is the most commonly used The FY I999 increase in credit exposure over
volume measure in the derivative and foreign exchange that of FY I998 reflected the growth in the size of
markets, it is not a measure of credit or market risk. the investment portfolio. The net credit exposure

Mark-to-market exposure is a measure, at a from swaps declined from FY 1998 to FY 1999 by
point in time, of the value of a derivative or foreign $387 million to $230 million.
exchange contract in the open market. When the
mark-to-market is positive, it indicates the counter-

TABLE 6.2: IBRDS ESTIMATED CREDIT EXPENSE

In millions of US dollars

AtJune 30, 2000 AtJune 30, 1999 AtJune 30, 1998

Investments

Agencies, Net Total Exposre on Total Exposure on Total Exposure on

Counterparty Banks & Swap Investments and % of Investments and % of Investments and % St

Rating Sovereigns Corporates Exposure Swaps Total Swaps Total Swaps Total

AAA $3,791 $ 8,516 $ - $12,307 49 $I2,513 41 $ 9,740 37
AA 2,019 8,813 85 10,917 44 15,449 51 14,725 5(;
A - 1,776 26 1.802 7 2,311 8 1,939
Total $5,810 $19,105 $111 $25,026 100 $30,273 100 $26,404 I0()
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Asset/Liability Mcoia,gement pool is over-funded beyond FY 201 1. The present

. of asser/habilir management for value of this over-funded portion of the above-market
Th obetv debt is about $230 million as of June 30, 2000.

IBRD is to ensure adequate funding for each product Oerfnin reaches2 a maximum of approximately
at the most attractive available cost, and to manage the Over-fun i reaates fox ma telv
currency composition, maturity profile and interest $5.6 billion in FY 2015. Strategies for managing this
rate sensitivitv characteristics of the portfolio of ha- risk include changing the rare fixity of the overfunded
bilities supporting each lending product in accordance portion of the debt from fixed to floating rates. Dur-
with the particular requirements for that product and ing FY 2000, IBRD completed two forward interest
within prescribed risk parameters. IBRD's Risk Man- rate swap transactions and plans to enter into addi-
withint Dparesied risk paramedwite I Riskti Man- tional swap transactions until the over-funded portion
agement Department iS charged with identifying, of the above-market fixed-rate debt is completely
measuring and monitoring market risks, liquidity swapped to floating rates. A portion of the loss
risks, and counterparty credit risks in IBRD's financial aiable to teom bined postion wl be passr , attributable to the combined position will be passed
operations. as a rate adjustment to the multicurrency pool loans.

Interest Rate Risk Interest rate risk on non-cost pass-through prod-

There are two potential sources of interest rate ucts, wA'hich currently account for I6% of the existing

risk to IBRD. The first is the interest rate sensitivitv loan portfolio (I8% at the end of FY 1999), is man-
associated with the net spread between the rate IBRD aged by using interest rate swaps to closely align the
earns on its assets and the cost of borrowings which rate sensitivity characteristics of the loan portfolio
fund those assets. The second is the interest rate sen- with those of their underlying funding. As the portfo-
sitivity of the income earned from funding a portion lio of fixed-spread loans increases, the proportion of
of IBRD assets with equitv. The borrowing cost pass- non-cost pass-though products will grow. The inter-
through formulation incorporated in the lending rates est rate risk on IBRD's liquid portfolio is managed
charged on most of IBRD's existing loans has tradi- within specified duration-mismatch limits and is fur-
tionally helped limit the interest rate sensitivitv of the ther limited by stop-loss limits.
net spread earnings on its loan portfolio. Such cost Because equity funds a portion of outstanding
pass-through loans currentlv account for more than loans, IBRD's level of net income is sensitive to move-
84% of the existing outstanding loan portfolio (82% ments in the level of nominal interest rates. In gen-
at the end of FY 1999). However, the majoritv of eral, lower nominal interest rates result in lower
cost pass-through loans do entail some residual inter- lending rates which, in turn, reduce the nominal earn-
est rate risk, given the lag inherent in the lending rate ings on IBRD's equity.
calculation. If new borrowings are at interest rates Interest rate risk also arises from a variety of
above the average of those already in the debt pool, the other factors, including differences in the timing
higher average debt costs would not be passed through between the contractual maturity or repricing of
to the lending rate charged to the borrowers and thus IBRD's assets, liabilities and derivative financial
would not affect the interest income generated on cost instruments. On floating rate assets and liabilities,
pass-through loans until the following semester. The IBRD is exposed to timing mismatches between the
reverse is true when market interest rates decline. re-set dates on its floating rate receivables and pay-

Another potential risk arises because the cost ables.
pass-through currency pool products have tradition- As part of its asset/liability management process,
ally been funded with a large share of medium- and IBRD employs interest rate swaps to manage and
long-term fixed rate borrowings, to provide the bor- align the rate sensitivity characteristics of its assets and
rowers with a reasonablv stable interest basis. Given liabilities. IBRD uses derivative instruments to adjust
that the cumulative impact of interest rate changes the interest rate repricing characteristics of specific
over the last decade has resulted in a decline in the balance sheet assets and liabilities, or groups of assets
level of interest rates, the cost of these historical fixed- and liabilities with similar repricing characteristics.

rate borrowings in the multicurrency pool and the sin- Exchange Rate Risk
gle currency pools is currently considerablv higher In order to minimize exchange rate risk in a mul-
than IBRD's new borrowing costs. Recent interest In renvromnimie IBRD matcers itsboroin

. . .... . . ~~~~~~ticurrency environment, IBRD matches its borrowing
rate increases in the market have mitigated this differ- obl. . . t .
ence to some extent. However, the amount of "above igations i any one currency (after swap activities,

allocated ,o the muircurrenc with assets in the same currency, as prescribed bv themarket" debt allocated to the multicurrencv, pool.D 
m ark r" ebt Articles. In addition, IBRD's policy is to minimize
debt, in aggregate terms, still exceeds the outstanding the exchange rate sensitivity of its reserves-to-loans
multicurrency pool loans bevond FY 201 1, i.e. the
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ratio. It carries out this policy by undertaking cur- operates. In the past, IBRD has suffered certain
rency conversions periodically to align the currency minor financial losses from operating risk and while it

composition of its reserves to that of its outstanding maintains an adequate system of internal controls,
loans. This policy is designed to minimize the impact there can be no absolute assurance that IBRD will not

of market rate fluctuations on the reserves-to-loans suffer such losses in the future.
ratio, thereby preserving IBRD's ability to better In FY I996, IBRD adopted the COSOa control

absorb potential losses from arrears regardless of the framework and a self-assessment methodology to
market environment. IBRD is constandy evaluating evaluate the effectiveness of its internal controls over

alternative strategies to better manage its exchange financial reporting, and it has an on-going program in
rate risk. place to assess all major business units. In each of the

Figure 6.2 presents the currency composition of last four fiscal years, IBRD obtained an attestation
significant balance sheet components (net of swaps) report from its external auditors that IBRD's asser-

at the end of FY 2000 and FY 1999. tion that, as of June 30 of each of these fiscal years, its

Operating~ Rik system of internal control over its external financial
reporting met the criteria for effective internal control

Operating risk over external financial reporting described in COSO,

FIGuRE 6.2 is the potential for is fairly stated in all material respects.

RELATIVE CURRENCY COMPOSITION OF loss arising from Economic and Monetary Union in Europe
SIGNIFICANT BALANCE SHEET COMPONENTS internal activities or

2000 CURRENCY external events Since January 1, I999, in the normal course of

COMPOSITION caused by break- business as a multicurrency organization, IBRD has
downs in informa- been conducting euro-denominated transactions in

Assets Li.bilfitio snd Equity tion, communica- paying and receiving, investments, bond issuance, loan
Loans 83% Borrowmrgs 81%

-Ivest-nts 17% Equsty 19% tion, physical safe- disbursements, loan btlling and new lending commit-
T.tal x00% Tot1 100% guards, business ments.

11258i continuity, supervi- IBRD has adopted a gradual approach to rede-
sion. transaction nominate national currency unit balance sheet items
processing, settle- and IBRD-administered donor trust funds to euro
ment systems and during the transition period, before their automatic
procedures and the conversion to euro on January I, 2002.

execution of legal, Year 2000 Update
fiduciary and agency The Year 2000 issue was the result of computer

_ ~~~~responsibilities.
Iresoniblikiesal.nn programs using two digits rather than four to define

_ IBRD, like all finan- the applicable year. Without remediation or replace-
_ 3% ~~~~~~~~~~~cial institutions, is

ttiomn, ment, this could have resulted in a system failure or
Othens JPY EUP USD exposed to many mniscalculations causing disruptions of operations,

types of operating including, among other things, a temporary inability
risks, including the mldg mn te hns eprr nblt

I19 99tO CURRENCY risk of fraud by to process transactions. Modification and replace-
COMPOSITION staff or outsiders. ment of software and hardware and coordination with

A.-.-d Eqity IBRD attempts to third party providers enabled IBRD to operate nor-
_ Loans 78% S Borrowngs 82% mitigate operating mally across the globe without experiencing any mate-
ft I,,vst-ten 22% Eq.,ty 18% or. . rial interruptions in any critical systems during the

Total 100% Total 100% risk by maintaining roll over and thereafter, The total cost of Year 2000
11% f a system of internal preparation was estimated at approximately $17 mil-

designed to keep lion. The cost of certain major systems replacements
pestingn atoe and enhiancements already planned were not consid-

approp riat ered Year 2000 costs.
_ ~~~appropriate levels

in view of the finan-
cial strength of
IBRD and the char- a. In 1992, the Committe of Sponsoring Organiza-
acteristics of the tions of the Treadway Conunission (COSO) issued its

3% activities and mar- Internal Control-Integrated Framework, which provided a
AM_ ON& kets in which IBRD common definition of internal control and guidance on

Others JPY EUR UeSD judging its effectiveness.
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While ongoing tracking continues, no latent Year beginning of each TABLE 6.3: CUMULATIVE PERFORMANCE OF THE

2000 issues have arisen. Nor have there been indica- fiscal year. The LIQUID ASSET PORTFOLIO

tions from any borrowers that they have experienced operational portfo- Annualized Financial

any serious disruptions to national infrastructure or lio provides working eun (
0
n

public administration due to Year 2000 problems capital for IBRD's
which could affect their ability to continue to service day-to-day cash FY 2000 FY 1999

IBRD loans. flow requirements.

The discretionary IBRD Overall Portfolio 5.75 6.00
4. LIQUIDITY MANAGEMENT portfolio provides Stable Portfolio of which:

poexibilio frothes Actively Managed 5.93 5.35

Liquidity risk arises in the general funding of flexibility for the Held-to-maturit Portfolio - 82.96

IBRD's activities and in the management of its finan- execution of IgRD's Operational Portfolio 5.39 4.48

cial positions. It includes the risk of being unable to borrowing program Discretionary Portfolio 5.27 5.23

fund its portfolio of assets at appropriate maturities takeandvantge u tof

and rates and the risk of being unable to liquidate a take advantage of
position in a timelv manner at a reasonable price. The attractive market

objective of liquidity management is to ensure the opportunities. The discretionary portfolio was gradu-
o.etv oflqiiymngren.st ntr h ally liquidated over the first half of FY 2000. This

availabilitv of sufficient cash flows to meet all of
, RD's financial commitments, liquidation provided the funding necessary to meet an

IBRD's~~ fiaca comtmns unusuallv large concentration of debt servic pav-
The cumulative performance of the liquid asset uce y-

portfolio in FY 2000 compared to FY 1999 is pre- ments during this period. Figure 6.3 represents
sented .Table 6.3.These returns exclude investment IBRD's liquid asset portfolio size and structure at the

senred in Table 6.3. These returns exclude investmentq
. . > ~~~~~~~end of FY 2000 and FY

assets funding certain other postemplovment benefits.

The returns for FY 1999 were heavily affected 1999, exduding investment FIGURE 6.3

by IBRD's liquidation, in FY 1999, of the sterling assets associated with certain IBRD LIQUIDITY PORTFOLIO

U.K. government securities in the held-to-maturity other postemployment bene- on m#tons of US dollars)

portfolio. At the time of liquidation the securities in fits.

the held-to-maturitv portfolio had a fair value of At the end ofFY 2000,

$1,389 million and a carrving value of $1,152 mil- the aggregate size of the

Un-ic1IBR Ds I qudw maagt1llt oScIBRD liquid asset portfolio S l0

lion. This liquidation resulted in a realized gain of IBDlqiase

$237 million, stood at $24,193 million, a 

Under IBRD's liquidity mnanagement policy, decrease of $5,817 million

aggregate liquid asset holdings should be kept at or over FY 1999. The higher i

above a specified prudential minimum. That m.ini- vu f lqi ae at

mum is equal to the highest consecutive six months of June 30, 1999 included the

debt service obligations for the fiscal year, pluis one- prcesfothbrow

f *iS - *-~~~~~~ _ -i ;Ig' prgra undertaken tohalf of net approved loan disbursements as projected ngprogramd undelrteakeunt tof
for the fiscal year. The FY 2001 prudential minimumr r-udnh ageaon

liquiditv level has been set $18.4 billion, representing debt maturing in FY 2000.

a $400 million increase over that for FY 2000. IBRD folo i largelv con posed of-

also holds liquid assets over the specified minimum to o
. . . . . . . ~~~~~~~~U.S. dollars, with the cur-

provide flexibility in timing its borrowing transactions U. .d

and to meet working capital needs. rency compositon of the1

IBRD's liquid assets are held principally in obli- operational portfolio varying
the mnost as a resuilt of the

gations of governments and other official entities, the mn-
cash flows generated bv dis fdl

time deposits and other unconditional obligations of flows generated by dis- :. 

banks and financial institutions, asset-backed securi- bursements, debt-service is
ties, and futures and options contracts pertaining to payments, new borrowigs
such obligations. and reserves conversions.

Liquid assets are held in three distinct sub-port-

folios: stable; operational; and discretionary, each

with different risk profiles, funding, structures and

performance benchmarks. The stable portfolio is

principally an investment portfolio holding the pru-

dential minimum level of liquidity, which is set at the
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FIGURE 6.4 5. FUNDING As a result of higher net income and the increase

EQUITY CAPITAL-TO-LOAN RESOURCES in reserves, shareholders' equity grew at a faster pace
RATIO than the loan portfolio, compared to the prior year.

22 Equity As a result, the ratio of equity capital-to-loans rose

Total shareholders' to 21.23% at June 30, 2000, from 20.65% one year
22 0 / equity at June 30. 2000 was earlier. In accordance with the financial policy defin-

$29,289 million compared ing this ratio, the amount of transfer to general
21.5 with $28,021 million at reserves of $1,114 million approved on August I,

June 30, 1999. The 2000 was included in this ratio at June 30, 2000
21.0 . ($700 million-June 30, 1999). Figure 6.4 depicts

increase from FY 1999 p this ratio over the last five years.
20 5 marily reflects the increase

in retained earnings of Capital
20.0 $1,318 million, the reduc- The authorized capital of IBRD at June 30

June June June June June June . . . a . o .
95 96 97 98 99 00 tion in restricted paid-in 2000 was $190,8 I million, of which $I88,606 mil-

capital of $180 million due lion had been subscribed. Of the subscribed capital,
primarily to encashments of demand obligations, and $11,418 million had been paid in and $177,188 mi-

the increase in paid-in capital of $23 million. Table lion was callable. Of the paid-in capital, $8,168 mil-
6.4 presents the composition of equity at June 30, lion was available for lending and $3,250 million was

2000 and 1999. not available for lending.
IBRD's equity base plays a critical role in secur- No call has ever been made on IBRD's callable

ing its financial objectives. By enabling IBRD to capital. Any calls on unpaid subscriptions are required
absorb risk out of its own resources, its equity base to be uniform, but the obligations of the members of
protects shareholders from a possible call on callable IBRD to make payment on such calls are independent
capital. The adequacy of IBRD's equity capital is of each other. If the amount received on a call is
judged on the basis of its ability to generate future net insufficient to meet the obligations of IBRD for
income sufficient to absorb plausible risks and sup- which the call is made, IBRD has the right and is
port normal loan growth, without reliance on addi- bound to make further calls until the amounts
tional shareholder capital. IBRD uses the equity received are sufficient to meet such obligations.
capital-to-loans measure as a summary statistic for However, no member mav be required on any such
financial capacity. Cash flow analysis is the basis by call or calls to pay more than the unpaid balance of its
which IBRD measures its income generating capacity capital subscription.
and its capital adequacy. IBRD continues to consider At June 30, 2000, $103,115 million (58%) of
additional methodologies for evaluating its risk-bear- the uncalled capital was callable from the member
ing capacity. countries of IBRD that are also members of the

TABLE 6.4: COMPOSITION OF EQUITY

In millions of US. dollars

June 30. 2000 June 30, l999

Usable Paid-in Capital
Paid-in Capital $11,418 S11,395

Net Receivable for Maintenance of Value (898) (869)
Restricted Paid-in Capital (2,328) (2,509)
Total Usable Paid-in Capital 8,I92 8,017

Retained Earnings and Cumulative Translation Adjustments 18,386 17,072

Equity Excluded from Equity Capital-to-Loans Ratio
Surplus (85) (195)
Pension Reserve (549) (294)
Prospective allocation of FY 2000/FY 1999 net income,

other than to General Reserve (877) (818)

Equity Capital Used in Equity Capital-to-Loans Ratio $25,067 $23,782
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Development Assistance Committee of the Organiza- the different debt TABLE 6.5: CAPITAL SUBSCRIPTIONS

tion for Economic Cooperation and Development. pools funding loans
This amount was equal to 90.4% of IBRD's out- as necessary in accor- In millions of US dollars

standing borrowings after swaps at June 30, 2000. dance with operat- Total Capital UncalledPortion

Table 6.5 sets out the capital subscriptions of those ing guidelines. In Cfener Countpy Subscription of Svbsription

countries and the callable amounts. FY 2000, IBRD fol-

The United States is IBRD's largest share- lowed a strategy of United States $ 31,965 $ 29,966

holder. Under the Bretton WVoods Agreements Act, selective bond issu- Japan L5,321 14,377

the Par Value Modification Act and other U.S. legisla- ance, composed of Germany 8,734 8,I91

tion, the Secretarv of the U.S. Treasurv is permitted to cost-effective private France 8,372 7,851
I I ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~United Kingdom 8,372 7,832

pay up to $7,663 million of the uncalled portion of placements, largely Canada 5,404 5,069

the subscription of the United States, if it were called pre-sold institu- Italy 5,404 5,069

by IBRD, without any requirement of further congres- tional public issues Netherlands 4,283 4,018

sional action. The balance of the uncalled portion of and retail targeted Belginm 3,496 3,281

the U.S subscription, $22,303 million, has been transactions. Switzerland 3,2I0 3,012

authorized by the U.S. Congress but not appropriated. IBRD strategi- Australia 2,95I 2,770

Further action by the U.S. Congress would be cally repurchases or Spain 2,857 2,682

required to enable the Secretary of the Treasury to pay prepays its debt to Sweden 1,806 1,696

any portion of this balance. The General Counsel of reduce the cost of Denmark 1,623 1,525

the U.S Treasurv has rendered an opinion that the borrowings and to Austria 1,335 1,254

entire uncalled portion of the U.S. subscription is an reduce exposure to Norway 1,204 1,132

obligation backed by the full faith and credit of the refunding require- Finland 1,033 971

United States, notwithstanding that congressional ments in a particular Newtugala659 620
United ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~Portugal6562

appropriations have not been obtained with respect to year or meet other Ireland 636 599

certain portions of the subscription. operational needs. Greece 203 189

For a further discussion of capital stock, During FY 2000, Luxembourg 199 190

restricted currencies, mnaintenance of value and mem- IBRD repurchased or Total $109,940 $103,115

bership refer to the Notes to Financial Statements- prepaid a total of

Summary of Significant Accounting and Related Poli- $807 million of its a. See details regording the capital subscripttions of all metnbers of

cies and Note A. outstanding borrow- IBlD atJune 30, 2000 in Ftnancial Statenents-Statement of

Borrowins, ings Subscriptions to Capital Stock and Voting Power

Use of Derivatives
Source of Fundmg IBRD engages

IBRD diversifies its sources of funding by offer- in a combination of TABLE 6,6: IBRDS FUNDING OPERATIONS

ing its securities to institutional and retail investors interest rate and cur- BY 2000 FY 1999

globally on terms acceptable to IBRD. Under its rency swaps to con- Total Medium- and Long-term

Articles, IBRD may borrow only with the approval of vert direct Borrowings' (USD million) $1S,789 $22,443

the member in whose markets the funds are raised and borrowings into a Average Marurity (years) 5.8 6.7

the member in whose currency the borrowing is desired interest rate Number of Transactions 148 186

denominated, and only if each such member agrees structure and cur- Number of Currencies 13 12

that the proceeds may be exchanged for the currency rency composition. a. Includes one-year notes and represents net proceeds on a trade

of any other member without restriction. Interest rate and cur- dare asts.

Funding Operations rency swaps are also
used for asset/liabilitv management purposes to

In FY 2000 medium- and long-term debt raised match the pool of liabilities as closelv as possible to

directly in financial markets by IBRD amounted to the interest rate and currency characteristics of liquid

$15,789 million compared to $22,443 million in FY assets and loans.

1999. Table 6.6 summarizes IBRD's funding opera- In FY 2000 the majority of new funding conrin-

tions for FY 2000 and FY 1999. Funding raised in ued to be initially swapped into floating rate U.S. dol-

any given year is used for IBRD's general operations, lars, with conversion to other currencies or fixed rate

including loan disbursements, refinancing of maturing funding being carried out subsequently in accordance

debt and prefunding of future lending activities. All with funding requirements.

proceeds from new funding are initially invested in the

liquid asset portfolio and subsequently allocated to
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Composition of Borrowings the average outstanding loan balance, especially in
Of the borrowings outstanding after swaps at the higher-yielding special adjustment loans, as

June 30, 2000, 55% was at variable rates (54% at well as the improved net returns from the single
June 30, 1999). The currency composition contin- currency pool loans. Net returns from the single
ues to be concentrated in U.S. dollars, with its share currency pool loans recovered because the higher
at the end of June 30, 2000 at 80% of the borrow- U.S. dollar borrowing costs were not fully passed
ings portfolio (79% at June 30, 1999). This reflects through to borrowers in FY 1999. The lower
IBRD borrowers' preference for U.S. dollar-denomi- interest waivers and higher front-end fees in effect
nated loans and the corresponding currency composi- for the full FY 2000 also contributed to the
tion of the liquid asset portfolio. increase in net returns from the loan portfolio.

A more detailed analysis of borrowings out- 2- A $208 million reduction in investment income,
standing is provided in the Notes to Financial State- net of funding costs, primarily as a result of the
ments-Note D. non-recurring $237 million gain realized in FY

6. RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 1999 from the liquidation of the held-to-matu-
rity portfolio.

IBRD's net income can be seen as broadly com- - A $66 million increase in net noninterest
prising a spread on earning assets, plus the contribu- expenses, due primarily to a decrease in pension
tion of equity, less provisions for loan losses and and postretirement income.

administrative expenses. Table 6.7 shows a break- FY 1999 versus FY I998
down of income, net of funding costs.down of income, net of funding costs. FY 1999 net income was $1,518 million, $275

FY 2000 versus FY 1999 million higher than FY I998. This increase was pri-

FY 2000 net income was $1,991 million, $473 marily attributable to:
million higher than in FY 1999. The majority of > A $237 million gain realized upon liquidation of
this change was due to the following: the held-to-maturity portfolio during the first

- A $412 million reduction in loan loss provision quarter of the fiscal year.
expense resulting primarily from a reassessment of > A $233 million increase in loan interest income,
the possible losses inherent in the loan portfolio. net of funding costs, resulting from the changes
That assessment concluded that a general in loan pricing. During the year IBRD reduced
improvement in credit quality for certain large its interest waiver on existing loans, introduced a
borrowers, as well as for the accrual portfolio as a front-end fee on new loans and earned higher
whole, warranted a $243 million reduction in the loan spreads on the special adjustment loans dis-
accumulated provision for loan losses. The bursed during the year.
remaining $169 million decrease in expense is )' Offset in part by an increase of $247 million in
attributable to a reduction in the growth of the net noninterest expense due primarily to a
loan portfolio. decrease in pension and postretirement income.

> A $345 million increase in loan interest income,
net of funding costs, resulting from an increase in

TABLE 6.7: IBRDS INCOME, NET OF FUNDING COSTS

In millions of US dollars

FY 2000 FY 1999 FY 1998

Loan interest income, net of funding costs
Debt funded $678 $ 387 $ 374
Equitv funded 1.771 1,717 1,497

Total loan interest income, net of funding costs 2,449 2,104 1.871
Other loan charges 49 59 22
Loan loss provision 166 (246) (251)
Investment income, net of funding costs 116 324 77
Net noninterest expense (789) (723) (476)
Net Income $1,99I $1,518 $1,243
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Net Interest Income FY 2000 versus FY 1999

IBRD's primary interest earning assets are its Loan interest income increased by S504 million

loans and liquid asset investments. Table 6.8 provides to $8,1S3 million in FY 2000 due primarily to the

a breakdown of the gross interest income on earning higher average balance of loans outstanding during the

assets (including other loan income). Table 6.9 pro- year. This increased volume resulted in an additional

vides a breakdown of gross borrowing costs. $354 million of net income. Additionally, an increase
in the average return from loans contributed another

$150 million to the increase in income. This increase

in the weighted average return were mainly due to four

TABLE 6.8: GROSS INTEREST INCOME ON EARNING ASSETS

In millions of US. dollars

BY 2000 FY Z999 FY 1998

Interest Inconie Interest Income Interest Income

Average Return Average Return Average Return
1Volume Amount % Volusie Amount % Wlume Amount %

Loans by Product

Multicurrencv Pool $ 37,654 $2,074 5.51 $ 39,607 $2,361 5.96 $ 70,047 $4,335 6.19

Single Currency Pools 38,824 3,104 8.00 43,687 3,199 7.32 18,136 1,250 6.89

Variable-Spread Single

Currency Loans 20,791 1,189 5.72 14,970 777 5.19 8,061 448 5.56

Fixed-Rate Single Currency

Loans 11,855 742 6.26 7,468 468 6.27 3,330 218 6.55

Nonstandard Variable-Spread

Single Currency Loans 9,676 773 7.99 6,833 477 6.98 2,165 158 7.30

Fixed-Spread Loans 383 23 6.00 - - - - - -

Other Fixed Rate 2,272 199 8.76 3,618 308 8.51 5,323 450 8.45

Other Loan Income 49 59 22

Total Loans 121,455 8,153 6.71 116,183 7,649 6.58 107,062 6,881 6.43

Cash and Investments 27,652 1,589 5.74 28,049 1,684 6.00 21,895 1,233 5.63

Total Earning Assets $149,107 $9,742 6.53 $144,232 $9,333 6.47 $128,957 $8,114 6.29

TABLE 6.9: GROSS BORROWING COSTS

In millions of US dollars

FYB2000 BY 1999 FY 1998

Borrowsing Cost Borrowing Cost Borrowing Cost

Average Cost Acerage Cost Average Cost
Bilusie Ansounr % 1oluvcie Amount % oieume Anaoont %

Borrowing Portfolio by Debt Pools

MulticurrencyPool $ 26,475 $1,169 4.42 $ 29,640 $1,514 5.11 S 54,266 $3,092 5.70

Single Currency Pools 28,598 2,213 7.74 33,832 2,507 7.41 14,252 1,012 7.10

Variable-Spread Single

Currency Loans 16,828 906 5.38 11,961 581 4.86 6,341 348 5.49

Fixed-Rate Single
Currency Loans 10,162 588 5.79 6,143 367 5.97 2,767 169 6.11

Nonstandard Variable-Spread

Single Currency Loans 8,909 501 5.62 5,578 284 5.09 2,164 117 5.41

Fixed-Spread Loans 423 18 4.26 - - - - - -

Other Debr Funding 29,060 1,733 5.96 28,541 1,593 5.58 22,382 1,406 6.28

TotalBorrowings $120,455 $7,128 5.92 $115,695 $6,846 5.92 $102,172 $6,144 6.01
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factors: i) a higher average rate on the LIBOR-based 1999 a gain of $237 million was realized upon liqui-
loans in a rising interest rate environment; ii) the flIl dation of the securities in the held-to-maturity port-
year effect of the pass through of higher U.S. dollar folio. Additionally, income increased by $214
borrowing costs funding single currency pool loans, million reflecting increases in the average investment
iii) a larger proportion of the higher-yielding special balance, offset by the effect of slightly lower market
adjustment loans during the year; and iv) having lower interest rates.
interest waivers and higher front-end fees in effect for The cost of borrowings increased $702 mil-
the full fiscal year. lion. While a falling interest rate environment

Investment income decreased by $95 million in reduced the cost of borrowings from 6.01% to
FY 2000 to $1,589 million primarily due to two fac- 5.92%, total costs increased because of the higher
tors. In FY 1999, a $237 million one-time gain was average borrowings balance.
realized upon liquidation of the securities in the held- N Non interest Expense
to-maturity portfolio. This was partially offset by
$I65 million increase in income from higher returns The main components of net noninterest
achieved in the increasing interest rate environment expense are presented in Table 6.10.
seen over the past year.

The cost of borrowing increased by $282 mil- FY 2000 versus FY I999

lion to $7,128 million in FY 2000, due to higher Overall gross administrative expenses decreased
average borrowings outstanding. The maturity of by $33 million (see Notes to Financial Statements-
higher-cost debt in FY 2000 just offset the increase Note G). Net noninterest expense increased $66 mil-
in borrowing costs resulting from interest rate resets lion. The major factor was that the contribution of
on variable rate debt. income from pension and postretirement benefits

dropped by $89 million, as a result of the decrease in
FY I999 versus FY 1998 the actuarially determined Staff Retirement Plan

The main factor contributing to the increase in income.
loan interest income of $768 million was the higher
average balance of loans outstanding in terms of U.S.
dollars. A higher volume of loans outstanding, repre- Overall gross administrative expenses increased
senting $607 million of the increased income, was the only slightly. From FY 1998 to FY 1999 net nonin-
result of increased net disbursements and the effect of terest expense increased by $243 million, generally
translation into U.S. dollar terms for reporting pur- returning to FY 1997 levels. Staff costs increased
poses. Additionally, increases in loan pricing contrib- I5%: however, the majority of the increase in expense
uted $161 million. is attributable to the FY 1998 non-recurring reduc-

Two significant factors contributed to the tion in expense realized as a result of the change in
increase of $451 million in investment income. In FY accounting for other postretirement benefits. See

Notes to the Financial Statements-Note I for a
detailed discussion of those changes.

TABLE 6.10: MAIN COMPONENTS OF NET NONINTEREST EXPENSE

In millions of US. dollars

FY2000 FY 1999 Fl' 1998

Gross Adcministrative Expenses

Staff Costs $ 489 $ 538 $ 466

Consultant Fees 88 97 91

Operational Travel 92 94 94

Other Expenses 392 365 328

Total Gross Administrative Expenses 1,061 1,094 979

Less: Contribution to Special Programs 126 129 112

Total Net Administrative Expenses 935 965 867

Contribution to Special Programs I26 129 112

Service Fee Revenues (118) (116) (104)

Pension & Postretirement Benefit Income (156) (245) (399)

Net Other Expense (Income) 2 (10) _

- Total Net Noninterest Expense $ 789 $ 723 $ 476
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INTERNATIONAL BANK FOR

RECONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT

JUNE 30, 2000 CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

Deloitte Touche
Tohmats

(International Firm)
555 12th Street NW
Washington, DC

President and Board of Governors
Intemational Bank for Reconstruction and Development

We have audited the balance sheets of the International Bank for Reconstruction and
Development as of June 30, 2000 and 1999, including the summary statement of loans
and the statement of subscriptions to capital stock and voting power as of June 30, 2000,
and the related statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in retained
eamings, and cash flows for each of the three fiscal years in the period ended June 30,
2000. Such financial statements and our report thereon dated July 31, 2000, expressing
an unqualified opinion (which are not included herein), are included in The World Bank
Annual Report 2000: Financial Statements and Appendixes to the Annual Report. The
accompanying condensed financial statements are the responsibility of the Intemational
Bank for Reconstruction and Development's management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on such condensed financial statements in relation to the complete
financial statements.

In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying condensed financial
statements of the Intemational Bank for Reconstruction and Development is fairly stated
in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements from which it has been
derived.

July 31, 2000

Beiing London Mexico City Moscow NewYork
Paris Tokyo Toronto
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CONDENSED BALANCE SHEET

June 30, 2000 andJune 30, 1999

Expressed in millions of US. dollars

2000 l999

Assets

Duefrom Banks

Unrestricted currencies $ 32 $ 33

Currencies subject to restrictions-Note A 659 664

691 697

Investments-Trading-Notes B and E 24,94I 30,345

Securities Purebased Under Resale Agreements-Trading-Note B 101 6

Nonnegotiable, Noninterest-bearing Demand Obligations on Account of Subscribed Capital 1,670 1,846

Amounts Receivabkfrom Currency Swaps

Investments-Trading-Notes B and E 11,317 11,420

Borrowings-Notes D and E 67,231 67,592

7S,548 79,012

Amounts Receivable to Maintain Value of Currency Holdings on Account
of Subscribed Capital 432 527

Other Receivables

Amounts receivable from investment securities traded 189 88

Accrued income on loans 2,196 2,100

2,385 2,188

Loans Outstanding (see Summary Statement of Loans, Notes C and E)

Total loans 164,858 168,600

Less undisbursed balance 44,754 51,372

Loans outstanding 120,104 117,228

Less:

Accumulated provision for loan losses 3,400 3,560

Deferred loan income 460 363

Net loans outstanding 116.244 113,305

Other Assets

Unamortized issuance costs of borrowings 608 712

Miscellaneous-Note I 2,190 1,807

2,798 2,519

Total assets $227,810 $230,445
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2000 Z999

Liabilities

Borrowings-Notes D and E

Short-term $ 4,730 $ 5,328

Medium- and long-term 105,649 110,411

110,379 115,739

Securities Sold Under Repurchase Agreements and Payable-for
Cash Collateral Received-Trading-Note B - 102

Amounts Payablefor Currency Swaps

Investments-Trading-Notes B and E 11,720 11,501

Borrowings-Notes D and E 70,864 70,484

82,584 81,985

Amounts Payable to Maintain Value of Currency Holdings on Account

of Subscribed Capital 56 III

Other Liabilities

Amounts payable for investment securities purchased 529 167

Accrued charges on borrowings 3,312 3,012

Payable for Board of Governors-approved transfers-Note F 861 607

Liabilities under other postretirement benefits plans-Note I 119 103

Accounts payable and miscellaneous liabilities 681 598

5,502 4,487

Total liabilities 198,521 202,424

Equity

Capital Stock (see Statement of Subscriptions to Capital Stock and Voting Power, Note A)

Authorized capital (1,581,724 shares-June 30, 2000 and June 30, 1999)

Subscribed capital
(1,563,443 shares-June 30, 2000; 1,560,243 shares-June 30, 1999) 188,606 188,220

Less uncalled portion of subscriptions 177,188 176,825

11,418 11,395

Amounts to Maintain Value of Currency Holdings-Note A (522) (453)

Payments on Account of Pending Subscriptions-Note A 7 7

Retained Earnings (see Statement of Changes in Retained Earnings, Note F) 19,027 17,709

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income-Note K (641) (637)

Total equity 29,289 28,021

Total liabilities and equity $227,810 $230,445

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of these Statements and are included in the WVorld Bank
Annual Report 2000 Financial Statements and Appendixes to the Annual Report
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CONDENSED STATEMENT OF INCOME

For thefistalyears endedJune 30, 2000, June 30, 1999 andJune 30, 7998

Expressed in millions of US. dollars

2000 1999 2998

Income

Income from loans-Note C

Interest $ 8.041 $7,535 $6,775

Commitment charges 112 114 106

Income from investments-Note B

Trading

Interest 1,575 L,425 1,107

Net gains (losses)

Realized 3 1 (I0)

Unrealized 3 (5) I

Held-to-maturity

Interest - 47 176

Realized gains - 237 -

Income from securities purchased under resale agreements-Note B 12 I5 59

Income from assets designated for other postretirement
benefits plans-Notes B and I - - 107

Income from Staff Retirement Plan-Note 1 166 255 182

Other income-Notes G and H 133 134 114

Total income 10,045 9.758 8,617

Expensos

Borrowing expenses-Note D

Interest 6,979 6,704 5,993

Amortization of issuance and other borrowing costs 149 142 151

Interest on securities sold under repurchase agreements and payable for
cash collateral received-Note B 4 36 100

Administrative expenses-Notes G and H 935 965 867

Contributions to special programs-Note G 126 £29 112

Other postretirement benefits expense-Note I 10 10 50

Provision for loan losses-Note C (166) 246 251

Other expenses 17 8 10

Total expenses 8,054 8,240 7,534

Operating Income 1,99I 1,5I8 1,083
Effect of accounting change-Note I - - 160

Net Income $ 1,991 $I,518 $1,243

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral pare of these Statements and are included in the World Bak
Annual Report 2000, Financial Statements and Appendixes to the Annual Report
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CONDENSED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For thefiscalyears endedJiune 30, 2000,JJune 30, 1999 and June 30, 1998

Expressed in millions of US. dollars

2000 7999 I998

Net income $1,991 $1,518 S 1,243

Other comprehensive income-Note K

Currency translation adjustments (4) 323 (1,045)

Total other comprehensive income (loss) (4) 323 (1,045)

Comprehensive income $1,987 $1,841 $ 198

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN

RETAINED EARNINGS

For thefiscal years ended June 30, 2000, June 30, Z 999 and June 30, Z 998

Expressed in millions of US dollars

2000 1999 1998

Retained earnings at beginning of the fiscal year S17,709 S16,733 $16,194

Board of Governors-approved transfers to-Note F

International Development Association (348) (352) (304)

Trust Fund for Gaza and West Bank (60) (90)

Trust Fund for East Timor (I0) -

Heavily Indebted Poor Countries Debt Initiative Trust Fund (200) (100) (250)

Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency - - (150)

Capacity building in Africa (30) -

Trust Fund for Kosovo (25) - -

Net income for the fiscal year 1,991 1,518 1,243

Retained earnings at end of the fiscal year $19,027 $17,709 $16,733

TIhe Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of these Statements and are included in the World Bank

Annual Report 2000, Financial Statements and Appendixes to the Annual Report
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CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For thefiscal vears endedJune 30, 2000, June 30, 1999 andJune 30, 1998

Expressed in millions of US. dollars

2000 1999 1998

Cash flows from lending and investing activities
Loans

Disbursements $(13,222) $(18,100) $(19.193)

Principal repayments 9,973 9,988 10,146

Principal prepayments 499 94 1,372
Loan origination fees received 19 32 -

Investments: Held-to-maturity

Purchases of securities and repayments of securities sold under
repurchase agreements - (13,266) (33,202)

Maturities of securities and proceeds from securities sold under
repurchase agreements - 13,426 33,184

Proceeds from sale of held-to-maturity portfolio net of securities sold
under repurchase agreements - 1,389 -

Net cash used in lending and investing activities (2,731) (6.437) (7,693)

Cash flows from Board of Governors-approved transfers to
International Development Association (50) - (298)
Debt Reduction Facility for IDA-Only Countries (9) - (18)
Trust Fund for Gaza and West Bank (83) (62) (60)

Heavily Indebted Poor Countries Debt Initiative Trust Fund (200) - (250)
Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency - - (I50)

Trust Fund for East Timor, Trust Fund for Kosovo, and
capacity building in Africa (65) - -

Net cash used in Board of Governors-approved transfers (417) (62) (776)

Cash flows from financing activities
Medium- and long-term borrowings

New issues 15,206 21,846 27,748

Retirements (19,211) (10,034) (13,569)
Net short-term borrowings (9I7) (1,512) (1,009)
Net currency swaps-Borrowings (454) (340) (300)
Net capital stock transactions 154 175 217

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (5,222) 10,135 13,087

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income 1,991 1,518 1,243

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities
Depreciation and amortization 884 819 855
Amortization of deferred loan income (30) (20) (8)
Provision for loan losses (166) 246 251

Income from Staff Retirement Plan (166) (255) (182)
Gain on sale of held-to-maturity portfolio - (237) -

Changes in other assets and liabilities

Increase in accrued income on loans and held-to-maturity invest-
ments (99) (46) (IS7)

(Increase) decrease in miscellaneous assets (269) (130) 190
Increase in net assets associated with other postretirement benefits - - (739)
Increase in accrued charges on borrowings 322 470 448
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and miscellaneous liabilities 135 (258) 253

Net cash provided by operating activities 2,602 2,107 2,154
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2000 1999 1998

Effect on liquid investments due to decrease in net assets associated with
other postretirement benefits S - $ 650 $

Effect of exchange rate changes on unrestricted cash and liquid investments (23) 224 (207)

Net (decrease) increase in unrestricted cash and liquid investments (5,791) 6,617 6,565

Unrestricted cash and liquid investments at beginning of the fiscal year 30,122 23,505 16,940

Unrestricted cash and liquid investments at end of the fiscal year S24,331 $ 30,122 $ 23,505

Composition of unrestricted cash and liquid investments:

Investments held in trading portfolio $24,941 $ 30,345 $ 23,441

Unrestricted currencies 32 33 5S

Net (payable) receivable for investment securities
traded/purchased-Trading (340) (79) 7

Net (payable) receivable from currency swaps-Investments (403) (81) 397

Net receivable (payable) for securities purchased/sold under resale/repur-
chase agreements and payable for cash collateral received 101 (96) (395)

$24,331 $ 30,122 $ 23,505

Supplemental disclosure

Increase (decrease) in ending balances resulting from exchange rate
fluctuations

Loans outstanding $ 16 $ 2,519 $ (6,994)

Investments-Held-to-maturitv - 13 2

Borrowings (1,173) 1,010 (7,239)

Currency swaps-Borrowings 1,195 1,244 1,632

Capitalized loan origination fees included in total loans 110 115 90

Tle Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of these Statements and are included in the World Bank
Annual Report 2000: Financial Statemnnts and Appendixes to tee Annual Report
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INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT AssoCIATION

JUNE 30, 2000 CONDENSED SPECIAL PURPOSE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

Deloitte Touche
Tohma&u

(International Firm)
555 12th Street NW
Washington, DC

President and Board of Governors
International Development Association

We have audited the special purpose statements of sources and applications of
development resources of the International Development Association as of June 30, 2000
and 1999, including the summary statement of development credits and statement of
voting power, and subscriptions and contributions as of June 30, 2000, and the related
special purpose statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in retained
earnings, and cash flows for each of the three fiscal years in the period ended June 30,
2000. Such special purpose financial statements and our report thereon dated July 31,
2000, expressing an unqualified opinion and including explanatory paragraphs
concerning the basis of accounting used to prepare the special purpose financial
statements which are not intended to be a presentation in confonnity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America or International Accounting
Standards and the change in accounting policy for the HIPC Debt Initiative (which are
not included herein), are included in The World Bank Annual Report 2000: Financial
Statements and Appendixes to the Annual Report. The accompanying condensed special
purpose financial statements are the responsibility of the International Development
Association's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on such
condensed special purpose financial statements in relation to the complete special
purpose financial statements.

In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying condensed special purpose
financial statements of the International Development Association is fairly stated in all
material respects in relation to the basic special purpose financial statements from which
it has been derived.

This report is intended for the information and use of the Board of Governors,
management, and members of the International Development Association. However,
under the International Development Association's Articles of Agreement, this report is a
matter of public record and its distribution is not limited.

July 31, 2000

Beijing London Memco City Moscow NewYork
Paris Tokyo Toronto
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CONDENSED STATEMENT OF SOURCES AND

APPLICATIONS OF DEVELOPMENT RESOURCES

June 30, 2000 andJune 30, 1999

Expressed in millions of Us. dollars
2000 1999

as adjusted (Note A)

APPLICATIONS OF DEVELOPMENT RESOURCES

Net Resources Available For Development Activities

Duefrom Banks
Unrestricted currencies $ 63 $ 71
Currencies subject to restriction 20 22

83 93
Investments-Notes B and F

Investments-trading 9,760 8,206
Net (payable) receivable on investment securities transactions (282) 9

9,478 8,215
Receivablefrom the HIPC Debt Initiative Trust Fund-Note I 573

Nonnegotiable, Noninterest-bearing Demand Obligations on Account of Member
Subscriptions and Contributions 10,909 11,801

Receivablefrom the International Bankfor Reconstruction and Development-Note D 650 354

Other Resources, Net 516 484

Total net resources available for development activities 22,209 20,947

Resources Used For Development Credits
(see Summary Statement of Development Credits. Notes E. F and I)
Total development credits 104,796 103,262
Less undisbursed balance 18,944 20,104
Development credits outstanding 85,852 83,I58

Less accumulated allowance for HIPC Debt Initiative 8,020

Total resources used for development credits outstanding 77,832 83,158

Total Applications of Development Resources $I00,04I $104,105

SOURCES OF DEVELOPMENT RESOURCES

Member Subscriptions and Contributions
(see Statement of \oting Posver, and Subscriptions and Contribunions, Note C)
Unrestricted $105,635 $ 95,463
Restricted 289 286

Subscriptions and Contributions Committed 105,924 95,749

Less subscriptions and contributions receivable and unamortized discounts on
contributions-Note C 6,624 165

Subscriptions and Contributions Paid In 99,300 95,584

Deferred Amounts Receivable to Maintain Value of Currency Holdings (233) (231)

Payments on Account of Pending Membership-Note C 7 7
99,074 95,360

Transfersfrom the International Bankfor Reconstruction and Development-Note D 6,427 6,082

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income-NoteJ (718) (194)

Retained Earnings (see Statement of Changes in Retained Earnings) (4,742) 2,857

Total Sources of Development Resources $100,041 $104,105

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of these Statements and are included in the World Bank
Annual Report 2000: Financial Statements and Appendixes to tie Annual Report
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CONDENSED STATEMENT OF INCOME

For thefiscalyears endedJune 30, 2000, June 30, 1999 andJune 30, Z998

Expressed in millions of US. dollars

2000 1999 1998
as adjusted as adjusted
'Note A) (NVote A)

Income

Income from development credits-Note E $ 619 $ 588 $ 555
Income from investments, net-Note B 336 462 527

Total income 955 1,050 1,082

Expenses

Net management fee charged bv the International Bank for
Reconstruction and Development-Notes G and H 438 368 222

Amortization of discount on subscription advances 3 2 6

Total expenses 441 370 228

Operating Income 514 680 854

Effect of exchange rate changes on accumulated income excluding
HIPC Debt Initiative (284) (70) (283)

Income before HIPC Debt Initiative 230 610 571

Enhanced HIPC Framework

Allowance for principal component of debt relief-Notes E and I (7,958) - -
Contribution from the HIPC Debt Initiative Trust Fund-Note I 584

Total charges for Enhanced HIPC (7,374) -

Initial HIPC Framework

Allowance for write-down on sale of development credits-Note E (455) - (93)

Development grants - (I54) (75)

Total charges for Initial HIPC (455) (154) (168)

(Loss) Income after HIPCIDebt Initiative $(7,599% $ 456 S 403

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of these Statements and are included in the World Bank
Annual Report 2000: Financial Statements and Appendixes to the Annual Report
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CONDENSED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For thefiscalyears endedJune 30, 2000,June 30, Z999 andJune 30, 1998

Expressed in millions ef US. dollars

2000 1999 1998

(Loss) Income after HIPC Debt Initiative $(7,599) $456 S 403

Otber Comprehensive Income-NoteJ

Currency translation adjustment on development credits (524) 197 (2,764)

Total other comprehensive (loss) income (524) 197 (2,764)

Comprehensive (Loss) Income 8(3.123) $653 $ 2,361

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN

RETAINED EARNINGS

For thefiscalyears endedJune 30, 2000 andJune 30, 1999

2000 1999

Balance at Balance at Balance at
beginning of the Activity during Balance at end of beginning of the Activity during end of the

fiscal year thefiscalyear thefiscalyear fiscalyear thefiscalyear fiscalyear

Allowance for
Enhanced HIPC S $(7,958) S(7,958) $ - $ - $

Contribution for
Enhanced HIPC
from HIPC Debt
Initiative Trust
Fund 584 584

Initial HIPC (322) (455) (777) (168) (154) (322)

Accumulated income
exduding HIPC
Debt Initiative 3,179 230 3,409 2,569 6I0 3,179

Total S2,857 $(7,599) S(4,742) $2,401 $456 $2,857

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of these Statemens and are included in the World Bank
Annual Report 2000: Financial Statements and Appendixes to the Annual Report.
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CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For thefiscalyears endedJrtne 30, 2000,June 30, 1999 and June 30, Z998

Expressed in millions of US. dollars

2000 1999 1998
as adiusted as adjusted
(ote A) Xott A

Casb Flowsfrom Development Activities

Development credit disbursements $(4,886) 5(5,843) $(5,432)
Development credit principal repayments 920 814 682
Development credits sold to the HIPC Debt Initiative Trust

Fund-Note I 354 84
Reimbursement received for principal repayments forgiven-

Note I I I

(3,601) (4,945) (4,750)
Development grant disbursements -1 (I49) (74)

Net cash used in development activities (3,601) (5,094) (4,824)

Casb Flowsfrom Member Subscriptions and Contributions 4,682 4,710 4,789

Casb Flowsfrom the International Bankfor Reconstruction and
Development Transfers 50 - 298

Cash flowsfrom Operating Activities

Operating income 514 680 854
Net assets previously designated for other postretirement

benefits received from the International Bank for
Reconstruction and Development - 76

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash
provided by operating activities
Amortization of discount on subscription advances 3 2 6
Net changes in other development resources (135) (184) (311)

Net cash provided by operating activities 382 574 549

Effect of exchange rate changes on unrestricted cash and liquid
investments (258) (83) (283)

Net Increase in Unrestricted Casb and Liquid Investments 1,255 107 529

Unrestricted Cash and Liq,uid Investments at Beginning of the Fiscal Year 8,286 8,179 7,650
Unrestricted Cash and Liquid Investments at End of the Fiscal Year S 9,541 $8,286 $ 8,179

Composed of

Unrestricted currencies 63 71 33
Investments 9,478 8,215 8,146

$ 9,541 S8,286 $ 8.179

Supplemental Disclosure

(Decrease) increase in ending balances of development credits
outstanding resulting from exchange rate fluctuLations S (524) $ 197 $(2,764)

Total charges for Enhanced HIPC (7,374)
Write-down on sale of development credits-Initial HIPC (455) -(93

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of these Statements and are included in the World Bank
Annual Report 2000: Financial Statements and Appendixes to the Annual Report
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INTERIM TRUST FUND

JUNE 30, 2000 CONDENSED SPECIAL PURPOSE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

Deloit Touche
Tohmatu

(International Firm)
555 12th Street NW
Washington, DC

President and Board of Govemors
Intemational Development Association

As Administrator of the Interim Trust Fund

We have audited the special purpose statements of sources and applications of
development resources of the Interim Trust Fund as of June 30, 2000 and 1999, including
the summary statement of interim fund credits and statement of contributions as of June
30, 2000, and the related special purpose statements of income, comprehensive income,
changes in retained eamings, and cash flows for each of the three fiscal years in the
period ended June 30, 2000. Such special purpose financial statements and our report
thereon dated July 31, 2000, expressing an unqualified opinion and including an
explanatory paragraph conceming the basis of accounting used to prepare the special
purpose financial statements which are not intended to be a presentation in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America or
International Accounting Standards (which are not included herein), are included in The
World Bank Annual Report 2000: Financial Statements and Appendixes to the Annual
Report. The accompanying condensed special purpose financial statements are the
responsibility of the International Development Association's management as
Administrator of the Interim Trust Fund. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
such condensed special purpose financial statements in relation to the complete special
purpose financial statements.

In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying condensed special purpose
financial statements of the Interim Trust Fund is fairly stated in all material respects in
relation to the basic special purpose financial statements from which it has been derived.

This report is intended for the information and use of the Board of Govemors, the
Intemational Development Association's management as Administrator of the Interim
Trust Fund, and contributors to and borrowers from the Interim Trust Fund. However,
under the Intemational Development Association's Board of Govemors' resolution
establishing the Interim Trust Fund, this report is included in the Annual Report of the
Executive Directors to the Board of Governors of the Intemational Development
Association and is therefore a matter of public record and its distribution is not limited.

July 31, 2000

Beijing London Mexico City Moscow NewYork
Paris Tokyo Toronto
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CONDENSED STATEMENT OF SOURCES AND

APPLICATIONS OF DEVELOPMENT RESOURCES

June 30, 2000 andJune 30, 1999

Expressed in millions of US. dollars
2000 1999

Applications of Development Resources

Net Resources Available For Development Activities

Duefrom Banks

Unrestricted currencies $ 9.7 $ 8.7

Investments-Notes B and D 1,346.2 935.8

Receivablefrom the HIPC Debt Initiative Trust Fund-Note F 17.3

Nonnegotiable, Noninterest-bearing Demand Obligations on Account of Contributions 711.5 1,357.5

Other Resources, net 1.5 -

Total net resources available for development activities 2,086.2 2,302.0

Resources Used For Interim Fund Credits (see Summarv Statement of Interim Fund
Credits, Notes D and E)

Total Interim Fund Credits 2,679.8 2,653.4
Less undisbursed balance 1,889.3 2,145.0
Interim Fund Credits outstanding 790.5 508.4

Less accumulated allowance for HIPC Debt Initiative 5 1.0

Total resources used for Interim Fund Credits outstanding 739.5 508.4

Total Applications of Development Resources $2,825.7 $2,810.4

Sources of Development Resources

Contributions (see Statement of Contributions)
Contributions coummitted $2,780.2 $2,788.4
Less contributions receivable-Note C 2.3 2.3
Less unamortized discount on contributions 1.0 1.5

Contributions paid in 2,776.9 2,784.6

Accumulated Otber Comprebensive Income-Note G (20.3) (11.7)

Retained Earnings (see Statement of Changes in Retained Earnings) 69.1 37.5

Total Sources of Development Resources $2,825.7 $2,810.4

The Notes to Financial Stateines are an integral pan o these Statements and are included in the World Bank
Annual Report 2000: Financial Statements and Appendixes to the Annual Report
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CONDENSED STATEMENT OF INCOME

For thefiscalyears endedJune 30, 2000, June 30, 1999 andJune 30, 1998

Expressed in millions of US. dollars

2000 1999 1998

Income

Income from investments-Note B $ 70.1 $36.9 $14.4

Expenses

Amortization of discount on contribution advances (0.3) '0.4) (0.3)

Operating Income 69.8 36.5 14.1
Effect of exchange rate changes on accumulated income excluding

HIPC Debt Initiative (4.5) (2.3) (I0.1)

Income before HIPC Debt Initiative 65.3 34.2 4.0

Enbanced HIPC Framework
Allowance for principal component of debt relief-Note E (5 1.0) - -

Contribution from the HIPC Debt Initiative Trust Fund-Note F 17.3
Total charges for Enhanced HIPC (33.7) - -

Income after HIPC Debt initiative $ 31.6 $34.2 $ 4.0

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For thefiscal years endedJune 30, 2000, June 30, Z999 and June 30, Z998

Expressed in millions of US dollars

2000 1999 Z998

Income after HIPC Debt Initiative S31.6 $34.2 S 4.0

Other Comprebensive Income Note G

Currency translation adjustment on Interim Fund Credits (8.6) (2.2) (10.3)
Total other comprehensive (loss) (8.6) (2.29 (10.3)

Comprebensive Income (Loss) 823.0 $32.0 S <6.3)

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN

RETAINED EARNINGS

For thefiscal years endedJune 30, 2000 andJune 30, 1999

2000 1999

Balance at Activity Balance at Balance at Activity BaZance at
beginning of dsring the end of the beginining of during the end of the
thefiscalyear fiscalyear fiscalyear the fiscalyear fiscal year fiscal year

Allowance for Enhanced HIPC $ - $(51.0) $(51.09 $- S - S

Contribution for Enhanced HIPC from
HIPC Debt Initiative Trust Fund - 17.3 17.3

Accumulated Income excluding HIPC
Debt Initiative 37.5 65.3 102.8 3.3 34.2 37.5

Total $37.5 $ 31.6 S 69.1 $3.3 $34.2 $37.5

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of these Statements and are included in the World Bank
Annual Report 2000: Financial Statements and Appendixes to the Annual Report.
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CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For thefiscal years endedJune 30, 2000, June 30, Z999 andJune 30, l998

Expressed in millions of US. dollars

2000 1999 Z998

Cash Flowsfrom Development Activities

Interim Fund Credit disbursements $ (290.7) $(179.6) S(197.6)

Cash Flowsfrom Financing Activities

Net short-term borrowings - - (22.0)
Donor contributions 638.0 682.5 579.8

Net cash provided by financing activities 638.0 682.5 557.8

Casb Flowsfrom Operating Activities

Operating Income 69.8 36.5 14.1
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash

provided by operating activities
Amortization of discount on contribution advances 0.3 0.4 0.3
Net changes in other development resources (6.7) 1.3 (3.7)

Net cash provided by operating activities 63.4 38.2 10.7

Effect of exchange rate changes on unrestricted cash and
liquid investments 0.7 (I.2) (9.3)

Net Increase in Unrestricted Casb and Liquid Investments 411.4 539.9 361.6

Unrestricted Cash and Liquid Investments at Beginning f the Fiscal Year 944.5 404.6 43.0

Unrestricted Cash and Liquid Investments at End of the Fiscal Year $1,355.9 $ 944.5 $ 404.6

Composed of

Unrestricted currencies 9.7 8.7 14.3
Investments 1,346.2 935.8 390.3

$1,355.9 $ 944.5 $ 404.6

Supplemental Disclosure

Decrease in ending balances of Interim Fund Credits
outstanding resulting from exchange rate fluctuations $ (8.6) $ (2.2) $ (10.3)

Total charges for Enhanced HIPC (33.7)

Ihe Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of these Statements and are included in tle World Bank
Annual Report 2000: Financial Statements and Appendixes to the Annual Report.
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ANNEX TABLES

TABLE I.IA LIST OF CONSULTATIONS AND SEMINARS HELD WITH
DONORS AND OTHER INSTITUTIONS, FISCAL 2000

DONORS DATES

Italy - Seminar on Cofinancing July 7, I999

Netherlands (Public/Private Mission) September 13-15, 1999

Japan Center for International Finance (JCIF) October 26-27, 1999

Italy November 16-19, 1999

Norway December 8-I4,1999

Netherlands December 13-14,1999

Nordic Development Fund (Southern Africa) January 10-14, 2000

Berne Union January 18-19, 2000

Engineering Consulting Firms Association (ECFA) January 24 and 27, 2000

KfW (Kreditanstalt furWiederaufbau) February 7-8, 2000

Finland February 7-8, 2000

Spain - Seminar on Cofinancing February 22, 2000

Nordic Development Fund (Excl. Southern Africa) February 23-25, 2000

Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA) March 2-3, 2000

Japan International Cooperation Agency (lCA) March 21-24, 2000

Nordic Investment Bank April 6-II, 2000

France - Ministry of Finance & Economy (DREE) May 2, 2000

Netherlands May 15-16, 2000

Japan - Ministry of Foreign Affairs May 22-23, 2000

Japan Center for International Finance JCIF) May 23-24, 2000

Sweden - Joint mission by SIDA and NORAD June 7-8, 2000

Belgium June 14-16, 2000

Japan Bank for International Cooperation JBIC)* June 15-16, 2000

France - Conference on Trust Funds June 19-20, 2000

Norway June 22-27,2000

JBIC was established by merging the Export-import Bank of Japan (JEXIM) and the Overseas Economic Cooperation Fund (OECF) on October 1. 1999.
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TABLE I.2A TRUST FUND DISBURSEMENTS, FISCAL 1999-00'
(millions of dollars)

FISCAL i999 FISCAL 2000

Trust fiuds for multidonor special programs

Highly Indebted Poor Countries (HIPC) 144.1 469.6

Global Environment Facility (GEF, 269.5 217.4

Central America Emergency 82.3 82.5

Montreal Protocol/Ozone 50.5 58.0

West Bank and Gaza 49.7 56.6

Bosnia and Herzegovina 54.6 55.7

Consultative Group for International Agricultural Research (CGIAR) 38.9 39.2

Onchocerciasis Control (ONCHO) 21.7 24.6

Information for Development (InfoDev) 12.4 17.9

ASEM-EU Asian Financial Crisis Response Fund 2.6 10.9

Partnership for Capacity Building in Africa 10.2 9.5

Consultative Group to Assist the Poorest (CGAP) 11.6 8.4

Brazilian Rain Forest 14.3 7.6

Energy Sector Management and Assistance Program (ESMAP) 5.3 7.2

Kosovo n.a. 5.6

East Timor n.a. 3.6

Other trust fund programs'

Policy and Human Resources Development (PHRD) Fundb 146.4 133.7

Consultant Trust Fund Program' 60.1 47.2

Bank/Netherlands Partnership Program (BNPP)d 10.6 26.0

Institutional Development Fund 17.7 16.1

Other trust funds' 324.0 310.I

Total 1,326.5 1,607.4

a. Trust fund disbursements are reported on a cash basis. Amounts shown for the HlPC Trust Fund include payments in the form of promissory notes.
b. These figures include the portion of PHRO that is allocated to Japanese Consultant Trust Funds.
c. These figures exclude Japanese and Netherlands Consultant Trust Funds, which are included in PHRD and SNPP respectively.
d BNPP disbursements include allocations to several multidonor special programs including ONcHO, InfoD-e, cGAP, EsMAP,

and the Partnership for Capacity Building in Africa. They also include allocations to the Netherlands CTF Program.
e. This category includes smaller programs and single-purpose trust funds that finance debt reduction. cofinancing. technical assistance, and other advisory services.
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TABLE 4.IA WORLD BANK COMMITMENTS, DISBURSEMENTS, AND NET TRANSFERS
IN AFRICA, FISCAL 1995-00

(millions of dollars)

ZAMBIA TANZANIA MOZAMBIQUE TOTAL. REGION

Item 2000 I995-00' 2000 I995-00' 2000 I995-00' 2000 1995-00'

IBRD and IDA commitments 270 1,152 330 741 162 572 2,159 13,822

Undisbursed balance 448 448 515 515 432 432 8,003 8,003

Gross disbursements I58 943 162 910 77 893 1,936 15,008

Repayments 13 216 31 217 682' 690 1,554' 6,983

Net Disbursements 144 727 131 692 -605 203 382 8,025

Interest and charges 16 114 20 127 8 45 469 3,803

Net transfer 129 613 112 565 -614 158 -87 4,222

Note: The table shows the three countries with the largest lending commitments in the region over
the past two fiscal years (hscal 1999 2000).
a. Disbursements from the IDA Special Fund are included through fiscal M996.
b. During fiscal 2000, debt relief under the HIPC Initiative amounted to $8 million and $682 million for Tanzania and Mozambique, respectively.

TABLE 4.3A WORLD BANK COMMITMENTS, DISBURSEMENTS, AND NET TRANSFERS
IN EAST ASIA AND PACIFIC, FISCAL 1995 00

(millions of dollars)

CHINA INDONESIA REPUBLIC OF KOREA TOTAL REGION

Item 2000 1995-00' 2000 1995-00' 2000 1995-00' 2000 1995-00

IBRD and IDA conmmitments 1,673 15,170 133 6,901 0 7,323 2,979 38,347

Undisbursed balance 10,633 10,633 4,237 4,237 196 196 19,762 19,762

Gross disbursements 1,828 12,509 996 6,808 52 7,893 3,646 33,780

Repayments 602 2,578 775 6,331 224 2,072 2,307 15,667

Net Disbursements 1,226 9,931 221 476 -172 5,820 1,339 18,I 2

Interest and charges 750 3,555 909 5,009 532 1,746 2,702 13,562

Net transfer 476 6,376 -688 -4,532 -704 4,074 -1,362 4,550

Note: The rabin shows the three countries with the largest lending commitments in the region over
the past two fiscal years (fiscal t1999-2000).

a. Disbursements from the IDA Special Fund ame included through fiscal 1996.
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TABLE 4.5A WORLD BANK COMMITMENTS, DISBURSEMENTS, AND NET TRANSFERS
IN SOUTH ASIA, FISCAL 1995-00

(millions of dollars)

INDIA BANGLADESH PAKISTAN TOTAL REGION

Item 2000 I995-00 2000 I995-00' 2000 I995-00 2000 I995-00

IBRD and IDA Commitments 1,80I I0,668 I72 2,579 0 2,498 2,JI2 I6,485

Undisbursedbalance 8,163 8,163 1,727 1,727 1,368 I,368 II,834 I1,834

Gross disbursements 1,698 9,166 35I I,983 307 3,452 2,451 15,50I

Repayments I,501 7,086 82 364 287 1,549 1,906 9,163

Net Disbursements 197 2,080 269 1,619 21 1,904 545 6,338

Interest and charges 647 4,602 49 275 225 1,358 944 6,37I

Net transfer -450 -2,52I 220 I,344 -205 546 -399 -33

Note: The table shows the three countnes with the largest lending commitments in the region over the past two fiscal years (fiscal 1999-2000)
a. Disbursements from the IDA Special Fund are inclu ed through fiscal 1996.

TABLE 4.7A WORLD BANK COMMITMENTS, DISBURSEMENTS, AND NET TRANSFERS
IN EUROPE AND CENTRAL ASIA, FISCAL 1995-00

(millions of dollars)

TuRKEY RUSSIAN FEDERATION UKRAINE TOTAL REGION

Item 2000 I995-00' 2000 I995-00- 2000 I995-00' 2000 I995-00'

IBRD and IDA commitments I,770 3,482 90 8,922 18 2,813 3,042 27,451

Undisbursed balance 1,672 1,672 4,698 4,698 883 883 13,428 13,428

Gross disbursements 958 2,693 606 6,643 138 2,046 3,658 22,308

Repayments 551 4,422 208 326 2 3 1,385 9,I57

Net Disbursements 407 -1,729 398 6,317 I36 2,042 2,273 13,151

Interest and charges 23I 1,816 383 I,266 107 320 1,272 6,724

Net transfer I75 -3,545 I4 5,051 28 I,723 I,00I 6,427

Note: The table shows the three countnes with the largest lending commitments In the region over the past two fiscal years (fiscal 1999-2000).

a. Disbursements from the IDA Special Fund are included through fiscal 1996.
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TABLE 4.9A WORLD BANK COMMITMENTS, DISBURSEMENTS, AND NET TRANSFERS
IN LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN, FISCAL 1995-00

(millions of dollars)

ARGENTINA BRAZIL MEXICO TOTAL REGION

Item 2000 1995-00' 2000 1995-00' 2000 1995-00' 2000 1995-00'

IBRD and IDA commitments 57 9,030 I,290 7,013 1,169 7,285 4,063 32,340

Undisbursed balance 4,726 4,726 3,532 3,532 3,381 3,38I 16,403 16,403

Gross disbursements I,446 7,0I9 1,639 8,386 1,334 7,I96 6,073 31,540

Repayments 475 2,035 934 6,734 1,339 7,940 3,931 25,069

Net Disbursements 971 4,984 705 I,652 -5 -744 2,143 6,471

Interest and charges 635 2,379 477 2,615 880 5,246 2,742 14,847

Net transfer 336 2,604 229 -963 -884 -5,990 -599 -8,375

Note: The table shows the three countries with the largest lending commitments in the region over the past two fiscalyears (fiscal 1999-2000).
a. Disbursements from the IDA Special Fund are included through fiscal t996.

TABLE 4.IIA WORLD BANK COMMITMENTS, DISBURSEMENTS, AND NET TRANSFERS
IN MIDDLE EAST AND NORTH AFRICA, FISCAL 1995-00

(millions of dollars)

ARAB REPUBLIC OF EGYPT MOROCCO TUNISIA TOTAL REGION

Item 2000 1995-00' 2000 I995-00' 2000 1995-00' 2000 1995-00'

IBRD and IDA commitments 50 1,069 8 1,353 202 1,231 920 6,977

Undisbursed balance 939 939 585 585 738 738 3,802 3,802

Gross disbursements 78 796 107 1,807 147 1,042 744 7,070

Repayments 116 1,063 333 1,936 163 1,093 982 6,576

Net Disbursements -38 -267 -227 -129 -16 -SI -238 494

Interest and charges 55 514 200 1,437 83 636 632 4,095

Net transfer -94 -782 -427 -1,S67 -99 -686 -870 -3,601

Note: The table shows the three countries with the largest lending commitments in the region over the past two fiscalyears (fiscal 1999-2000Y.
a. Disbursements from the IDA Special Fund are included through fiscal 1996.
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TABLE 4.2A OPERATIONS APPROVED DURING FISCAL 2000, AFRICA

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT (MILLIONS)

COUNTRY/PROJECT NAME DATE OF APPROVAL MATURITIES SDR us$

Angola

Social Action Fund II Project Jun 30, 2000 2010/2040 24.9 33.0

Benin

Labor Force Development Project Jun 9, 2000 2010/2040 3.8 5.0

Distance Learning Project Feb 18, 2000 2010/2040 1.3 1.8

Private Sector Development Project Nov 30,1999 2010/2039 22.2 30.4

Burkina Faso

Structural Adjustment Credit III Dec 2, I999 2010/2039 I8.0 25.0

Burundi

Emergency Economic Recovery Credit Apr 25, 2000 2010/2040 26.2 35.0

Social Action II Project Oct 5, 1999 2010/2039 9.0 12.0

Cameroon

Chad/Cameroon Petroleum Development and Pipeline Project Jun 6, 2000 2005/2015 n.a. 53.4

Petroleum Environment Capacity Enhancement Project Jun 6, 2000 2010/2040 4.3 5.8

Structural Adjustment Credit-IDA Reflows II Jun 6, 2000 2008/2038 8.4 11.0

Public-Private Partnership for Growth and Poverty Reduction Project May 30, 2000 2010/2040 I5.6 20.9

Cape Verde

Public Sector Reform and Capacity Building II Project Nov 23,1999 2010/2039 2.3 3.0

Central African Republic

Policy Support Project May 30,2000 2010/2040 6.0 8.0

Fiscal Consolidation Credit Dec 16, 1999 2010/2039 14.4 20.0

Chad

Chad/Cameroon Petroleum Development and Pipeline Project Jun 6, 2000 2005/2013 n.a. 39.5

Petroleum Sector Management Capacity Building Project Jun 6, 2000 2010/2040 17.4 23.7

Health Sector Support Project Apr 27, 2000 2010/2039 31.0 41.5

Management of the Petroleum Economy Project Jan 27, 2000 2010/2039 12.6 17.5

C6te d'Ivoire

Distance Learning Project Jun 28, 2000 20I0/2040 1.5 2.0

Transport Sector Adjustment Credit-IDA Reflows Mar 22, 2000 2008/2038 15.8 21.2

Pilot Literacy Project July 12,I999 2009/2039 3.7 5.0
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TABLE 4.2A OPERATIONS APPROVED DURING FISCAL 2000, AFRICA

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT (MI9LLIONS)

COUNTRY/PROJECT NAME DATL OF APPROVAL MATURITIES SDR US$

Ghana

Economic Reform Support Credit II-IDA Reflows Jun 30, 2000 2009/2039 0.9 1.2

Rural Financial Services Project Jun 8, 2000 2010/2040 3.9 5.1

Urban V Project Mar 30, 2000 20I0/2039 8.1 10.8

CommunityvWater and Sanitation II Project Aug 31, 1999 2009/2039 18.7 25.0

Guinea

Capacity Building for Service Delivery Project Dec 21, 1999 2010/2039 13.8 19.0

Guinea-Bissau

Economic Rehabilitation and Recovery Credit May 16,2000 2010/2040 18.0 25.0

Lesotho

Health Sector Reform Project Jun 13, 2000 2010/2039 4.9 6.5

Community Development Support Project Dec 20, I999 2010/2039 3.6 4.7

Madagascar

Transport Sector Reform and Rehabilitation Project Jun I, 2000 2010/2040 48.4 65.0

Public-Private Partnership and Information Mar 31, 2000 2010/2040 3.4 4.6

Management for Regional Development Project

Health Sector Support II Project Dec 2,1999 2010/2039 29.0 40.0

Malawi

Privatization and Utility Reform Project Jun 27, 2000 2010/2040 21.8 28.9

Mali

Financial Sector Development Project Jun 27, 2000 2010/2040 15.8 21.0

National Rural Infrastructure Project Jun 27, 2000 2010/2040 86.7 115.1

Improving Learning in Primary Schools Jan 21, 2000 2010/2039 2.8 3.8

Mauritania

Cultural Heritage Project Jun 30, 2000 2010/2040 3.8 5.0

Energy. Water, and Sanitation Jun 13, 2000 2010/2040 7.4 9.9

Sector Reform Technical

Assistance Project

Fiscal Reform Support Operation Credit May 23,2000 2010/2039 22.4 30.0

Public Resource Management-IDA Reflow Nov 18,1999 2006/2036 0.1 0.1

Integrated Development for Irrigated Agriculture I Project Jul 8,1999 2009/2039 28.2 38.1

(continued on next page)
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TABLE 4.2A OPERATIONS APPROVED DURING FISCAL 2000, AFRICA(continued)

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT (MILLIONS)

COUNTRY/PROJECT NAME DATE OF APPROVAL MATURITIES SDR US$

Mauritius

Financial Sector Infrastructure Project Apr 4, 2000 n.a./2014 n.a. 4.8

Mozambique

Coastal and Marine Biodiversity Management Project Jun I, 2000 2010/2040 4.2 5.6

Flood Emergency Recovery Project Apr 20, 2000 2010/2040 22.4 30.0

Enterprise Development Project Jan 27, 2000 2010/2039 I9.2 26.0

Railways and Ports Restructuring Project Oct 14, I999 2010/2039 73.8 100.0

Niger

Agropastoral Export Promotion Project Jun I, 2000 20I0/2039 7.7 I0.4

Nigeria

Small Towns Water Supply and Sanitation Program Pilot Project May 18,2000 2010/2035 3.6 5.0

Economic Management Capacity Building Project May II, 2000 2010/2034 I4.4 20.0

Primary Education II Project May I I, 2000 20I0/2035 40.I 55.0

Rwanda

Human Resource Development Project Jun 6, 2000 20I0/2040 26.1 35.0

Rural Water Supply and Saniration Project Jun 6, 2000 20I0/2040 I5.I 20.0

Agricultural and Rural Market Development Project Jul I, I999 2009/2039 3.8 5.0

Senegal

Distance Learning Project Jun 29, 2000 2010/2040 1.6 2.1

Urban Mobility Improvement Project May 25, 2000 20I0/2040 52.2 70.0

Quality Education for All Project Apr II, 2000 20I0/2039 36.7 50.0

National Rural Infrastructure Project Jan 27, 2000 2010/2039 20.5 28.5

Year 2000 National Action Plan Support Project Nov 2, 1999 2010/2039 7.5 I0.2

Sierra Leone

Economic Rehabilitation and Recovery Credit Feb I7, 2000 2010/2040 21.9 30.0

Community Reintegration and Rehabilitation Project Dec 21, 1999 2010/2039 18.3 25.0

Tanzania

Health Sector Development Program Project Jun 15, 2000 2010/2040 16.2 22.0

Programmatic Structural Adjustment Credit Jun 15, 2000 2010/2040 I41.8 I90.0

Structural Adjustment I-IDA Reflow Dec 28, 1999 2007/2037 0.8 1.1

Privatization and Private Sector Development Project Dec 14, 1999 20I0/2039 33.3 45.9

Public Service Reform Project Dec 2, 1999 20I0/2039 29.9 41.2

Financial Institutions Development II Project Aug 31, 1999 2009/2039 20.6 27.5

Rural and Microfinancial Services Project Aug 26, 1999 2009/2039 1.5 2.0
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TABLE 4.2A OPERATIONS APPROVED DURING FISCAL 2000, AFRICA

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT (MILLIONS)

COUNTRY/PROJECT NAME DATE OF APPROVAL MATURITIES SDR USS

Uganda

Supplemental Credit for Power III Project Jan 20, 2000 2001/203I 24.0 33.0

Economic and Financial Management II Project Nov 30, 1999 2010/2039 24.7 34.0

Local Government Development Program Nov 30, 1999 2010/2039 58.7 80.9

Zambia

Fiscal Sustainability Credit Jun 27, 2000 2010/2040 105.5 I40.0

Mine Township Services Project Jun 20, 2000 2010/2040 28.2 37.7

Social Investment Fund Project May 25, 2000 2010/2040 48.3 64.7

Public Service Capacity Building Program I Project Mar 28, 2000 2010/2039 20.4 28.0

Zimbabwe

Land Reform Support Project Sep 16, 1999 2009/2034 3.7 5.0

Total 1,526.8 2,159.1

n.a. = not applicable (IBRO loan).

TABLE 4.4A OPERATIONS APPROVED DURING FISCAL 2000, EAST ASIA AND PACIFIC

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT (MILLIONS)

COUNTRY/PROJECT NAME DATE OF APPROVAL MATURITIES SDR us$

Cambodia

Forest Concession Management and Control Pilot Project Jun 5, 2000 2010/2040 3.6 4.8

Structural Adjustment Credit Feb 29, 2000 2010/2039 21.9 30.0

Biodiversity and Protected Areas Management Project Feb 8, 2000 2010/2039 1.4 1.9

Education Quality Improvement Project Aug 3I, 1999 2009/2039 3.7 5.0

China

Hebei Urban Environment Project Jun 27, 2000 2006/2020 n.a. 150.0

Yangtze Dike Strengthening Project Jun 27, 2000 2006/2020 n.a. 210.0

Beijing Environment II Project Jun 20, 2000 2006/2020 n.a. 349.0

Chongqing Urban Environment Project Jun 15, 2000 2006/2020 n.a. 200.0

Henan Provincial Highway III Project May 16, 2000 2006/2020 n.a. I50.0

Guangxi Highway Project Mar 28, 2000 2005/2020 n.a. 200.0

Smallholder Cattle Development Project Dec 22, 1999 2005/2020 n.a. 93.5

Tongbai Pumped Storage Project Dec 22, 1999 2005/2020 n.a. 320.0

,continued on next page)
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TABLE 4.4A OPERATIONS APPROVED DURING FISCAL 2000, EAST ASIA AND PACIFIC (continued)

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT (MILLIONS)

COUNTRY/PROJECT NAME DATE OF APPROVAL MATURITIES SDR US$

Indonesia

Provincial Health I Project Jun I5, 2000 2010/2035 28.6 38.0

Water and Sanitation for Low Income Communities II Project Jun IS, 2000 20I0/2035 57.8 77.4

Decentralized Agricultural and Forestry Extension Project' Aug 3I, 1999 2003/2014 n.a. I3.0

Decentralized Agricultural and Forestry Extension Project' Aug 3I, 1999 2009/2034 3.8 5.0

Mongolia

Financial Sector Adjustment Credit Apr 20, 2000 2010/2040 24.0 32.0

Papua New Guinea

Governance Promotion Adjustment Loan Jun 13, 2000 2005/2020 n.a. 90.0

Gas Development and Utilization Technical Assistance Project Jun 1, 2000 2005/2020 n.a. 7.0

Mining Sector and Institutional Strengthening Technical Assistance Project Jun I, 2000 2005/2020 n.a. 10.0

Gazelle Restoration II Project Dec 9, I999 2003/2015 n.a. 25.3

Philippines

National Roads Improvement and Management I Project Feb I5, 2000 2008/2020 n.a. 150.0

Social Expenditure Management Project Feb IS, 2000 2005/2020 n.a. I00.0

Mindanao Rural Development Project Dec 2, 1999 2005/2019 n.a. 27.5

Solomon Islands

Health Sector Development Project Jan 6, 2000 2010/2040 3.0 4.0

Thailand

Public Sector Reform Loan Oct 14, I999 2003/2012 n.a. 400.0

Vietnam

Rural Energy Project May 30, 2000 2010/2039 111.7 I50.0

Rural Transport II Project Dec 16, I999 2010/2039 74.7 103.9

Coastal Wetlands Protection and Development Project Nov 23, 1999 2010/2039 23.1 31.8

Total 357.3 2,979.1

na. = not applicable (IBRD loan).
a. "Blend' loan/credt.

154 THE WO RLD BAN K AN NUAL REPO RT 2 0 0 0



TABLE 4.6A OPERATIONS APPROVED DURING FISCAL 2000, SOUTH ASIA

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT (MILLIONS)

COUNTRY/PROJECT NAME DATE OF APPROVAL MATURITIES SDR us$

Bangladesh

National Nutrition Project May 25, 2000 2010/2040 68.5 92.0

Financial Institutions Development Project Sep 16, 1999 2009/2039 34.5 46.9

Agricultural Services Innovation and Reform Project Sep I4, 1999 2010/2039 3.8 5.0

Fisheries IV Project Jul 20, 1999 2010/2039 20.6 28.0

Bhutan

Rural Access Project Dec 21, 1999 2010/2039 8.5 11.6

Urban Development Project Dec 21, 1999 20I0/2039 7.9 10.8

India

Renewable Energy II Project' Jun 27, 2000 2005/2020 n.a. 80.0

Renewable Energy II Project' Jun 27, 2000 2010/2035 37.2 50.0

National Highways III Project Jun 8, 2000 2006/2020 n.a. 516.0

Telecommunications Sector Reform Technical Assistance Project Jun 6, 2000 2006/2020 n.a. 62.0

Technical Assistance for Economic Reform Project May 12, 2000 2010/2035 33.6 45.0

Immunization Strengthening Project Apr 25, 2000 2010/2035 106.5 142.6

Rajasthan District Poverty Initiatives Project Apr 25, 2000 2010/2035 75.0 100.5

Uttar Pradesh Fiscal Reform and Public Secctor Restructuring Project Apr 25, 2000 2006/2020 n.a. 126.2

Uttar Pradesh Fiscal Reform and Public Secctor Restructuring Project' Apr 25, 2000 2010/2035 93.3 125.0

LUttar Pradesh Health Systems Development Project Apr 25, 2000 2010/2034 82.1 110.0

Uttar Pradesh Power Sector Restructuring Project Apr 25, 2000 2006/2020 n.a. 150.0

Andhra Pradesh District Poverty Initiatives Project Apr Il,2000 2010/2034 82.9 111.0

Uttar Pradesh District Primary Education III Project Dec 16, 1999 2010/2034 132.3 182.4

Maldives

Education andTraining III Project Mar 16, 2000 2010/2040 12.9 17.6

Nepal

Road Maintenance and Development Project Nov 23, 1999 2010/2039 40.1 54.5

Sri Lanka

Legal and Judicial Reforms Project Jun 20, 2000 2010/2040 13.6 18.2

North-East Irrigated Argriculture Project Dec 2, 1999 2010/2039 19.6 27.0

Total 872.9 2,112.3

na. = not applicable (IBRD loan).
a. Blend loan/credit.

ANNEX TA B L ES 155



TABLE 4.8A OPERATIONS APPROVED DURING FISCAL 2000, EUROPE AND CENTRAL ASIA

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT (MILLIONS)

COUNTRY/PROJECT NAME DATE OF APPROVAL MATURITIES SDR us$

Albania

Financial Sector Institution BuildingTechnical Assistance Project Jun I, 2000 2010/2040 4.9 6.5

Education Reform Project May II, 2000 2010/2040 9.0 12.0

Legal and Judicial Reform Project Mar 21, 2000 20I0/2040 6.6 9.0

Public Administration Reform Project Mar 2I, 2000 20I0/2040 6.3 8.5

Water Supply Urgent Rehabilitation Project Feb 24, 2000 2010/2040 7.3 10.0

Emergency Road Repair Project Dec 7, 1999 2010/2039 9.9 13.6

Armenia

Transport Project Jun 8, 2000 2010/2035 29.9 40.0

Social Investment Fund II Project May I I, 2000 20I0/2034 14.9 20.0

Azerbaijan

Rehabilitation and Completion of Irrigation and Drainage Jun 22, 2000 2010/2035 31.7 42.0

Infrastructure Project

Bosnia and Herzegovina

Mostar Water Supply and Sanitation Project Jun 30, 2000 2010/2035 9.1 I2.0

Pilot Emergency Labor Deployment Project Jun 20, 2000 20I0/2035 11.4 I5.0

Education Development Project May 18, 2000 2010/2035 8.0 I0.6

Bulgaria

Health Sector Reform Project Jun 22, 2000 2005/2020 n.a. 63.3

Trade and Transport Facilitation in South East Europe Project May 25, 2000 2005/2020 n.a. 7.4

Environment and Privatization Support Adjustment Loan Feb 24, 2000 2005/20I9 n.a. 50.0

Financial and Enterprise Sector Adjustment Loan II Dec 2, I999 2005/2019 n.a. 100.0

Croatia

Health System Project Oct 5, 1999 2005/2014 n.a. 29.0

Estonia

Transport Project Mar I6, 2000 2005/2015 n.a. 25.0

Georgia

Roads Project May 25, 2000 2010/2035 29.8 40.0

Agriculture Research, Extension, and Training Project May II, 2000 20I0/2034 5.5 7.6

Hungary

Municipal Wastewater Project Sep 16, 1999 2005/20I4 n.a. 3I.6
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TABLE 4.8A OPERATIONS APPROVED DURING FISCAL 2000, EUROPE AND CENTRAL ASIA

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT (MILLIONS)

COUNTRY/PROJECT NAME DATE OF APPROVAL MATURITIES SDR US$

Kazakhstan

Electricity Transmission Rehabilitation Project Dec 21, 1999 2005/2019 n.a. 140.0

Kyrgyz Republic

Technical Assistance Credit Jun 22, 2000 20I0/2040 3.8 5.0

Land and Real Estate Registration Project Jun 6, 2000 20I0/2034 7.1 9.4

On-Farm Irrigation Project Jun 6, 2000 2010/2040 14.9 20.0

Latvia

Programmatic Structural Adjustment Loan Mar 16, 2000 2005/2017 n.a. 40.4

Lithuania

Klaipeda Port Project May 11, 2000 2005/20I7 n.a. 35.4

Health Project Nov 30,1999 2005/2016 n.a. 21.2

Poland

Podhale Geothermal District Heating and Environment Project May II, 2000 2005/2013 n.a. 38.2

Rural Development Project Apr II, 2000 2005/2015 n.a. 120.0

Rural Environmental Protection Project Nov 30, 1999 2005/20I4 n.a. 2.5

Romania

Health Sector Reform Program Jun 27, 2000 2006/2020 n.a. 40.0

Trade and Transport Facilitation in Southeast Europe Project Jun 13, 2000 2005/2020 n.a. 17.1

Agriculture Support Services Project Jan 27, 2000 2005/2019 n.a. 11.0

Mine Closure and Social Mitigation Project Aug 31, 1999 2005/2019 n.a. 44.5

Russian Federation

Sustainable Forestry Pilot Project May 23,2000 2005/2017 n.a. 60.0

Regional Fiscal Technical Assistance Project Dec 22,1999 2005/2016 n.a. 30.0

Slovenia

Health Sector Management I Project Jan 20, 2000 2005/2014 n.a. 9.5

Tajikistan

Lake Sarez Risk Mitigation Project Jun 22, 2000 2010/2040 0.4 0.5

Rural Infrastructure Rehabilitation Project Jun 22, 2000 2010/2040 14.9 20.0

Primary Health Care Project Mar 7, 2000 2010/2040 3.9 5.4

Supplemental Credit for Emergency Flood Assistance Project Dec 14,1999 2009/2038 1.5 2.0

ANNEX TA BILES 157



TABLE 4.8A OPERATIONS APPROVED DURING FISCAL 2000, EUROPE AND CENTRAL ASIA

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT (MILLIONS)

COUNTRY/PROJECT NAME DATE OF APPROVAL MATURITIES SDR US$

Turkey

Economic Reform Loan May 18, 2000 2005/2015 n.a. 759.6

Emergency Earthquake Recovery Loan Nov 16,1 999 2003/2014 n.a. 252.5

Marmara Earthquake Emergency Reconstruction Project Nov I6, I999 2003/20I4 n.a. 505.0

Export Finance Intermediation Loan Jul 6, 1999 2003/2006 n.a. 252.5

Ukraine

Kiev Public Buildings Energy Efficiency Project Jan 27, 2000 2006/2017 n.a. 18.3

Uzbekistan

Urban Transport Project May II, 2000 2005/2020 n.a. 29.0

Total 230.8 3,042.2

n.a. = not applicable fIBRD loan).
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TABLE 4.IOA OPERATIONS APPROVED DURING FISCAL 2000,

LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT (MILLIONS)

COUNTRY/PROJECT NAME DATE OF APPROVAL MATURITIES SDR us$

Argentina

Health Insurance for the Poor Project Nov 24, 1999 2005/2014 n.a. 4.9

Public Health Surveillance and Disease Control Project Oct 14, 1999 2005/2014 n.a. 52.5

Bolivia

Hydrocarbon Sector Social and Environmental Management Jun 5, 2000 2010/2039 3.7 4.8

Capacity Building Project

Brazil

Northeast Microfinance Development Project May 30,2000 2006/2015 n.a. 50.0

Administrative and Fiscal Reform Special Sector Adjustment Loan Mar 30, 2000 2003/2005 n.a. 505.1

Social Security Special Sector Adjustment Loan II Mar 30, 2000 2003/2005 n.a. 505.1

Social Security Technical Assistance Project Feb 7, 2000 2005/2015 n.a. 5.1

Ceari Integrated Water Resource Management Project Jan 6, 2000 2005/2014 n.a. 136.0

Low-Income Sanitation Technical Assistance--PROSANEAR--TAL Jan 6, 2000 2005/2014 n.a. 30.3

National Environmental II Project Dec 9, I999 2005/2014 n.a. I5.0

Energy Efficiency Project Oct 5, 1999 2005/2014 n.a. 43.4

Colombia

Community Works and Employment Project May lI, 2000 2005/2017 n.a. 100.0

Sierra Nevada Sustainable Development Project May 2, 2000 2005/2017 n.a. 5.0

Rural Education Project Apr II, 2000 2005/2017 n.a. 20.0

Earthquake Recovery Project Mar 21, 2000 2005/2017 n.a. 225.0

Financial Sector Adjustment Program Nov 18, 1999 2005/2016 n.a. 506.0

Cartagena Water Supply, Sewerage, and Jul 20, 1999 2005/2016 n.a. 85.0

Environmental Management Project

Costa Rica

Ecomarkets Project Jun 6, 2000 2006/2017 n.a. 32.6

Dominic3n Republic
WTastewater Disposal in Tourism Centers Project Apr 19, 2000 2004/2017 n.a. 5.0

Telecommunications Regulatory Reform Project Jul 6, 1999 2003/2015 n.a. 12.3

Ecuador

Financial Sector Technical Assistance Loan Jun 22, 2000 2005/20 17 n.a. 10.0

Structural Adjustment Program Jun 22, 2000 2005/2017 n.a. 151.5

Supplemental Loan for Social Development/Health Oct 7, 1999 2005/2016 n.a. 20.2

and Nutrition II Project

([ontmted on nextpae
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TABLE 4.IOA OPERATIONS APPROVED DURING FISCAL 2000,

LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN (continued)

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT (MILLIONS)

COUNTRY/PROJECT NAME DATE OF APPROVAL MATURITIES SDR us$

Guyana

Financial and Private Sector Institutional Development Project Nov 16, I999 20I0/2039 3.5 4.8

Honduras

Emergency Disaster Management Project May 30, 2000 20I0/2040 8.1 I0.8

Supplemental Credit for Social Investment Fund IV Project Dec 22, I999 2010/2039 I6.2 22.5

Mexico

Gender Equity Project Jun 16, 2000 20I0/20I0 n.a. 3.1

Rural Development in Marginal Areas II Project Dec I5, 1999 n.a./2012 n.a. 55.0

Bank Restructuring Facility Adjustment Loan Dec 14, 1999 2009/2009 n.a. 505.I

Decentralization Adjustment Loan Dec I4, I999 2009/2009 n.a. 606.I

Nicaragua

Agricultural Technology Project Jun 6, 2000 20I0/2040 I7.6 23.6

Pension and Financial Market Reform Technical Assistance Project May II, 2000 20I0/2039 5.8 8.0

Economic ManagementTechnical Assistance Project Jan 20, 2000 2010/2040 I5.3 20.9

Telecommunications Sector Reform Project Nov I8, I999 20I0/2039 I I.6 15.9

Basic Education II Project Aug 3I, I999 20I0/2039 39.3 52.5

Peru

Indigenous and Afro-Peruvian Peoples Development Project Feb 10, 2000 2005/20I7 n.a. 5.0

Health Reform Program Dec 16, I999 2005/2017 n.a. 80.0

Agriculttral Reearch and Extenion Project Nov 23, 1999 2005/2017 n.a. 9.6

St. Lucia

Poverty Reduction Fund Project' Jul22, 1999 2003/20I4 n.a. 1.5

Ponerty Reduction Fund Pmjewt Jul 22, 1999 2009/20J4 1.2 1.5

Uruguay
OSE Modernization and Systems Rehabilitation Project Jun 6, 2000 2006/2015 n.a. 27.0

Financial Sector Adjustment Loan Feb 29, 2000 2005/2014 n.a. 80.9

Venezuela, Bolivariana Republica de

Millennium Science Initiative Project Jun 26, 2000 2005/20I5 n.a. 5.0

TotAl 121.1 4,0i .5

n.a.=not applicable (fBRD loan)
a. Blend loan/credit.
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TABLE 4.12A OPERATIONS APPROVED DURING FISCAL 2000, MIDDLE EAST AND NORTH AFRICA

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT (MILLIONS)

COUNTRY/PROJECT NAME DATE OF APPROVAL MATURITIES SDR us$

Algeria

Telecommunications and Postal Sector Reform Project Jun 27, 2000 n.a./2018 n.a. 9.0

Privatization Assistance Jun 26, 2000 n.a./2018 n.a. 5.0

Ain Temouchent Emergency Earthquake Recovery Project Jun 22, 2000 n.a./2019 n.a. 83.5

Djibouti

International Road Corridor Rehabilitation Project Jun 22, 2000 2010/2040 11.4 I5.0

Egypt, Arab Republic of

National Drainage II Project Jun I5, 2000 2005/2020 n.a. 50.0

Iran, Islamic Republic of

Primary Health Care and Nutrition II Project May 18, 2000 2015/2017 n.a. 87.0

Tehran Sewerage Project May 18, 2000 2015/2017 n.a. 145.0

Jordan

Higher Education Development Project Feb 29, 2000 2004/2017 n.a. 34.7

Lebanon

Municipal Infrastructure I Project Jun 22, 2000 2005/20I5 n.a. 80.0

General Education Project Mar 30, 2000 2005/2015 n.a. 56.6

Morocco

Sustainable Coastal Tourism Development Project Jun 30, 2000 2006/2020 n.a. 2.2

Legal and Judicial Development Project Jun 15, 2000 2006/2020 n.a. 5.3

Tunisia

Education Quality Improvement I Program Jun 27, 2000 2005/2017 n.a. 99.0

Water Sector Investment Project Jun 22, 2000 2005/2017 n.a. 103.0

Yemen, Republic of

Social Fund for Development II Project May 23, 2000 2010/2040 56.0 75.0

Civil Service Modernization Project Apr 20, 2000 2010/2040 22.4 30.0

Child Development Project Mar 21, 2000 2010/2040 21.2 28.9

Privatization Support Project Nov 30, 1999 2010/2039 8.I 10.9

Total I I 9.1 920.0

n.a. = not applicable (IBRD loan).
Note: This table excludes lending to West Bank and Gaza, which is funded by the Trust Fund for Gaza and the West Bank.
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TABLE 5.IA WORLD BANK ADJUSTMENT OPERATIONS, FISCAL 2000
(millions of dollars)

COUNTRY PROJECT WORLD BANK FINANCING

IBRD IDA TOTAL

SE TOR ADJUSTMENT LOANS

Brazil Second Social Security Special Sector Adjustment Loan 505.1 0.0 505.1

Brazil Administrative and Fiscal Reform Loan 505.1 0.0 505.1

Central African Republic Fiscal Consolidation Credit 0.0 20.0 20.0

Colombia Financial Sector Adjustment Loan 506.0 0.0 506.0

Cote d'Ivoire Transport Sector Adjustment Credit (IDA reflows) 0 21.2 21.2

Mexico Bank Restructuring Facility Loan 505.1 0.0 505.1

Mongolia Financial Sector Adjustment Credit 0.0 32.0 32.0

Uruguay Financial Sector Adjustment Loan 80.9 0.0 80.9

STRUCTURAL ADJUSTMENT LOANS

Bulgaria Environment and Privatization Support Adjustment Loan 50.0 0.0 50.0

Bulgaria Second Financial and Enterprise Sector Adjustment Loan 100.0 0.0 100.0

Burkina Faso Third Structural Adjustment Credit 0.0 25.0 25.0

Cambodia Structural Adjustment Credit 0.0 30.0 30.0

Cameroon Third Structural Adjustment Credit (IDA reflows) 0.0 £1.0 11.0

Ecuador Structural Adjustment Loan 151.5 0.0 151.5

Ghana Second Economic Reform Support Operation Credit (IDA reflows) 0.0 1.2 1.2

Guinea-Bissau Economic Rehabilitation and Recovery Credit 0.0 25.0 25.0

India Uttar Pradesh Fiscal Reform and Public Sector Restructuring Credit 126.3 125.0 251.3

Latvia Programmatic Structural Adjustment Loan 40.4 0.0 40.4

Mauritania Fiscal Reform Support Operation Credit 0.0 30.0 30.0

Mauritania Public Resource Management Credit (IDA reflows) 0.0 0.1 0.1

Mexico Decentralization Adjustment Loan 606.1 0.0 606.1

Papua New Guinea Governance Promotion Adjustment Loan 90.0 0.0 90.0

Sierra Leone Economic Rehabilitation and Recovery Credit 0.0 30.0 30.0

Tanzania Programmatic Structural Adjustment Credit 0.0 190.0 190.0

Tanzania Structural Adjustment Credit (IDA reflows) 0.0 1.1 1.1

Thailand Public Sector Reform Program Loan 400.0 0.0 400.0

Turkey Economic Reform Loan 759.6 0.0 759.6

Zambia Fiscal Sustainabilitv Credit 0.0 140.0 140.0

Total 4,426.1 681.6 5,107.7
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TABLE 5.2A PROGRAM OF TARGETED INTERVENTIONS (PTI), FISCAL 1993-00
(millions of dollars)

FY93 FY94 FY95 FY96 FY97 FY98 FY99 FY00

Total Bank lending 23,695.9 20,836.0 22,521.8 21,352.2 19,146.7 28,594.0 28,994.1 15,276.3

Investment lending* 17,603.1 17,581.4 16,957,5 16,732.8 13,890.4 16,788.8 12,549.2 9,022.0

PTI lending (IBRD and IDA) 4,673.8 4,440.5 5,436.7 5,408.1 4,090.0 6,733.3 6,165.2 3,050.2

as % of total Bank lending 20 21 24 25 21 24 21 20

as % of investment lending 27 25 32 32 29 40 49 34

Number of investment projects 214 197 208 223 203 240 216 I93

PTIs 72 63 75 79 77 101 III 63

Total IDA lending 6,751.4 6,592.1 5,669.2 6,864.1 4,621.8 7,507.8 6,811.8 4,357.5

IDA investment lending 5,I86.7 4,335.5 4,509.9 5,174.7 3,503.5 6,052.6 4,853.3 3,595.3

IDA PTI lending 2,136.7 1,853.0 2,423.2 3,246.0 1,873.5 3,266.8 3,032.6 1,828.0

as % of total IDA lending 32 28 43 47 41 44 45 42

as % of IDA investment lending 41 43 54 63 53 54 62 51

Number of IDA PTIs 44 35 46 50 36 55 69 40

Investment fending is defined as all lending except for adjustment and debt and debt-service reduction operations, and emergency reconstruction operations.
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INDEX

A Chevron (oil company), 48b
Children's Week, 88AcTAfrica (HIV/AIDS Campaign Team for Africa), 50b Chile, 8, 68

Adjustment lending, 9, 82 China, 9, 55, 91 b, 96
Administrative Budget, 37 environmental initiatives, 33
Africa, 46-50 IDA-eligibility, 22b

Bank support fiscal 2000, 47 poverty reduction, 12, 19
Community Action Program, 95b Yangtze Emergency Rehabilitation Project, 93
Higher Impact Adjustment Lending (HIAL), 40b Cities Alliance, 97b
HIV/AIDS in, 1, 26, 29, 47, 50 Cities Without Slums, 56, 97b
IDA lending fiscal 1999, 22b City Development Strategies, 56
Land and Water Initiative, 92b Civic engagement, 95
portfolio performance in, 43 Clean Air Initiative for Latin American Cities, 70, 92b
poverty reduction, 13, 49-50 Client participation, 26
regional regulatory forums, 101b Cofinancing, 1, 31, 31f
sectoral lending, 5Of Clmi,9 9 9 0
Strategic Partnership with Africa IsPAl, 30 Colombia,k,e9 99pos, 6102 0 7

African eolnomic Rsarc Cosrtu, 47b public works for low income people, 71-72
African Economic Research Consortium, 47 Committee on Development Effectiveness (CODE), 36
African Latin Americans, 71 Commonwealth of Independent States (Ics), 63
Agricultural research, 94-95 Commonwealth Secretariat, 54b
Albania, 22b, 25, 63, 64, 83 Communities of practice, 27
Algeria, 75, 78 Community Action Programs (CAP), in Africa, 50
Amazon Fire Prevention and Emergency Control Project, 93 Community-Driven Development Initiative, 90, 95b, 96
Angola, 90 Comprehensive Development Framework (cDF), 4, 33, 41-42
Anticorruption programs, 29, 37, 65 in Africa, 49
Arab Urban Development Institute, 100 Board of Executive Directors and, 36
Argentina, 7, 30, 68, 88 country pilot programs, 23-24

borrowing by, 9, 18 in Europe and Central Asia, 64
IBRD policy-based Guarantee for bond issue, 69, 98 fiscal 2000 progress, 28b

Armenia, 20b, 64, 65, 84, 90 in Pacific Island countries, 54b
poverty reduction, 22b RPsPs and, 14, 15
Asia. See also East Asia and Pacific; Europe and Central Asia; South in Vietnam, 53

Asia Consultant Trust Funds Program, 31 b
IDA lending fiscal 1999, 22b Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR),

Asia-Europe Meetings (ASEM), 53, 87b 94O95
Asian Development Bank (ADB), 53 Corruption. See also Anticorruption programs citizen surveys, 26
Asia-Paclic Economic Cooperation (APEC), 53 Costa Rica, 68
Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN), 53 Cote d'lvoire, 18, 49
Audit Committee, Executive Directors on, 35 Country and sector strategies, Board of Executive Directors and, 36
B Country Assistance Strategies (CASS)

Board of Executive Directors and, 36
Balkans, 63, 84 civil society engagement in, 29
Bangladesh, 18, 22b, 58, 60 governance and, 84

Country Assistance Strategy (CASS) for, 59 portfolio performance and, 43
Institutional and Governance Review, 84 poverty focus of, 14, 25
National Nutrition Project, 61, 88 Country Framework Reports, 101b
Partial Risk Guarantee, 99 Country ownership, 4, 28b

Benin, 10, 84 Country visitation by Executive Directors, 35
Bhutan, 10, 60b Croatia, 63, 65, 90
Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, 31b, 89b Cultural identity, 96
Bolivia, 69, 82, 84, 85, 96 MNA regional cultural heritage strategy, 76-77

debt relief, 24
interim PRSPS completion by, 25, 83 D
pension reform, 90b Debt relief. See Heavily Indebted Poor Countries (HIPC) Initiative
poverty reduction, 22b Development Effectiveness Committee, Executive

Bosnia and Herzegovina, 65, 90 Directors on, 35
Botswana, 7 Development Forum (moderated internet discussion), 29
Brazil, 7, 9, 68, 71, 91b Development Grant Facility budget, 37

crisis borrowing, 18 Development outcomes, 28b
environmental management, 70, 93 Development research, 28-29
pension reform, 90 Disaster Management Facility, 27
private infrastructure, 99 Dominican Republic, 68, 69, 72b, 98b
rural development, 94
Rural Poverty Alleviation Program, 23 E

Budget Committee, Executive Directors on, 35
Bulgaria, 9, 66 E-bonds, 8, 25b
Burkina Faso, 24, 25, 49, 82, 83 East Asia and Pacific, 9, 17, 52-56
Burundi, 20b, 90 financial/corporate restructuring in, 53-54
Business Partners for Development, 97b governance, 54-55, 57b

growth performance, 53f
C interest payments as share of tax revenues, 54f

operational decentralization in, 52-53Cameroon, 102 Pacific Island states' assistance strategy, 54b
Canada, 31,102 social protection, 55-56
Capital markets, E-bonds, 25b East Timor, 31 b, 52-53, 96
Caribbean Country Management Unit, 43b Economic and Monetary Union of West Africa (UEMOA) 46
Chad-Cameroon Petroleum Development and Pipeline Project, 48b

Note: b indicates boxes; f indicates figures; and t indicates tables.
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Economic management, 21, 82-87 Global Development Learning Network (GoLN), 28
Chad-Cameroon Petroleum Development and Global Development Network, 29
Pipeline Project, 48b Global Distance Learning Network, 71
Economic Research Forum for the Arab Countries, Islamic Repub- Global Environment Facility (GEF), 31, 93
lic of Iran, and Turkey, 79 Global Products Groups, 99

Ecuador, 68, 69, 103 Global Water Partnership, 92b
Indigenous and Afro-Ecuadorean People's Development Project, 71 Governance, 26, 28b, 29, 70

Edinvest (on-line facility), 87b diagnostic programs, 65
Education for All (EFA), 27, 89 poverty reduction and, 14, 20b
Education lending, 20b, 21, 87, 89-90 Guarantees, 98-99
Egypt, Arab Republic of, 74, 75, 76, 78, 103 Guinea, Equatorial, 22b
IDA-eligibility, 22b Gulf Cooperation Council, 77
El Salvador, 71, 102 Guyana, 24, 69
Employment issues, civil society engagement in, 29
Environmental management, 20b, 21, 27 H

Chad-Cameroon Petroleum Development and Pipeline Health lending, 20b, 21, 87, 88-89
Prolect, 48b Heavily Indebted Poor Countries IHIPC) Initiative, 1, 13, 24-25, 82b
civil society engagement in, 29 in Africa, 49-50

Environmentally and socially sustainable development, 92-96 Board of Executive Directors and, 36
compliance issues, 93-94 enhancements to, 82-83
global dimension, 93 in Latin America and the Caribbean, 69
partnerships, 92b trust funds for, 32
rural development, 94-95 Herzegovina. See Bosnia and Herzegovina
social development, 95-96 Higher Impact Adjustment Lending (HIAL), 40b

Eritrea, 18, 88 HIV/AIDS, 26f, 58, 88
Estonia, 63, 91b, 102 in Africa, 1, 26, 29, 47, 50
Ethiopia, 18, 84, 94 Honduras, 22b, 69, 72, 90
Europe and Central Asia (ECA), 63-67 Human development, 87-91

decentralization and community development, 65 education, 89-90
IOA lending fiscal 1999, 22b health, nutrition, and population, 88-89
institutional development, 65 partnerships, 87b
National Environmental Action Plans, 6566 social protection lending,890
poverty prevention/reduction, 64 Human Resources Development (PHRD) Trust Fund, 53

European Central Bank, 91b Human resources reform, 37
European Commission (EC), 65b Hungary, 7, 91b, 102
European Union (EU), 63 Hurricane Mitch, 22b, 71

cofinancing projects, 31
environmental regulations, 65-66
grant funds, 65 Immunization. See Global Alliance for Vaccines and
South East European regional plan and, 30 Immunization SGlAye

Evaluation, operations, 38-43 Imegneration cGAg In
development effectiveness, 42 Income generation, civil society engagement in, 29
Higher Impact Adjustment Lending (HIAL), 40b India, 58, 90, 101 b, 102, 103
lending operations portfolio, 42-43, 42f District Poverty Initiatives Projects, 20b, 59, 60
participatory, 41 b HIV/AIDS in, 60f
project complexity ratios, 40-41 poverty reduction, 22b
projects at risk, 41 f state-specific lending, 19, 61b
quality reforms, 41 Uttar Pradesh state, 9, 14, 20b
success of failed programs, 40-41, 40b Indonesia, 14, 30, 56, 96, 103

Evaluation capacities, 42 Board of Director visits, 35
Executive Directors, Board of, 35-37 borrowing by, 9, 18

Administrative Matters Committee, 35 IDA-eligibility, 22b
.External debt management studies, 86 InfoDev (information for Development Program), 29, 97b
ExxxonMobil, 48b Information, rural development, 94

Information and Technology Global Products Group, 99
F Infrastructure, private investment in, 99

Innovation Competition at the Development Marketplace, 32
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Gateway South Asia www.worldbank.org/sar
Global Development Network www.gdnet.org Spring Meetings 2000 www.imf.org/external/spring/2000/
Global Distance EducationNet www.worldbank.org/disted home.htm
Health, Nutrition, and www.worldbank.org/hnp Strategic Compact www.worldbank.org/html/extdr/

Population backgrd/ibrd/comsum .htm
Heavily Indebted Poor www.worldbank.org/hipc Telecommunications and www.worldbank.org/html/fpd/

Countries Initiative Informatics telecoms
HIV/AIDS and the World Bank www.worldbank.org/aids Transport www.worldbank.org/html/fpd/
International Bank for Recon- www.worldbank.org /ibrd transport

struction and Development U.N. System of Organizations www.unsystem.org
International Centre for www.worldbank.org/icsid Urban Development www.worldbank.org/urban

Settlement of Investment Voices of the Poor www.worldbank.org/poverty/
Disputes voices

International Development www.worldbank.org/ida Water Supply and Sanitation www.worldbank.org/html/fpd/
Association water

International Development www.worldbank.org/data/dev/ World Bank Annual Reports www.worldbank.org/html/extpb/
Goals devgoals.html annrep/

International Finance www.ifc.org World Bank Institute www.worldbank.org/wbi
Corporation World Development www.worldbank.org/data/wdi

International Financial www.worldbank.org/html/extdr Indicators
Architecture /ifa-reports World Development Reports www.worldbank.org/wdr

International Monetary Fund www.imf.org World Development Sources www-wds.worldbank.org
infoDev (information for www.worldbank.org/infodev World Links for Development www.worldbank.org/worldlinks

Development) Y2K (Year 2000 Initiative) www.worldbank.org/y2k
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ACRONYMS

AcTAfrica AIDS Campaign Team for Africa MIGA Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency
ADB Asian Development Bank MNA Middle East and North Africa Region
AFR Africa Region NGO Nongovernmental Organization

APEC Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
APL Adaptable Program Loan Development

ASEAN Association of Southeast Asian Nations OED Operations Evaluation Department
ASEM Asia-Europe Meeting (Trust Fund) OEG Operations Evaluation Group

CAP Community Action Program(s) PACT Partnership for Capacity Building in Africa
CAS Country Assistance Strategy PCF Prototype Carbon Fund
CDD Community Driven Development PHRD Policy and Human Resources Development
CDF Comprehensive Development Framework PPIAF Public-Private Infrastructure Advisory Facility

CGIAR Consultative Group on International Agricultural pRSp Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper
Research PSAS Private Sector Advisory Service

cis Commonwealth of Independent States Psi Private Sector Development and Infrastructure
CODE Committee on Development Effectiveness PTI Program of Targeted Interventions

EAP East Asia and Pacific Region QAG Quality Assurance Group
Ec European Commission ROSC Report on the Observance of Standards and Codes

ECA Europe and Central Asia Region SADC Southern Africa Development Community
EFA Education for All SAR South Asia Region
Eu European Union SAL Structural Adjustment Loan
FDi Foreign Direct Investment SDR Special Drawing Rights

FSAP Financial Sector Assessment Program SME Small and Medium Enterprise
GAvI Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunization SPA Strategic Partnership with Africa (formerly Special
GEF Global Environmental Facility Program of Assistance for Africa)

HIAL Higher Impact Adjustment Lending TCIP Turkey Catastrophe Insurance Pool
HIPC Heavily Indebted Poor Countries UEMOA Economic and Monetary Union of West Africa

HPIV/ADs Human Immunodeficiency Virus/ Acquired Immune U.N. United Nations
Deficiency Syndrome UNAIDS Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS

IADB Inter-American Development Bank UNCHS United Nations Centre for Human Settlement
IAD International Auditing Department (Habitat)

IBRD International Bank for Reconstruction and UNCTAD United Nations Conference on Trade and
Development Development

ICSID International Centre for Settlement of Investment UNDP United Nations Development Programme
Disputes UNESCO United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural

IDA International Development Association Organization
IF Integrated Framework UNFPA United Nations Population Fund

IFC International Finance Corporation UNHCR United Nations High Commission for Refugees
ILO International Labour Organisation UNICEF United Nations Children's Fund
IMF International Monetary Fund WBI World Bank Institute
LAc Latin America and the Caribbean Region WDR World Development Report
LIL Learning and Innovation Loan WTO World Trade Organization

MDB Multilateral Development Bank WUA Water User Association
MFMP Multilateral Fund of the Montreal Protocol WWF World Wide Fund for Nature
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Help us serve you better
WORLD BANK ANNUAL REPORT READER SURVEY

Dear Reader,

Please help us better serve your information needs by taking just a few minutes to answer the following questions. Kindly send the
completed survey at your earliest convenience by fax or mail. Or, if you have Internet access, feel free to fill out the survey online (please
see information at foot of page).

la. Which best describes your business? (Check one)

O Academia O Government J NGO/relief organization LO Private corporation
Oi International organization O Library LI Financial institution 3 Foundation/association
OZ Research/consulting firm O1 Student O News/media O) Other

l b. Which best describes your function within the organization you work for?

O Policymaker (government) J General management (government) O General management (corporate)
OI Researcher/analyst (economic/business) O1 Researcher/analyst O Financial management
O Journalism/reporting (Technical specialization) OZ Other

2a. Which parts of the Annual Report do you refer to the most? (Check top three)

I Overview and Highlights O Regional Perspectives O Thematic Perspectives O1 Evaluation of Operations
[A Financial Statements O Project Summaries O Tables O Appendixes

2b. Which of the following would make the Annual Report more readable? (Check top two)

LI Use of more graphics
OI Presentation of year's results by region only
I Presentation of year's results by theme only

(e.g. Public Sector Management, Social Sectors)
X1 None of the above

3a. If you use the web version of the Annual Report (URL: www.worldbank.org/html/extpb/annrep/), do you also use the print version?

O Yes O No

3b. If you do not use the web version of the Annual Report, please check all that apply:

O1 I do not have access to the computer/Internet. O I prefer to use the printed version.
O1 I do not like the web version. O1 I was not aware of the web version.

4a. If English is not your native language, are you comfortable reading the English-language Annual Report?
1 Yes LI No O] Not applicable

4b. What other language would you like to see the Annual Report published in? (Mention one)n

Additional comments:

Thank you for taking the time to complete this survey
Fax: 202-522-2625, Office of the Publisher

Mail: The Annual Report Survey, Office of the Publisher, World Bank,
1818 H Street, N.W., Washington, D.C, 20433 U.S.A.
Internet: www.worldbank.org/annualreportsurvey
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COVER ART

Animas Anonimas [Anonyouns Souls], 1994

Doble exposur, Lu Cihbopga Vega (Ecuador).

Lucia Chiriboga Vega was born in Quito, Ecuador, in 1954. Chiriboga is a
sociologist, a photographer, and a researcher on the history of photogra-

phy. She has exhibited her photographic work and collections of historical

images in several Latin American countries, China, and Denmark. Her

publications include iRetrato de la Amazonia, Ecuador and Identidades Desnudas;

La Temprana Fotograffa del IJndio de los Andes. Chiriboga's work is included in the

collection of the World Bank Art Program, which makes particular efforts

to identify artists from developing nations and to make their work avail-
able to a wider audience.
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